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. . ' HOUSE OF Rzpng%umxvss,
{ ‘ .. SuscoMyrfTEE ON CRIME,

A ' ’ . o

\ :
CRIME AND VIOLENCE IN THE MEDIA <

" WEDNESDAY, APRIL 13, 1983 . _ ,

g

"COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY,

. ' N . Washington, DC .
The subcommittee met, pursuant.to call, at 9:35.a.m., in room

2237, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Willidw J. Hughes

.(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Repr\esgntativeé Hughes, Morrison, Smith of Fl,oiida,
Sawyer, Sensenbrenner, and Shaw. :

. Staff present; Hayden Gregory, chief eourisel;,Edvi;afd 0'Connell, | ,.

assistant counsel; and Charlene Vanlier, associate counsel. —=
Mr. HuGHES, The Subcommittee on Crime will come {o order.
The Chair has received a request to cover this hearing in whole
or in fpart by television broagdcast, radio broadcast, still _pho{ogra‘-.
ph ,ig'%y other similar methods. In acgordance with committee
rule 5(a)} permission will- be granted.unless there is objectien. I;;
therddbjection? The gentleman from Wisgtonsin.
Mr.*SeNsENBRENNER. Reserving the fight to object, Mr. Chair-

in

' m‘§: assume there.is going to be no Violence today at this hear- - -

r. HucnEs. We are working under iha}/assumbtion..

M . SENSENBRENNER., Then I withidraw my reservation. [I',qugh-
ter.] » ot _ /
' tEl\dr. HucHEs. Hearing ng objection, such coverage will be permit-
ted.

..This morning we begin an inquiry into crime and violence in the
media and its overall effect on our society, particularly what role,
if any, it may play in subsequent ¢riminal activity. Because of the
breadth of this issue, this morning we will be concentrating on the

. nature and scope of the problem rather than any legal remedies-

with their first amendment ramifications. .
In today’s hearing we will further concentrate our aftention on

" television and recent reports on this and related issues. We will be

particularly interested iA an extensive study pul%ished by the Na-

tional Institute of Mental Health in 1982 entitled “Television and

Iéel'iiwior: Ten Years of Scientific Progress and Implication for the
ighties.”

This NIMH report is itself a followup to a 1972 report of the Sar-
geon General which linked violence on TV and aggressive benavior.
in children. We will have extensive discussions on the NIMH
report during this hearing, but there is one particular part of the

report which I would like to quote at this juncture. It says:

(1) o

o



forms of behavior thaq aggression:.

-ly TV, is pervasive in

. 7 v .
Research Qldem - accumulated during the past decade suggests that the viewer Iy
leurns.m,_ore than a kressive behavior from televised violence. The viewer kearns to
be a victim and to lentify with victims. As 4 result, many heavy viewers may ex- o
hibit fear and apprefiension, wHile other heavy viewers may be influenced towary
aggressive behavior. Yhus, the effects of televised violence may bt even.more exten-
sive than suggested Ny earlier studies, and they thay be exhibited in more subtle *

. &
4
We will delve iy depth. into these assertions in this ‘and subse-
quent hearings. In\our initial phase today we will deal with these
issues from striking\y different views. One thing, however, I think
we can all agree ypoy is tll'n?t. the media, in general, and particular-
r life, *

D4

. L]
. . -

°As the report siates:

]

Extending over all other finfinys is the fact that televiston is so large a part of
our daily life. Within Americgh society, televisicn is now a universal phenomenon.
About half the present populftion never knew a world without it. Television is, in
short. an American institutigfi. It has changed or influenced most other institutions,

© from the family to the functibning of the Government.

*As a public officfal, I am ac'uteeg' aware of this, but I must also
sthte that other pdrts of the media have similar effects. In this °

~ regard, I am reminded of a'story of a British Member of Parlia-

.ment who had read an insulting editorial about hifnself published

in Lord Beaverbrook’s newspaper, the Daily Express. A few days
later he met Beaverbrook in the men’s reom of a London club.
“Dear fellow,” said Beaverbrook as he rinsed his hands, “I’ve

been thinking things over and I feel that the editorial was unjusti- © -

fied. I apologize.” The Member of Parliament replied, ‘“Beaver-
brook, I accept your apology. But next time why don’t you insult

~me in the men’s room and ther apologize in the newspaper.”

-

This vignette emphasizes that a sense of timing also can be a
crucial element in any consideration of media exposure.,

With this in mind, I will conclude ny statement, except to say
that I look forward to hearing the testimony this morning.

At this time I recognize the most distinguished ranking Republi-
can on the subcommittee, Hal Sawyer of Michigan. : '

Mr. SAWYER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, .

I want to commend the chairman for this hearing. I think it is
an interesting one. It is a little extracurricular. It is beyond the
scope of the bills we may have before us and is designed-‘really’to
give the subcompmittee a kind of a better feel for what is going on
out there in the world of crime. - \0 4

I was just telling the chairman, I hope wé veer off sghne of these.

more gassive things and get into some organized cxime hearings. I
have been kind of looking fprward to seeing spme of these Wew
Jersey and New York people. [Laughter.!

I may just say in the opening that this has been a real question.
Of course, all of us have listened to opinions pro and con on wheth-
er, in effect, violent behavior on television rubs off on youngsters -
or whether the terror involved rubs off on potential victims. ~

I may just say that I have kind of a’tentafive view of this, but
before 1 say that. I.may say that’] have changed my views as a
result of hearings on many other subjects here, that as I listened to
people who knew more about the subject than I, their discussions

* were persuasive and I changed my point of view. But I go in kind

of tentatively with a doubt in my mind that violencg on television,

*

/
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in effect, rubs off on people that wouldn’t “have been violent
. anyway. - & ‘ S
On the “her hand, I do feel that the coverage given to violent
crime, at . st in some. instances, I believe, tends to spawn it. |
know some years ago, about tRree Congresses ago, I was oh the
Special Committee investigating. the assassinations' of Martin
. lauther King and John F. Kennedy, and we had James Earl Ray,
. the assassin, before us and questioned himi at some considerable
length down at Brushy Mountain. I became ahsolutely convinced .
, that the seeking. of the publicity was a major motivation tn thet
situation. With a twisted point of view, I think, the gentleman felt
. - thatshe would become kind of a hero in the South and after a
rather short slap on the wrist from & southern jury would become
a national hero and make hundreds of thousands -of dollars giving

_interviews and writing books. Really, if you would have listered to

;i that total testimony, there was little question that, albeit the prod-

+ . uct of a warped point of view, was a point of view that was primar-

" .ily aimed at the miedia. I am sure that happens in many. other ®
.cases, orsat least at this point in time. ‘

- want to agairr congratulate the chairman for this series of hear-
ings and I welcome the witnesses todav and really look forward to
hearing their more informed points <{ view on the subjects we have
been talking about. : '
", lyield back, Mr. Chairman. .

* ~ Mr. HuGEEs. The gentleman from Wisconsin.
>~ Mr. SeNsENBRENNER, Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, I,
tou, would like- to salute the Chairman for calling these hearings
today and to express one concern-of mine. - )

The news coverage, for either acts perpetrated by deliberate ter-
rorists or by people who are mentally derrariped, sometimes en-
courage these people to comimit very gruesome acts, such as kid-
napings, murders, attempts to blow up the Washington -Manument,
and the like. I' think there is ample evidence that in many in-,
stanegs, both in this country and overseas, when someone does get
involved in the perpetration of this kind of a crime, the first ques-
tion they ask of the authorities is “Is it on TV’ and ‘I would like’
to see what the news clips are.” That may very well .act as an in-
centive for someone to commit such a crime, simply because they
know they would become an instant celebrity as a result of getting
involved in this kind of criminal activity. .

I certainly don't advocate the passage of any legislation to put a
stop to this, but 1 would like to ask our television representatives
whether there is introspection going on ‘in television news depart-
ments on this issue, and that perhaps a blackeut for a period of
time would certainly act as a deterrent to future crimes of this sort - -
where other people are thinking of committing them and seeiltg
what some of their conferrers are doing when “ey attempt to
kidnap someone, or hold people hostage, or bld up a national
monument. .

I thank the chairman for recognizing me and I yield back my %

» time. ' . .

Mr. HugHss. Thank 3ou. :

I might say to the members of the committee that it doesn’t look

< as if we neec‘i.ed tnat waiver for television broadcast this morning.

4
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\ For some veason, we do not appear to have any coverage from that-

- bert of the media. .

~ T just wapt to.say, before we bring our first witness up, that the

.subcommlttee has a number of strictly legislative injtiatives that
we ‘have undertaken and wi!l in the future. I rementber last year
there were about a .dozen bills, about five of which sunk with 1 >
veto of the ecmnibus criine bill, H.R. 3963. Last year, intertwir
almost like a Scheherazade theme. we also weaved in a lot of *

" ings dealing\a?\th unemployment and crime, drug abuse and :

. - because onr of the other principal aréhs of. jurisdiction of th.s s.
committee is theé area of crime prevention. I think this hearing .
today is a natural follow-up on that series of hearings.

I.might also say to my colleague from Michigan that, like Micni-
gan, most of our crime i}\New Jersey is disorganized crime, not or-
ganized crirae. . N Co

Our first witness this morning is Daniel Schorr. Mr. Sc¢horr was
born in New York and attended New Yofk City schools and the:
College of the City of New York. He served as an Army intelligence
sergeant during World War II and\ifi 1948 began his distinguished
journalistic career with the Christjan Scienceé Monitor and later
Joined the New York Times for agtignments in The Netherlands,
Belgium, and other West European countries.

In 1953 he began a long career with CBS, which ended in 1976.
From 1976 t0*1979 he was a regent’s professor,at the University of

California at Berkeley. He also has broadcasted commentaries for

the National Public Radio and wrote a book, “Cledring the Air.” In
1980 he became senior correspondent for,the Cable News Network.
He has had a®most .distinguished journalistic career, and on
behalf-of the Subcommittee on Crime, Mr. Schorr, we welcome you
here-this morning. ) o :
- We have a copy of your prepared statement which, without objec-
tion, will be made a part of the record, and you may proceed as you
see fit. Welcome. ) R ..

STATEMENT OF DANIEL SCHORR, SENIOR CORRESPONDENT,
CABLE NEWS NETWORK‘

Mr. ScHORrR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Some of the opening comments anticipated what I had to say and
leave me with less to say. The bdsjc issues I wanted to raise have
already been partly raised.

Let me mention in passing that I come here with some trepida-,
tion because one of the last times I appeared before 4 House com-
mittee it was with every prospect of going to jail myself. That was
the House Ethics Committee in 1976 and it involved a matter of
the first amendment and disclosure of sources. I feel much more
comfortable before this committee, except to say that I have also
thought about whether reporters, in general, should spend much of
their time testifying before congressional committees. I think we
have our separate functions in our constitutional scheme of things,
and it is anly because 1 think, in addition to being a reporter, I am
also a citizen with certain responsibilities that I am very happy to
appear before your committee.

»
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You will be hearing on the general subject of television -and vio-
lence from people much more qualified then I to talk sbout it. I am

. Boing to talk about a collateral matter, not about violence in televi- .
alon entertainment, but about my part of television, mysworld, the

« part of -reality television as it is called, the,part that has to do with
news and document: ..es and actuality, because I think my part of .
television'also sets up some perverse incentives to violence. SV

A most dramatic case in point is John W. Hinckley, Jr., addicted Lo
previbusly to movie'and television violence. On March 30, 1981, he: - N

. set out to crash the media hall of fame’by what he called the his- :
torica® act of shooting the President in the présence of video cam-
eras. We know from having looked through records that his knowl-

. edge of the Kennedy assassination‘had taught him how television
would respond; that is, by preempting all the programs listed in
TV Guide, a copy of which he had leftebehind in his hotel room.

Hinckley's first question to Secret Service Agent Steven Colo,
who was interrogating him that evening, was “Is it on TV?” find-
ing himself transported to courtrooms imr helicopters and pdlice-es- *

.corted bullet-proof limousines, he wrote, “I feel like the President

- now, with my own retinue. We both wear bullet-proof vests now.” . :

. Now, Hinckley may be legally crazy, but he ain’t stunrid. Objec- -
tively, he in fact accomplished his purpose of establishing his iden-
tity in a most spectacular way. We must not underestimate the
function of television today as the' most pervasive arbitér of identi-
ty. Television is a target for those who want to find some way of
achieving identify. What he did was to mani ulate a medium that -
celebrates violence to become himself a media celebrity. Anybody
who can make Dan Rather apd Frank Reynolds come to work in

~ the afternodn has to be a very important person. |Laughter.]
he video tape that recorded his act since that time has been ,

played and replayed countless times, at normal speed .and at slow
motion, stop action, almost like watching a spectator sport event,
with hypnotic effect on other potential Hinckleys. At the very least
it tends to lower the threshold of shock for those who have to $
watch that act. o ' L

Indeed, Hinckley himself told Agent Colo, when advised that his
attempt on President Reagan’s life was all over the networks, he
said “That’s too bad, because it's going to affect other people.” That .
was the other side of Hinckley who could see these things.

Marshall McLuhan wrote, in 1977: '

2> Violente is one of the manifestations of the quest for iaen_tity. When you have lost
your identity, ydu become a violent person looking for identity.

It is in television today that one looks for it. Increasingly, the
media have become a target of that search for identity and it mani-
fests itself in. many ways. _

I have some examples here that 1 will go through very rapidly,
becguser you have ' my testimony. Reg Murphy, when he was editor
of the Atlanta Constitution, was kidnapped, afd, he reported later
his abductors immediately went to an apartment and turned on the
TV to see whether the kidnaping had gotten on the evening news.-
Or the prison rioters in Attica, NY, whose primary demand ‘was
that their grievances had to -be aired on television. Another inci-
dent of that kind was recently in a Brooklyn hospitat where a pris-

o d
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- = Oner took hostages and; demanded to see a newspaper reporter, i
radio covérage, gnd rarance on WABC's “Eyewitness News,”

and a radio-and TV sét'in order'to be able to enjoy all of those .
ang e pPEArANces. | - ;
: I will skip some other incidents, which you will find in my testi-

mony, and come to the Washington Monument siege last Decem-’

ber, which was clearly staged as a media®event. Norman Mayer"

made clear. a the outset that he didn't want to talk to the police;

. he wanted to talk to the media. He had a lot of unfocussed de-

mands for an end to nuclear war, but the most concrete demand
was that 51 percent of TV time be devoted to a dialog on the nucle- ,
ar peril. When he was not walking around the monument, he was . '
apparently spending ‘part of his time in his van watching the day-

~. . long coverage-on his TV set. Maybe it wasn't just coincidental that

' it was precisely dt 7:30 p.m., as the network news ended, that he

. got into his van and began to move in some direction, for some

reason that we shall never know. o

Organized terrorists have also learned that television is an easy
prey, or can be bent to their will. The recent NBC movie, “Special
Bulletin,” which has become controversial in itself; may have exag-.
gerated the point it wanted to make, of reciprocal manipulation be-
tweem terror and television, but let's go fo reality, as we like to call
it, to provide its own evidence. - " .

When the radical’Baader-Meinhof Gang in West Germany kid-
napped a politician in 1975, as a hostage for the release of five im-
prisoned comrades; the group forced German television to show
each prisoner boarding a plane and to broadcast dictated propagan-
da sfatements. o :

When Arab terrorigts seized the headquarters -of OPEC jifi 1975, N
killing three persons and taking oil ministers hogtage, théir plans
callt:id for their occuqying the building until the TV cameras ar-
rived. _ :

Similarly, when the so-called Symbionese’ Liberation Army in
San Francisco kidnaped Patty Hearst. And then, to come back to
Washington, the Hanafi Muslims’_hostage-taking occupation of

\ three locations here.in 1976, that was a classic case of media-age
terroriam. Their leader, Hamaas Abdul Khaalis, spent much of his
time giving telephone 'nterviews while his wife checked on what
was being broadcast. Molice expressed fear that TV cameras would
give away their deployment.

One of the three ambassadors of the Moslem countries who ncgo-
tiated the end of the occupation later told me that the ambassa-
dor's central fear was that media interviews on the telephone
might stimulate the terrorists to viclence against their victims. .

The former head of the State Department’s Office for Combating
Terrorism, Anthony Quainton, with whom I talked, associates the
increase in casualties during hijackings and,hostage takings with a
desire to insure media attention. Deliberate acts of terror, like the
tossing out of slain victims, are planned as media events. .

There is kind of a symbiotic relationship between violence and
television, and it comes as the climax to an era in which our
medium, my medium, unintentionally but nonetheless systemati-

' cally has managed to select the most dramatic, encouraged demon-
* §
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strat've and thelaggressive, and finally, to encourage violent behav-
-1ot. . ' o ¥

My own experience—if this seems like a form of true confessions,
so be it. My own experience covering urban unrest for CBS during

the 1960’s was that threatening rhetotic tended to overpower mod-

erate rhetoric,, because it was regarded as more ‘newsworthy,

simply more interc-:st.in%.’l : _
When the Réverend Martin Luther King came to Washington in
1968 to disefiss plans for the Poor People®’s March, which he did.not
.live'to ledd, I was one of the reporters who encouraged him, by per-

' _sistent” questioning, to allude to the possibilities for disruption of .

-

v

L

| ' * traffic in Washington over the bridges and other various menacing

possibilities—it's a way of Fetting the story on the air.

I"have no doubt that television f‘ournalists, myself among them,
helped to build up the militants like Stokely Carmichael and H.
Rap Brown within the. black community by giving them preferred
iex;g)sure over the more moderate, the “less-newsworthy” black
eaders. - : .

"I recall that, it ‘a community meeting in Watts, Los Angeles in
1965, after the fiist night of rioting, most of the speakers appealed
for calm. One teenager seized the microphone and demanded that
“we go -after the whiteys.” This was the “sound bite” featured on
the local TV .news programs in Los Angeles that night. Later, a
moderate black commented, “Look to me like the white man want

.

us to rio*. Another one said, “If that's the way they read it, that's '

the way ‘we’ll write the book.” I have no doubt that was & factor in
what followed in the riots in Watts. .

Television offers incentives not only to destryctive behavior but,
‘on occasion, to self-destructive behavior. I don’t know how many

remember Paddy Chayefsky’s movie satire “Network,” in which an” . °

anchormar:. announces on the air that he is going to commit suicide

- because hé wants to improve his slipping ratings. Well; that was a
movie and it might be exaggerated. ' -

- But in real life, as we still like to call it, in Sarasota, FL, in 1974,
Chris Chubbuck, gn anchorwoman whose ratings were slipping, an-
nounced on the air, “In keeping with channel 40’s policy of bring-
ing you the latest in blood and guts in living color, you are going to
see another first—an attempt at suicide.” The woman pulled a gunp
out of her shopping bag and shot herself in the head, fatally, on
television. It improved her ratings, but I am afraid it didn't have
long-term benefits for her. '

an
éut there is another side to this that concerns me. I don’t know -

how to ¥ut it. I wish Kou had some of the mental health experts
who could help me with what I am trying to grope for. That is that
television has had the effect of lowering the line between reality
and unreality to a point where it is gossible to do something with-
out understanding that it is real and has real consequencest Even
after yaars of seeing people get shot, and after the last commercial
walkout of the studio, to finally, lose a sense that there are real
consequences to real acts becau<e that line has been so blurred.
Cecil Andrews raised a painful question for television journalism
last month when he set himself on fire in the town square of Jack-
sonville, AL, in the presence of ¢ TV camera, to protest against un-
employment in America. A lot of us in television have discussed af
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great length an ethical issue, whether the cameramen should have
intervened earlier than they did to put out the fire.
Well, that is one question. There are other questions. Andrews
called the focal television station four times to say he was gox'h%ltg
a

~do thi§. Question; would he have done it if the news direttor

tdld him that under no condition would televisicn cameras be sent?
In fact, what hdppened was that the camera crew was delayed 70

‘minutes, by car trouble and Andrews waited for_the camera crew to
arrive before he did set himself on fire. * : :
ve’?uture inci-

Anbther question: Would we” be-less-likely to ha

. dents of that kind if the station had 'not then gone ahead and-

broadcast some of the video tape, which was really “socko” video
tape, which they had exclusively?. -’ '

| In providing all these inducements to demonstrativeness, from

what hath television wrought and how do we get it urder control?
Now, though 1 appear before a legislative subcommittee, you
would n-" =xpect me to advocate legal remedies. My life has been

handwaving to hijacking, gb(rom assassination to self-immolation,

- sgent trying to avoid legal actions in fields like this: What I hope is
t

at forums like this subcommittee will help to stimulate self-ex-

amination in the news departments df television stations anc net- .

works.

In the wake of the 1968 riots during the Chicago Democratic Con-

" % vention, the networks took a terrible beating in the public press

and among the public. They responded with guidelines int¢nded-to
avoid stimulating violence that might occur.by the.very presence of
cameras, ‘ S .

Well, maybe it is time to have another and a broagder look at a
policy of seif-restraint. Here are some of the issues-—and let me tell
you, I don't have the answers to the i;sues—-—but these are some of
the issues: /e S

First, should live coverage of terrorist episodes be restricted to
the minimum necessary to reportfhe news? I cannot agree to a
blackout—I wish that’Congressman Sensenbrenner was still here. I
cannot agree to a blackout. I think blackouts are what you get.on
thie other side of the Iron Curtain. They lead to a distrust of the
news media to deliver the news. I think blackouts go too far. But I
think self-restraint can go to covering what is necessary to report
the news, without exploiting it, . without getting into competition
with other stations, without stationing people outside buildings
where nothing is seen happening, just in order to say we have been
on the air longer than the other station, or as one ABC station in
New York recently said, in the case of a hostage situation, ‘“Tune
in to WABC, your hostage station.”

Second, should direct contact with terrorists by telephone or by

" other means be avoided in order not to provide ego satisfaction and

further stimulation?
Third, should the replaying of scenes of assassination attempts
and other violence be limited to real réquirements of news in order

not to make such acts seem to'be commonplace anyg inspire possible.
; ' N .

copycats?

‘ourth, should news directors make conscious efforts- to avoid
emphasizing threalening and extreme utterances out of the context
of more moderate rhetoric? That goes back to Watts.

«
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Fifth is a tough question, and I would not give you an easy’

answer to this—should television executives refuse terrorist de-
mands for air time, even when that is accompanied by threats
against hostages?, A really tough question, '

We know that no television would like to hold itself responsible

for the killing of a hostage, and yet you know that every time you
give in to @ demand, you know there will be further demands of
that kind. L ) )
" This is an uphill battle because violence, like walks in space and
like flaming volcanoes, is made to order for television. Competitive
pressures are heavy. There are very few kudos for young reporters
and camera crews who come buck to their stations and say they
left the blood and guts to {8 other stations .

I believe, however, that the public can provide incentives for an-
other kind of competition than the current ratings'race. I would

“like to see the rcaction to the first.station that announces, on the

air, in the midst of some hostage situatior, “We will report devel-
opments on this hostage situation as they occur, but we will not
keep cameras posted there in order not to encourage these and
other terrorists.” -

Thank you. .

[The statement of Daniel Schorr follows:)

N

STATEMENT BY DANIEL SCHORR, SENIOR C()RRFSPONDEN‘I“. CaBLE NEWs NETWORK !

Over the years a wealth of evidence hds been accumulated suggesting that fanta.
sy violence on television tends to encourage aggressive behavior. 1 would like to
focus on an area less exhaustively researched~the way my own world of reality tel-
eyiTion—news. actuality, documentary—unwittingly sets up perverse incentives to
violence. .

A dramatic case in point is John Hinckley Jr., who, addicted to movie and televi-
sion violence, set out on March 30, 1981, to crash the media hall of fame by the
“historical deed” of shooting the President in the presence ~¢ ' he video cameras. His
kndwledge of the Kennedy -assassinatiuns had taught . v .ow television would re:
spond—by preempting all the programs listed in TV  +idé, which he had left
behine 'a his nhotel room. Hinckley's first question to S. Service Agent Steven
Colo, interrogating him that evening, was, “'ls it on TV?" ing himself transport.
ed to courtrooms in helicopters and police-escorted bullet-preof limousines, he wrote,
"l feel lik. the President now, with my own retinue. We both wear bullet-proof
vests now."” .

Hinckley may be legally crazy, but he is not stupid. Objectively he accom plished
his purp.re of establisﬁ
lating a medium that celebrates violence to become a media celebrity. The video
tape that recorded his act has,\gince then, been played and replayed countless times,
at normu| speed, slow motion aRd=stop-action, witz hypnotic effect on other poten-
tial Hinckieys. Indeed, Hirckley told Agent Colo. when advised that his attempt on
President Reagan’s life was all over the networks, “That's too bad because it's going
to affect other people.” : .

Marshall McLuhan wrote, in 1977, "“Violence is one of the manifestations of the
quest for identity. When you've lost your identity, you becomne & violence person
looking for identity.” Increasingly. the media have become a target of that search
for identity that manifests itself in many ways.

In 1374, Reg Murphy, then editor of the Atlanta Constitution (more recently pub-

lisher of the Baltimore Sun) was kidnaped, and his abductors immediately sped to ,

an apartment, turning on a TV set to see if their act had made the evening news.

In 1971, prison rioters in Attica, New York, listed as a primary demand that their
grievances be aired on televisinn. More recently, in October 1982, a prisoner in a
Brooklyn hospital took six hostages, and demanded, in succession, a newspaper re-

'For dentification only The testimony is personal.
Pis -

insz his identity in the most spectacular manner—by manipu-
e
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porter, radio coverage and an appedrance on WABC's Eyewitness News—and a
~  ragio and TV set go he could enjoy his appearances. C
In 1977, in Indianapolis, Anthony Geofite Kiritisis wired a sawed-nff shotgun to
the neck of.a mortgage company officer, led him out in front of the police and TV
. caineras and velled, "Cet those gopddam cameras on! I'm a goddam national hero!”
The Washington Monument siege last December was apparently stAged as a
media event. Norman Mayer made clear at the outset that it was the media; not the
e police he wanted to deal with. Of his various unfocussed demands for an end to nu:
clear war, ther most.concrete one was that 54 percent of TV time be devgted to a
dialogue on the nuclear peril. When he was not walking around the monument, he
"was apparently spending part of his time in his van watching the day-long live cov-
erage on his TV set. It was perhaps not coincidental that at 7:30 p.m., just as the
Eetwork news ended, he began moving his van, for reasoms that we shall never
now.
“ Organized terrorists have alga-learned that ‘television is easy prey, or can be bent
to their will. The recent NBC movie, “Special Bulletin,” .may hve exaggerated its
point of reciprocal manipulation between terior ahd television, but reality provides
"its own evidence.

- When the radical Baader-Meinhof Gang in West Germany kidnapped a politician

in 1975 as hostage for the release of five imprisoned comradesm jt forced German
television ta show each prisoner boarding a plane and to broadcast dictated propa-
ganda statements. ’ .

‘When Arab terrorists seized the Vienna headquarters of OPEC in 1975, killing

three persons and taking oil ministers hostage, the térrorists’' plans galled for thgjr

occupying the building until the TV cameras arrived.*

The so-called Symbionese Liberation Army, which kidnapped Patricia Hearst in
Sanh Francisco, had as a central feature of their plan, forcing radio apd teleVision to

lay its tapes &nd broadcast its messages. .

he Hanafi Muslims' hostage-taking occupation of three locations in Washington
in 1976 was a classic case of media-age teyrorism. The leader, Hamaas Abdul Khaa-
lis, spent much of his time giving telephone interviews while his wife checked on
what was being broadcast. Police expressed fear that TV cameras would give away
their deployment. One of the ambassadors of Moslem gouniries who negotiated the
end of the occupation later told me that their central™ear was that media inter-
views might stimulate the terrorists to violence against their victims. )

Anthony Quainton, former head of the State Department's Office for Combating
Terrorism, associates the increase in casualties during hijackings and hostage-tak-
ings with a desire to insure media attentfon. Deliberate acts of horror—like the toss-
ing out of slain victims*are planned as media events. ' :

The symbiotic relationship between violence and television comes as the climax to
an era in which this medium, unintentionally but nonetheless systematically, has,
by its process of selecting the most dramatic, encouraged demonstrative, aggressive
and, finally, violent behavior.

My own experience, covering urban unrest for CBS during the 1960s, was that
threatening rhetoric tended to overpower moderate rhetoric because it was régarded
as more ewsworthy. When the Rev. Martin Luther King, Jr. came to Washgngtor.l
in 196X to discuss prans for the “Poor People’s March” that he did not live to lead”,
I wasg, one of the reporters wha encouraged him, by persistent questioning, to allude
to#@ibilities for disruption of traffic and other menacing possibilities.

ave no doubt that television journalists (myself among them) helped to build up
militants |gke Stokely Carmichae{ and H. Rap Brown within the Black communit
by giving tHem preferred exposure over the more moderate, less ‘'newsworthy” lead-
ers. w .

At a cr:amunity meeting after the first night of rioting in the Watts area of Los
Angeles i 1965, most of the speakers appealed for calm. One teen-ager seized the
microphone and demanded “'going after the whiteys.” That was the ''sound-bite”
featured on the local TV news programs. A moderate commented, “Look to me like
the white man want us to riot.” Another said, "If that's the way they read it, that's
the way we’ll write the book.” )

Television offers incentives not only to destructive behavior, but, on occasion, to
self-destructive behavior. Some of you may remember Paddy Chayefsky's movie
satire," Network", in which an achor man announces, on the air, he will commit sui-
cide to improve his slipping ratings. But in real life, as we still call it, in Sarasota,

~ . Fla, in 1974, Chris Chubbuck, an anchor woman with slipping ratings, announced
on the air, “In keeping with Channel 40's policy of bringing you the latest in blood
and guts in living color, you're going to see another first—an attempt at suicide.
Then she pulled a gun out of a shopping bag and shot herself fatally in the head.

.
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Cecil Andrews raised a pninful question for television journalism last month when
he sets himself on fire in the town square of Jacksenville, Ala., in the presence of a
television camera to protest aguinst unemployment in America. The question dis-
cussed at great length is whether the cameramen should have intervened earlier
than they did to put out the flames. But there are other questions. Andrews called
the local television station four times. to say he was going to do it. Would he have.
done it if the news director had told him no camera would be sent? In fact, the
camera crew, delayed by car trouble, arrived 70 minutes late, and Andrews did not
set himself afire until the camera was ther®. And would we be less likely to have
future incidents of that kind if the station had not broadcast some of the video tape?

In providing all these inducements to demonstrativeness from hand-waving to hi-
Jucking, from assassination to self-immolation, what hath television wrought? And
how do we get it under control? ) .

Through I appear before a legislative committee, you would not expect- me to ad-
vocate legal remedies. What I hope is that forums like this subcommittee will help
to stimulate self-examination in television news departments. )

In the wake of the 1968 riots during thé Chicago Democragic convention, the net.

works took*a terrible public beating, and responded with guidelines intended to

avoid stimulating violence by the very presence of the cameras. It is time to hav
another'and broader look at policies of self-restraint, with these as some of ‘the,
issues:

1. Should live coverage of terrorist episodes be restricted to the minimum neces.
sary to report the news? N ‘ : )

2. Should direct contact with terrorists, by telephone or by other m>ans, be avoid-
ed in order not to provide ego-satisfaction and stimulation?

3. Sholld the replaying of scenes »f assassination and other violence be limited to
real news requirements in order not to make such acts seem commonplace and in-
spire possible copycats?

4. Should news directors make conscious efforts ta avoid emphasizing threatening
and extreme utterances out of the context ¢f more moderate rhetoric? .

5. A tough question: Shouid teleyision execwiives refuse terrorist demands for air-
time, even when accompanied by thraats agajnst hostages?

This is an uphill battle because violence, ljnk\e space walks and flaming volcanoes,
is made to order for television. The competitive pressures are heavy. There are few
kudos for young reporters.and camera crews who come back saying they left the
blood and guts to the other station. ! . )

I believe, however, that the public can provide incentives for a different kind of
competition than the current ratings race. 1 would like to the reaction to the
first station that announces, on the air, “We will report dev:z;l;)stm\fnts on this hos-
tage situntion as they occur, but we will not keep cameras posted there in order not
to encourage these and other terrorists.”

14
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o Get Saome

) helieve telcstsion is gouang i be the tese
of the wiodern woghl. aml ther n this
new opgormniry 1o aee besomd the range
of our vidag ue $hall discover @ new
and unkearable disturbaing e of the mod-
ern perce oe 0 avig ratdumee in the
s¥s Weshall srand or fuil by 1elevssion—
of that 1 am quite sure.

—E.8. Whie {1918)
john W Hinckley Jr causes me lo te-
fisct, haviag recently tumed 65, on what
the media Sge has wrought. Hinckley's
unhagpy hienine of some 25 years cos
ineides rouzhly with my hfe in telesi.
siens Whates or else tAade hum, want to
shout 3 Puesident, Thuchley epitomizes
the perverse effcuts of nur wwience-prone
susture of enteriainmznt
'r.n;:.!ey weaves together sisands of
mddi 1 snmulated fantavy, fan freney, and
the urge t proclam identlty dy starting
1 a televised eeent iy success iv at
teated (o by everything that iy happensd
stnce March 20, when he managed to
disrupt the repular programs Listed 1n his
copy of TVyjinde t brinyg on eommand
pertormances by Dan Rather, Frank
Reyrotds, Roger Mudd, ard the other
e vy supenstars Since Naveinher 22,
1363 these electroaie spcial repurte—
the an wdern eyuivalent of (g old rews.
prpe 2vta have been Amcrica’s way
of . etfying @ “historie event *°

Mucwhay heen shown to Yhnackley's
geacs tipn to fower the throsbold of i¢
sumed o violent aets When the time
canie fix 1 acdley e act - o plup -
w U intn this cantianum of selesivion and
e vnlenie the sacenolay was
caule wipen, the ndes nearly prods-
stenicd  The nwdig conscious © prshilee
Presdent Ronald Reagan, atirected the

Preresl Y M Twansy CHS Revval o] o
* - MAAL - frm WRAN

westespe Al bt Tl fgrme o Cabte Nwy
Nend Ihaag s bacll, mlilared Fr Ry
Nt

~uadn A 1IN

cameras, which attracied the crowds,
which peovidedsbuth the arena and the
cover F;'n the a3sailaal, The neiwork

camesis. tuutinely assigned, since the

Kennedy asstssination, (o “the piesi-
dential watch'* recorded the **acttratity””

il aondl (poledes

The American Medical Associstion
reporied in 1977 that ph{xicuns were
welling of casts of Injury from TV 1imis
-Lation showing vp in their offices and
bowitals One dovtor treated two chil.
dren who, playing Batman. had jun-g:g

and showed it in hypnaile, incessant re- \ of7 a roof. Another aaid a child who ha

too-familiar *special repont™” embla-
zuned adross the screen.

To noboudy’s surprise, the celébrai
of viki' we stimed would-be imitators.
The Sewret Serviceerecorded an tston:
ishing number of subsequent threats on
the President’s life. One of them came
from Edwacd Michael Robinson, 22, who
had watched the TV coserage and Iater
told palice that Hinckley had appesred
to him In a dream, telling hem to *“biing
completion to Hinckley's reality ** ~g~

Psychiatrid  Walter Menninger ex.
amined Sara Jane Moore, who tried to
il President Ford in 1978, and found
it no coincidence that two weeks carfier
a well-publcized atterpt on Ford's life
had been tnade by Squeaky Fromnee,

*“There is no doubt.”” Dr, Menninger
told me, “‘of the effect of the broad,
1aped, and intime dissemination of swhe
ancvent Thscene in front ol the Wash-
sngton Hilton muist have been indclibly
cuded in everybody's mind with an im.
medixcy that does not happen with the
prnt miedis We have leamed from the
studiev of television that peoplo do get
nflurnced by what they expesicace on
televivion ** ’

The broadcasiing 1ndusiry says it €an’t
help 1t af occasmaally 3 disturbed persen
ey 10 act oul Jepicted stalency ~ fies
tiondl of actual {n 1973, a Vietnan sete
cton in Hyatswlle, Manyisnd. who hod
wold his wife, 1 watch televiaton tou
much.™* bogan vuping al passersby 1n 2
way he had noted duting an ¢pisasle of
SWAT -and Jike lht’l\lmnumlﬂ‘f.
wab hiited by ¢ police shaphotcr

~plays. The sudience tingled 1o the all- ‘et fire fo a hause was copying an 2:son
P s

Incident viewed on wlevision.

Nocoun hasyet heldtclevision lepally
culpuble for the violencs it is ascused of
stimulsting. in Fluida in 1978, fifieen-
yewold Ronny Zamora asy’ consiul-
ed—-aftéra 1afevived trisl=of kifling his
eldeily nelphbor despite the novel plea
of “invgluntary gubhminal telvision in-
toxicatinn.** The Parcnts of 8 Catifornia-
gitl who bad been sexually avcantted in
1874 in 8 manner depicied tiree days
eather 10 an NBC rclevion rama lost
their sult pgainst the nemotk. ¢

That’s as 1t shoukd be. { suppost the
constivional sight of the broatsasting
industry to daplct violence, Just as | sup-
pont Husiler magazine’s rght tonéipict

nopruphy—with distasie. As Ju'vs

ellfer, the cartounitt snd eivil Iibeaar-
kan, has noted. one sometimsas finds one-
self in the puaition of defending people
one wouldn't dine with, What troubles
me. a3 | reflect on the case of John
HKinclley, is the reluctance of television
to avhnowladz2e ity contridbunon W fos.
u-mz;;u Anerican colture of vinlense.
not ohly by the way it wats f3niae
but hy the way it \m-:’;f‘r;ahl,y-am)i
by the way it blurs the line hetween the
two, .

Viedsnce Is auc of the imgnfestuinees of
the quest fir wlentees When soa'sy fost
souradennt, sen becrne i siolint per-
3o fntkasy Ior ol

—AMarhdil AL chan o Ju Ty @

In 1914 Reg Mgy, then eduar ot
the Adunng Comnntion {he 14 now pub
tnhet wt the Kidinpr, Sung was tad

LR e
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AVeteran TV Reporter Asks What Tetevision Is Doing to Our Childrer,
to Our Country, Does It Sanitize Killing and Reward Violence?

-—

napped  He ways his abductors inre-
thately sped 10 3n apariment andtuned
on a TV set tu sez whether their act had
mude the evening news.

* In 1971 prison rioters In Atlica, New

Yok, listed 2s 3 pnmary demand that
their gnevances be sired on TV.

in 1977 in Indianapolis. Anigny
Geurge Kintsis wired 2 sawed-off shot-
gun to the neck ol a mortgaje company
officer, led hum out.in front of the police
and TV cameras. and yelled. "*Get those
roddamn cameras on® I'm & goddamn
nat:onal hera'*”

tn 1974 in Sarasota, Flonda, an an.
charwoman on television station WXLT
sad,on thedit, **lo keeping with Channel
40°s policy of Ennging you the Jafest in
blowd end guts in hiving color, you're
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By Daniel Schorr

going 1o see another first—an attempt at
suicide.” "Wherzupun she pulled a gun
out of a shopping bag shot hervell
{a2lly in the head
These incidents—the list could go on
and on—were all mypects of the phenom-
€non of the mass media'ag grand acbiter
of identigy. validator of enstence. Des.
clﬂts*hl wy today, 'l appear on
televislun, therefoce | anl'®
One becomes s2customed, efter work-
dium, to hearing

broadcasting lor CBS. People asked,
salicitously. 1f everything was all right—
a3 though, being off 1ae alr, | had ceased
@ be in some existential sense.

. *'Ceuing on ielevision™ has become
& preccupation of peopla in govem.
ment, politics, and Industry. not to men-
ton all manner of single-Iswue advo-
cates. Candidates will fashion their
campaigns argund **pl portuni.
tles.”" Senators will be drawn by the

sirangers remark, without elaboration,
‘1 saw you on tefevision!** One even
gets inured to being hauled over to meet
somebody s relatives. Jp 13 as though the
TV personallty has an eaisténce of its
own. | expenenced the other side of this
phienomenon in 1976 when 1 stopped

of to legislative hear-
Ings they otherwiie would skip.
Many people will do aimost anjthing
togeton TV. Some will even kil
Antheny Quainton, former head of the
State Departrent’s Office for Combat.
ing Terrorism, associates the ircrease in
easualties during hijackings and hostage-
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tahings with the deaie of senists o, tonfusts 15 compasred by e v of

unin #1%ws medw atlentewy Iehben
aghv aif kottar «li\e the towng out of
sf¥in vicume—~are planned s« medis
events. On the other hand, the faidure of
the haaching of a Yuddist plane 1o Bu.

e 130t that twoof the wrrotiss had loft
the plan: (o Five a press conference.
Swnetimes the fin is to higch tele-
sistan el \vhen the rudical Bu.}‘%-‘
Menhol 2ang in West Germany £
“napped a ponticsan in 1973 as hostage
for the releate of five imprvaned com-
rades. 1t forved Germén television o shaw
each pnsoner boardg a plane and 10
bro:skq.x dictated propseanda siate
. ments. "'bar 72 houts we Jost control of
out meédium,** 2 German lelﬂ"xon ex-
ecutine [ater 5aid.
When Arab lemmgrists seized the Vi
¢nn3 heatquarters of OPEC 1n 1978,
hithing theeg perons and taking oil min-
isiers hostage. the tertonsts® calied
for then 10 occupy the butlding unul TV
cameras amved
A ot fedture of the plan of the San
Francrsco *'Symbloncse Lideration
Army," which kdnapped Fainga Haare,
w 3\ i expluitation of the media-fore-
adio and wlewision 1o play ity tapes
ind carry i 1aeasafes.

“The Hanaff Musluny' hostaze-taking
oceupatn of three locations 1a Wawhe.
ngtor i 1976 was & Jassic Lase of media-
ape terornm The teader, Hamans Ab-
dul Khaahs. speatanuch of by hine giv-
ing wntersieans by telephone while his
wile chrehed un wha » boing broad.
Lat
T thamr chmes are highly codta-

of e Gepartinent of pyyctaatry 3t Narth
« western Univensy. “*Decanged persons
have a passion fur keeping ap with the
news ard pnuarng of
It dazs put seemn to matier moch of
they are heeping up with ““the news** of
with " raeramaral,” fot mose amt more
the divtmotion 13 thinly Shrawn A reat
atteinf? on the $resqisat’s hife produces
2 tah of thivaty A pume time drama
#heg o hamb on ao arplans piuduces 4
13 ab tepwts ¢of Buinln un arplanes
In ol ot this. tclevisaun ¢ lasms 1o be
inoment g helpless eyem uneay. sume.
fie e sven chintape ool that nmpte

eimdma

rfalitd™” feehniques in tic-

tunial dranua® and the modern fortns of
fagh-and-Tnnun “‘docudraniar’ and
“reendtments'” of events. ¢

{t bepan 1o come homy 30 me thar av-
PATLY iR May was 3t [sau puthy @ué 10 diences were bluming the distinction be-
tneen reality and entertalnment when |

received

telephinne calls from several

penons, duiing the 1973 Senate Wates
23R heanngs thal preempied soup
etas. adhing thae the netwotks “'cancel

a bonng

witness akd “'put hack John
» °

[,
Biown withiu the hla,k vommumty by
gising o prelened expawte Non-
salent keadets fuund themaves obligent
 escalate the mililaky of thar vwn.
thetoric When Manin Luther King I,
canwe 10 Wanhingion in 1968 to dincuse

plans for the **posr

ba du!

¢'s march”” that
no(livewﬁﬁ’.lkewldmebc-

had 10 allude W possibibitivs for diseup-
ton as 8 way of getting media attention.
At 3 community meeting afterth: first

right of ricting in the Wotts area of Lon ~

Angtsin 1963 mow of 2oss who spoke
aled for calin Bui l:cmger“:vo:o

the

<A wuman wus buii;'xd anil .
gugged by 2 robher who told

the vietim's four-year-old

boy to watch televislod fur v
while before calling fog help,
The child looked at TV for
the next three hours,
< Ignoring his mothery
desperate efforts fo get

his attention.

L

seized

phone angd called for

goirg afict the whiteys'* was featured
onevemng TV ngws prograing. A mod-
erate commenied, *Look to me hke he
{the white mar] want s to rict."* An.

other sald,

“1f What's the way they read

it, that's the way we'll writa tha book.**
In resent years, telg) ition selas, com-
pelied,to come 10 lerms with its oon
HerLY, has sought o enforce
ines for covgrage of group violence.

Televigion tries to

e

guand agalnst osing

#n fininediate instigator of violeace. but
its reaction {s too Wtle and o late 1o
overcome the cumulative comeyuences
of a genenaddon vl depicted siolense It
I like trying to conirol protiferation of

Dean and
newds of

[
hisrice wife ** Morcoser, some
fune praisnd & “dotumcn(me"

shawn by NBC. The Raid at Entcbbe,
and had to be remunded that it was @
reenaciment

The pradugl erovon of the line be- 4

tween fact and Tanfaiy. between nsws
and theater, can have senoud conses
gy wariy I Huold Vewrdy. head  quences. People slow o et To accre

dents and
the exnste

mugginsymay be expenencing
atidl questicn of whether these

things ate really happeaing. A wonian
wiote colummst Abiga van Huten of
being bound and pazged by a rodeer who
tld the victim™s four.year olid boy to
watch telesision for 2 while defore call.
Ing for belp The child Yooked st TV for

desperate elfocts (o

th next three hours, ipapaing hi molher's
?l hiv atention.

Perhaps. tothe child, ¢

c show wal more

rexl thas his mothee®s muffled sercans
Having ubscured the d.ffcsnce be-

Geven fantavy and reahity. telgynion of-

fersircertives wa people who att seghing

emphatic

v ays of geting fecognition

- Lenminwath 2levivon hay helped Wi lnaocent hand wasing, as sn adcntion-

the Lnex Intwcen reziity gnd fantyypn  potting devive, yechds to demumitations,

W yengiat G ignnesy
eisvamnnew citse oblpedtocn

en wath gy g alcitainient ¢aynnnn enl,

sechine Lrpeisent baety with the kel af

sositof Lfe baerythine that oy 1
nsbs 3 well paced. smouthly edivcd
Tredars’ aulils chanpes reahity 1nma
<talmy atloynny of eventn The
133 P Wenapnnou F1enhp, fUY

wh:ch in

nym yicld ta suts

Inmy dwuexpancrte. covermg urban

vnrest Iy

CUS in the 1960v, threaiening

theintie ended o oserponer marlerate
frran gl up wath adranatised see rhetone and be selevted o1 the 1einork’s
Foentng News bevaust o ntade “beticr

televivon

"1 bave po daubt thal wle.

viston gl e bundd up saditant blacks
ke Sokely Caimnhacl and - Rap

nuclear pons after ditributing nu-
clear reacion over a profonged period.

The most Imporrant ihing is thare cansal
relaionship hos been skoun berween
vialence vicwing and aggression.
«~Dr. Jeve Stcinteld, $u:7¢0n

" Genceal of the Ugited Siates 13972

For three decades., sirce the tmz when
there were 1 rulfion TV sats in Amer-
ka. | have saiched effuns 1o detimine
objectively the effects of televised vio
knce while the TV itusiry srone 10

the lssue urdee the carpet.

e

\Vg:n televisiont hated most of =1 1o
wchnowledre was hat violence on TV
savnol inculental or scaidsntat bat o
comeicanly foatered element 1n the rat-
ings ruce. 18 1976 David Rntels. pres-
ident of the Wnters Guitd 1n Lus An-
geles. where o3t of the blood-and -guts
sripts are spawned. told a congresional
cummuitee. **The netwarks nof anly ap-
ru\c vinlence 01 TV. they have been
ROWN 0 tecie st and irspite

“There 1o much viokeme on tele
vinon, " he said. * becauss the neranrh s

want st T2y want it becauss they think &

they can altean t viewers by g1, R aszachy
sovovony Athihate stabons wel¢omen °

A pensonal espenens? btoupht boow
o me the industiv's sensits gty w the
whiset o January 1989 may repurt for
an bvewnp News (eleenl summanng
the.reenm findings of e N stinnal Cour,
muvios on the Causs and Pres enton of
Vislenie, was alered shaethy defene au
fumc al the ducition of Ruhatd N Sat-

¥
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ant, uvendent of CHS News i cluninte
2 coimimnr adina (ks The puasagpe
clted ahe commison’s vicw thal while

mont persens will not kil after ceeing
2 single violent 1€lca AIOA PrOgRAM. . . .
@ 1 pusuble thut many lam some of
they 3ttnide, 3Bout vinlence from yean

a u! TV esposure snd may be likely to

il

-

\vr age n viplence  Fot management
1o weerrid: the news judgment of the
< Croalits how '’ was extrgmely raré

Riors and 23sa-simations would bring
the 1siue periodically 1o the fore. but the
tesearch had been going on for a fong
tims. For wore thar aguantzr of atentu
social scientists have studied the ef.
foers of s plence-vicwing —especaally on
emidren ] -

15

& At Sunfiml Unnensity, Profesoe
Alten Bamord repoctad (fiat chikdren duoe
to s ygars of age whone toys were takea
away they had seon fiims showing
aggression Wauld be more Licly 1o pound
an inflatea Goll intheie frustration than
chyldren who had rod seen such filins.

® A Canadian study by R.S. Walied
and E. Liewrllyn Thomas found that high
school students who had viewed az2rese

. slve filing were more ikely than othery
t sdminister wroag elecine Wwxks 1
students making €70rs On BN exan.

® An experiment concucted in Mary.
1ard Tor the National [nstitute of Mental
Healh found serious fighs i schoot more
comuron among high school shuidenss who
waiched violent TV progtems.

o

\

¢

1]

® Bradley Greenberg und Joseph
Dominigk, studying Michigan,public.
whool pupit. found thar “"higher ex-
posure ta whevhblon vinlonce idventer-
tainment was assoclated with g eater ap-
proval of viokince and greater willingness
o use it in real tife.*

® Dr3, @orothy and Jeroes Sinder of
Yale University concluded from an ev-
baustive series of intervisws thar the ehil
dien who watched the most television
were likely to act most aggressively in
family sjustions. Alihough they could
w0t prodifee 8 *smoking gun'’ that would
iflyencd tha TV indusicy, they arp J
thst they had eliminated every other f1c.
wof that could account for the high cor
relation binveen spgressive behavior and

TLe ayerage Amencan watches tele-
visien (o7 fuur hours and 30 seconds
cvery dyy, aciording to A C. Miehen
figarey YWomen wiich the maost: four
hours wnd 47 iminutes 8 day. Men waich
four hourh ard six imnytes. Childien
ages two 1 cleveg watch thice hours

\ At St. EY, tize Patients Thought Hincklgy “Viss Nuts?

in zeference 1o John Hitckley.

The Cole Residence ia Nostheast DC
s a group home for boys 16 10 18 wio
are awaiting trial for minor offerses.
Rick Rricher, asiistant administrator,
styy 00 reftrictions m¢ placedaon et
ﬂﬁiun viewing. Bricher says the stalf
S to watch speciat

aed 32 pufjures 8 day, and children age
twele m'\(e\éman watch the least;
thiee huury andg weventecn minutes.
buoe warfy Wiashuagtonians, Lilewt-
sun w kepliin its proper place and per-
spediee: shuws that Wash.
ingtonians lread nore and watch less

Cy2ATC

tuagun ity be the enuntey But television
18 aned increningly 3 a ahyatter or
an opia's 1n siiuiens To hind nut
Farw vath tedesision 18 viatvhed by thove
whu 1M Bave ttouble i pnnating
bgueen 1elevinien and real hife, we
subivy & the TV habits af finoeared
1L iunons. .
AL St Eheabahy Hispital, mental
peans 3,0 penmcted 1o watch ualim.
ned1invson Social wotker Helen
qnan who deais with men and
n aged 23 to 35, says the ele
veean i0oon o the patient lounge ali
dae long Patients watch soap opents
duning the das andin the eseming they
wre whg the re'ssconflntover which
G tawarh Heznan s that inany
£ otdooare ypat by cagesure Y-
1
]

neee al the wore div
lw the televvionand
LWy ettt She por

Talh v lehvraon beiaose it
sheamngd s putyit et an Ohe siatt
ot sans e cotplin cos watch s
mch TV e ike patients and woofd he
12w wers tesended

i wrd w0 vutapd iggadt. !
- and they wery p;rﬂg(ll) [
A L tage il theSRetaxan

man oy gl thetone pa
s . was he hort.

1ot seirafagd

~

tefevion Ih:m reaidents of any other |

progratms, paticularly those thit forus
on black issues. Sporty programs arc
uiar, 83 well a3 netwbik programs
ettunng black actors., such ts The Jof-
fersons. What will o2 walched is de-
termined by majarity e, 1
Inmates at DC*s L.orton Reformatosy
are pemitted to watch unsestricted el
.evision. The set is on every day fiom
around noen untit 11 1, except ‘an

-monuoting television could de put 10

marily adolescents, sre not restricted in
what they watch. However, » busy
schedule, which includes a full day of
chool, feaves fittle time for television.
Suein adds that the center dost aot weat
0 shelter patieats froi® normat sctivi”
ties and that the time and cfion of

beteer use by the aff. Like Bergman
at St. Elizabeths, Stein expoesses con-
cern that :leviston hinders patient ine

wnction, .

Swin ays Me batients peefer com-
ediss such as AI°A°S*H and Fanaly
Islandto drama end action s.iows. They
teud 10 gruld programs that eontain
excenive violence, aud hevome ane.
s whmssu‘ progrim, are ca A

ording ta Steifinchizophrent

inmatcs ate being c. nted.
Whitticld. & Lonton aJmimisteator, $3ys
each dormntitry has a 25-inch color sot
and the (nmates vote on what 1o wieh,
Because inmates work on different
schedules. wmeon. tv watching telee
vision &1L tREne. SO1p opeTss, sports.
police. and sdsenture shows ate the
most ar Somne of the inmates watsh
the lucabaiews to find out who got caught
doing what. because they often know
the people tmolved in ares frime O
« caupnalty they speculate on W ho might
be the perpatiator of 3n ursolved crime.
When the Supreme Coun is In sewsion,”
magy inmates witch the Monday-nisht
news 1o sce if any decnions sltecung
th-1 cases have been handed duwn
Whithield says tamates adnuee the
*flashy tpes” 10 atien showe He
doean’t thind. lanton inmdtes ¢ e
prasticated enitch (6 pick up any new
s av Insniglessian s chmaals thugn
thes micht pat g pew wankle
{0 Slarn Steiry o sdmunsirativ at
the Donunmn Paohaine Frestment
Conteein Fally Circh say s the e of
tfeciace oan wva ol pieat sorcem
wihe taahiy s aart Thy patients pr

Brgs Uunnv. Woody Woorlpeeker. and

oftep think the Kelevisidn Is rlking to

o about them or sending them special

messages,

o¢ children aged four 1o ten at the
Fairfax Brewsier School, a private
wchoo! for novmal students at Baifey's
Crossroads, the Ditkes of Huzserd [s
the overwhelinlagly fuvoriic show.
Nearly ail named a charactee om that
show when ashed who they would be
§f they could be a television charxter.
Sports were also popular, atong with

The Greutest Amerlcan Herv. The chil-
dren dislibed e news {boring). soap
2tas, amd The Invrecghle bk (dumb).
t of seven vinfdrenl enly onc had
prreAt whu specifizd the programs she
could umi could not waich. *xl
watched wontg prugrains with thefrfam-
ihicy and more than hall Ireqoently ate
dinncr in t -7 elévivon.
When asten - type of program he
enjraed mwe e ame-yvar ol sad
he liked show  a shich stuntnw wers
shot of pudted over chitts teairse Sy
neat huw they don't bleed or it
hun ~Heanna PERRAY

.
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3 D seaaer the camiont and beauty of S‘nem natEd! home furmish-ngs
SEIecartin desig supeno: 10 ¢omkact and Qually. arvd m supurpose In use
Qeny 100% natural malentals are used for maximum comion

OPENING CELEBRATION SALE
1595 off all items September 27- October 1}
alut o anzt nafurgl Lher bedding « furmituie « €ocorative piows |
Lar (030 b - el hoow sleepwear « lamps ¢ d1cessones
Geurgetown Park Wiconuin and M Stroeis 2021342.158/
Oprn Mun .St 10 -9,8un 12 -4
Stures 1n Bnston, Ne v, Yok, and New Jetse

'S'Iﬁ'l".N'l;i'l'{;'/\

-

view g of “action ofienied shums
8 Dr Leonard Bedowite of the k-
vematy ot Wiscomin, in two eaperiments
tendveans apant, found that thind.pradets
watching a preat many viokent programs
were Tikely (o be micd by whyr Jsupf.s

L85 Righn agproasive bhavioe ur

 nincteen, most of them atbr: stitl de.
sceided as “efgressive’ by their peers.
In fuct. reported Dr. lfcfkowils."me
stnount of television viewed af the ags
~ mine Is “one of the bewt preditctors of
véwethicr & person will be fuund 1 be
Qgrressive m Luer life.*

4 Congross took an early inirmx in the

question of violence in TV prugrams In
1952 the House Cummerce Comehiitse
held herrings on excessive sex and vio.

A University of Wisconsin
siudy shows that the
amount of televlsion

watched et the age of nine

{S “one of the best
predictors of whether
a persen will be found
to be apgressive +
in later life”

s

kence on television. Senate hearings oa
TV violence and juventle deliquent; .
cpmducted dy Senaturs Fstes Kefauver
of Tennewee and Thomas Dudd of Coa-
necticut, slirred ephodic public intetest.
The heanpg transcripts make a il stack .
. adding up 1o fiftcen yvean of congrn.

sional alarm over telesivon. and indis-
{ry reavsurance thirl it wos atldresaing e
problem,

'lhc\comm?cny over television as-
sumed 2 new dimensian of national von
gem-in the wake of the urban riots and
as=nirations of the 1960s. In 1968, afier
the assgasination of Rubert Kennedy .

e

- 3

OO
O

Presilont Johavon nauiad e comtisaon,
headed by Dr. MLlien Eisenhoner, 1o
inquite 1m0 the causes of violencr, wad
bow 1t nught be pisvented,

Betwven Octuber and Deccriber 1063,
the Eiseahower Commisaon held heree
ings on television, questiomng soctaf
socntisty and industry eaccutises about
the eslent 16 abuch the awdinm nughe
b the matigatue o abator of viokat ot
One comninun member, Leun Jaws:-
ski. Later to b thie Watsrgate passecuns,
eapreved the helref that tele vivton ang kit
have “a remeadom respenvitiliny e
sidenme 1n Aowrics

The relevmn networky achrond

edped a0 wilt respansibiliny. Waen

thatss

o —
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© Commiuner Allrt b Jenwr ashed

whtker the depronmnlf violence has
an ehixct upan the siswer,” Dr, Fragh
€oaaton. présideat of CBS, replied: T
ma Ay ngt have That is The ques-
ton we don't have the answer (.

New creheless, thecomnmission decidad
to forfrulate an anwwer. After a long
dehate - from which Lioyd N. (:mlcrh
thg evecutne dirzctor . digualificd him
s:if Bevause of his taw tiun's TV-in.
dintry clisnis— the panel declared in ity
final g 4 thi it way “deeply lroubled
by telsviwon's constant portrdyal of vio.
fence . pandening 1o & public preogs
cupaton with violence that televis:on itself
hay Peiped to generate.”

The pancl's report concluiled: *A
constant diee of violence oo TV has ax

aberee effect on humay charsster and
T atttudes

Violence on ielevivion en.
voutages vinlemt futms of behavior and
finters moral gad social values in daily
ie which are unacceptible in 3 ci\-ilireu\.‘
sovicty  We do rot suggest tha iclevi.
s10n 13 4 principal cause of violeace in
our seciety. We o sugpest that it iv &
conuibuning fastor **

A twoesolume (eport of the ommiye
son’s " Task Foree on Mass Media apd

. Vhaenze' consluded that, a8 a shorte

wape eftpet, those who see violent aéts
pentray of leam 1o perSutm them ond may
wntate tlefn 10 @ wnnlae station, and
that. as a tgpy terin effect, expmure to
wohas |.1lc&,uxmﬁle\ audiences in-
tno e norms, Witrsdeg, and vatues for
violeeee

+ The hisenhiwer Comintssion’s report
or tebvissiod had butde anpoct it was
muetshadowed in the nows media by 288
reote headhire.mal g findingy about
tits. Gl dsobedience., and pollce tro

riaty  The peiworks acted to redice the
siverie 1n anmated cartouns for ehl-
dren wad Silhags in 3dult pragrams. and
in¢ 1neton-picture industey gnchly com.
yensated by inceeasing the inswdence and
sividacss of i blowudleting.

Howevee, Conzeess.on the invisiive
of Rbud= I\land Senator John O Pastone,
3 tung w.oxhing entiv of teles vion, moved
sodale 3 eamnpiciely new invest
catlinz on the U8 Surpean Cen-
13 repart on 0V and vieleawe that
§ a0 eftect. paral'el tic teport as-
n ol URan e wnoking Wik camer

Wit d aburr what might caxiee s
unhgstmbe e wchovagn adustry Inb-
bl wath Pecsedant Niwnn s Scorctaty of
Ho i i ainn a0 d Welfare, Robent
foe b comttinaee the oreantzatun amd
conty 1ot the i estipgtion fEsecesy
tlly uppeeed wven camtubates for ap
Punt - al othe soohielle: @ ludin ¢
e st Arowa sesearchesong the tichd
e Ywrsvon Genee By Giooanuste e ol
Funvivn atsd Sovl Buhavaw aveuns
vouhal campried e s Sl d

ty
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From ‘inin:al design concept to finishing touch... "

J.J. Petro Nurseries builds
gardens of distinction,

Canstruction of walls,
decks, patios and qools
accented by select
plantings complements
our full range of ~ ABL,
SBrvices. 1 e PRS0

CREATING CUSTOM GARDENS
ﬁ Y FOR QUALITY QUTOODR LIVING

7% 11 BETRD MUASERIES

T 245-56a0

thader IV 13, Rarhiwgamous 195
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FEELING

Regain Control of
Your Cor or Truck
Geand Piit w915 wary ine best
prr'pimance from they ders
Ine:a's $ADY oo much at slaxe 1
1-8% 173 D 20NIPOLWVOUGN 8 herit of
on 8 paich of uny/en pivement,
Thal"l 1Y Ny drive CliS euarDod
valh KONIS. ‘.
. Intha st sleven yaars, mova o
- 152 Geaid Prif wnnors in 8
tow Al 11 Formula | Wortd Cham
Pons haveereased e hngh bne i1
€315 6qPped with KONIg,
~ " You. loo. encounter 152 turns;
liesshaiquy eunves, ran saahed
fughy/ays. and bumgy and rough *
- 1033 You Can NanGio ¥m &' with
aalety 304 fho confdence’s! &
Grand Pt 2, DEgause tha sarme
hgh standards of enginening and *
WO kmansiud 011 muks KONE the
top eifanmdy at 1ns 1-3ck GO ita
e3ch & every SNOLk Ly gerect
fpiicainng
£ach shock i3 custoringne sred
10 Lt your ear ang re a0y tho
KON patentod aZusing
leatuig wheh atuws
cornpansalon o
evontuie wadr A
ShOCK 37 4o0d,
7" Jus \atees
e 3% g
2% 370 oA
your Cal

#vadolie at
LLECIRODYNE,
irgest o trexaor
of “quahty molunng
ICCOSS0NCS T N he
MaTs Atiantc Siates.
Deator anrt ye2ber
010G w0 24

clectrodyne
2313 {
Alsxznirltta:s&“ u?':’."sl’JM

103835484}

LU TR LN WA IR

i of gigan.
twihia bachgnmd, - . .

Hhce years and $FB mitliow Jater, the
committer  produced s repurt.
*“Tvlevision and Growing Up: Tiw fiue
gt of Televived Viokeave."” wpposied
By five voluines of kv haical studtey. The
Full report, read By few, provided telling
Gta on the role of TV violgnee'ds in.
Stigalor of agpression in yming people.
Butihe pinetovn pupe sdikmary thae woull
deterpifie the public perception cntersod
yayee end ambliguogs,
srupgle within the commutfes.

**Under the circumstancgs,” it said, -
watching vialeat fare on television could «

caase»young person to st sggressively,
but “'childeen Imitate and leawn from
everything they see. "' The reseasch dud-
ies. 1t said, indicated “*a modest asso-

. ciation hetween viewing of Jelevivion and

siolence aenong st least some children, !
but “'television is only one of the many
facton which In time may precede ap-
gressive behavior.' :

Phe summary danced around the ers-

eial iviue of causation *'Several findings
of the survey studied eun be ciied 10 sus-
ta2in the h{pﬂ(hﬂif‘ﬁil{ viewing of vio.
fent television has a caysal relation to
aggressive pehavior, shough ‘ntither in.
dividually nor calléctinely are the find-
ings convtusive §

The ambiguity way mirrored inghe

“puages of the New York Tintes, A fronts

page stoty on Jinuary L2, 1972, based
o0 a leak, was headlined v v
HEL CALEARMELL TG YOULH. But when
the report-was officially relsawd a weck
tater, the Time: story 82id, *™" ¢ study
shuws for the firit ime a esusal con.
oection hetween vinlence shown on tel-
evision and subscyuent Behavior by
coiliften **

“His clear 10 we," sard Surgeon
General Jesse Sicinfeld. presenting his
et at 8 heanng con Jvtedd by Senator
Pasore, *that (Re causal relatiunship
between televised violeme and antiso-
c1al behavior 1 sufficient 1o warrant ap-
piopaate and remadiul activn **

There was 10 siy,mificant remedeal ag-
non As the deveds of wban vialenw
and avsavstndidn obbed. the issue of tel
evision violene e faded. to cotye back
anather duy A wl anoiher day would bruyg
avher eeps .t

Even befur © the baest macidents of vio
feme wnew inquiry had st Dy Eh
N KGBINICI Y tere P 0 Sur-
geon General's commudue a3 3 viee
chunnun fresh Lo the Navonal nwe-
wie of Mental Healih His apenence
with the e stigation Led s o niake
e sudy of Thy maw axdia ) s varver

1 {90 {1 Rubiovain ngav peofes
s wl pyyedidopy e Umveruty of

cr an inlenve,

Nunth Caruling, persuatled Presidsat
Cartar's Surgeon Genersl. Dr. fuluny
Richanind. to asembts an af bk cum.

atitley o prvpore o updatyd venicn of -

the 1972 Susgeun Giencrul’s repurt o Ky
\rth anniversary . Twe veduines of new
woaucal studfies huve afready been cum.

pikd, The conciusiuns are yetso be wrt. -

n. b theee s o doubt that they wilt
reinforgoand expand the oriping] tinidly
staled findungs.

O thng the pew et witl do, Dr.
Rubinstein suld. 1310 fay to ress the the-
vry that depichnd violeme can aiually

Qne thing the new report
will doisto lay'to rest
he theory that deplcted
violence can decreuse
aggression by serving
as a “cathartic.”

dscrease agpression b{ seiving as a
“*cathartic*'— the cleanting and purying
of an andience’s emotions that Aris‘ite
kld to Be the highest gt of tragedy.
Advanzed by some behavioral seicntists
Rudying televiston, the theory was ex-
amined during the 1972 stdy for the
Surgeon Uencral, whic concluded i
there was,"no evidn . 10 wuppdey a o2
tharsis Interpretation.* The updated re-

PORh CHling mo empirical studies. will -

nitke that polnt iore gtrongly.

A temendous smotnt of work has
bevn done over the past kn yewrs, ang
the volume of hicrature has probably tn-
pred.’ Dr. Rubinstein says. **1t any
mist.ke was nade ten years ago, it was
to be too quilified sbout the rel atiombip
between TV violenwe and apgressive

ness. We have a bt of mow evidense

about causality. and about what consis-
tutes cauulil{. We know much more
sbout how televivion produces aggre.-
sive Bohan foz. We know nuore about hos
fantavy can erowd out realivy, sod dl.s
specific influenves of televisjon on diee
tutbed miads. e

*The fundumental ientific edliden.
indicates that television uifocts the viewer
in nton, ways than we realsel tnitally
You will socalt that the ofiginal smoksn -
and bealth atindy was lanted  the fun,e.
and later 1t wav lkamed how ymohing
altects 'he heart and e1Yer parts of 12c
body Ju the same way we nus hpow
that the oriptnal emphisis on TV o
kence was 100 narmuw. Telesisian affesty
ot only 4 predisposition owards viee
leace. but the whule range of soxi1al und
pyvhdoraal desclopment of the yvun:
Foleratuns *° [ =g
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The new Surgeon General's report.
scheduled for (elaase by the Reagan oed- .
ministration in 1982, by likely to be thal-
Ianged h the TV Infustry with all the
vigor ditphiyed by the when
unposing the tepont,oi smaking and can.
cer. tnevitably, I8 will be read lor cluesy
to viotent behavior of peogle tike Juhn
Hingkley.

Inite abseice of fumily, peer, and school
telatianthips. welevision becomss the
most cospatible substitute for real-life

expenbice -
'~Nationsl Commission oa the Causcy aod
Prevention of Violence 41965)

1 what made Hinckiey different, whit made

him shoot the President are u'timately
matters for psychiatry and the faw to
etermnine. But the > media factoe™ phyed

apart.

;:1» Hinckley withdrew from school snd
famnily Life. he retreated wsely into
2 waiting world of violent funtasy,
tpending more and more time akone with
television-—an exciting companion that
made no demands on him.

Hut televivion was ot the only part
of the media working to merge fuct and
fantasy for Hinckley. He was®strongly
influenced by Tati Driver, a motion pice
ture about & psychopath who found the
snswer 10 his snxletles dwough his ob-
schsion with violence, Like the Wi Criver,
Hirckiey oscillsted between wanting to
kit} a public figure 10 impress the object
of his alfvctions, and wanting 1 * rescue”
her from “evil'’ surroundings. Paul
Schrudder, suthor of the sereenplay, Lelts
me that the moment he heard that Pros-
Kent Reagan had been shot, his reaction
was, **Therp gocs another taxi driver!"

Hinckley was also affected by fan
frenzy. a special manifestation of the
media culture. 1t focused mot only on
lodie Foyter, the female lead in Taxl
Drhver, B3t also on former Beatle John
Lennon, whose music he played on the
guitar. Last New Year's Eve, after len-
non's murder, Hinckley taped a monv-
lopue, in his mote} room near Dinver,
in which he moumed: John and Jodie,
and row one of “em's dead

~Somstimes, 3 he sald, *) think I°d
rather just see WEF not . . . nok on earth
than being with other puys | woulda'y
wanna stay on casth without ber on earth
f'd hase tobe some kind of pact hetween
Jodie andt me.*’

And the influences working on Hinck.

by catended beyond the visual media,

The idea of asuicide pact was :rparmlg
drewn from The Fan, a porel by Bol
Randall that Hinchley had borrowed—
slofiy with hooks about the Kennedy
family and Gordoa Liddy's Weli—from
pubdlic Uideary in Everpreen, Culorado.
Inthe book, the patanoid fan of a Broad -
way stat, feclny tegected inhiv ads anwes
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byotanl balle the mtrgss aned bnbaolf as
M epeny in g theatir proddestan Fagly
Lase Nlasoh, as Bostet sas prepsnung to
oD g New Haven stoxk-company
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tilg ut, by —like 1tha hchonat Tan —teft
biehind 2 1atter 10 be read posthumous]y
1t was izl Foster thal he initended.
dizou it “thus histodsal deed. 10 pain youe
tespent and kne ™
“ As thrigh 1o document his place in
the tnsdi> i of fance, be diled ard
e the Ieder and left behind, in hie
reom in the Park Central Hotel, tapes of
his guitae playins. his New Yeap's Eve
solihrquy. and 2 1efephone consenation
sath Fuver,

& 1 alure at most things. Hinckley was
a spectucular media suvcess who had
sivased 10 engoy Ins \'elebm)\val—‘l
125500 1hat wa:'t be lost oa other dnven
persnny

No ens could doubt his impesitance os
thallznze tis iennty ae the tews cam-
erar clustend atound the fodetal court.
housr when he enived for bas armaign.
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e wanegraching  feath delying leahep
ol the f1,0 World

IRe clliet was to teintuice the jor |
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Mr. HuGHgs. Thank you very much, Mr. Schorr, for a very excel-

- lent statement and one that presents a lot of very insightful issues

and ramifications of the overall problem.
Mr. Schorr, ycu indicate that the subject of your testimony is a

. little bit different from that which we will hear shortly. That is,

you emphasize that sensational news is an impet}xs to what I would
characterize as cOpycat crimes, rather than-a I. esis that overall
aggressive acts in children and others.

One .of the common themes in both areas, however, is the obseur-
ing of the pain and reality of violence. the blurring of the critical
distinction between fiction and fact. Should TV make a reality of

. violance, particularly on a cumulative basis, leads to antisocial or

the pain and suffering of, violence? I would venture to say that on
occasion, when it is not so obscure, like the execution of a Vietnam- -
" ese on prime time TV, there is an overall revulsion to the violence

which would tend to make people reflect on that violence.
Would you comment on that?

Mr. ScHoRrr. Yes. It js very difficult because I believe the func-

tion of television news is,"in fact, to mirror reality. In fact, it is the
last refuge of reality on televisidn. Therefore, to obscure the fact
that there is real pain coald, in itself, be counterproductive.

One of the harmful effects, I believe, of what has happened in
television entertainment, after it began to react to too much bleod
and guts, was to eliminate the blood and guts and to have people
shot and die off camera. I think there is a corresponding danger in
making it appear that people don't hurt, that people, when shot or
set on fire, don’t hurt. I think as much as possible we should try to
mirror reality. It can, hoyever, be done with taste. It doesn’t have
to be infinitely repeated, ahd some of the worst shots which are
simply in bad-taste can be eliminated. ' Coey

I would not, however, try to disguise the reality that there is real
pain in being shot. ?

Mr. HuGHes. A good example of that would be t\he after effect of
the assassination attempt on the Pfesident, the pain, the long-last-

ing pain, suffering, and disfigurement of Mr. Brady, the press sec-,

retary. :

Mr. ScHO#R. That's right.

We have a word we use in television called “generic footage.”
That is, when something becomes so general and so useful to illus-

trate certain situations, you just use it all the time. The scene of -

the shooting of President Reagan in front of the Washington Hilton
Hotel was really a very good piece of television tape. It had a lot of
drama to it. It is very tempting to producers and correspondents to
keep using it all the time, every time you mention the fact that the
President was shot in March of 1981. :

What I suggest is that when it happened, and when it was avail-
able, it had to be shown. You could not deny that to the public. But
does it have to be repeated with such hypnotic effect so often every
time you mention it? Isn't it enough that people have already seen
it?

Mr. Huches. We are going to hear testimony later this morning
from a panel of television people that suggest. I think, the bottom

line, that the case has not been made for the connection between -
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violence va TV and crime, and dismiss it, ghat there is no responsi-

bility. .

What is the responsibility of 'the profession to exercige segﬁe;
straint, to develop guidelines in this area, and to try to determde
if there is some dégree of reality? Lsuspect that we will never find

a "smoking gun,” if that's what they are looking for. So what is the .

ultimate responsibility of the profession that we know as journal-

ism? - X

. - - 4
Mr. ScHorr. The dilemma for television hews today—I come
from a long history of newspaper work. I 4m old enough to have

- gone through all these cycles of journalism. In the old days some-

thing happened and yqu stood around and you went-and reported

it. More and more today in the television age things will happen -

because of television and things will happen because television is

there. Therefore, television can no longer claim to be & neutral by- -

ws it-isn’t. -

stander and observer. It isn’t, ahd it k

In 1968 it realized thht every time dUring the night that a mobile ..
camera ttuck went out and turned lights on somewhere, there was .
likely to be a riot, becausg the camera lights were on and people
wanted a riot in the presefice of those caméras. Therefore;if televi-
- sion becomes a stimulator of these things, television has to accept

its responsibility, whether it would like to or not. It cannot blind
itself to the.fact that people will wave hands or demonstrate or kill
to get on television. . ' _

One has to start, therefore, by saying that while we would like to
consider ourselves neutral in covering the news, let’s face the fact
that a lot of that news would not happen if we weren’t there. Once
that is so, you face a terrible, terrible burden of deciding at what
point arc you simply ccvering the news—and that's “just the facts,

. ma'am”—or at what point are you responsible for an increase of

violence in society. We are not just reporters, which is why I am
before you today. I begin to realize that we do have some larger
responsibilities than getting one more rating point over the next
statiom .

Mr. Huches. Thank you. _

The gentleman from Michigan.

Mr. SAwYER. Just a couple of questions, Mr. Schorr.

I know, for exampvle, that your first name is Darniel, and you may
or may not know that my name is Huarold, and I know the chair-

man's first name is Bill, but I don’t know anybody’~ middle name.’

Yet, we have so dignified these Presidential assassin . that we know
them by all three names—dJohn Wilkes Booth, James Earl Ray vis-
a-vis Martin Luther King, and Lee Harvey Oswald. You know, it
kind of says something. We have stressed it, so much that we have
not just gone by Lee Oswald or James Ray, that it is—- ' ,
Mr. ScHorr. Have you learned Hinckley’s middle name? :

will.
Mr. ScHorr. We will.
Mr. Sawyer. I am sure we wil! start developing that.
Mr. ScHorgr. It's “W.” That's all I know.

Mr. Sawver. I don’t even know the President’s middle name..

You know, John Wilkes Booth shot Abraham Lincoln, but I don’t

<6

Mr. SAWYER. Xou know, that's kind of peculiar. We’probably

.
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know whether Abraham Lincoln had a middle name, either, but

you sure know John Wilkes Booth did.

- But getting back to the essence of it, aren’t we really bucking a

- problem like we were in prohibition, or currently in the case of
drugs, that whgre there is a demand there is always a purveyor to
meet the demand. Isn’t the basic problem that this is the news that
the American public seems to want? And as long as they seem to
want that kincf of news, with those kinds of details—like Stokely
- Carmichael as opposed to a moderate, less-newsworthy spokesman,
if you will. Isn't there always going to be somebody to give them
the.news that they want?

Mr. Schorr. Congressman Sawyer, first of all you can’t classify
all Americans as all the same way, or even individual Americans,
as reacting the same way in different situations. It is true that at .
the lowest level, in the level of sensory perception, Americans like
to have their senses titilated. Nothing titilates the senses more
than violence or the threat of violence, and nothing will send a
- tingle through the heart of a white American more than to be told
that a black American might come around and burn his house
down. That is very tingly and very entertaining in a certain sort of
way. . ) .

But Americans are also something else. Athericans will also sit
" back and realize what the consequences of sonie of these things
are, and they can set up different incentives for television stations,
which I guess was the main point that I never got around to ex-
pressing. If Americans can organize to get better cartoons for chil-
dren on Saturday morning, and if Americans can form organiza-
tions, not all of which I necessarily support, to organize boycotts of
companies doing & kind of entertainment they don’t like, what I
would like to see is Americans also exerting a little bit of pressure
on television stations by telling them “we don’t ask you to stick
with every hostage situation to the 1ast minute when nothing is
happening; we don't ask you to have your reporters try to get
scoops by calling up people holding hostages in order to ask them
whom they are going to kill next and all the rest of it. On the con-
trary, we may turn to the other station if we think you are not .
being a responsible public citizen.”

Mr. SAWYER. Let’s look at something we have all just come off of
watching and listening to, and that is this debacle in Chicago,
which was probably one of the world’s rottenest elections—racially,
personally, every other way. That was because the media picked
out all of those parts and played them up -and got a whole national
audience. You know, I am watching'to see who is mayor -of Chicago
this morning. Normally I could care less, or just ho hum, so and so
won the election. If they talked about better police service.in Chica-
go, petter fire service, better maintens nce of the streets, better edu-
cation, nobody in the Nation would have paid any attention to that
election unless they lived in Chicago, because certainly we get
those kinds of legitimate issue arguments in virtually every major
city mayoral election. .

But because the media picked out these racial overtones—the
nasty overtones—I dare say everybody in the country was watching
that election to see how it came out, and was interested in it.
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That speaks for what the people are interested in. The media

. could have given more attention to that election, talking about the

legitimate isrues, and 1 assume there were legitimate issues dis-
cussed, although goodness knows what they were because nobody
ever mentioned them on the media. ,

But assuming they talked ut things like Chicago police pro-
tection, fire protection, schools, public services, street cleaning,
education, and whatnot, the media could have harped on that just
as much, just as long,tand just as heavily as they did about the
issues that were there, and everybody would have gotten bored and
said, “why are they telling us all these stupid arguments about

-, Chicago? We don't live in Chicago.” -

Doesn't it tell you kind of how you get. the audience and how aré
you going to stop.the media from doing it, when that is what the
audience seems to be looking for? You -are able to convert a little
Chicago mayoral election into something like a national ‘Presiden-
tial election, as far as most people’s focus of interest was con-
cerned, all through that smear-type thing repeated by the media.

Mr. ScHorr. Congressman, let me try to separate out several

. .issues. If we want to talk about the politics of it and as to whether

this elec:ion was a little municipal election or one with national
significance, let's leave that one for later, because I don't agree
with you—— '

Mr. SAwYER. But only because of the racial overtones.

Mr. ScHorr. I think 1t was a very important election in many re-
spects. But let me get down to the side I am most qualified to talk

“about.

When you talk about the media making of this or the media
making of that, I found it very interesting that both of the candi-
dates denounced the media for smearing them. Both of them said

they had gotten an unfair shake. Maybe the media must have been

doing something right to have gotten into trouble with both of the
candidates. Neither felt well served by it, which is kind of an inter-
esting phenomenon in itself. '

-You will not soori remake the media to a point where it will deal
only with what you consider to be constructive issues. That is a
utopian vision. As a matter of fact, I am not sure we want it to
happen because then we wopld lose the interest of our audiences.

- There comes a point where you cut off people.

I always remember that I have lived for a period of 3 or 4 years
in societies where constructive news is emphasized and destructive

news doesn't get on the air at all. That was in the Soviet Union, in -

Poland, and in Czechoslovakia, and Asia result, nobody pays any
attentioh to the media in these countries. :

Mr. S§WYER. You see, there you are making the very point I am
making. If you just limit it to the local issues, the legitimate issues
in a mayoral campaign, you wouldn’t have had any big audience,
and therefore, with these other tempting little things you know

- they're going to get a national audience, the media plays it I'm not

blaming the media. I'm just saying I don’t know how you stop this.

It did have national impact, but it only had national impact be-
cause of the racial overtones in it. Had it been a legitimate debate
between even a white and a black candidate, if they had stayed
with the issues; it wouldn’'t have had those overtones. But as they

- 28
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made it a racial issue, then you threaten an independent black can-
didate for President and everything else. But that all grew out of
the racial part of it. That was played to the hilt by the media.

Mr. ScHoRrr. There is noquestion that——

Mr. SAWYER. Because th{a‘%’s where you got the national audience.

Mr. SCHORR [continuing]. There are certain issues that transcend
the local. If you are dealing with a racial issue, that is a national
issue. If you deal with potholes on LaSalle Street, those are not na-
tional issues. Clearly, when it verges on something of irterest to
the whole country, it becomes of national interest.

Mr. SAwYER. That’s the whole point I was making. I think that

while we aren’t talking about violence there, it has some similarity _

1{1 appeal to the general audience. I don’t know how we quite avoid
it.
I yield back, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. HucHEs. Thank you.
Just following up, first of all, I happen to believe—and I am will-
ing to listen to be persuaded otherwise—that the media could have
made other issues in that Chicago election the issues of the day.
Perhaps the Chicago election did not deserve the type of national
treatment that it received. I know, having been a candidate a few
times, candidates endeavor to resppnd to the things that are of in-
erest, and I think the media, perhaps, has some responsibility in
tiig area. That's a part of the issue. . \
During the latter part of the Roman Empire,-bread and circuses
became the issues of the day. The cynics suggest that that is inher-
ent in our society to some extent, that we have a little bit of that
tendency to want te focus in on the more despicable side of human

endeavors. I think that part of the issue—and I think that my col-

league from Michigan has focused in on it somewhat—is just what
is the responsibility of the media. '

I would like to believe that Hal Washington and Mr. Epton
would have focused in, not maybe on potholes, but uvn other issues
that were relevant, if, in fact, that would have generated the kind
of media attention that they, perhaps, sought. So, I have some
question as to what is the responsibility of the media in these
areas.

Mr. ScHorr. Mr. Chairman, I think one of the problems with this
is that when you say the media do this and the media do that, the
media make this the issue or make that the issue, is that this tends
to obscure the fact that the media don’t do much of anything. The
media are more done to than doing. The media are there. They can
be manipulated, they can be appealed to. If the candidate chooses
to put out a commercial with racial overtones, it will be noted, and
that will becorhe an issue. If another candidate chooses to do some-

-thing else, that will be noted. There isn’t any central media group
that says, “Let's make this the issue today.” They are basically
passive. They are basically reactive to what is happening. They are
much more maripulated than manipulating. It is how the candi-
dates adt and what they do that wi!l determine whether it is a
local issgie} or a national issue, or whether it is on issues of munici-
pal finance, or if it bagomes an issue of race between the two. They
made their race for #niyor, and they made their race a racial issue
in the way they acted.
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_ The media becom'es an. enormous megaphone which amplifies it.
That cannot be ayoided. We have national radio and national tele-
vision in this country and it is not possible to keep the decibels

down once the thing happens. That magnification will take place.’

Mr. Huches. Well, just briefly, your suggestion as to what hap-
pened at Watts, where the moderate blacks, by and large, called for

"moderation, but these lower voices, that wanted to settle the issues

peaceably, were overwhelmed by one individual suggesting that
they take to the streets and kill the whiteys, which became the hue
and cry that was publicized. Is the media reflecting the news of the
daﬁor creating it by giving that individual the platform?

 Mr. Schorn. In that situation, by taking it out of gontext and not
indicating how atypical it was, I have no doubt that they helped to
stimulate it. I jope that would not happen again. One of my rea-
sons for singlin¥ it out is to hope to sensitize news directors, so that
when a thing like ‘that does happen, and they go over the young

reporter's edited tape of that, they will say: “Wait a while, this-

meeting went on for a couple of hours; were.there-other view:
points? Can_your-seripts say that only one person .talked this way,”

“‘and give a couple of sound cuts of-other-people talking in other

ways. .
I don’t mean to censor these things out. I think you can’t avoid

them. I only suggest that news directors should be more sensitive’
. to context in the existence-of countervailing forces.

Mr. HucHes. It might be interesting for this subcommittee in a

| future hearing to hear from Harold Washington and Mr. Epton on

just that issue. The suggestion appears that, perhaps, since both of
them took on the media thie morning, that there may not have
been a degree of balance in reporting. It.also mifht suggest that
both of them feel that in the text of the overall campaign their
positions were distorted. Ma; e that would be an area that we
could explore. o

The gentleman from Florida.

Mr. SHAw. Thank you, Mr. Chairmaa. '

I very much appreciate your being here, Mr. Schorr. I have bven
a fan of yours for some time, and it is an honor to be able to have
this opportunity te hear from your directly and have this ex-
change. .

I think there is no question regarding the results themselves,
which show that race was very much an issue in the Chicago elec-
tion. In reviewing the returns, we currently know that, and also
whether it was the candidates’ fault or not, the voters certainly
split that way. So, I think the results are very obvious.

I think in looking at when we tatk about responsibility of the
media—and you have used that term several times—I think it, per-
haps, breaks into two areas that we should consider. One, is the
media a form of entertainment, or a resource of knowledge, and
how is that viewed? Would you care to comment?

Mr. ScHorr. Yes. It seems (fairly clear that there has been an
evolution from the day of the Qmall newspaper, which was basically
a source of information—although after a while it added entertain-
ment features to it—into radio, and finally into television. Televi-
sion is. by its nature, mainly an entertainiment medium, a large en-
tertainment “dog’ with a small journalistic “tail”’ on it. That tail
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.. finds it very difficu't to wag the dog. Not only that, but by its very
nature, since you have to use the tools of television, you get
dragged ontd the television stage and find yourself a little bit part
of that entertainment world, fighting it all the time and yet forced
to use lighting 4nd makeup and tape editing and all the rest of the
things that television does. .

It takes strofg journalists—and, thank heavens, we have a good
many of them—to hold the position of reality when they are’
having to share a stage with a basically unreal world of entertain-
ment. But, obviously, television is basically an entertainment
medium. . R

¢ Mr. Suaw. You made tl. : point in your testimony that-you-would .
like to see a television station say that.they dren’t going to have-a——
camera in a certain place because of the problems-it-would cause. :

- —-Fm-afraid—and I am sure you-would" agree—that such a network

would probably-end up last in the ratings, because everyone would

——be going around trying to see which one is showing the blood and -

a %uts or whatever. )

Of course, as you aye well aware, we had the problem in my dis-

trict in Dade County, FL, where we had the riots, and thereis no

question in my mind at all that the extent of the. riots was caused

by the extent of the coverage. All you have.to do is to take a TV

‘ camera into an area where there is unrest and you're going to have

- rock throwing. It is a very real problem. 8

Of course, there is no way that we're going to be able to limit it,
or would we want to limit it by law, because it is a basic freedom.
But, perhaps, the media should bear some responsibility or maybe
it does and it has just not been tested, some responsibility to a mer-
chant who has been burned out or to a pedestrian who has been hit
with a rock, by the fact that the media itself might have caused
that fire to be set or that rock to have been thrown.

Would you care to comment on that?

Mr. ScHorr. Well, you are beginning to get close to the area
which I had hoped to avoid, which is legal restraints an legal
action. I know, for example, I find it very interesting that tbere is
now a lawsuit against the manufacturer of the gun thet shot Jim
Brady and President Reagan on the grounds that you are responsi-
ble for your product. Clearly, every ritizen and every company in
our society bears a certain responsibility for what it does. Further
than that, I would really not wish to go.. °

Mr. Suaw. Thank you. ’

I'yield back, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. HucHEs. The geatleman from Florida, Mr. Smith.

Mr. SmrtH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

My apologies, Mr. Schorr. I would certainly echo the comments
of my colleague from Florida. You are a very distinguished gentle-
man, and I have had the pleasure of watching you over the years.
- However, while I have had the pleasure -of watching you and
other of your colleagues, I have also had the displeasure of watch-
ing television over the years, and it seems to me that we have
fallen into a pattern on televisian. I single that out as a very
unique media because as you indicated, it is a media that 1s mostly
entertainment as differentiated from newspapers, magazines and
radio, which are more news-oriented and less susceptible to having

e e
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their product moved by virtue of sponsorship to one philosophical
bent or another, or one particular form or another. -
.1 am curious about your commerits in answer to some of these ..
-questions. To some degree they differ slightly from_those of-your
prepared text—and I apologize-for not being here during the time——
that you gave the text. You-havé alluded to the fa at maybe
the media should have covered one persorratnd some news editor or
——--—Tiéws reporter should have had the guts to stand up and say*‘Look,
__that wasorily 1 man and there- were 50 of the others,” maybe we: .
— "7 should cover the 50 and leave the 1 aside, or—— "

Mr. ScHorr. Not leave the one aside.

Mr. SmiTH. Or give the one the second that he,or she deserves in
the context of percentage of what it was that all the other people
were doing. : T '

I am curious as to whether or not that could ever be achievable
in terms of what people wWho are on television have to deal with as
the outside motivating factors of sponsorship, ratings, and the like.

I would like to know whether you feel that could ever be achieved,

because then I went ‘0 jump to the other media, which I feel hold

almost as much blame and yet can't use any of the shields that tel-
* evision might have in the way of excuse.

Mr. ScHorR. Mr. Smith, with all due respect, I think you exag-
gerate the effects of sponsorship. That may have been true 20 or 30
years ago, that television stations and networks were so dependent
on sponsorship that sponsors might affect their decisions. That is
hardly ever true today.

Ratings are a very important influence. I can’t remember any
recent case where any station or any network did anything for fear
of a sponsor. Sponsors on the whole don’t dare ‘any more to try to
intervene, and if they did, they would just lose their commercials
and the space would be taken on the air by others. Ratings are a
somewhat different thing. Ratings are very important to stations
and networks and they fight very hard for them. A

My point in saying this is, if you follow the line of least resis-
tence, if you follow a kind of aggressions more in which the worst
tends to drive out the best, we will get what we get on televisinn
both on entertainment and sometimes, at least locally, in television
news. .

1 suggest, however, that the public is at a point where it can
create different incentives. Stations and networks are very respon-
sive to organized groups of Americans, to the mail they get and to
the telephone calls they get. In the case of the Hanafi Muslims
seige' here, some stations were criticized for the way they behaved
and they are not likely to behave that way again. "I,‘hey don’t like
being in trouble in the comrmunity. I think that the countervailing
values to ratings can be set up by public pressure, not by legisla-
tive and not by governmental pressure, but by the way it is done in
the American way. Americans get mad at things and they say ‘‘we
don’t want you contributing to violence” and they let stations know
it. I think stations react to that. ‘

Mr. SmitH. Let's take that one step further, because the media is 7Y
certainly not limited to television. We have news in the print
media and on the radio, which I don't think anyone has ever ac-
cused of inciting to riot—not in recent times anyway. At least to
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some degree we are saddened by the fact that most of our young
people don’t seem to Aeud newspapers all that much, ¢

If dyou look, as the chairman indicated, and as Mr. Sawyer indi-
cated, in the newsp: :-»rs—let’s leave television aside—you are very
hard pressed to find written media coverage of the issues in the
mayoral race in Chicago. Everything was devoted on how Mr.
- Washington was being politically abused by some of the local politi-
cal institutions, or what Mr. Epton was doing in terms of his prob-
lems about investigations of his law firm. I read the riewspaper
almost every day and I couldn’t find, even in the newspaper, what .
the issues were. . '

Isn’t there anybody out there who is willing to try to redirect the
news at all to the areas which are probably the most legitimate
function of the newspaper—that is, to report ultimately what is
going on in terms of what our long-standing political structure .
thinks ought to be going on? This is what paigs me. Even the mag-
azines, they all-talked in terms of the tangéhtial issues. Nobody
talked about what we in America would expect in a political race—*
the differences of opinion on how to run the city of Chicago. That’s
Jjust an pxample. '

Is the 'anIv other explanation? There aren’t ratings for newspa-
" pers. Generally, the local department store will- advertise in the
newspaper unless it is espousing some radical overthrow of the
U.S. Government. Generalf , the local department store, the local
hardware stores, the tire stores that runetheir sales, they are in the
newspaper. I'm a little depressed by that. '

Does that depress you? Does what I say make any sense at all?

Mr. ScHorr. Congressman, it is only with certain hesitation that
I cross the constitutiunal barrier that divides your function from
my function to discuss news values. But let me sey this, with all
respect to those on your side of this barrier, that in almost every
case—back at CBS several years ago when 1 was there conscious
efforts were made, because of these kind of pressures, to cover the
issues. Walter Cronkite went in and interviewed all the candidates
and got their positions on the issues and devotedly, almost dogged-
ly, put them on the air.

One of the troubles is that today, for some reason, when politi-
cians talk about the issues, they don’t have much to say. They take
a poll and find out what the public whpts to hear and get somebody
to write e position for them which will sound boM but -t will be
very safe. The trouble is, I would like to see somebody on the issues
where the politican on the issues really made some news, instead of
éepeating a safe position that didn't add anything to the public

ebate. :

Mr. SmitH. Mr. Schorr, you are not supposed to make news with
the political position on an issue. You're supposed to report it fac-
tually. Why do you have to think that you have to make new. in
stating your position on an issue? That is news. Anytime you come
&ut and say "I think we ought to fix the potholes in the street,”
why do vou have to do it by saying “and we're going to have to
take the money out of the grandmothers and widows fund?"' That
would be news. But the reporting of fixing the potholes is algéo sup-
posed to be news. That's a position that a person wants to take.
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* You see, what you have just said seems to me to be the attitude.
If it's the ho-hum, mundane stuff, of talking about funding educa-
tion, or talking about fixing potholes, or increasing the fire depart--
ment’s capacity, it isn’t news any more. It's nothing. It's zero. It is
the attitude that'all the media has—that that is now worthless re-
portage. That is what bothers me.

- Isn’t there anyone out there who wants to bring it back to what
used to be the {raditional value of reportage, and that is, whut a
candidate says, or when an accident occurs, what the parties have
to say about everything, not just the fact that a car blew up, but
maybe why the car went off the road®in the first place? I mean,
doesn’t anybody have that lack of timidity? It is very depressing as
an average citizen, not as a politician. I am not bleeding this out as
a politician at all. I find it to be a quite frustrating process to read
the newspapers and read all—and watch television and see all—of
the portions of it that try to make something out of something
other than what it is, because it might be boring otherwise. That is
what pains me. o

When you say it is not news to report your position on some-
thing, I disagree. I think that is news. I think it is not news to try
and portray that in a way that tries to make somebody have.-an
opinion about it. This is what disturbs nle. .

I sat here and made a casual comment to the chairman while
you were responding to Mr. Sawyer’s questions, “I think some kind -
of comment about the whole hearing is the fact that there is no’
media here at all.” He said he had already made that comment
and I should bring it up again, so I have. We have hearings on a
whole bunch of fancy and lofty subjects in Congress, and many of
them are covered- very severely-by the media. The Immigration
Reform bill, a whole bunch of other issues that thisicommittee has
sat on, and I am sure when it gets to the full committee all the
cameras will be rolling and all the lights will be there and all these
things—and it is an-important issue. Yet, this, which is an impor-
tant issue—you have chosen to be here and I think you feel it is
fairly important-—practically nobedy is here covering this at all.
TV's and-mess are not here. I don’t really understand why. ' .

Mr. ScHoRrr. Isn't it comforting for you to know how little atten-

" “tion a media figure attracts here

Mr. SmitH. Shall I answer that question? [Laughter.]

Mr. SAwWYER. Would the gentleman yield just a moment?

Mr. SmitH. Certainly. I would be happy to yield. -

Mr. Sawvyer. I just think that the comment the gentleman fram
Florida was making, that while the media can say they are only a
passive conveyor of what, in talking about political campaigns,
what the politicians say. You know, you underestimate the intelli-
gence of tﬁe average politician if he doesn’t know what the media
will run: If he says something dealing with the -potholes in the
street, he knows that is not going to make the media at all. After
all, that is the only way we communicate with our potential voters.
None of us could go araund inanything as big as a congressional
district, let alone the city of Chicago, or a State, and talk individ-
ually to enough people. %ou have got to rely on the media to get
the issues out.’
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_ On the other hand;if you said we're goiig to fill all the otholes  : *
in the street, you would never make any-of the news atall. Buif>~  °
you say you’re going to take the money from the widows and or- :
hans funds—that wouldn’t be a popular thing to say, but you
now it would make the media. _

Mr. SciHorr. When you say your o;:lponent is going to do it.

Mr. Sawyer. Right; then you would make the media. .

Mr. HugHEs. That’s manipulating the media. _

. Mr. SAwvYER. As the chairman just mentioned, he was at a meet-
ing at the White House with the President geste"!ay on some
issue, and wher. he came out the national media were there, and

. they were nterviewingbepeople there and said, you know, “Do you
feel the President is being dishonest?” Well, he “didn’t feel the
.President was being dishonest, but he was certainly acu‘e enough
to know, if he wanted to make national news—and he's a Demo-
crat, you know, 8o it’s not going to be suicidal to him—he could ..
have said, *‘Yes, I think he is Laing dishonest-—~-—

Mr. Huches. That would be the end of our crime bill.'{Laughter.].

Mr. SawveR. H{e would have been on the national ‘media right
away because that's what they’re looking for. Of course, the politi-
cians know that so that they, in effect, encourage what they criti-
cize. They are not quite as passive as you would have us believe, -

Mr. ScHorr. I recognize what you are saying, Mr. Sawyer, and 1
guess what I will have to say is the relaticnship of the news media
to politics bears roughly the same relationship as television to
crime. It is a process of mutyal manipulatior.. . .

Mr. HucHEs. Just to pick up; I don't entirely agree with the sug-
gﬁ:tion that the media does attempt to discriminate. That hasr’t

n my experiengce. Thei have been very balanced, b{ and large.
The %:'eat overwhelming bulk of the news people that I have dealt
with have been very balanced. I have had opponents over thia yeats
who have just made outrageous statements when they had no
chance of winning the election, just to try to get the media atten- . .
tion, knowing that that’s what you had to do to get attention, and
had the media report that in a very balanced fashion, with a re-
.sponse, and even’at times with some editorial comment suggesting
how outrageous the statement is. So; I don’t subscribe to the view
that the media doesn’t assume some responsibility in an attempt to
be balanced, because I think’that they do.

Mr. Schorr, back in 1976, in an article you wrote for the Wash- -
ingtonion magazine, you alluded to the testimony of David Rintells,
then dpresident of the Writers Guild in Los Angeles. Mr. Rintells
stated that the networks not only approve violence on TV, they
have been known to request and inspire it. )

We are going to pursue that line of questioning with other wit-
nesses, but I wonder if you would give. us your opinion on that
score.

Mr. Scorr. Well, I know David Rintels and have a lot of respect
for him when he was then head of the Screenwriters Guild and he
spoke with great passion. As often happens when you speak with
great passion, it came out in a very vigorous way. But I am. sure
there was some truth to it. .

This is a field which I know less about. We are now talking en-
tertainment, which [ have tried not to make my field. And yet
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David Rintels undoubtedly had some truth when he¢said back in
1976 that as you write scrips for televisioi,sthen, at least—I think -
there have been some changes—that you find that scripts with
more violence tend to get selected for production over scripts which
di({'r:i’t have violence. That wag his point and I think hi# point was
valid. .

Mr. HucHes. Finally, in the Washingtonian, you quote E.B.
‘White in 1938 as saying:

I believe television is going to be the test of the modern world, and that in this
new opportunity tc see l§yond the range of our vision we shall discover a new and

unbearable disturhance of the modern peace or a saving radiance in the sky. We
shall stand or fall by television—of that I am quite sure. , - °

In what direction are we heading, Mr. Schorr?

Mr. ScHorr. 1 haven't seen a lot of saving radiance.

Mr. HuGHes. Thank you. We appreciate your testimony. It has
been very insightful. In the context of your tescimony, the question
. of the Chicago race I think points out some very interesting areas
that perhaps we will explore with the two candidates for mayor,
the new mayor and the challenger, Mr. Epton, : -
" Thank yau very much. ' '

Mr. SHAw. Mr. Chairman, may I make an.observation before the

witness leaves? ' b
. Mr. HuGHES. The gentleman from Florida. : :
* Mr. Suaw. Perhaps you, sir, as well as the other people that
report the news faithfully to us eagh evening are nothing mbore
than a reflection of us; that is, thag" you are. reporting the news -
that we want to hear and what we are curious about. Perhaps
when we criticize you, the media,. we are really criticizing ourselves
as- citizens for having a thirst for that type of knbwledge, rather
than a thirst to know about the potholes and the financial condi-
tion of the:city of Chicago.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. HugHEes. The next witnesses will be a panel consisting of -
David Pearl, Ph.D., Chief of Behavioral Sciences Research Branch, -
National Institute of Mental Health; Thomas D. Cook, who is pro-
fessor, department of psychology, Northwestern University; Linda
S. Lichter, Ph.D., graduate program in science, technology and
public policy, George Washington University; and Leonard D. Eron,
professor of psychology and research professor of the social scienc-
es, University of Illinois at Chicago.

I wonder if the panel would come forward at this time.

We have your statements which, without objection, will be made
a part of the record in full. I do hope that you will be able to sum-
marize as best you can for us. : '

Why don’t we start with you, Dr. Pearl, since you are the first
one, unless you have agreed upon some other order of testifying.

Dr. Peart. That's fine.

Mr. HuchEs. Dr. Pearl, we are delighted to have you with us this
morning.
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NCES, RESEARCH BRANCH, DIVISION OF EXTRAMURAL RE-
SEARCH PROGRAMS, - NATIONAL, INSTITUTE OF MENTAL

" HEALTH; THOMAS D.. COOK,»PROFESSOR OF PSYCHOLOGY, .

URBAN AFFAIRS AND PUBLIG@ POLICY, NORTHWESTERN UNI-
VERSITY; LINDA 8. LICHTER, PH.D., GRADUATE PROGRAM IN
SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY AND PUBLIC POLICY, GEORGE WASH.
INGTON UNIVERSITY; AND LEONARD D. ERON, PROFESSOR OF
PSYCHOLOGY AND RESEARCH PROFESSOR OF THE SOCIAL
SCIENCES, UNIVERSITY OF ILLINOIS AT CHICAGO '

Dr. PearL. Thank>you, Mr. Chairman. I _am pleased to testify
before this commiittee on wha* behavioral science and mental
health research have léarned-regurding television's influences on
viewer behaviors and functioning;-porticularly as these relate to
aggressiveness, violence, and antisocial\cts. ' L

The research mission of the National f’.}sﬁtute of Mental Health

is to increase knowledge regarding factors and processes which un-

derlie mental and behavioral -disorders or which contribute to

mental health. Studies of the development, determinants, and’

maintenance of behavior have been one major aspect of the NIMH
programs. For this reason, the Institute was selected to provide the
setting and staff during the 1969-71 perind when the Surgeon Gen-
eral’s Scientific Advisory Committee on Television and Social Be-
havior functioned and published its well-known report. This as-
sessed the relationship of television watc}:ning and the violent be-

haviors of young viewers. .
" Following that report in.1972, the Institute ‘was given the lead

responsibility within the Department of Health, Education and .

Welfare, now the Department of Health and Human Services, for
further research on television’s behavioral influences. The itu
synce then has supported a small number of key studies on media
behavioral influences judged through peer review as being sciegtifi-
cally hmeritorious. It also has served as a catalyst for other re-
search.

The 1972 report of the Surgeon General’s committee ¢onfirmed
the pervasiveness of television. It focused on aggressiveness and
violent behavior. Its major conclusion was that there was fairly
substantial experimental evidence for a short-run causation of ag-
gression among some children viewing televised viclence, and less

~.evidence from field studies regarding long-term causal effects.

Since then, a large number of gtudies regarding media influences

have been conducted in a very broad-range of behavioral topics.
Reseg%hers suggested in mid-1979 to the then Surgeon General,

Dr. Richmond, that it would be werthwhile. to collect, review, and

synthesize this expanded knowledge and to determine its import.

The Syrgeon General agreed and encouraged the National Institute
of Mental Health to undertake the project, which then was initiat-
ed at the end of 1979. ' :

I directed it with the aid of a small distinguished group of con-
sultants, who included behavioral scientists, mental health re-

searchers, child development experts, and communications media *

specialists. It was our view that we wanted to cenduct this.project
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as adscientiﬁc enw}prise and to call the shots as the evidence indi-
cated. . )

Comprehensive and, critical evaluations of the scientific litera-
ture on numerous aspegts of television’s behavioral influences were
_commissioned from ledding researchers. The update project group
assesspd-and integrated these contributions, as well as additional
pertinent data. : :
" Most of the studies considered involved children and youth.
These assessments of the current state of knowledge were pub-
lished in 1982 by the National Institute of Mental Health as a two-
volume report titled “Television and Behavior—10 Years of Scien-
tific Progress and Implications for the Eighties.” Only a part-of the
report is given over to televised violence and potential influences
on viewers. The unanimous consensus reflected in the report—I
must emphasize here, the unanimous consensus—is that there is a
general learning effect from television watching which is important
in the development and fégctioning of many viewers. ! .

While television also has/potential for inﬁ'uencing socially desira-
ble behaviors, the learning and expressing of a‘ggressive behaviors
or attitudes on these also are major aspects of its influence. The
unanimous consensus embodied in the report was that the conver-
gence of findings from a sizable number of studies, on balance, indi-

cated a causal connection between televised violence and later ag-

gressive behavior. The conclusions reached in the 1972 Surgeon
General's report thus were strengthened by the more recent re-
search. Although this area of research is difficult, our certainty has
been increased by this followup. _
The report also concluded that television effects were not just
due to its programmatic content, but in part may also be due to-the
etructure or the form of the medium. This includes such aspects as
the progranr pace, the action level, and camera effects, which may

stimulate higher physiological and emotional arousal levels in the -

viewer, and thus a greater readiness to respond aggressively under
appropriate instigation or cues. .

Now, the majority of both experimental and the more naturalis- -

tic field studies coalesce and are mutually supportive in indicating
that there is a linkage between the viewing of televised violence
and aggressive behaviors. Most behavior scientists who have stud-
ied the question agree in this regard. I want to repeat that. Most

behavioral scientists who have studied this question agree in this -

regard.

Early studies suggested that it was mostlv those individuals who
preferred and were attracted to action programs involving violence
who were susceptible to subsequent increased aggressiveness. More
recent research, however, has pointed to the criticil relationship
between the extent of viewing violent programs and later aggres-

siveness, rather than to the initial attitudinal preference for such-

programs. This means that persons who are heavy viewers of such
programs can be influenced even though they didn’t start out
having a liking for such programs. . )

It is important here to stress that the empirical support for a
causal linkage does not mean that all aggressive or violent behav-
iors in the real world are television-ir:fluenced. Some critics of the
NIMH report have misunderstood this. The causes of behavior are
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complex and determined by multiple factors. No single factor, ex-
Y clusively by itself, probubly makes a person seriously aggressive or
antisocial. Under some psychological, social or environmental cir-
cumstances, television may exert little or no influence. But with
other conditions, it can play a very highly important role in shap-
ing behavior style when and how violence, aggressiveness, or other
antisocial behavior gets expressed. T
Some also have discounted potential effects shown by past ré-
- search on the grounds that even if real, these are still not large
enough to be meaningful in a practical sense. But it is appropriate
to point out that even comparatively small effects can have a
gn?ljor social significance. Even if only one of a thousand viewers is . .
influenced—and it may very well be more than that—the huge au-
diences for many programs would still generate & sizable number
who are influenced in some way.

Consider also cumulative el’t"ects thoughou{ the year for those
who watch extensively. Even if only a small number of antisocial
incidents are precipitated in any community, these may be suffi-
cient to be disruptive to impair the quality of life for citizens' of
that community. =~ - :

Even in this ditficult area of research, we can identify four kinds
of television-related effects. Most research has dealt with the first

+ two that I will mention. '

The first involves the direct imitation of observed television vio-
lence and antisocial behavior. This includes the so-called copycat
behavior, in which the showing of violent or antisocial acts seems
sometimes to have a contagious effect in bringing about imitative
behaviors. We know a considerable amount about this kind of imi-
tational behavior,

The second type of effect is wnen television violence triggers off
or instigates aggressive acts which the viewer had learned previ-
ously and are not just replications of what the viewer had just ~N
watched the hour before or the day before.

The last two effects to be- mentioned concern the psychological ef-
fects on some viewers of a diet of heavy watching of televised vio-
lence. The third of the four effects involves the shaping of attitudes
in which viewers may begin to accept a higher level of violence or
antisocial behavior in their lives as normal. To repeat, in which
viewers may begin to accept a higher level of violence or antisocial
behavior in their lives as normal. :

This frame of mind is apt to result in a greater tolerance of vio-
lence when it occurs, a decrease in empathy and an increase of
apathy relative to those who are victimized.

The fourth type of influence relates to the possible fanning® -
viewer fearfulness of being victimized. For example, the viotence
profiles issued yearly by the University of Pennsylvania’s Annen-
berg, School of Communication have indicated that a disproportion-
ate percentage of televisionsportrayed victims are the powerless or
have-not iudividuals in our society, including older citizens. View-
ers then may experience fear and anxiety on the bdsis of identifica-
tion or perceived similarity to such victims. Studies by the Annen- .
berg School have found generally that heavy viewers of television
tend to overestimate the amount of violence and danger facing
them. Other surveys have typicallv also shown that older citizens
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- are heavy viewers of télevision. Programming then which- poten-
tially exacerbates expectations of violence and trauma in these
viewers could be considered as leading to unwanted effects for
some of the elderly, such as heightening of anxiety*and increasing
the fear of béing away from the home.

1 would like to conclude with a caution, a caveat. The research
evidence is based on studies of groups and does not permit one to -
make 4 definitive prediction that a particular individual is vio-
lence-prone or antisocial just on the basis of the heavy viewing of
televised violence. Whether such a heavy viewer will act aggres-
sively or be antisocial will also depend on other aspects of his back-
ground, and the existence of environmental instigators on re-
straints or his acting out. The extensive watching of televised vio- -
lence is an important consideration—I have to stress that'it is a
very important consideration for many. But still, it is only one of
several factors in the equation.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and members of the com-
mittee. . . ) ' -
[The statement of David Pedrl follows:]
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SUBCONM
HOU3X COMMITTEE ON TEE JUDI 4

by Dr. David Marl
National lllltl’l‘ of Mental Health

a - I am plesssd to have thia opportunity to. testity besfore ths Subclmfttu
. . on Crime of ihc Committes on the Judiciary and shars with you what behavioral L.
- science and -nt,l heel'h rasearch learned regerdihig televiaion's influences _ ‘
on viewer behaviore and !unéttontng, particularly as these uht-c to ) ,‘

sggreseivanese, violence and crime. While there remains much to lesarn about

factora imfluencing bebavieor, research has given us a good kn;vhdgo about ‘nny

aspects., ' - ' b i
b The Instituls'e research mission is to increase knowledge regarding fectors

and processss which undsrlie mental and behavioral dieorders or which contribute

to mental hsalth. Studiee of the dsvalopmant, determinants aud maintsnance of o .--’—i*'l*f

b.hlvgr have besn one major aspact of the HIMH pro;rno. Within this context,

the Institute over the yeers hae supported o.r stimulated research on television's

trhaviorel, peychological and peychosocial influences and their wental heslth

aspacts, The Instituts provided the eetting and etaff during .the 1969-1972

po‘uod vhen the Surgeon Ganeral's Sehnu!tc._Mvicory Comnittes on Television

and Social Behavior functioned and published its well known report (1) which

assessed the relationship of television watching and the aggressive and violeat

behaviore of viswaers. .

That 1972 report confirmed the pervasiveness of television. Its major /

conclusion with unanimous concurrenge by ite members vae: “Thus, there is s

convergence of the fairly substantial, experimental evidence for a ehort-run

cdueation of eggression among soms children by vu_v:l.ng violsence on the screen

and much less certain evidence fiom field studies that extensive: violence-

vieving precedes some long-run manifestations of eggresaive behevior. The

<

“

ERIC ‘ 41 '

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:



-

O

ERIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

'

convargencé of the two types of avidencs constitute soms preliminary indicstion
of s causal relstionship, tut & good deal of ro;cuc!t repaing to be dons defora ‘-
ons can have confidance in these ¢onclusions.” (’1) L

Yolloving that report, the NIME wia u.v;n the lead rupout_buuy within the ’ d
Department of Eeslth, Dducstion, snd Welfsre (HRW), now ths Depaitment of slth
and Ruman Services (HNS) for further resesrch on talavision's b‘huu@ﬂ::ocu.‘ ot
lnu(ch grent support sincs than hae desn p'rovtqhd to e sumber of projoc!"o" on .
ndt;' 1nfluences which wara judged ‘through pesr review es being scientifically ° \_.
peritorious., These represent e small fraction of research atudies on television .

1nflusncss conductad on e broad rasgs of behsviorel topics by Investigators x\\ntm

had becoms convinced of television's emsrgent nporunc.o in Amsricen life. \\

t 80 pn.rcont of ell pudlicstions of rssearch on telavision influences have

apfesred in the lué dscade--over 2,500 titles.

Becsuss of the vutpouring of resesrch, lasding 1n‘vuugotou ta 1979 .
suggssted the timeliness of sn update of the asrlier Surgeon Gensrel's Report '
through s critical assssamsnt and integrstion of thias burg".onlng litereture.
The Surgson Genersl snd the Rational Instituts of Mental Health agread end the
project was initisted in lats 1979. R

laicially, co-pghonun snd critical ‘avaluations of the scientific
1itarature on numercus aspacts of television's behaviorsl influsnces and effacts
wars commisaioned from leading ruurchln&. These included one report on what
was then sn unpublished psnal etudy by the National Broadcssting Company (NBC)
eocial sciencista which centered on the topic of the medium and sggressive and
violant bshsviorsl effects. Stvbasquently, the updste project group which
included a number of distinguished behaviorsl scientiats, mentsl health resasrchers,
child davelopment experto and communication media specialigcs, sssessed
and fntagrated theas contribucions aa well ss addiilonal per-inant dsts. After
extausive discusuions, the update group achiavad consansus on‘ the current atate

of wiowledge, »1pa, and continuing reaearch nu':u. This integration and

N
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assassmant is contained wjomtv‘. documentad i'npor:, raleased {n 1982 as
Volums l‘ol & tw volume publicetion. WVolume 2, also pubuohd, {ncorporatad
aditad varsions of ths stete of knowladge papars commissianed u.ru.:~(z,5).

ly e pni_ of the raport is given over to éoﬁltd.uuom of taleviea
violance qﬂ po:..nuol influences co viawers. A major part of :;n raport covera
othar couu.nuo_ni such as talaviaion's hnl:ﬁ promoting poseibilities and
such other u.pcetl- as: cognitive aud emotional influences, prosocial or socially
deairedls bahaviore, creativity end fantasy, sucializstion and concaptions &f
social reulity, telavieion and the family, educationsl echievement and criticel
telavieion viewing skills.

. The unenimoue consansus rasched by ths update group waw that there e @
general learning effsect from telawision which {s tlpor:cni in tha developmenr °*
end functioning of many viswers. Talaviaion hae become virtually e univarsal
\ lntimnen in our eoclaty. Practically avery American homs ﬁ. a talavieion

sat; many have sultiple uu-. The medium {¢ a loflldl'bll aducator whose

sffacte u;c both pervasive and cumulstive. Ona can no longer maintain the

illuaion that television is meraly innocuous antartainment end just & casual

part of avaryday 1ife. Surveys heve indicatad that eech person, on the average, '
] watchas tllevuﬁn for approximataly 25 to 30 hours & week. Soms, of coursa,
watch auch more. Viewing times for individusls may range from t;nc or two to

;lny hours deily and some kesp the sat on all day long. Oune survey found that

for large numbers of peopls, telavision ranked third anong all activities -
{(after sleep end work) in the number of hours devoted to it.

This genaral learning influence, of rourse, has b;.n implicitly subscribed
to by the broadcast industry with respect to ‘:h. affactivaness of television
advertising.

While the medium has potaential for 1nf1u.nc; on soclally desirable behaviors,
the learning end expreséion of aggressive or vioient behavior., or attitudes on
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that the convergencs of
supportad the infarence

latsr eggressive behavio

Report thus have bsen stfengthened by the mora rscent rssearch end the processss

by which aggressive behetior is produced have been examinad further, The

ad that telsviaion’a 1n!1ucnc9/or effects on aggrsssivh

/!

tabls solely to its progu’{-uc contsnt but way, in

update group also concl
behaviors are not sttri
part, be due also to thé structure or form of ths-madium. This includes such !

aspects as prograa sction lewel, eand ci%,(n c!tec:'”a which #stimulate

higher pbniolog1961 end emotional erousel levels {n ttud:ovu, and thus, a
-
grecter rsadinsgs to respond aggressively under appropriets instigatiou or cuas. ,
The religbility of results from basic leboratory or sxperimental studies .

on televisigh influanchs generslly sre wall astablished and provide more readily

ccupnb}u caussl inferences than are deta obteinsd outside the lnb;u:ory.

But lnbolntory studies hsve co:’e under some questioning as to their gsnsralizability

:o. resl life sggression snd vioicncc. Field atudiu.,ﬁ(thc other hand, are '

l'ou naturalistic snd realjstic though they are less precise snd lsss interpratable

regerding caussl relationships. Longitudinal ntudiuiof subjects over a number

of yesrs snd invesrigstions ragsrding the sffects on comn}.tie. of the

/  yatroduction of television are smong those field studies which give Olisﬂificlnt

data on television influences, ) ‘
In common with experimentsl research, the majority of observational or

field ntu;!}‘en and surv&n indicate also that there is a significant positive

correlation bey‘nen television viewing and aggressive behaviors. The

strength of th&s relationship differs between field studies on the basis of

differences in Suubject samples and procedures for assessing both viewing and

nggteuliri behsviors. But there can be 1‘1tt1e doubt that experimental and

fisld findings coaleece and are strongly supportive of the positive relationship

A
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betwesn ths viswing of tllovgpod violancs snd subsequent sggressive behaviors.
Saversl of the esrlier gtudles, prior to 1972, reportsd date {ndicating
that it wvss viewer preéference for tslevision sction prograss involving violence
“which was ceusslly licked to later sggressivensss. More racant resssrch,
-howsvar, has pointed to the criticsl rslstionship betwean the extent of television
viswing of violent programming and -l!rllliv- bnhlzinr rathar then to the
sttitudinel prefaranca for such programs. Thus hcnvi viql-rn of such programs
v.c.n be influanced even though they'do uot have en 2_é51251 prefarafice for
violent portraysls, The possibility that thers is & bidirectional csusal effect
sleo must be tonsidersd. Ths path .nliylul of dits from recent lengitudinel
coordinu&iiﬁ;tudtlu io the United- Stetss and Finland (4,5) did support such sn
interaction. These ;nvcutigntor- concluded thet extensive viewing of televised
violance by children instigatass ;r-:ti; sggressivanass gnd :bﬁiﬁ:hin effact
does not occur only for thoss initially highly sggressive. Raciprocally, than,
for children uh& thus beceame more sggrassive, en increased intersst in snd
* prefarsnce for programs with vtolonc‘ sand high sction is engendered. Dats from
this project's largs sample of Americsn children fndicatss too thet ths positive
linkage holds for primsry school giris ss wall ss for boyl. coantrary to aarlier
!tndin;- in the literaturs thet such s relstionship held only for hoys. :\\
Considsring the research of the past decede in this country, it 1s clear that N
the linkage holds for the entire child-youth spactrum, having been rasported for‘qff{
etud; amples ranging from pre- ‘hool through ths sdolsscent years.
Such empirical support for the linkage doas not amesn, of course, that all
aggressive or viglent behaviors in ths real world are talcvtlgpn influences.
Some critics of the Report findings have nilun; stood this. The causes
of behavior gre complex and are:detcruined by multiple fucéorl. The viewing of
/televised violencs is only one in a conntallati'n of determinants or precipitating

factors involved in antisocial or aggressive behavior. Probably no single factor
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exclusively by itself makes & person sericusly qguutv.d or antisocisl. Aad
certainly, under some psychologicel, social or emvironmentel circumstances,
television -iy sxert little or no easily discsrnible influence on behavior.

But with other conditiona, it may pley e significant role in shaping behaviorel

‘styls, when, end how violence, eggressivenass or other antisociel htuvlot_r gsts

expressed. Telsvision viewing elec may function es e triggering or releasing
msschanism for ovart behaviors which othsrwise might be inhibited.

Soms critics elso hnﬁ.dhcouuud the entisociel effects shown by past
resssrch on the grounds that such effects or reletionships whils statistically
significant nevertheless sre mot lerge snough to be meaningful in e prectical
senss. But even if it wers so, thet the sxtensive vatching of tslevised violence
had only s comparetivaly small effect on viewers, tha. .ffsct could ‘-un be of
majo? social significence. Conaider the situation if even only cne ovut of a .
thousend viewars was affscted (thers may well de o hfghot rete). A given prime~
time naticnel progras with sn )oudunco of 15 militon would gsnerste & group of
15,000 vho wers influsnced in soma vay. Consider .1“00 the cmh:tv: sffacty
for vimr- who vo:ch_;uch programs throughout the yeer. Even if only & sasll
number of sntisociel incidents ars prscipiteted in sny community, thease o!ien
may be sufficient to be disruptive and to impair the quality of 1ife for citizens ,
of that community. ' -‘

Nrthor-on.nvu know that televiaion preunuuon- of verious antisociel
or violent scts have instigsted imitstions or vhat some have called copy-co:"
behaviors. This has occurred for eirplane hijscking, end more recantly, in sn
incrsase of poison thrests andving tampering with over-the-countsr dﬁg..
Documentsry or semi-fictionsl presentstions, ss well ss fictional dramatic
programs snd wovies on television, have stinulsted imitations of sntisocisl
scts or thrests of viclence. One documented Lllultnuog (6) involves reports

by airlines in varivus cities and countries on extortion thrests to blow up
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atrgult 'throu;h an already implanted preesuru eensitive bond. Thees wars
imitetive thraats vhich cyltcn;ttellly and quickly followsd ths showing of the
television play "Doomsday Flight” in theaa cfties at ;iffnzlnt times. Prior to
the ahoving of this telavieion drama vhich involved s eimiler plot, there had
baen no extortion thrests of this kind in any_o! theas communities. Numsrous -
l.l!-&n!!(;kod deaths and woundings fanvolving both adults and adolascents aleo
have bsen reported’all over the country et different times following the ohouin;
‘1a tha vtcttn‘f’co-unittul of the movie on televieion of the 'nncrhuntor.
This hes e promicent “Ruseian Roulette” episods. ]
Your kinds o television related effects can be identified. ‘The firet -
. involves tha diract imitetion of obsarved violence. Thie ie tha effect thet
‘firet springs to mind when one thinks about tllevioton violence. There sre
; many exsaplee of tha lolrhtﬁl end overt imitations of viewed violent or aggreasive
actions. The madium often has provided tutoring or training on how to do tt-;
.; ~ how to burgulariza, pﬁy-tenlly msnhandle sn opponent, and ao forth, One uzs;;lu
ropoiiod in & newspaper involved tha arreest of & youth in hie firet ettempt to r
break opan g pey-phona coin box. Be had lesrned the techniqus from ¢ televiseion
crime shov which, however, had feiled to axplain thiit such phones had & buile-~
- 1in silent alarr eystem. The outcoms of this epieode wse a criminal labeling of
tlie youth and jeiling with poseibla long llnglnl conloqueneonl
A sscond Zype of effect occure vhen the televieion violence serves to
1nn:t|oge or trigger off overt ectas which ara not imitetions of what had been
{umsdistely observed but rether 531.:. to eorlier laarnad aggressive or violeq; ~
tactics, -
The Other two .;flctl concern the paychological effects on some viewers

of a dist of haevy watching of televised viclence. Thesc influsnces ere subtle

ond inaidious end should be of concern.
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. {vuh high action, violence and nntuocigl behaviors may bagin to aseuss that

. viewere would learn gradually -to accept & highar level of violent or antisocisl

Viawer habitustion or deseneitization to the occurrence of vlolouc;. is a
potentisl outcoms. Children especially, but youth and sdults too, may learn
that violent behavior or aggressive tactics are appropriate under many

circumstances, Some who spend eignificant amounte of time watching prograss

“thesa are reflactive of a eimilar rate of such oceugnﬁcu in the world. Such

*
behavior as baing normal. A nusber of studies with children (e.g., 7,8%°

v

hava provided data which euggest that the development of this frase -Qf mind qg;;_.
attitude nay result in s greater tolerance of violence when it occurs, a decrease ’

of empathy toward othere in distress, or an increkse in apathy relativa to the . '

halpieg of victims. Two recént uqdiu with sdults provide s clear indication
L d
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of how exposure to filss may influence.sttitudes of grestar acceptance of
! % ' . )
violence sgsinst women. 2Zillmann and Brysat (9) have found from an experimen:sl

¢
etudy that the more extensive the viewing of erotic films, ths more Qt;ngucantly
affected are the attitudes of viewers on sexuality and dilpou_tionn.- toward
women. Viewere of such films in contrast to comparable eont'rol lubioctc becames
more calloused and less compasionats to hypothetical rape victims. Extensive
vieving of theee srotic films trivalised and ehifted sttitudes so that rape
becass porceived n: s lees serious crime.

Studies by Dopnerstein (10) snd Malaguth (11) concarned the effects of
filma on viewers. Donnerstein found no incresase in violen.t or saxually violant
sttitudes by men tovard women when a neutral of an explicitly sexual film was
shown. Bt both a violent fil-. snd even more €o & sexually violent £ilm reeulted
in a considerable increase {n viewer wul_ingmu to adainister pain to women
and to Teport an anreuedelikelihood of taping a woman. HMalsmuth, on the
baais of several studies, concluded that violent, non-sexual films of the kind

often appearing on telavision did increase the ncéep:nnce of aggression against

women.,
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The, fourth typs of influence involves the possible {mpact of televised
violance or antisocial scte on ‘5!.-.: faarfulness. There is considerabls

svidance that television s {nfluantial in the learning of bahaviors other then

4 : _ .
aggression gnd in the -h.piu of viewsr knowledge and sttitudas. 4s ons uptet. .

some vtown may learn to identify with portraysd victims vf televised violence.

The vtolonc- profiles issyad yearly by Gorbmr and his colles (12,13) heve
indicatsd that s disproportionats percantsge of television-portrayed victims
ars the powerless or have-tpot individuals in our socisty, 1n_e1|-td1n3 older
cittngi Viewars then, may oxportdnco fear end apprehension on the basis of

identification or parceived similarity ‘to euch victims, Gerbduer has reported

geuarally that hcgvy viswars, as contrasted to light viewars, tend to overastimate

AY
the amount of violence and dangar facing them (12,13). To ths extent that this

‘is ¢ valid finding, it should have pertinence for many viewers, particularly

the elderly. Surveys typically indicate that older persons are hasvy usars of
television for entertainment, as time markers, and for contect with wvhat 1;

going on in the world. This, in large weasurs, ie¢ dus to their decrsased

physical mobility and to their often restricted incomes. Crime statistice

.rovael that there is a realistic bssis for anziety concerning possible

victimization for large numbers of older citizens .in cities, many living °
marginslly. Televieion programming which azacerbates expectstions of violence
and trauma thus could be considered as having unwanted mantal health effecte

such as h’d.ght-ning anxiety over bging victimized and increasing the fear of

being awvay frow one's home. With a growing number of elderly in our populstion,.

such effects increasingly will damand attention.

A number of studies, mostly exparimental, have delineated those viewing
circumstances vhers telesvised violence was most 1ikely to {nfluence behavior.
Aggressiveness is most likely to be emulated when:

(1) 1t pays off: that is, the actor or model solves his problem, achieves

hie goal, or satisfies his need;
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(3

(4)

] (3

(6)
n

(8)

At is not punished: t\gu 1a no retribution, censure, or unfavorabls

. .cunsequance to-the uto;tx\u result . of the use of violance;

1t*1s shown 1n s justifying context; that is, the violence, threst or

injury meted cut is justifis by' the avents sod the victim merited

such behsvior. This typically dharacterises police uimn;

At 18 socially scceptablet cnd aggressive Bahaviors are presentad as
scceptable to the poftund TV playsts in the context of the socisl
practices and sttitudss charscterising\the setting and plot of the
prograa. An example would be the haijing of & rustler in s wild wast
progren; '

ic appears realiastic rather thsn baing seen e segmant of a fictitious

program; ) o,

it appesrs motiveted by a deliberete intent to injure the victin;
it s oxpruudfuﬂdor cquditione, cuss, or circumstyaces aimilar to

those experienced or livad in by tha viewar; end,

it 4a perpertratad b'y s modsl who ths viewsr perceivas es eimilar to himself.

Juat su sedie influenced behaviors can be facdliteted theze elso are

-aspecte which'\gerve to inhidit scting out.

(1)

retridution end puniehmant following violance——s cleer indicator that

cripé doas Eot' pay;

sequantial showing of the destructive and painful coneequences of

( D/
aggression; and ' )

v

RN &)

.. A

dese

special sttention.

remindsrs that such behaviors are contrary to ethical or morel
principles, '

ber of field studies of the lgst decade involving children and youth
The longitudinal study reported by Lefkowitz, et el

(14) 1a 1972 was a key study leading to the Surgeon Genersl's Committee

conclusions,
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It found that preferences of eight-year-old children for watching
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telavision violence sesssesd in 1960 contributéd to the development of eggraseive

 hadice se -niiaud ten yesrs letef in 1970 when subjects wers 18 r8ate old (1%).

“A.followup on thess subjscts wow that they ars in their eerly 30s currantly ie

buu sade . |

m.u aad Stager (16) {n two short-ters lonlltudtul otudtu\!onmd

uulo-ehu and 1out-coc1uconod.c class thtu and !out yoar olde and assesesd

both their talevision viewing end bchcvlpt at four different timms. Multiveriste

salyses led the ressarchers to couclude in both studies that watching violence

on televieion wes o uﬁu of luuhtgud aggressiveness.

HeCarthy end colissguss 4a 19735 (17) nal to the sama conclusion a3 &

\
result of & nn-yur study of 732 chudna. Savarsl kinds of aggreseive

bshaviore, tneludtu coaflict v.ltb uunu. fighting, snd deligquancy proved

positively uooctotod vith amcunt of tslavision viewing.

Gnnhu in 1975 (1!) !md corraletions between violence viewing and

~

to thosa reported for hirtcoh_ children,

, aggressive behaviors: in e _oupu of London. school chlildren to ba very simtler

In a Canadian study reported by Williams (19), aggreseive behaviors of

primary lchgol children tn & swsll community ware ssssssed befors end after

-~

television was introduced. These dats ware compared with that for children of

twvo other t;)vno vhich slready had asccass to uiov!.o!.on. Incresses in doth

verbal snd’phyeical aggression occurred after televisics was introduced and wvas

ltmtuuntl; groster hare than {o the two comperison comwnities.

Bussmann, Lagerspets end Eron (4) collscted date on 738 firet end third

gredes for esch of 3 yasrs through o overlepping longitudinal design which

then providad dats for grades 2 to 5., Similer date was collected on 220 children

in.¥inland: Analysss nvu'lod that violence viswing was releted to corcurrent

lggx:llllon and signfficently predicted sggrassion levels ssversl yesrs lster

for boys in both countriae and for girls in the Unitad Stetes.

o
Prmand,
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with which violence was viewed end the eatent of violence in ths programs

" watohed contributed to the causal reletiomship.
A !ur'thu study by Busssann and collesgues (20) lnv‘olnd 169 first ondr .

third grade children who hnd s high sxposure to tslevieion violc;co. Experi~

mentel techniquas aimed et changing children's sttitudes sbout ths realism of
televieicn vtofonfo and whethar vatching television violence vas harmful resulted ' P
"1n @ eigunificant reduction in the propensity of thess children to act sggressivsly. :
Thie did not occur for ul-thr children who did not recsive thess interventions,

The Investigators ¢ ude that the success of these interventions could not '
oceur 1f tha ﬁlmﬂ.u-‘uuutm csusal reletionshije wers spurious or Tk
dus to eome third factor. '

Adolescents were the subjecte of e study reported by Hartnsgsl, Teavan,
snd Mclneyre (21). In this, they found e significant though low correletion
betwesn violencs-viewing and aggressive bahaviors. '
' A noteworthy resserch projsct by Belson (22,23) supportsd by the Columbie . .

Brosadcesting Syetem concerned 1650 teenage boye, 13-16 yeers of sgs. These _

btys wers evaluated for violent behavior, sttitudes, sociocultural background,

end exposure to television violence. Aftsr bc.inc divided into two groups on

the basis of n-ot:nt of exposurs to talevised wviolence, the lighter and hesvier v
exposees wurs equsted on the basis of & sizeable number of pclnonnl choncn‘rurtcn
and background varieblse. The results strongly lup'portod Belson's hypotheeis

thst long-t‘al‘ exposure increased the degree to which boys engage in serious
violent behaviors such es burglery, destruction of property, u:;tuctlon of
pPersonal injuries, sttemptsd raps, etc. Belson rsports thst boys with

hesvy exposure to televisad violence wara 47 percent more likely than boys with
light sxposure to commit the sbovs acts, and were eleven percent more likely to
commit violent acts in genearal. The reverse hypothesis that violent boys were

more likely to watch violent television programs was tested and did not hold

o
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/ violance, violance in a good causs, and violeat westeras.

9 ' '

up, Belson slso raports that the vuvln. of certain m'oguu typee setsad more
1ikely chan othere to lead to uuoul beh ,;ioul el offenses. Theas included
programs anlv!ng physical or vtlu.nl vtohnco in cloaa personal nlaumh&po.

programs with |ntu1to\n violance not pmm to tha plot, realiatic fictionsl

In a striking contrast, Milaveky and his colleaguee in s Muonn Broadcasting
Company panel study (24) concluded differently. They collectad datx at several
pointe of time over & 3 yesr period for 2400 elamentary school children and
from 800 teenaged high school boya ip t'.:o cities. Peer nominatione of aggression

ware collactad for the alemsntary school children while the tee¢- 'gurs gave -

for causal analysis (Lhnl IV computar program) ehowed that there ware short-

term small pounu carrelations betwaen viewing mesaures and auuutu Bbehavior

taksn at the un. point of time. They did not find any long-term effacts and
they concluded that short-term affacts did not cumilats ind produce stabla
patterps of sggrassive bshavior in the real world. '

Tha seeming excellence of this uuﬁy'- dats snd snalysis would saem to
pose & serious challenge to the conclusions of tha NIMH report regarding o
csusal influence. However, this study wvas considered by the NIMH updata group )
which concluded unlniiouul; that, on balanca, the resaarch evidance luppo\rnd /

tha caussl infsrence. The fact that a negativa undthg ragarding the existangs

of a phsnomengn or a relationship customarily is accorded leas wesight than
pouuv. findings wvas s coutdcratton-;cllwns that the studias generatin
poi,ittva findings were well dasigned and rigorous. logically, one cannot
dcﬁ.nttivcly prove ths "null hypothasis.” ‘rheu aay be various raasons for & .
study's nagative finding othar than tha non-existcnce of what 1- bctng/ltudied.
Indeed, the full appropriateness of the lnllytlul modal used in thi ’ltudy has

been questioned. A raanalysis by Cook (25) led him to concluda thaf the NBC

study conciusions were faulty and that & wore tepable conclusion on'the data

?
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wae that televieion violence wall increses sggression, along with other
Z,
fectore, in children from 7 t yaars of age. ~
A recently published etudy (26) provides an additional finding which le

consintent with tha theeie that televieion ie a potont-tnﬂunc. on viewsr

"bahaviora. Thie study used interrupted tims series data to exsmine,how the,

introducuon'.o! televieion in Amarican cities at different tiwee effacted FBI
crime izudicctou. The resserch wae possible becsuse televieion rvaception by
communities throughout the country began at different u’--. "Thie uti.!icilll
ataggering resulted from e r,dcnl (::o-unicuuu Commiesion freexe cn naw
brondcuuul_uuulu batween lete 1949 and wmid-1950. Areae receiving nlovuion

befors the freeze could then be compersd et different timee for lavels of crime

-with cdinunttiu only provided talevision after the fressza. Sophieticeted

enalyess did not reveal ¢ Conaietent effect for sll crimas but did show that

- the 4atroducticn of televieion eon‘chuiwly increased larcenies and leea

definitivaly, 'nuto thefte. The authpre believed thet these incressss were
probably _ln"!aly fus to sttitudinal end motivetional changea. Their analysie
of early tcl-viuon programming *ndicated that thase wers wost likely due to
the arousal of consumption appatites for many young viewars. by the pottny.ll of
uiddle clcie 1ife etyles eund the heavy edvertieing of conpumption goods.

A caveat 1a in order as I conclude this ssmpling of importent research
etudiea. The ressarch evidence ie based on ecudies of groupe and doas' not
paruit one ot thie tims .> make a definitive prediction that a particular
indtvidusl is violence prone or anti-social just on the baeie of heevy viawing
of televisad violence. As indicated asrlier, behaviora are complex and
multideternined. Television influencse are il‘?\tmt but there are other
potential influsnces at work. Whather a particuler heavy televieion viewer '

will act aggreasivaly or be antisocial will also depend on other aspecte of hia

background and the existenca of environmentel instigatora or regtrainta on hie

‘acting out. The extensive watching of televised violence has aignificant

o4
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iofluence oo many viewsre and 1o hpor'iut. tut yat, ie coly one of several

factors ia the equation. : o : . e
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Mr. HuGHes, Thank you, Dr. Pearl.
What we will do is hear from all the witnesses and then we will
question at the conclusion of all the testimony. '
Dr. Cook. :
beProfessor Cook. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and committee mem-
I's. :
Last November I was asked by a cbmmittee of the National Re-
. search Council of the National Academy of Sciences to review the
research on television and violence, paying particular attention to
- “the NIMH report that is being discussed here today. I did so, look-
ing at all the literature,-paying special attention to two naturalistic
studies that have recently been completed, oxErb Milavsky and his
colleagues at the NBC network, and anoth y Huesmann and
Professor Eron at the University of Illinois. ' .
These studies were special because they lasted for 3 years and in-
volved the repeated measurement of children’s aggressiveness and
television watching. ) : ,
They are interesting because, despite the differences in sponsor-
- ship, they reached very comparable findings. As I interpret the
findings, and as I interpreted them to the committee, they were
twofold: First, watching violence on television is associated with

changes in aggressiveness that are not due to the initial aggressive- -

ness level of children. The second finding is that the change in ag-
gressiveness was larger the longer the time period over which chil-
dren had been watching violence on television.

Now, the crucial issue is whether-these relationships are, indeed,
csusal. The research by Huesmann and Eron attempted to probe
this by looking at alternative known causes of aggressiveness, and
when they entered those into their analyses, they could not make

‘the relationship letween watching television violence and changes
in aggressiveness disappear. When Milavsky and his colleagues did
the same thing, in all of their analyses except one, the relationship
between television watching and changes in aggressiveness, also
did not disappear. For a number of reasons, outlined in more detail
th my testimony, that one particular analysis is flawed and a

" better analysis was conducted by Huesmann, using more appropri-
ate measures of the socioeconomic.status of the home. That also
failed to show the relationship between television and violence dis-
appearing. :

I am also disposed to see the relationship as causal because, in a
large number of laboratory experiments where causal relationships
are easy to demonstrate,-it has been shown that watching filmed
violence leads to increases in instability and boisterousness among
children. The laboratory is, of, course, the wrong,setting since we
we don’t want to generalize to laboratory experiments, However,
the laboratory offers a clear causal ®emon.tration with ordinary
children.

Also Mr. Schorr spoke to the rare cases of imitative violence in
our society, where somewhat abnownral people have copied events
that they have seen on television and have a few days later com-
mitted kidnapings, hijackings, and the like. Here is also clear evi-
dence of a causal connection in the right setting, the real world,
but with the wrong group of people in the sense that they are cer-
tainly not typical of the mainstream United States.

—
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So I am prepared }o cknclude that the relatlonshxp between tele-
vision violerice and hanges in aggression is, in fact, a causal rela-
tionship. However, jo.caveats have ta be introduced immediately.
The first is that bg conventional social science criteria the size of
that causal relatidnship, however consistent it may be across chil-
dren“ftom many di ferent backgrounds, is small, if not very small.
Of the catises of vio nce in our society, I-would not-think that tele-
visinn is one of the major ones, at least not over the 3-year time
period studied in the research to date. _

Now, what is special about television violence, of course, is that,
technically at least, something can be done about it. It is much
more difficult to do, anythmg about most of the other causes of vio-
lence in our society.

The second caveat is that most of the studies of children—these

- large samples of children from different home backgrounds—have
‘measured aggressiveness and violence as pushing, shoving, using

strong language and the like, what some commentators-would call
incivility and boisterousness rather than inflicting physical harm.
The crucial issue, to which I believe Professor Eron will speak
later, is to what extent these measures of boisterousness and inci-
vility predict to getting jnwo_ trouble with the criminal justice
system many years later.

I am prepared, therefore, to w',hclude from reviewing the litera-
ture that there is a small, con51stent . generalized causal impact, but
it is small.

There is a second issue mvolvmg television and crime that is
worth raising. Most of the scholarly debate is about the effects of
television on violence. There is beginning to surface some evidence
that television may affect larcenies and perhaps auto theft, crimes
of property transfer. The evidence is, in part, historical, in that
when television was still being introduced into the United States
betweer 1949 and 1952 the FCC froze the issuance of new station
licenses. That meadnt that some towns and cities could not get tele-
vision that wanted it.

Thirty-four towns and cities throughout the Umted States were
studied which had television before the FCC freeze. It was shown
that when the television saturation of households exceeded 50 per-
cent—closer on the average to 70 or 80 percent—larcenies in-
creased by more than 5 percent. When a different set of 34 towns
and cities—again all across the United States—finally got televi-:
sion after the freeze was lifted, there also, when saturation was
way over 50 percent, larcenies increased by more than 5 percent.
The same thing happened when you studied, not towns, but States
that got television sooner versus States that got television later.

Now, these data are from one set of investigators only. They are
obvnouqu historical and don’t necessarily apply to the. 1980's. Also,
we don’t understand why there is a relatlonshlp between television
saturation and larcenies going up in the communities, with per-
Haps auto thefts also going up. There is no evidence though that
television saturation affected .assaults or burglaries.

Now, what is important about that study is, 1 think, two things:
First, the measure of crime used was the uniform ¢rime reports of
the FBI, one of the standard measures used in ougsociety for moni-
toring the incidence of crime. The second thing to note is that if

60
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one wants to look at television and crime, then one has to do more
than look at television and its causal links to vielence\Television is
about consumption. Not everybody\wu’r‘nqe equally well and

not everybody consumes at the levels rayed in advertising and

on shows. There is therefore the possibility of a causal link be- .

tween television and crimes of larceny. /-
Thank you, '

[The statement of Thomas Cook follows:]
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Testimoity bsfore The Suboommittes

‘on Crime of the House Comaitt= 3 Sn Judiciary : -

prouenf'u by : . i

Thomas D. Cook, Professor of P;yoholosy, Yrban Arfnira and Public Polioy

- April 13, 1983 ’
> ~ .
haid “ . i
The core of my teatimony ia contained in Appendicas I and II that I want .
briefly to summarize.in order, to make two major points. First, that oyer a .

. three-Tear period viewing violenoe on television inoreases the inoivility of
. children from a wide range of home baokgrounds; and seoond, thﬁt when it was
first introducod in the late, 1340's and early 1950'5, televisicn was

d : associated uith an inorease in larceénies of nqae than 5% asq;easured by FBI1

tiniform Crima Statistigs.
With respect to the first point, after reviewing the literaturs on

television violence and aggressiop by ohildren. paying partiocular Qttention to
reaent threg-year atudies by ﬁilavsky-et 8l. oonduoted for NBC and by Hueamann

" ot al. conducted with fAnds from NIMH, I am willing to oconclude on the basis &
of the striking similarity in data patterns between the studies that: (a) »
viewing violence on talevision causally aontributes to the asgresiivaness of
ohildren, as measured by the investigators; and (b) that the effect of
television violence on aggression is larger the 1;nger the time pericd over
which aggression is measured. However, these demonsatrated effects are very
small in magnitude, and it is not likely that three years ol viewing violence
on TV is a major cause of violence &n our society. Over longer periods the
effeacts hay be larger, but we do not know that. Also, it is worth noting that

the measures of aggression by children reflect more boisterousness and

incivility than the 1ﬁr1tct1ng pr physical harm that mani people in ?ur

-~
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' .speuk to this, with data over a £0 year period that he interprets as showing a

society conaider to de contral to der;nitlonu of children's violenos or
aggressiveness, Tho‘eruoial issue is how the measures used in the/research 1

reviewed relate to violence in later 11ré. I believe that Professor Ercn will

relationship between inoiviliiy in ohildnood and problems with the law as an
adult. I believe that he will also sbeak to the issue of whethsr effects are
larger with longer tima intervals betuéen]naaaurea of aggression.

My interpretation of the_siudy by Milavaky et al. confliots somewhat with

the authors' own epnelusions- They olaiam that the relationships they obtained
A

" betwaen watohing television violenoe and changes in aggression:-are artifacts

of a soaial dyn;;io that impels poorer children both to bs heavier watchers of
televiaion violence and also to become ever zore viclent as they grow older
when compared to ohildren from more affluent homes. That 1s,.the authors
claim that the association between watohing violence and changes in ahsression
may be due to poorer children becoming inoreasingly more aggressive over time
for reasons that have nothing to do with ultohihs television per se. For
reasons ennumerated in Appendix I, I find their analysis uﬁoonvinoins because
(a) half of ghe children in their analysis were assigned SES scores equal to
the sverage child in their school rather than to the SES 1ev:1 of their own
home; (b) the effeots of watching televisioﬁ violence were clear for the

ma jority of girls studied who attended schools éhat the investigationa
thémselvea charaoterizéd as "middle class;" and (e) the authors conduoted many
analyses using different variadbles to éry to make the relationship between
‘television watohing and increases in violence disappear. Of the many they
tried only SES made the relationships disappear and so {t is possible that the
disappearance of the relationship may be due to chance. T;is last possibility

is strongly suggested by the most important piece of information of all. when
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they examined the rélnbionship between_uatching television violence and
changes in agression, Hué;maun ot al. obtained much the same patSern of ama}l
but oonsistent effects as Milavsky et al. But when Huesmann et al. introduced
a child-specific # SES measures into their analysis, the relationship between
viewing violence and increases in commiting violence did not disappear as it
did with the flawed SES measure of Milavsky et al. The evidence to date
suggests to me that Milavsky et al: have not demonstrated ?hat the
relationship between watching'violegce on TV and increases inrviolenoe are due °
to differences in home SES level and not due to television watching.

Drawing conolusions about causation always requires judgment and

inference. For the reasons mentioned above, I am now willing to conclude that

a very small ¢ausal relationship is consistently apparent that gets larger the

_ longer the time interval studied. However, the maximal time interval in t
k4
ger
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studies 1 revieved was three years, and most children view violence for lon
than this. B

The second point I want to make concerns television and its possible
effects on FBl measures of larceny, which are crimes primarily involving'~
shoplifting, bicycle thefts, thefts from automobiles, thefts of automobile
éccessorieh. and thefts from homes whera the perpeprator had lawful reasons
for being on the premises. The claim outlined in App?ndix 11, is that in four
out of four tests the introduction of television was assoclated with about an
increase of @t least 5% in the larcenies reported to the FBI. The atudy
involved two sets of towns and cities throughout the USA. In the first set of
34 towns and cities, the percentage of homes with : TV set reached over 50% by
1951. 1In that year, larcencies increased in theke towns And cities more than
in the control group of cities that did ﬁgh receive television égsgnals unt i}

1953, when the FCC lifted {ts freeze on the issuance of new station
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licenses, After 1953 the senond set of 3l cities finally received te sion,
and in 1955 the peroentage of hozmes 15 them with television was also
of 505, In 1955, larcenies inorsased by about 103 in the seoond est o ties
that had just gotten TV when coxpared to the oities that had gotten TV
earlier. 1In other words, laroeniss rapeazegly inoreassd by more bﬁun 5% the
year that television saturation of homeslino.relsed to a level ab;wa 50%.

These results have not yet been independently replicated; nor applied to
more recent times. Consequently, my conception of asccial responsibility
impels me to believe that we should trsat ;;em as su;geazivq'rather tha;

LY
definitive, Nonetheless, there are some things that probably do not account

i

for the findings.

This effeot ia not likely to be due to thieves stéaling television sets
as they became more available in communities that had just gotten TV. Yrst,
nost sets are prca;mably stolen in burglaries and not laroenles; second, it ia
not easy to imagine shoplifting early TV sets which were encased in heavy and

‘ bulky consoles; and third it is also difficult to imagine one's children's

friends {the major perpetrators of larcenies from homes where lawful entry has
been obtained) walking o{g\:ith heavy consoles.

One scholar has ar;:el_go me informally that ;;e effect may be due to
poorer persons getting television last in their community arnd stealing, not
because the content of television impeile& them to steal, but because they

wanted to be able to buy a television setl This explanation may be true, but

» it has to counter tha widesproad belief that, in its eariiest years,

television was associated with individuals visiting neighbors on their block
who already had sets. Mon-ownership wae not the same as non~-viewing!
Some have also argued that the association between larceny and the

introduction of TV may be due to early police shows making citizens more aware
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of their duty to report arime, thersbdy inoreasing reporting but not criminal i
behavior per se. This explanation may also be true. But if 20, it has to
account for the faot that the 1ntroddotion of television did not a(reot
burglarias or assaults. Why should th;re be an increase in reporting %
larcencies but not burglaries or assaults? .
My speculation at this time is that the effeot, if it ia real, may be due
to television's pre;;nt-tion of consumption patierns, both in advertisements
and the content of entertainment shows. For poorer Americans (a group noré
'like y to commit laroeny) TV continually reminds thenm that they‘ure uot part

mainstrean of donsumption. Adolascents and young ‘Hdults (the major

ooyumers of the things that TV offers and portrays by atealing, for the, have
not yet learned or accepted the peohanise ..aioh other pour Azericans, as they
get.older, develop in order to reéonoile themselves to the lifestyle and
consumption patta(na they actually experience which fall below thé lifeatyles
and consumption patterns held oub by TV as "normal" or “deairable."

. -
In summary, my evidence indicates:

That, over three yearsa, violence on TV has a very small causal impaot on
botaterouseness and incivility among young children--an effect which gots
larger the longsr the time perig? over which hoisterousness and incivility are
measured.

That the introduction of television has been agssociated with increases in ’
the rate of larceny as measured by FBI Uniform Crime Reports. However, the
atudy in guestion has not yet been independently replicated, and‘no convincing
evidence exists relating the p}\enomen\ .ither to the 1980's or to the

theoratical mechanisms tiat bring the effect about.
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Mr. HuaHes. Thank you, Professor Cook.

Dr. Lichter. 7

Dr. LicHTER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. .

I would like to speak about the context in which much of TV vio-
lence occurs, that of crime. For every American who is victimized
by crime, several experience it vicariously each night on their tele-

. vision sets. But while cops and robbers are a staple of TV enter-
tainment, we know comparatively little about how TV portrays
. crime and the law. Cos :

To address this issue as part of a larger study of how television .
portrays American society, my colleagues and I ecxamined the <
nature of crime and law enforcement on 6 weeks of prime time pro-
grams, 263 shows, from the 1980-81 television season. Prime time
television creates a fantasy world that is frequently darigerous and
violent. Qur study identified 417 illegal acts, an average of about

. 1.7 crimes per series episode. Moreover, lawbreakers on television
tended to engage in the most serious and violent crimes to an
extent that bears little relation to reality. Every fourth crime
shown was a murder; one in six was a violent theft. Overall, a ma-
jority of all illegal acts portrayed were crimes of violence.

All of this is in sharp contrast to FBI statistics, showing that
most crimes are such mundane offenses as drunk driving, larceny,
disorderly conduct and drug abuse. Evén serious crime in real life
tends to be directed against property rathorthan persons. But tele--

- vision entertainment largely ignores most aspects of real crime in
America, focusing instead on the most serious, violent, and life-
threatening offenses. )

If prime time crime bears little relation to the genuine article,
television criminals are equally far removed from their real life
counterparts. TV introduces the viewer to two types of criminals—
the professional deviant who leads a life of crime, and the apparent
pillar of the community who turns to crime to mdintain or better
his standard of living. Criminals on TV are usually middle or
upper class, white males over the age of 30. As mature adults, they
rarely act on impulse. Instead, their lawbreaking is carefully calcu-
lated to advance their own interest.

The vast majority of televised crime is predicated on the pure
greed of the “haves,” who, unlike criminals in real life, are far re-

\ moved from a culture of poverty. On TV, wealthy characters are
over twice as likely to commit crimes as those identified as poor or
middle class. Along these lines, the stock criminal type is the busi-
nessman whose selfish pursuit of profit leads him into illegal activ-
ity. The notorious J.R. Ewing of “Dallas,” who, by the way, is cur-
rently engaged in illegal oil sales to Cuba, is not the exception, but
the rule in TV crime. Businessmen and their underlings account
for almost one in four lawbreakers with identifiable occupations on
television. They constitute the largest criminal group aside from
professional gangsters,

But substantial numbers of criminals are drawn from other sec-
tors of the establishment, as well, including educated protessionals
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and the police themselves. In fact, one criminal in eight was drawn
from the ranks of those sworn to uphold the law.

In general, television's crimestoppers, handled their jobs in a
competent manner, although a significant minority was inept or
positively criminal. About one law enforcer in six fell into these
categories. Among the “bunglers” familiar to TV viewers are the
police officers on the “Dukes of Hazard,” while crooked cops in-
clude Sheriff Titus Simple of “Flamingo Road,” involved in Elack-
mail and bribery.

Mr. HucHEs. Dr. Lichter, I wonder if we can take a break here,
We have a vote in progress and only have about 6 minutes to get to
tl:e floor. I am going to recess the subcommittee for about 15 min-
utes, ‘

[Whereupon, the subcommittee was in recess.] ¢

Mr. HuGhes. The subcommittee will come to order.

Dr. Lichter, you may proceed. - .
Dr. LicHTER. A major finding of our study was the privileged po-
sition of private investigators relative to other law enforcers. In all
the programs we viewed, not a single private eye played the
“heavy.” By contrast, the crooked cop and greedy lawyer prcvided
recurring negatfve images. More often than not, ordinary law en-
forcers-failed to catch the crook, or played a mere supporting role
for the klamorous private eye. The phenomenal success of private
eyes such as Magnum, Nero Wolfe, and Dan Tanna of “Vegas' was
part of a broader trend involving the need for outside help to en-

force the law.

In addition to that quintessential outsider, the private eye, the
police often required the help of the private citizen to foil the bad
guys. Their assistance did not take the form of merely providing
evitlence or identifying suspects, but of actually solving the crimes
themselves. In brief, effective law enforcement was often the prov-
'incetof the outsider who bypassed the law ‘enforcement establish-
ment.

On television, the police, the G vernment and the legal profes-
sion are often shown as competent, if uninspired, upholders of the
law. But these law enforcement professionals often need the heip of
a lone outsider, the private eye or citizen detective, to bring evil-
doers to justice. Surprisingly, often on prime time, the insiders
break the law and the outsiders enforce it. :

I would like to discuss just briefly some possible ways of account-
ing for the alternate reaility that television creates in its portrayal
of crime and law enforcement. My colleagues and I believe that
program content reflects not only commercial pressures but also
the homogeneous social values of Hollywood’s creative community.
This concltision is based on the results of our recent study of over
100 top television writers, producers, and industry executives.
Three out of four metnbers of the Hollywood elite believe that TV
entertainment programs shquld portray society realistically. In this
case, why is crime on television shown in an unrealistic fashion?
Presuma{;ly. program creators are constrained by audience tastes
in the form of Nielsen ratings. Yet ratings cannot account for the
entire disparity between real life crime and television’s version.

We believe that televigion's antiauthority portrayal of crime and
law enforcement, in part, reflects the social and political alienation
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of TV’s creators. For example, two out of three believed that public
offizials don’t care about the average man. Two out of three be-
lieved that the very structure of our society causes alienation. And
nearly half think that our institutions need a complete overhaul.

Audiences may like “shoot ‘em ups,” but the polls show that the
average American is not nearly as alienated from social institu-
tions as is the average television producer. Further, members of
this Hollywood elite do not regard themselves purely as entertain-
ers, but also as social reformers. Two out of three agreed that TV
entertainment should be a major force for social reform. In short,
television’s creators are not in it just for the money. They also seek
to move the audience toward their own vision of the good sciety.

But, perhaps, this offers a ray of hope for those who would like
to see life on television become less violent and crime-ridden, for
ironically, most of the writers and producers we surveyed agreed
there is too much viclence on the programs that they create for
America’s nightly consumption.

Thank you.

[The statement of Linda Lichter follows:]
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Yo  RERCUZLIYR SUNRADY

This study exasines the mature of crise and law en-
forcesent portrayed in .63 prise-time prograss fros the
1980-81 television season. It d'iffers from most reseacrch on
TV violeace by focusing on the context in which such vio- .
lence occurs. sie employed a acientific contemt anmalysis to
analyze types of crises characteristic of crisinals, and
portrayals of law enforcement officials. This is part of an
ongoing study o. nuw -television camtertaioment has portrayed
American Bociety aover the past thirty yealrs. our nmdjor
findings followe

Pirst, crime pervades IV entertainment. The study
identified 250 criminals, aleost one per show. They comsit-
ted 417 ciises, or 1.7 ger showv.

Second, crime on 1V is far more violeat than in real
life. Burder is by far the most ccmmoun crime on television,
occurring on average once every two and one bhalf prograss.
Sserious crime oa TV is over 200 times more likely to involve
murder than in real life, according to FBI Crime Index sta-
tistics. Noreover, a majority cf TV crimes involve vio-
lence, 4nd TV crime 15 almost twelve times as likely to ke
violent as real life crise.

Third, TV crimipals tend to come from the "estaonlish-
ment". Host prime tise lawbreakers are amiddle or upper-
class white males over 30 years old. Businessmen are res-
pounsible for sore crise than any group other than
professiocunal criminals. A stock criminal “type" is the
wvealthy businesssan sotivated by greed.

Pourth, sost crime is punished, but policemen are
racrely the heroes. Alsost all TV criminals are caught or
thwarted, unlike crime in real life. Private eyes and even
private citizen. are portrayed as much better crime fighters
than the police. & majority of policemen are shown posi-
tively, but a substantial sinority are either corrupt or in-
cospetent, and bheroic COps are rare. surrrisingly otten on
TV entertainment, the insiders break the lav and the outsid-
ecs enforce it.

Television's portraydal of crime and law enforceasent
ptobably reflects both cossercial Eressures and the atti-
tudus of Hnllyvood's creativewcommunity. Qur survey of top
writers and producers revaaled that they agree that there is
too much violence on television. At the same tise, they are
strongly critical of political and social authority, and
they believe TV entertainoment should be a force for social
teforn.
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2. LEEpODUCTION

Crime has becose a major concern for most Americans. Every
year one household in three is touched by crime. In 1979,
the National (rime Survey determined that over &40 million
people across the Onited States were victims of attempted
criainal otfenses. This aﬁcluded over six wmillion feople
terrorized by illegyal Jactiwity involving the threat or act
of violunce. P

dor is there any safe haven frow the possibility of
being victimived. Crime cuts across the boundaries of age,
sex, race, class and geography. Despite the well documented
viluerability of the elderly tc street crime, victimizaticn
rates are far higher for young peofple than for senior citiz-
ens. Although vosen are uniquely vicitimized by crimes such
45 rape, males are more likely to be the targets of most -vi-
olent crimes. Nonwhites are more vulnerable to crimes cf
violence than are whites, but thieves prey on all racial
groups 4oout egually. Foor people are moSt susceptible to
violert crime, but the vealthy suffer the highest rate cf
personal larceny. Pivnally, while crimes ot violence are
most prevalent in central cities, suburbanites are just as
likely to be playued by theft. 1o fact, crimes such as as-
sault, larceny, and butgiary are more common in small cities
than in ma jor metropolises.

fet for every American unlucky enough to be touched by
crime, severdl exverience crime vicariously every evening on
their televisioo sets. Cops and tobbers, sheriffs and ban-
dits, private "eyes® and undervorld violgnce. bhave always
been staples of television eontertainment. For all the at-
tention that has been lavished obn televised violence, ve
know very little about televised crime. ‘Yet, crime prcvides
the context for much of the violent and othervise anmtisocial
behavior that appears on the ssall screen. Researchers have
found that heavy television watchers perceive the real wvorld
45 more violent and crise vidden thao it actually is. Alt-
houjh the implications of this fact have been disputed, it
raises the possibility that televised crime may influence
the attitudes and behavior of audiences in ways that are
still unknowa. 1

V\ Gegbner,veorje, and GLoss, Ldarrye. “Living with Televi-
sion: The V:olence Profile.® Journal ot Communication,
1976,26,173-199. For criticisa of their findings see Fall
Hirsch, "The Scary World of the bouviewer and Other Apoaa-
Lreg.™ Coamunication BResearch, 1980,7,403-456; cacl

Hitsch, "0n Not Learning fros Cne's Own Mistakes." Comsu-
nication Research, 198l,8,3-37.
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¥Wa cannot begin to chart the possible effacts of crime
on teleyision, hovever, wvithout first understanding *he role

it plays in entertainment programs. The purpose of this

study is to exasine systematically the extent and nature of
crime and lav enforcement as they are portrayed op ptime-
tise television entertainsent. our approach is to ccembine
the social scientific technique of content analysis with
relevant illustrations trom the [frograms themselves. e
shall focus ficrst on the types of illegal behavior portrayed
and them on the portrayals of those who commit crises. Pi-
nally, in & companion piece, wvwe -examine the other half of
the cops aad robbers tandes, the natnre of law enforcement
on television entectainment. )

4. BETHOD

Using a six—week program sample of prime-time series
trom the 1940-81 television season, specific categories were
developed to code wmultiple characteristics of each crime
committed, as well as each criminal and lav entorcer, pot-
trayeds A list of all sbhows caoded is included in the Jygan-
dix.

All programs in which at least one crime was comamitted
or 4 lav enforcer appeated were coded. Progrdms were iden-
tified according to series title, broadcast date, network
and general progras type (comedy vs. adventures/drama). A
crisinal was defined as au individval whe Kknowingly or un-
knowingly wviolated any local, state, or federal criminal
statute. A lav enfcrr.er was coded if he wac identified as
vorking in an occupation divrectly related to law enforcemeat
‘at the locdl, state or national level, either through infor-
mation that he or other characters supplied or through the
televised work setting.

The content analysis systes used for the study took a
"coaservative® agproache A character. wvas ccded as 4 crimi-
nal or law enforcer only when identified as‘*such in each
show. If a character was so detined in one episode, but
tiiis vas not made explicit in another segment, he was coded
7nsY in the first ejisode. Gone could not assume that the
televisign viewer would ideutify a character as a criminal
ar law enforcer unless this status wds established ia each
episodes All characters were coded as i1ndividuals.

[
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The sex and race of each cbaracter vere also coded.
The latter allowed for all major racial groups likely to te
portrayed on television, iacluding whites, blacks, HisFanics
and those of oOriental extraction. Age was categorized in
four major yroups: those undexr 18, those 18 to 30, ' those
aged 30 to 50, apd those over 50. While age could not te
determined by strict objective criteria, it was possible to
easily fit people into these . categories on the basis cf
their g@eneral appearance. (0f course, those on television
may seem younger than their actudl age.) '

The relative econoaic status of a character was cgded
wvhen kaovn. These categories included wealthy, aiddle class
and working class or puor. The contipuity of characters was
coded according to ihether they were major stars of a ser-
ies, played minor roles on a continuous basis or made coly a
single appedrance. This status was easily estabiished trcs
the show's opening credits, which specitied these distinc-
tions.

All criminals were classified according to occugation
svhen such inforsation was provided. These categories re-
flected the nature «cf crilinals' economic endeavors on te-
levigion rather tha: any comprehensive listing of actual oc-
cupations. . Thes« occupational categories included
"professional® criminals, their flunkies, police, business-
sen, professionals such as doctors and lawyers, blue collar
vorkers and a diverse residual category that included such
characters as a carnival announcer and a motokcycle racer.

Each law enforcer wvas also classified according to his
gJeneral occupational position. The range of these positioans
reflected the particular diversity of law related occupa-

tions in television entertainment. lav enfcrcers fell iato,

six gqeneral cagagories. Pirst, there vere various types ct
lawyers, all coded into 4 single category, .since television
often failed to specify their particular affiliatica. Sec-
ond were judges at all levels of the judicial systes. Third
vere myriad private investigators. The fourth catgegory
contained all police, from the "cop og the beat" up the
hierarchy to the police ccasissioner, s well ds sheriffs
and their deputies. P1fth were other guverLhment agents ip-
cluding the P.B.I., C.l.A., and special investigative per-
sonnel from other yovernment agencies, such as the internal
revenue secvice, who were involved with criminal «nd law en-
forcement activities. Pinally, a residual category coon-
tai-ed law enforcers whose ¢general ocCccupations were not por-
trayed ften enough to justify 4..arate categories.
Security ;juatd were classified in this groufre.




»

. Crimes vere coded individually according to
definitions provided by the IB1's Unifors Crime GEefporte.
Adapting the PBI's latest comprebensive list of crimes, ? we
also grouped all crisinal acts on televisiorn into the fol-
loving categories: Violent crises include surder, robbery,
kidoappliag, aggravated assault and rape;serious crimes in-
clude these viol€at ctimes as wll as burglary, larceny and
sotor vehicle theft. ]

Criminals vere also coded according to whethex they
were first time or habitual offenders. The motive that pro-
pelled each criwinal to_ coamit his crime vas aoted vhere
such ipforsation vas evidesnc. 3 Among these Aaotives were
greed or some other fors of self interest, menstal isbalaace,
political, sexual, syspathetic of altruistic sotives, jper-
sonal vendettas, aad lcc&dGﬂj‘, acts.

°

Tthe outccle ot plot resolation of a character's bebav-
ior vas coded where kncwd. Thege cutcomes included success,,
failure and various types of character change. Success de-
. noted achieving ome's intended ¢doal, such as getting avay
with a .crise or capturing the criminal. Cefeat occurred
when a character did not succeed in hid endeavor or was fun-
ished for it. Pinally, a chlracter could have a chamge cf
heart. For example, a crimimal could ultisately expréss
genuine reqgret and declare his intention to turn over 1 pew
leaf. In such Gases, the cutcome was cCoded as repen.auce.

_grf

? y,S. Department of Justice, Pederal Bureau of Investiga-
tion. Unifors Crime Reports: Cgime ip the United States
- 1989 (¥ashington D.C.: Government Printing Office,
1981). Unless othervise specified, all references to
crime statistics are fros the docuament.

3 This category wvas adapted from one used by Joseph R. Dom-
inick in "Cieime and lav EBnforcement on Prime-time telev-
sion," publjc Qpinigm Quarterly, Vol.37, No.2,
1973,pp, 241-250.
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4.  TELEVISION!S CRIBN MAYE

The 263 programss - we viewed contaipedja total of 250 crimi-
nals who comsitted 417 crimes. That Jorks out to almost one
criminal and 1.7 crises per gbov agfoss the eatire evening
schedule. There can be no questic then, that crime is a
prevelant activity ou televisioa entertainlens.

A\ ] /

.lipe out of teg crimes ooeurtgn,anﬂdsaccsvltxéwﬁéilps"

and “Dynasty®, although that genre accounted tor only a Ei-

nority of ° the proyrass viewed. The prevafbn;e of comedy
shows during prime time is dccounted for gartly by audience
taste and partly by scheduling congtraints. fany more sit-
coss than dramas fit sougly into thirty minute time slote,
So there are more comedies scheduled,, althcugh proportion-
ately more time peér program is Jiven over to dramas.

L4

Some crimes did cccur on situation comedies, such as a
“Bacney Milier™ episode where a0 irrdte restaurant custoser
assaulted a4 waiter who demeaned bis looks (3/12). Host
crimes, however, were cossitted on auvesture series. These
included programs like an episode ot "The Greatest Aserican
Hero" where 4 busipess ezecutjiwe, who manufactured ™classi-
fied® equigment for the goverhsent, cosasitted treason ty
selling secrets to an enemy country ¢i/15), as well.as cois
and robbers shows like "Hill Street Blues,™ which featured a
varivty af crimes ramging fLow comson fickpockets (4/4) to a
rapist who stalked his vi as in a local park(3/28)a.

the types of crije gortrayed. Television scripts rarely
deal with the mundane and bumdrum activities that occupy the
cop on the beat. Real policemen spend much of their tims
dealing with such "lov-profiie® crimes as unkeness, di-
sorderly conduct, breaking and entering, ang¥vandalisa. EY
contrast, their televicion counterparts aiLe coafronted with
an overwhelainy tide of murders,. Buyyings, and «ssauats.

Just as stizfinq a5 the sheer number of crizesd wert

In short, the bulk of crime on televisicn is far more
serious than in teal life. It consists Jlédrgely of viciocus
Jttdchs oy calculating criminals op insocent victisms. This
15 shown graphically by table !, which enumerates the vari-
vus types of crimes gottrayed on television. Murder, the
aost serious crime <¢f all, 4is also Ly far the most comachn
crise on television. Qur study recorded over a hupndred
murders, ofr roughly one homicide evely two and one halft pro-
qrams. The ingenuity of script¥riters never seems to flag
when it comes to concocting settinys for bomicides. Thus, a
psychopathic hairdresser oo the now defunct "Vegus® mutdered

»
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severdl of his female customers (3s4). On "Hart to Hart", a

ship's captain, who used his fleasure cruises to-distridute

counterfeit money to unsuspecting passenjéis, similarly dis-

posed of a private-iavestigstor who infiltrated bis cpera-
i 3 T S {7 U 8

t

P s it e catuntd

Overall, auch msurders accounted for almost one crime
in four shown on prime-time television. The preponderance
~ of homocides sets the tome £~r television's fortreyal of
illegal activity. All_the cosmsonly dépicted crimes involved
s the threat or use of forca against other pecple.,. In addj-
- tioa to myrder, these, crimes  acladed robbery, kidnappipg
» and aggravated assault. Toge«.er these four categories §f
crime added up to 57 percent of-all those coded. Bo other
single category made up as much as five perceat of °the to-

tal. ’

.
-

After murder, robbery was the Bmost prevaleat form cf
unlavful bebavior, accounting for almost one crime in six.
Por exasple, a teas of mugyers accosted the <lderly on an
opispde of "Nork and Mindy® (4/L6), while an armed teepager
held up a grocery store on "Hill Street Blues™ (3/28). BRob-
bery, as defined in the UPBI Uniform Crime Seports, always
involves force or the threat of forc This reliance om ac-
tual . or threatened violepce distingu\shes it from sisple
lacceny(theft) aand burglary.

n o= e

The other two most common offenses during prime tise,
kidnapping and aggravated agssault, ..each accolated for about
one crime in tvelve, - -The Tormer was illustrated by a “Pan-
tasy Island® segment om which a young mam kidnapped ‘bhis ovwn

————t girlfriend to extort money from her wealthy father (4/18).
The latter vas exemplified by a "Dynasty" scCifpt that called
for a hired thug to administer a brutal beating to an adver-
sary ot series star B.ake Ccarrinqgton (3/9). Just as robbery
is a more serinus and'violent crise than simsple theft, ag-
gravated assauit is quite different £from a simple fistfight

L or shoving wmatch. It consists of aun attack aimed at in-
flicting severe injury, often involving the use of a weapon.
Siaple assault, by contrast, iavclves neither a veapon ror
serious injury.

—~/

\

In sum, the majority of crimes shown o0 prime time te-
levision vere quite serious, iovolving peCLsonal attacks that
carcied at least the potential for seCfious injury or death.
Gf course, many other crimes vere portrayed, somse moLe seri-
ous than others. ¥ipne additional categories each comprised
between two and Eive percent of all instances of televised
cris¢e. To descending order of fregquency, .they involved bri-

-




eI fee e

e, .

bery, burglary (breakiag and entering), drug-::.lated
of fenses, blackmail, fraud, gambling, larceny or theft, e:x-
tortion and rape. vhen combimed with the “big tour" of
asurder, robbery, kidnapping and aggravated assault, that
sakes thirteen categories that account for 86 Perteant of all
telovised crime. By contrast such everyday “garden variety"
crimes as prostitution, druak driving, receiving stolen
property, nminor sex offense and weafons offenses each ac-
counted for less than one half of one percenst of all prime
time crilg. )

5. 1Y ¥S. RBALIZY .

Balatively few types of crime, especially the sore
serious crimes, account for most of the illegal activities
television uses to entertain its frisme time «udience. 10
indicate the extent to which this behavior is weighted to-
vard the most violent and dangerous crimes, We can compate
these findiags with FBI data on actual crise in America.

Direct! comparisons are aot easy to come by, since most
PBI statistics ate basad ch arrest records- rather than re-
pocts of crime. Unlike much real-life criame, hovever, te-
levised crime usually leads to artest, so the figures are
roughly comparable is this regard.

The relative fregueacy of real life orimes is indicat-
ed by table 2. It suggests that, after an evening spesnt
vatching television, a trip to the precinct house might te
something of a letdown. At the top of the FBI's list are
druak driving, larceny(theft without violence), drunkencess,
di sorderly conduct, aund drug abuse, which together accousnt
for a majority of all arrests naticnwide. Ccmpared to-TV¥'s
concentration on murder, robbery, kidmapping, and aggravated
assault, these transgressicus seem positively prosaic. 1n
descendiny brder of frequency, the drunk and disorderly,
thieves and drug abusers are fol lowed by such relatively mi-
nor malefactors 45 those charged  waith burglary, simple as-
sault and fraud. .

The first of Tv's high-visibility crimes to appear cn
the list is agyravated assault. It ranks ninth, accounting
for'only three perceat of all arrests. Even So, serious as-
saults are far more comson tham Fotberies. Porllble thefts
cowprise only one percent of all arrests in real life, cos-
patud to one 11 evely six crises cn  television. Yet even

/
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robberies are far mote comsoh thap murders, which dominate
crime on the airvaves. Io 1980 <nly one-fifth of one per-
cent of all arrests vere for surder or noa-pegligaat wap-
slaughter. As a proportion of all crises, that meams aurd-
era are over trelve tismes more freguent on television than
in real life. As for kidnappings, they occur so iafrecuently .
that the PBI doesn't bother to list them as a separate cate-
gory.

—t

Of course, a policeman®s 1life ma) not be dull, but
neither is it alvays eantertaining to others. One could
bardly expect many televiséon plots to revolve arcund cases

_-"of vandalisa and littering. And while drunkeamess may be &’
ma jor bealth problea, how many ways can you fils “The Days
of Wine and Roses™? MNine bBours of nightly pcime time quick-
1y consumes an awvesose asouat of plotting and dialcgue, and
it's easier to pmaintaio audience interest vith dastacdly
deeds than with the relatively busdrum stuft of everyday
police work. Over the long run, ®"Dragnet's Joe Friday Jjust
can't cospete vith James Bond. )

<> .

S And yet, even given the need to entértain‘and titil-
late an audience increasingly jaded by the whirl of modern
lite, television's fantasy vorld remains a surprisingly dap-
gerous place. Even when vwe restrici our attention to the
most serious crimes, televisiocn melects out the darkest agd
most violedt side of human bebavior for its stories. To de-

" monstrate Wis, ve geed only ezamine the relative incidence
of the most serious catezy:ins of crime in real life. 6Seri-
ous crimes are those that cosprise the PHI Crime Iadex,
which serves as the basis for most of the FBI's yearly re-
ports on the crisme rate. Included in the crime index are
murder and nonnegligent manmslaughter, forcible rape, rob-
bery, aggravated assault, burglary, larceny, and motor vehi-

cle theft.
i

In 1940, these serious crimes dccounted for 23 percent
of all arrests, exciadisg mincr traffic oftenses. In the
programss we vieved from the 1980-81 television season, tbe
same offenses accou’ntedl a majority (57 percent) of the

. crimes portrayed. ¥ith the addition of kidaappinrgs, which
are too infrequent tc even appear on the PBI's list, serious
crimes make up 66.7 parcent, or precisely tuo-thirds of all
prime tise crinme. Even mote striking is the discrepancy
between the relative proportion of violent crime on televi-
sion and in'real life. Violent crimes (amerder, rape, aggra-
vated assault, robhery and kidpagping) accounted for only
five percent of all arrests in 1980; on television they ac-
counted for S9Y percent of illegal acts. So televised crise
vas almost twelve tim®s as likely to be violent as was real.
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113% Crime,; 4SS seasured, by arrests during roughly the sanme
tise period.

The ultimate violent crime, surder, fan thrcugh a var-
iety of serigs. On "Vegas®, a stockbroj)fer, who "ouped" a
highclass call girl. ring, killed two o his eaplo)ees he-
cause they wvanted out of the cperatior (u/l). On "Walking
Tall®, an industrialist orderted the surder ¢of an employee
who discovered that bhe had becn 1illegally dumpiag toic
vastes (3/24). Aad on "The Greatest American Hero," right-
ving terrorists killed an PFBI agent who Jinvestigated theicr
"plot to seize control of the couatry (3/18).
tThe sore wmundane but pervasive real-life crimes were
largely neylected. In fact, dcunk driving was portragyed on
only ope program in our saample, an etpisode of "Cbips"
{4#/19) . According to Mational Highuay Traffic Safety Adain-
istratiou estimates, alcohol is implicated in as Bmany as
half the traific fatalities each jear. ' ¢ That means that
asixing driving and drink is responsible for more deaths each
year than the total nusber o5f homicides. Yet on television,
surders are portrayed abou: ome hundred times as often as
drunk drivinjy.

4

To fine tune these compariscns, ¥ve can exaaine the
frequency of euch major offense as a porpurticn of all seri-
ous crimes on television and in reality. An advantage of
this procedure is that the PBI putlishes totals of all re-
ported offeases, not sisply arrests, for serious crise only.

Table ) reveals the very different proporticns of ma-
jor crimes that appear on television and in the the real As-
erica. It shous that most secrious crime is directed toward
property. rather than people and does not involve the use or
threat of forcee. On the 1980 PBI crime index, almost nine
out of ten offenses are burglaries or thefts that involve no
physical danger for the victins. Gnly one serious crime in
ten inolwes violence. Murder, rage and kidnarping each ac-
count for less than obe percent of 4ll serious crimes. Ag-
gravated assault and rchbery, i.e. theft involving force or
its threat, edch acccunt for oonly about one serious crime in
tventy.

¢ .5 Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic
S5afety Administration. Fatal Accident geportinrg System
1340 (Washington D.C.: Government Printing Office).
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Oa television, the proportions of crime against pecple
and propercty are dalmost eractly reversed, Crimes of vic-
lence sake up seven out of elght sericus. offenses, 'while
t:ett and burglary together account for only one crime in
€lQu o -

+ The audience did vitness &4 few crimes of sort the that
usually occupy the attention of law enforcers, such as a
sinple purse snatching on "Hill Street Blues." (4/21). How-
ever, they wvere far sore likely to be treated to such fare
as a "Magnua, P1® episode on which a man killed bhis girl-
friend when she tried to leave him (4/2), or a "rlasingo
Road® segment on which a 'vocman tried to surder her cwp sis-
ter as the outcomg/of a romantic triangle (4/2;.

The-differences betveen fantasy and life are sharpest
at oppusite ends of the crime index spectrum. Siample thetts
alone account for nearly tvo thirds of the PBI crise index
but only six percent of serious crises on telseision. At
the other estreme, surders alane rmake up over one-third of
all serious crimes on television, but only a miniscule ope-
sixth Of one perceamt of the PB1 crime index figures. Thus,
even after all but the most serious crimes are excluded frcas
the comparison, prise tise crise is over 200 times more
likely to igvolve homicide than is real life crisme.

. In summary, crime ocn television is. more dangercus,
sore violent, and more likely to be directed against persons
thao is actual criae. The latest ¥BIL statistics indicate
that the most common offenses are rarely seen on televisior,
vhile the most brutal and injurious crimes appeaf far out cf
proportion to their occurance in everyday life.

1)

Y 2

6. CREAINALS B XV ENTRRTALNAR T

Television's portrayal of crimipals also uiverges mackedly
fros real lite. According to the latest FliI arrest reforts,
cciwmes are disproportionately cosmitted by males, young pec-
ple, nonwvhites, and the poor and ubemplcyed. They act out
ot 1 wide variety of motives, and more often than not their
vrimes go uvnpunished.

In the fantasy world of rrime time television, gust of
these relationships dare reversed. The -bulk of prime tiae
criminals are male, but they also tend toc be white, middle
or upper class adults. Their traanyressions usually stemw di-

A
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rectly fros siaple greed, and they are usually thejrted
before the closing ~vedits. 4e shall consider each of these
characteristicgs of .. criminals in turn.

*

<

. SR

Most crimes ipn America are committed by males, and televi-
sion accurately reflects the disproportionate tendency of
men to comsit illegal acts. As Table 4 shows, wsales ac-
coynted " for 84 percent of all arrests in 1980, including .90
pstcent of arrests for violeat crimes. The proportions on

television are about the gsase. About nime out of tens crisi-

nals vere sales, regatdless of the severity of the offenss.
Rale criaminals ranged fros a purse snpatcher ©oD"Hill Street
Blues® (4/Z1) to a male lnvolved in a drug related @urder on

®Hart to Hart"™ (3/3). .

8. aGE ) ,

Youthfal offenders have bwen wsuch in the onews of late.
zspecially disturbing is the rise in serious and violent
crimes amony teenagers. In 1980, young people not yet eigh-
teen years old accounted for ower one arrest in five actoss
the couatry. Even sore osinous, these tegpagers and sub-
teens sade up 36 percent of those arrested for PRI index

" crimes - serious oftenses ranging fros robbery aad larceny

to rape and surders. Nore broadly, 7young people, wmostly
young males, are isplicated in the vast majority of crimes
in the United States. The eighteeh to twenty-nine year old
age group alome accounted for wvirtually half of all arrests
in 1980. Overall, pfpeofle anot yet thicty years old totalled
70 perceat of all recorded arrests for that Year.

Arrest records for serious crises are bkewed even amor
heavily tovard young offenders. The under thirties grou
made up 82 percent of those arrested for offenses that cows
prtise the FBI crime index. Pinally, individuvals still i
their teeas or twenties made up neacly three out ot four ar
reats for crimes of violence.

/

These statistics make it te-f&ing to reverse the adage
of 1950's protestors that you can't trust .nyone over thirc-
ty. 0¢ course, those arrested make up only a siniscule pro-
portion of their age group. Nonetheless, it is cledar that
the vast majority of serious crises are cossitted by tewnag-
ers and Young adults.
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ua television, as Tab;z/g shovs, the relationshifp bet-
veen youth and criminality vae reversed. The vast majority
of criminals vere maturé¢ adults over age thirty. *This beld
true for both viglent and npon-violent crises, as well as for
both serious and minor offenses. } majority of crimipals
vag found in the thirty to fifty age group, including 59
petcent of those responsible for both serious and violent
crime. Andther one in five criminals was over age fifty, as
"w-3 one in six violeat criainals. By contrast, only about
ose crimipal in four was under thirty, regardless of the
seciousness of the offense. .

¢

: o real life, a majority of those arrested for violent
crimes is bhetween the ages of . eighteen and thirtye. In the
shovs we viewved only 18 percent of. the crisinal characters
case fros this age group. Equally striking is the near ab-
seuce of youth crixe on television. Charactgrs not yet
eighteen years old accountaed for anly s.ix percemt of all
criminals, seven percent of those who cosait sexious crises,
and eight percent of those geilty of illegal acts of vio-
legce, Not a4 single teemager under eighteen committed a
- mucder on the 263 shovs ve watched, although this age group

ipdounted for 1,742 murder arrests in 1980 or almost ome ho-
" gicideé clearance in tep natinr ide. Rather, the noras om tc-

levision was repreuented t .dule aged real estate manag-"-

er involved in land svibales (AJ ¢ Bedr - 3/10), apd a
similarly aged druq dealer who fcund Bsurder pecessary to
keep his business going. (Hart to Hart - /3. There vere
‘fdge crimes by ' ens, such as the !nvolveaseat of three teen-
Yagers in a car .heft ring on "Chigs® (9/13). HMore coam-.u
vwere ccimes Ly thoge over %0, such as an aging police sarg-
aant on "2nos (4/15), vho pushed beroin on the side, and an
ambitiows poli ician o©a "The Greatest Americac Hero", whc
vas involved in both murder 2ud an attempted assasin.tion of
the President (3/18).

.

In sus, Youth <crime is a ad jor concern for both law
enforcers and the geperal gublic. In the fantasy vorld of
t< levistion, howeser, it is haxdly ever a ‘protlen. Instead
crime is lacgely tae provipce of mature adults. ,

il?.
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The causes of the disproportiomate concentration of crise
amoag ponvhites have been asuch debated. Bconomic degriva-
tion and a aniguely shameful legacy of societal discrimina-
tion clearly are major factors. In 1980, 25 percent of
those arrested for crimes were black, amotber two fpercent
vere Asian or awmerican Iadian agd th resaining 74 percent

-vere white. Blacks accounted for 33 percent of those ar-

rested for sericus crimes, other ucnvhites tuc perceat, and
vhites 65 percent. Arrestees for violent crimes were U4
perceat black, ose percent other nopnwhite, and 54 percent
vhite. So blacks are arrested abaug.,tuice as often as one
would expect on the basis of their distribution in the popu-
lation, Por serious crises this factor r.'ies to pearly
threo to one, and for crimes of viclence almost §GRr tc one.
Similas results cas be obtained from PBI victimfisdtion sta-
tistics (victiss' reports of wsuspects! characteristics), 3

making it unlikely that these arrest totals arp greatly in-:

flated by raciss on the part of the arresting qtticera.

P It should be noted, af course, that blacks are disprc-
postiona*tely represented asonj the victims as well as the
pacpetrators of crimes. As Lee Laniels receatly wrote in

r~'the New York Tipes Bagagzime, ® decause the poor are more vic-

timized by crime ¢ham others, blacks, who represent a dis-
pProportionate petcentage of the poor, Are sore likely than
vhites to be the victiss of violent crimes.® Dapisels also
points out that blacks are particularly vulnerable tc street
crime, and “the primary reasan for most "black on black"
crime ... is that most street crimes are cosmitted by poor
people out of desperation, impulse and opportunity.” ¢ Bey-
ond this, we lack the competence to enter the debate cver
the societal causes for this ditferential criae tatec. our
far more limited purpose is to ccmpare these figures with
compdrable data from prime-time television.

Studies have showo that by the late 1960's black char-
acters were written into television prograes roughly iu prc-
poction to their distributior in the actual population,
i.e., ten to twelve percent cf all characters. We found
that they make uyp about the same groportion ot criminals oan
prime-time shows. ds Table 6 indicates, ncaowhite

s

$ .S. Depéftuent of Justice, HuCedau of Justice Statistics.
Crimjmal Victimizatiop in the Upited States, 1979 (Wash-

Emmasl Da2E2Z=D

ington D.C,. Governaent Printing Office, 1981).

¢ Lee Daniels, "Black drime, Elack Victims,“ Kew York Iimes
Bagazipe, May 16, 1982, 39-uu.
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characters, alsost ell of thes blark, accounted for twelve
percent of all criainals om the sbows we viewed. 1he grc-
portion dropped to ten perceat of perpetrators of violcot
crime aand on): three perceat of the murders. Illustrativae
of the rela’ively fev black criminals uwes . drug dealer ¢n
“Barney Biller® (4/16) and a hotel wmaid wv.. stole the tigs
of other maids on "The Jefferscas™ (3/19).

’

Whdat are ve to sake of this disparity? we would hard-
ly recommend that television scriptvriters assign more mura-
ers toblack characters for the dubious purpose of bringing
television closer to “reality". Eat the very absurdity of
sdch @ sugestion raises an important point about the social
content of television entertaineent. 1t is very difficult
to interpret the relative paucity of televised crime (espe-
cially violent crime) among blacks as either a teflection cf
reality or a resporse to the profit motive. Instead these
figures seem to reflect concerns of television writers, fprc-
ducers and network executives to avoid reintorcing negative
sterentypes and fproducing megative role models. Whether
such concerns acfe cohscious or uncomscious, individual or
institutional, they illustrate the point that the social vy~
lues of television entertalnment are naot solely aimed at
maximizing profit.

Wor is there necessarily anything invidious about this
fact. It was partly criticisms fros the black community,
after ali, that led to te disappearance of "Stepin Petchit"
characters in popular entertaiament and made fossible a sger-
ies like "Roots"™. MWhether or mot the relatively lovw violent
crime rate among black characters reflects conscious cop-
cerns of this sort, it suggests that the creators of 1V ea-
tertaipment canaot ignore their role im commukicating images
laden with social values. ’

10.  OCCUPATION .

Bost criminals iu telev:siow belong to relatively few occu-
pational groups. Of those whose cccupation sas idantified,
over three out of four criminals tit into one of four cate-
JoriLess: professiunal criminals, tusinessmen, police, and
fluokies who do the dirty work for someone else.

Table 7 presepnts the occupational ¢f¢rcfile of prime-
tize criminals. First and foremost were people whose only
gtofession is crise itself. This yroup included meabers cf
viyantzed crime 45 well as imdepegndent gaugs of thieves,

Cn
&

——



82

Tuventy-aight percent of all prije~-time crisinmals were pecple
vhose entire income derived fr the proceeds of their evil-
dciag. The addition of their lunkies raises this gtoup's
total to 36 percemt or sore tha® one prime tise criminal in
three. So TV pictures a world iphabited by legioas of
tull-time criminals who earn their livelihoods at the ex-
pense of law-abiding citizeans.

These groups of "professionusl™ deviants vere illus-
trated by a drug smsuggler on "BJ and ‘the Bear® - (3/28) and
a gang lead~r on “C 8" vho reaped the protits from a wid-
espread car theft ring (9/13). 1ypical of the flunkies or

underlings of profeasional me was a thug hired by *Dy-
nasty's® Carrington beat up his daugbter's suitcr "
(3/9) . ke " . ¢

Yet by 8o means is all or evep most TV crise the pro-
duct of social deviasts or crisminal sYbéulturea. Instead it .
can be tiaced to established figures in the social order
such as vell-off professionals, policemsen, and, above 3ll,
businessmsen. About one criminal in eight was identified-as a
busikcsssan. As we foumd wi.h professiomal crimipalsg), how-
ever, this group became comsiderably larger mhen’ their
flonkies were takem into account. The busisesmsman who di- ?
rects stherr to do bis dirty wrk was a stock character in

"the shuus vy vieved. BDBusivessmen and their flunkies togeth-

er ancounted for 2+ percent of all crimicals with identitia-
ble o~cupations, far exceeding any other legitimsate occupa-
tional group.

.

Por exaspie, the owner of a - comsputer firm abdd his
flunky were involved in shippiony illegal explosives for pro-
fit {BJ. and the Bear - &/14). Similacly, a theater ovner
og "Lowo® (3/3) 4nd his ruthless underling not oaly embezz-
led company funds,; but cosmited 4 wsurder to cover Uup the
thetft (3/4). e bhave alrecady: noted the business executive
vho tried to sell "classified™ equipment to am enemy country
{Greatest American Heroc - &/15; and hov "Dypasty®™ executive .

.Blake Carrington had bhis adversaries beatcn Up by hired

thugs {3/9). Other examples iuclude the stockbroker who

" murdered his call girls (Vegas - &/1), a4 casino owper wbo .

skiseecd the profits/({Vegas - 4/15), . the ovnet of a <hesical
coepany sho talsified records aad attesped nurder to coverup
bis illagal dumpin; of toxic substances (Halkimg Tall -
3724), the head of a world wide conglomerate -~who killed a
cospetitior (Nero Wolfe - 3/27), a bank mapager who arranged
to aave his owp bagk cobbed {Labo - &,7), the owner ot re-
¢ =d company who stole recorfdings trom other companies (Loto
“5,21), 4 theater owner who esbozaled cospasy tunds (Lobo -
3/3), the ovuer of a dating serrvice whu blackmailed employ-

-
-
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ees (BJ apnd the Bear ,4/7) amd the head of a real estate
coagany who o:quizcd} land swindles (BJ and the Bear -
3/710).

]

Our teceat study of busimessmen in TV entertainsent,
found that a bhigh proportiom of business characters are poc-
trayed as criwmiastls. 7 §e now find that tb;L couverse is
true as vell; a substantjal segment of TV's cr inal, popula-
tion is drawn from the worid of busimess. .

Policemen came pext in the lipe-up of offeanders. oan
television, the uphclders of lav and order made up.13 per-
ceat of those who broke the law, or (about on ome crimipal
in eight.) Included here were a a police officer on "Nag-
pum, P.I.", who accepted a hribe to look the other way dur-
ing a traftic -iolation(4/23) and a police lieutegant on the
"Greatest Aserican Hero®™ ($/3) wkc attespted to steal some
"hot" diamonds fros the original thieves. :

They were fr. 1ed by professional peogple guch as doc-
tors, lavyers, a.. «rchitects, who together accounted fcr
eighé percent of tht :e criminals. Typical of them was a
doctor on “Hart to Hert™ who ran a counterfeitircg ring oper-
ation (4/14), and a lauie: oa *Vegas" who drew his profits
fron pornography (3,25). .

L ' .
The occupational group least iikely td contain law~

breakers consisted of blue cullat we ers, who comprised
orly five percent of all criminals .:0se occupations vere
kncwne Asoag the fev blue collar criminals #as & gardener
on goum, P.I." who pilfered already stolen money fros a
gang%cf crimipals (4/16).

The reamainder was scatterad asong such characters as a
sodel who murdered het husbaad to collect money be had al-
teddy stolen (Hart tao Hart - 3,10), and a carnival announcer
vho ran fized gambling gases (BJ and the Bear - 4/7) .

In sum, ot criwmipals with kncwn occupatiobs, over ocne
third were protessional crihinals cr cheir tluskies, amother
one in four werte businesssen and their ‘'undércliangs, one in
eight Were policemen, one in twelve came troc the educated

? Li Lichtet, S. @#dobert lichter, anrd Stanle -Bothwman,
v " Show Business Shows Business,®™ Public Qpiniom, Nowy
o '82-- Lee apjendix . . :
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professions and only ode in teven ty held blue collar jobs. So
television focuses it more oa crimipals near tha top of the
social hierarchy tkan on those whose activities stem ftros a
culture of poverty. The Hollywod gangster of 1930's fiiss,
vho turned to a life of crimse to escape the hopelessness cf
flell's Kitchen, bas po equivaleat on television today. Even
the professional crisinals ~re dOsvally mesbers of lucrative
organizations, 4nd sost other lawbreakcrs ars either Fillars
of the community or those sworn to protect it.

A
‘ ¢

-~

1. ZKONOAIC STATUS

The image of evil-doing im high places is reinforced by the
economic status accorded characters vho cosmit crimes. 1o
voe sure, the status of sost characters could mot be clearly
identified. oOnly cpe in four could be xeliably coded as
either rich, middle class or poor: Hovever, that left 548
criminals with a clear place in the econosic hierarchy. And
this grou[ was strongly meighted toward the tof as Table 8
desonstrates. Sixteen pezcent of all crimizils were cleacrly
wvealthy, comspared to only four'percent who werc middle class
and thtee percent whc vere poor ol working class. Thus, a
viever vas about five times moCe likely to see a wealthy
criminpal than a poor one. _Boreover, the number of wealthy
crimipals was s're thas double that of middle class and low-
er class crimiuals combined.

Typical of wealthy cciminals wvas the notorious Boss,

Hogg of "The Dukes of Hazzard"®, wbo 1Sed blackmail to ille-
gally ohtain a piece of valuable art (3/13). The even rich-
er and equally notorious Blake Carrington of “Dynasty®, who
inhabits a luxurious mansioan, knovingly alloved <company
funds to be used illegally (39). Among the middle class
of fenders vas a medical ezaminer oo “Quincy"™ vho was an ac-
cessory in covering up a murder (&/8). Amoaqg the few pocr
characters wvas a ghetto youth on ™Hill Street Blues" who
tried to hold up a grocery store (4/21).

Th:. data for homicides were even @more striking.

‘Bighty percent of the wurders vere committed by characters .

vith no clear econosic status, tventy percent by wealthy
characters, 4n0d none by either middle class or poor charac-
ters. Sc among those characters whese economic status was
koown, wmurder was the exclusive [frovince of the rich. In
real life, of course, crime is associated with low social
and ecoaoric Status. According to Department of Justice
Statistics, one.in three insates in state prisons was usems-
ploYed in the sonth frior to their drrest. Aagny those who
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had imcome I:J;‘aay S0ULCe, the average incomc wvas almost 50
percent iower than that of comparakle groups in the the gen-
ecral population. ©

: \

Hov such drime is directly and indirectly caused by
poverty is a matter of interpretation. But oo one wotld
dispute that crise is associated with poverty and unesploy-
seat. Yet the 1V watcher rdrely seas this kind of crise.
Instead the viewer is primarily exposed to stories about
vell-to-do criminals or those without a clearly defived eco-
noaic status.

12.  BECIDIVISE

In addition to establishing a jemograpbic profile o¢f frime
time criminals, ve were interusted in the nusber of recidi-
vists, or repeat offenders. Television portrays two types
of lavbreakers, the first offmmder amd the habitual cripi-

nal. There deess to be po middle ground; a character eitherl

commits a4 crime [for the very tirst time or he is committed
to 4 life of crime. . As.wmight be expectd from the high prc-
ppriion of professional crisinals, most fell iato the latter
category.

As table 9 shows, habitual crisipals outnumbered first
of fenders by more than a four to one margin. ° 44 percent
of the cases, the plct didn't make clear whetbe.. .be bad guy
vas d first timer or a repeater. Another 46 perceat, almost
balf of all criminals, were clearly identified as recigi-
vists. Only 10 percent were shown coamitting their first
illegal act. For exasgle, "Fantasy Island" teatured a ycung
voman whoge crime debut was to aid her boyfriend in ap ex-

tortion scheme against her owp father (4/18). Bany sore,
hovever, wvere repeat offvsnders, such " wobster omn “Mag-
oum, P.I. " who, upon bhis relzase fro. \on, e€epgaged in

"robbery and wurder to obtain already s len wmoney (4/23).

Ancther receat parolee on "Hart t° Ha ™ kidnapped the
show's hercine for a fdt ransom £frum her yealthy husband

(4/72) o

® tn addition to Uniform Crime RBeforts, op.cit., see 0.S.
Department of Justice, Lav Enforcement Assistance Adeinvis-
tration, Myths and PRehlities Ahout Crise (Washingtca
D.C.: doverpmsent Printing Office)

.
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The high propottion of fccldivis*s, relative to first
of fenders, sugqgests that prise-tise czrimicals mre rarely
portrayed as the victims of ill luck or transient emotion.
Bore often they babitually violate the lav, often ium pursuait
of a criminal lifestyle. .

Of course many of the crimes in real life are commit-
ted by repeat offenders. An FBI study found that, of over
250,000 people arrested for serious crimes during the period
1970-1975, 64 percect had been arrested at least once be-
fore. ® These repeat offenders had been arrusted an average
of four times apiece over a period of five Yyears. gut even
if ve were to copsider all repeat offesders as career crimi-
@als, which is clearly not the case, their incideace would
not equal the picture presented on televisioa. Asong the
prime-time characters vho were specifically identified as
either first offenders or habitual criminals, 82 perceant
fall iuto the latter group. )

13. HNOTINE
- S0 far we have concentrated om wkc cosmits crimes ia televi-
sion entectainment. e tarn now¥ to the question of why

crimes are carried out. In real life motives for crimes are
often surky, mysterious, or multiple. Often the pergetrator
himself can't sort out the tangled strapds of sotivation
that led bim to break the law.

On television eantertainment, howvever, omae motiwe
stands head and shoulders above all others im acounting for
crines of almost every sort. That motive is greed. On te-
levision, as Table 10 indicates, greed alose was the motiva-
tion of three out of four criminals or 74 percent overall
including large majorities of every crime category excegt
rape. Every single embezzler and druy dealer vas motivated
by greed, aloug with at least four out of five gasblers,
blackmailers, extorticuists, bribers and robbers amd
thieves. This greed was often calculated and cruel, as with
a youunqg man who robbed 4 bank ca “lobo" and took’ some of its
customers as hostages (4s7), and a dogbreeder on “lero
Wolfe® who feigned concern for his cousin, then carefully
executed her surder to inherit her monmey (3/6). ‘

% y.S. Department of Justice, Pederal Hureau of Investiga-
tion. Unifors Cgime Reports: Crime ib Amerjca -1376

- 2=

(Washington D.C.: Government Printing Office)
)
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Otbher motives occasionaily surfaced, altuough no ad-
ditional <category explaioed the behavior of . more than a
small proportion of the 250 criwinal characters. Pitteen
criminals were carrying out personal vendettas, .uch as a
ghngsteg on MHill Street Blues® who assaulted an opgosiag
gang member specifically to stir up trouble .for series hero
Captaie Prank Purillc. He felt Purillo was all talk amd Bo
action in getting politicians to pay attenticn to the ncigh-
borhaood' s problels {(O/4) «

Another fourteen acted out of some sexual motivatiocn,
including all seven rapists. Each of these categories ac-
counted for only about six percent of all crimipals. Amoth-
er four percent had syspathetic motives, such as a cosputer
operator who, ob’ paim of losing his job (and with a pregngnt
vife to support), reluctently falsified a report to the EEA
. hiding the fact that his boss was illeqally disposing tcxic
wastes (Walking Tall - 3/24).

Ouly three percent wvere imsane or mentally isbalanced,
such as a disturbed VYietnam vete¢ran on *Chips® yho vandal-
ized small fars pesticide sprayers because he had been a pi-~

lot releasing defoliation chemicals on ionocent Vietnamese

civilians. lle was turned over tg a Veterams hospital for
treataeat {(4/5). L

Ooe pgrcent, or three chdaracters, broke the law by ac-
cldent. he motives of the remsaining four percent were not
made clear by the plot. All these categories were obvicusly
dvarfed by the 184 crimindls who acted on the basis of avar-—
ice. Precise couwparisons with thpg sotivations of actual
criminals are wmostly unavailable. Hovever, the FBIX does
publish statistics on the motives and circusstances sur-
rounding homicides. Although their categories differ frce
ours, they provide sose indication of the different motiva-
tions of murderers ip redl life and in TV entertainment.

Go television the motives of msurderecrs weren't very
ditferent from those of other criminals. An overvhelwing ma-
jority, 75 percent, killed because of greed. ¥ine percent
di1spatchaed their victias as the denouement of a personal
vendetta. Siz percent of the killers had some sexual mo-
tive. The motives of four peccedt vere onevel ezplaived .
That laeft only six percent who killed for-asy other reasoa.

This breasrdnyp can be caotpared to the FBI's 1980 sta-
tistics summarized in Table 1Y1. They show that by tar the
tatyent npusber of murders, aleost half, vere coz:ftted in

o e
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the course of argusents. Another cne in four were prtoven or,
suspected to result fros some other felonious activity such
as robbery, rape, etc. Pifteen percent of homicides vere of
uanknovn motivatioan, and a slightly larger proportioa were
brought together uadar the catck-all category of “other mo~ ..
tives.” proa this eamtire 1ist ocaly about one im seven surd-
ers could be taken at face value as the product of greed.
That represonts the combifiation of eleve percent of purders
attributable to robberies sad a scant YEre2 percent that re-
sulted from arguments over property or money. Altbough *
greed ay be a hiddsn element standing behiad napy of the
other categocries, it is clearly not the sajor cause of sost
homicides, as it is on television. .

[

On prime time, then, crisimals rarely act out of ac-
mentary passiom, mental iasbalamce, political conviction or
any of the other myriud causes that lead people to break the
lav. In television ectertainsent, the lavbreaker usually
uants‘jgsﬂ'one thiog -- he vants scre.

e —————

8. EESOLUTION

Criminals oo television are a bad lot, Bost are the perpe-'
trators of particularly brutish ects which they consciously
choose to commit on the basis ot. pure self-interest. View-
ers vill be relieved tc learn, hovever, that 805t get theic
Just desert betore the tina} credits,

* A5 Taole 12 shows, over two out of three criminals in
our sample vere defeated - ejither arrested, killed, or oth-
efwise thvarted in their aims. Cospared to the 68 percent
vho suffered defeat, success was achieved by a miniscule
eight percent, or one criminal :n twelve. Apother four per-
cent resolved to chdnye their wvays, and the resalning 20
percant came to no clear plot resnlution. 4 common fate for'
criminals was exemplified by a drug dealing golice sargeant

£0n "Euos" who was captured by his own aen {(9,15), aad an ez~
tortipuist on Vegas whc was killed By~ his even greedier
pactoer (3/29). o .

i1t theje results are reassuring to law and order advo-
cates, the compactable figures for serious crimes provide
gven greater relief. About four out of five lhwbreakers who
comnitted FBI index crimes were defeatzd, and omly five per-
cent were successful. The figures for hogmsicide were virta-
ally identical: 8l percent defeated, only five petcent suc-
ceastul and L4 percent upresolwad.

K1
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Anyone faiotdy fawiliar with the crimimal justice sys-
tem i5 avare that these figures bear little relation to the
realitites of crime and punishme ot in Aserxica. The most re-
cent PB! crime index figures ind icate that, in the majority
of cases, crise does pay. Tabla 13 shows that, of all seri-
ous crimes in 1980, fewer than ope in five resulted ia an
arrest. Moreacver, this "clearance™ rate of 19 percent for
index crimes does not take into account wvhether the actual
perpetrator was the one arrested, nor whether the arrest ul-
timately led to conviction. The fFolice.did somewbat better
in the case of violent crimes, achieving a clearance rate
of 44 percent. Y<t even thdt arrest rate means that a sutb-
stantial majority of viclent crimes went uansoclved.

On television, by contrast, even combiniag the suc-
cessful perpetrators of sericus crimes with those vhose
fates vere not resolved produced only one in six who escaped
punishment. The results for violent crimipals were virtual-
iy identical. Of course it is bardly surprising tbat 1V
scripts punish the gerpetrators of wviolent amd evil deeds.
We note only that the sSelf- Llpased principle that crime must
not pay during prise time b:ans the sc:iptlrite:s into ¢on-
flict with real life. ..

LIRS
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5. LA) EEPOBCRES = A BRQRIAE

A total of 373 law esforcuocrs appeared in the prograss e
viewed. Lav eRforcers could be seza regularly oo tbree aet-
works and both comedies and dramas. Slightly overp halt, of
all lav enforxcers, S4%, appeared on BBC, 27 perce on ABC,

" and the ramaining 19 percent os CBS. 2u overwhbelming major-
ity, 81 perceat, appeared oan advestures or dramss such as
wgagnum, P.I." and "Hill Streat Blues,™ while 19 fercent
vere on cosedies such as ® Bamey 8iller¥ and “SThree'g Cca~
pany.”® * )

These guardiams of justice were not solely confined to////’//,

typical cops and robbers Skows. Thirty~-five percent ap-
pearea on series whcse sajor characters were ot poli or
private eyes. . Law enforvers ware spread about evenly among
the three ®a jor types of characters. Thicty fcent were
series stars, such as police captaiun Pramk Qurillo of "Hill
Street Blues,” and private eye Thoras Magaui, tfros the show

of the saae name. minor continuing characters, such as the .

police chief om "Lobo," constiiuteéd %! parcent of the sam-
ple. FPinally, 29 percent-wide only a single appearance.
Such characters include district attorney ~n "Nero Wolte"
and a police seryeant on "The Greatest American Hero."™

Television's protectors of law and order coapriced a
varied collection of occupatiomal groups, as table 14 shows.
The single largest group, 71 percent, wers reprusanted by
warious ranks of police, from the captain oa "Baos™ to the
patrol officers of "Chips." Lavyers, such as public defender
Joyce Davenport of ®Hill Street Blues,” wade up 17 pexient
of the sample. Seven perceft vere private investigators
such as the title character of "Nero @olfa.® Pour perceat
of all lav enforcers vere govegnment agents, such as f.B.l.
agent Bill Maxwell on YThe Greatest Americas Hero." The re-
saining one percent were included in a residual category
represented‘by such professions as security gusrds.

Rost private eyes, 69 vercent, vere series stars, whi-
le 4 smajority of bcth lavyers and goverrment ageats made
only a4 single appearance. When pclice appeared, they were
rost likely to be ainpr series regulars, (49.percent), vhile
29 percent were stars and 22 percent ssde. 4.s5ipgle agpear-
aANce ,

lav enforcers on television were predominately vhite
males in the prime of life. Bighty-mine percent wvere male
and near’'y as many, 85 percent, were wvhite.. The remaining
1% percent vere - black. Mo other oaon-vbite grougs were

O
.
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tepresented, Sizty-thrtew peccent were betueen the aqes of
30 end 50, while the-rest were about equally divided hetween

those under JO0 and those over 50. -
ot "

° Must lawv enforcers were ope dimensicnal characters
vhose roles revclved around gett ing their jok dome. 1Ivwo out
ot three vere shown encaging iun furely occugational tasks.
By contrast, only six percent vere featuied ipn a personal
fole, aad 27 percent combined elemants of their work and
personal lives. Some shovs did presfent the privete lives of
lav enforcers. Por exaasple, in an episode of “Soap,™ a pol-
ice otficer and his girlfriedd argued about the seriouspess
of their relationship (3/168). But such cases were rare.
Vieyers vere much more kikely to see private detective "lero
wolfe” solviny a crime or police captain “Barpey MAillerx®
juggling the prublems of feilow ¢fficers aad New TYork City
resideats. Stars, vhose characterizations have the best
chance to be well developed on 1TV, vere sore likely to inp-
volve thesselves in waried activities than other types ct
charactecs. They vere s&bhout twice as iikely to engage in
paetsonal activities or to Jcabine cccupational and personal
tasks as weite .minor requldrs .r single appearance charac-
ters. Private eyes, the group most iikely to be statrs, also
had the greatest chance at a more well-rouanded role. Thus,
private eye UDan Tanna of "Veqgas® stalked the surder . of a
vosan to whoa he had 4 deep personal attachment (4/1}.

.

In yuneral, hovever, strictly lav related activities
cop.med the most time of all characters.. Perhaps this is
wby the audieace received very littie inforsation or their
economic status. Eighty-niue percent of all law enfozcers
vare of unknown economic status. Three perceat were veal-
thy, eiyht percent msiddle class and none were waorking class
or poor. '

-~

6.  PLOT FUBCTIONS

The aost crucial asgect of the lav enforcer's role deals
with the general nature of his function. Were lawy enfcrcers
the dedicated protectors of justice and ordar, or vere they
themselves lavhreakers? Did tbey possess the skills to e«e-
cute their jobs properly, or did crises go unsolved due to
their locompetence?

In gewseral, law enforcers fared well, although they
wete somewhat tainted by incompatence or even illegal Lebhav-
ior. Tabple 19 showuws that 54 percent wvere portrayed posi-
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tivaly, 28 percent aegatively, and 18 percamt played neutral
roles. Representative of the positively portrayed lav en-
forcers was Sheriff Llobo, from the show of the sase Dame.
In one segment he worked out a plas to capture ' baak tobbers
who had taken a group of customers as hostages (/7). By
contrast, 4 sheriff of less nodole motives, 'Titus Simple ct
wylamingo 8ocad," was involved im blackmailing and bribery
{4/2). Typical of the neutral lLaw enforcers was an attoraoey .
on "Nero Wolfe"™ who briefly discussed a case with the series
star (3/6). : .

slthough this gencral picture of law enforcers held
true on both comadies and dramas, there were differemces c»
the three bmtworks, indicated by table 16. Those om ABC and
NE: were positive a sajority ot the time (62 percent. aand 56
peccent, respectively), but on CBS, negative law enforcers
slightly outnusbered (ositive omes (39 parceat 3o 37 per-
cent). ABC piinted a somewhat rosier picture than the other
two networks, castiag only 15 pescent of its lavw enforcers
as bad guys.

dany other characteristics were involved in the pok-
trayal of a character's glot fuction. For example, as ta—
ble 17 shows, stars fared much better than other types cf
characters. An overwhelming ®majority of stars (80 perceat)
vere positive, coapacred to a ‘slight majority of 50 perceat
for minor series regulats and a mere 32 percent for those
eaking yuest shats. These single appeardnce charactexs
faged worst of all. Thirty-eighis [prcent ‘of them were shown
as bad quys. Minor continuing characters vere close behind
with a 3! percent negative rating. In <cobtrast, obnly 14
perceat of stars vere cast as tad guys.

/ »

Among the majoricy of stacs vwho made 2 brave showving
vore police officers Baker and popcherello of ®“Chifs," who
tried to protect a man froa the threats of his deranged ene-
ay (4/5) . Minor regulars, who were also usuvally positive,
included a police detective on "Hill Street Blues™ who went
undercover in 'an attespt to capture a drug dealer (3/21). °
Amang single appearance characters, vho did not tare 350
well, wes a gruff police detective on upifferent Strokes®
who arrested an ingocent woman on thett charges (4s1) -

Younger and Danvhite lawv enforcers also fared tettetl
than othears. ¥e see trom table 18 that 68 fercent of those
under 310 were portrajyjed positiwely, compared to 53 percent
tor those aged - 30 to 50 and 40 perceat for those over 50.
Those 1a the older age groups vere about three times as
likely to pe bad guys das vere the jyoung law entcrcers.

a
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Thus, a policedetective apptzxchinq retirement on "Hill
Street Blues,™ helped cover-up 4 politician's involvenment in
a yoang girl's murder (3/21).

.~ Amony‘'nonwhite law enforcers, as table 19 shows, 64
percent of portrayals were positive, compared to 52 percent

‘ among . whites, Even ®pore stciking, whites were =mare than
tvice a8 likely to be portrayed negatively (31 vs. 13 per-
cent.) » : '

LY

. Some types of law enforcers also made a better showing

,than others. The differences are shoun in table 20.,' Pri-
vate eyes far outstripped all other groups in theis positive
image. Ninety-three percent of these one-man Juardians of
justice were shown favorably, and not a single character was

-« a bad gquye. The remalning sevep percent played neutral
roles., Otbervise they were a varied lot. ASong their ranks
«#¥25 the pdrtly "Nero Wolfe,™ young and stylish Dam Tanna cf
"VYoyds'™ and tough Thomwas Magnum from "Magnuam, F.I." .

A -

Police were 'thé next most *favorable portrayed q:gup.

A slight majority oi 53 percent played positive roles, 30

. .percent vere negative and 17 percent w~utral. Tyrical cf
positiye images,of poiice was Dan Tanna‘'s friend, the dedi-

. cated Lieutenant Ddre Nelson of "vegas.®™ Negative pclice
\ were more likely tolreseable a vicious and corrupt captain
on "B.J. and the Bear," (vho dccepted bribes and was .involved

in druyg deals (4/14, 3/24). ) ’

lavyers fared somevhat less wvell than fpoliceaem, alt-
hopgh a pPplurality was portrayed in a favorable light. For-
)4egou: percent received positive portrayals, 31 percent
vere shown as negative, apnd the remaining 25 perceat played
~ neutral roles. They ranged from admirable chagacters like
Joyce Davenport, the tireless .jputlic defender (and Cagptain
Furillo's love interest) on "Hill Street Blues," to shysters
and worse. In fact several ended up on the wrong wside of
tha law, like a ldwyer on "Nero kolfe" vho was resgons le

for a murder (4/17). ' '

Government agents were the only major group \with as
many Negative or positive portrgyals, 4C Fa:cegﬁy op each
side of the ledger. Even the good guys vere rare¢ly of .the

+sSquare javed heroic vﬁriety; aore repcgsentative"uas Bidd
Maxwell of "The Greatest American Hero," a‘conpﬁtent but un-
polished P.B.I. agent. This group was just as likely to ip-’
clude an incompetent C.I.i. agent vho was toc comcerned with
agency red tape.yta mnotice the clues to a kidnapping
("Greatest American Hero - 4/8). [

e - \
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The portraits of \these lav eafarcers become more re-
, Yealing vhen ve examine the particular types oY positive and
““negative functions that ‘they performed. tav entorcers vere
more likely to be positivé than negative, but when they did
err, their transgressions were fairly serjous, as table 21
.illustrates. Tvent y-nine percedt of the bad guys committed
-illejal acts, and an ejual nuaber were professionally in-
- competent. Eighteea percent ware foolish, an equal,nuamber
vere groedy, and the cemaiaing six percent were malevolent.

5

Boreover, 45 table 22 reweals, the different types of
lav enforcers were guilty of quite different patterms-of n
gative behavior. Lavyers vho erred were most likely to be
greedy (40 percent) and least, likely to be professionally
incompetent (10 percent). . Ib contrast, police usually coa-
sitted a crime themselves (33 porceat) or»failed to perfora
their jobs competently (32 percent). Half the bad govezn-
ment ageonts vere diocompetent, and a third wvere greedy.
Among lav enforcers vwho turned to crimé vas a police serg-
eant on "Bnos" who dealt im drugs (4/15). Ikcompetence was .
demonstrated by a police officer cn "The White Shadow® sho
beat up an unarsed suspect while arresting his (3/2). Ia
another demonstration of occupational incompetence, an offi-
cer on "Hill Street Blues" exacerbated an argument betveen
tvo mea involved in a fender-bender by losing bis own teaper
{(4/4) . We gue from table 23 that positive lav enforcers
vere a more anifora lot. Two- thirds of theam (65 percent)
demonstrated professional coapetence, 27 percent were
friendly or helpfuly and only eight perceat went beyond the
call of duty. ¢ .

o

The critical differences among the types . of positive:
acts performed vere accounted for by the different types of
characters and occupatiaons. Pirst, as table 28 indicataes,
stars were most likely to be competent or heroic. Seventy-
tvo percent of stars vho vere postiviely portrayed perforgrd
their jobs well. coampared to 65 percent of asinor series se-
gulars and 54 perceot of those making'a guest appearaugk.
Both wminors ind guests vere more likely to be merely friegd-
ly than were stars. Pifteen percent of these stars ¥ oo
formed some heroic deed compared to only one percent of pi-
not reguylars and three percent of single appearapce
characters, Overall, stars were responsible for 87 percent
of heroic acts pecrformed by lawv eaforcers. Adong tbese Ke-
Loes was police captain Prank Furillo aof WHjill Street
BlueS,"™ vho naot only negotjated to save a group of hostages
from sure death, but used his personal time and connectinas

"to have a misguided juvenjle placed jn a private rehabilita-
tias center (4,21). In another heroic deed, police Cdptein
Barney fii'ler refused to divualge the identity of an infer-
Bant and vent to jail to preserve the credibility of his de-
partment (3/19).

J%
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Uf lavyers who were positive, half were ftiendly and
half were cospetsnt. Eighty-three percent of 9q;sxnlent
agents were competent and 17 -percent (only one case) “heroic.
Asoag police, about two-thirds wver® competent, 27 percent
fri ndly and eight percent hercic. Private eyes were mostly

etent, 82 percent, with 11 [ferceat friendly and sevea
pe ent heroic. )

Pivnally, table 25 combimes al) the various positive
end negative functioss. into a single cosparison ~to provide
an overview of how law enforcement is portrayed on ptime-
time television, The most freguent portrayal was oae of
sieple c,lpetenca. Over one in three characters who entorce
e lav vere shown dcing their ‘jobs adeguately, if not her-

< oicaily. Por that is the flip side of television's emphasis
on the compotent cop (or other law eaforcer)., only four
percent, or one in tventy-five, acted beyond the cadll of
duty. In fact, for every lav enforcer .who pertorsed heroi-
cally,- two perforsed 1ncolpetcnt11 and amother two actually
*broke the lav theaselves. - Incoapetence and illegal activity
each accounted for one characterization i¥ twelve among lavw
enforcement characters. To be sure, bhoth categories were
outweighed by competent characters, as well as those who be-
haved in a friendly or otherwise sympathetic fashion. As we
noted earlier,. positive portrayals far outwveighed negativ:
ones. But equally actevorthy was, the dearth of herces among
a qroup vhose occypations make thel prime candidates for any
numbag of heroic sceparios.

, L]

17.  BENDING 2HE RULES . :

_Beyond simple fplot functioa, we examined other asgects of
‘the way law enforcers pecfozmed their duties. e were in-
terested in characters vwhr bend the rules to get the job~
done. The unorthodox dr .nder of justice who rarely does
things according tn "the book" is a stock eatertaimment dev-
ice. Such characters conform to the spirit put not the let-
ter of the lav, and thefg cften have to fight the system in
order to makée it work. is tradition is at least as cld .as
sherlock Holmes and as contemporary s "B~retta® and "Ko-
jak.® So we analyzed current portrayals of law entcrcers
with this time-honored theme in ®ind. Specifically, in ug-
holding both the law asd principles of justiceY do law en-
forcers themselves "tend the rules"™ in the greater fpursuit
of Justice? If sa, how far do they bend the rules aad how
does this affect thexr portrayal ou television?

LT
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We found thet/ 4 relatively ssall ‘part of the sasple,
only eight percent, bent the rules for any reason vhile re-
maining on the side of the angels. On the light side, such

+ behavior inélvded two "Hill Street Bluvs™ police officers
\4ho appropriated for their barbecue a bullet-ridden side of
beef that was to be used as evidence (4/21). an the sape

' series, a dedicated police detective becane owerly epthusi-

astic during an interrogstion and kit the ankle of an assai-
lant. He vas qlickly leltured by his superior, Prang FPuril-
lo,, on preserving criminals! rights, and he promised not to
re&eat~such behavior (3/28). -
w
Among other uncrthodox law enfotcers, rivate eye Dan

Tanna of “"Vegas" searched a hotel rcom to find informaticsn

on a wmurdeger (4/1). P.B.1. wman Bill Maxwell, of "The

Greatest American Hero," ..was an accessory to ‘' "borrowing®

P.B.1. filesgconcerning a case he in whith bhe was entwiped

(4/8). - ’ ) T

i -
ar ’ . ]

In 4 more serious vein, sheriff Bufford Pusser froam

the short-lived series "Walkiag Tall,™ burst into a, building

vithout a warrant and destroxed the equipment for < a drug-

making operutﬁen (3731). FRE . :
-
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Those whd did bend the riles were most likely to be
stqrs, (47 percent) and the ¢&wo groups of series regulars
together constituted 87 percent of the rubbending. Inter-
estinqgly, these rule benders fared somewhat ° better as a
group than those who walked a straight line. 0f those who
bent the ‘rules, 64 percent were pdrtrayed fositively coa-
pared to a 56 percent positive rating for those who went by
the book. Governmeat agents wore sore-than twice as likely
as any other occupational group to bend\ the rules; tventy
percent did so. But this total was lar Yy accocunted for by
the repeated escapades of Bill Marwell, be not-su~tygpical
P.b.l. mdn oo "The Greatest Americap Hero.

‘ b .

18.  SOLVING CRINBS

&

We usually think of crime solving as the chiet business cf .

lavw enforcers., Pursuing criminals rather thap tending to
more mundane activities cecrtaimly nmakes for wmore cxciting
television. ‘Surprisingly. though, almost half of all law
enforcers (49 percent) vere pot iavolved in crime solving
activity, even 4if they performed other tasks related to
their jobs. Tuenty percent were primary agents in solving
crises, and- 1] perceat lent seconday assistance in this en-
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deavor. tighteen percent of \thcse -inmvolved in (trackirg
- criminals failad to Bolve crLimes P ’ ’ LR

»
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! lavolvesent in crime-solving iatled conslderibly asong
the diffetents types of characters. Porty-nine ercent cf
all stars were primary“agents in solviag crines compared to
. _ only five percent amoag aminor regulars and 11 percent of
' those making guest appearances.’ Oply five percent of stars
- failed at solving' crimes, compared to 28 percent of ainor ’
series regulars and 22 percpat for duest characters. ' . .

- : !

A character's fole in crime solving vas closely liaoked
‘vith his overall -functiods Table 26 showg that 98 fercent §
of the primary crime solving agente were positively por- ‘-
‘trayed, ‘as ware 84 percent of' seccndary agents. In comn-
) trast, only 38 percent of those aot ibvolved in crime golv- -
.ing were shown as 2081t4lﬂ. as vete oaly 27 percent of those .
' wvho were involved in iaovestigations, , but did~not'solge the ;
. " crise. alportz-nin. percent of thgse 40 Jast group wele shovn
? in 4 nedative light. Sy, - . ' N
. - B 4 p _ e
. ’I- \ v
pexterity in sclving crimses was also related to.a lav
enforcer's occupation, as table 21 indicates. The key tind-
ing re ‘vas higk success, rate »of private eyes relative
_to al ther groupss Sixty-tvo percent of the private eyes _ .
vere portrayed as catqghing the bad quy. thgmselves, a fuccess
. rate over three timeg8 as high as that enjoyed by any cther
group, By coatrast, only 19vpercent qf policemen functioned 4
as primary crige salvers. . ' ‘ N\

L] - .

Thugy the roles' cf private eyes like Dan Tanna, Thomas.
‘Nagnum and Nero Solfe usually focused on crirme lvin -
Even when other law enforcers  assisted thes, these» jrivate

. eyes ineii;cb;y ended up in the Sherlock H0&=:8 role.as mas-
v

ter crime iver, while their coapanions e relegated to
c oy the role of second 'rate Doctor Watsoms., . T
. . , R &
The privileged position of private eycs belped mask Py,
«m0st lav enforcers' tendeancy toward failure as xrime spl-- |
ver Every other group actpally failed to get their fan .

sore.otten than they succeeded as primary, crise solvers.® Ey
contrast, private eyes proved almpst ingapable of failure in
catching criminals; the seven percent who did so paled in L
comparison to the 62 percant wvho vere primary agents in \.
solving crimes. The unexpectedly high failure rate of amost

law enforcers, combined with the fantastic success ot pri- .
vate eyes, is one of the most striking findings of the stu-

dy. Once aqgain it is the outsider, the aan in the trench-

ey
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the involvement in crime-solving, along with a host of other .
factors, affected tiWe ,vay characters fared in the plot reso-
*  lution, The results.are shown in Table 28. WMot surprising- - «
" ly, 95 parcent-of‘the primary crime solvers and 87, percent
t of the gecondary oues were ultimatel) successful comupared to ,
only about a third of those who were either pot inovolved in
crime-solving or those who wvere involved, but did not solve
. a crime themselves., The latter grcups were defeated 32 per- s
g “Cent and 48 percent of the time, respectively.

[3
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. Overall, * law enforceérs yeré successful 58 percent cf '
che time and defeated 21 peccent of the time. Tuwo percent .
undervent a chatacter change and 19 percent had an unre- €§>
golvad outcoge. % : - '
- W \; . “~ ., ‘c.

- t L
t surprisingly, stars, vwho ve:é more likely tc"be
positi and primary crime solvers, were aldo the most suc-
© celigtigl. 4s table 29 indicates, 76 percemt of all stars
‘were successful, comfpared to 59 perent of minor regulars and
only 31 perceat of those.zho made a single appearance. This
last group was the only one wmcre -likely to be defeated than
to succeed. Thirty-seven percent of these guest chiracters —
vere defeated, cospared to 2§ percent of minor requlars and
only five percedt of stars. Anong the success'.ul stars was
theriff Lobo,who captured .bank rcbbers: and rescued those
they had. hedd hostage (4/7). Likewise, a police detective,
who played/a ‘minor continuing role on "Hill Street Blues,"
succeeded in capturing a drug dealer (4/4). But among single
appearyffce \lav enforcers, a police sarggdant on- JEnos*’who
dealt drugs, was himself captured by gfﬁai Fojikce (4/15).

e v M ‘ .
Overall, _success was enjoyed by positile portrayed
law enforcers, .while evil or foolish ongﬁ‘ re deteated.
Eighty~-five percent * of positiwe character wele successful
and only four percent were defeated, The remainder uas-unjy v
resol . In contrast, 99 percen& of the bpd guys failed
and only ten\perceat succeedyd. . :
. '\\ L4

Differenc:s in outcome werepalso evident among various
occupations, as table 30 reveald( Private eyes received the
lion's share ot success yitg.a 400 percent guccess rating in

. . .
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plot resolutioan. This dininished to 59 perceat for fpolice,

~ 34 percent for,1 yers and 33 peicent for goverbmeat agents. .
‘ This last gro % vas deteated twlce a5 often as it succeaded,

P wvhile police and lavyers vere each defeated about 20 pecent -

© » ,of thertime. ‘'Typical pt'privz;e iovegstigators was Dan Tan-
. na, vho miraculously captured surderer, evep though bhe was

) tesporarily blinded (3/18). ‘Ibo contrpsy, a police detective

' on."Hill Street Blues® igynored all of his other respopsibil-

<ities ause he wanted to set up a laupdcagat on the side.
.7~ « 'But~bis Wopes and financial ibvestment vere’ disgolved dben
Y . the property he purchased for bis business wvas destroyed

(3/2%) . . And, of course, he most eqregious of bad guys, like
a drug ddaling cop cn "Enos," got a taste of the lawv and
order he faidéd to uphold (4/15) « .
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- *  ‘Yhus'far ve bhave dealt daly vith chaéactets sho vere lav en-
forcers by profession. But on television, citizens play am
LI active role ip cris lving. Here we shall document their
b] . role and. exanine heli. thase citizens.celate to lav enforcers
in the fight agdilist crime. i } .
) T et . '}, ".
L] L ] - . ° -
¢ : A.total of 37 citizens took some active part in crise
f .50 ng in gpé‘series ve coded. ,They atcounted ‘for ggst un-
- « der fen percent of all characters involved in law force~
sent Many did so because the crimes somehov affected then
or their acquaintances. Por example, w®illiomraire\Joihathan
‘ Hart of _"Hart to Hart® cracked a counterfeiting - ring that
vas operating en a ship be owned (U/14). .

- ! . T 3 : .
Relative to the lastenforcement professionals, "citiz-
. ens vere ‘more likely to be stars. Eighty-cne fpercent of
. thgm were serias stars like Jgnatban aand Jennifer Hart cr
the hell-rdising Duke tLoys on "The/ﬁﬁigé ~9f Hazard."
Among professiogal lav enforc s « private.®eyes/ivere mogt
. likely to be stars (?9 percent). v f ¢

» . ’.O ‘ ‘

er law enforcement charatterss In fact, "all citizens in-
+ volved in solfing crises were shown positively. The most

positively portrayed law enforcers were private eyes, anoth-
er group off “outsiders," at 93 percent. But from there it
is quite i;?(ltop to the 53 percent positive  rating for pol-
ice. . .

T e
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Citizens vere also more positively po;ttayed than oth-j} :

14
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¢ dhirty percent of citizens bent the rules, a higher
proportion than any yroup ol law ehforcers. But this did

not tarnish their positive mage at all. Thus, a high
school teacher, vho led a double life as "The Greatest Amer-
ican Hero," "flew" into the F.B.I. ,to "borrow"™ tfiles oo &
top-secret case (U/8). . Hero Jopathan Hart broke iato an
1patt|ent to find inforsation oo a murderer (3/17).- .

Purther, citizuns were more likely - to be the prismary
crime solvers than any gtoup of law enforcers. Sixty-eight
vere priaary crise solvers, as werc 82 percent of swgrivate

" eyes. Yet only 20 perceat of police and 1% percent of goc-

.vernaent agents were the primary sclvers. ; .
‘., L] . -
Not surprisingly, almost. gll citizens, 97 percent,
vere successful in their endeavor, Only PI's enjoyed a

slightly hiyher suceess rate of' )00 percent in plot resélu- .

tions.~_This was quite a contrast to the next highest rating
of 59 pektent success for police. Thus, “citizen® Jonathan
Hart captured 4 murderer (3/24), [and broke-up a counterfeit-
in}y ring (4/14), while "The Greatest American Hero” saved a
ydung couple trom the clutches of Soviet spies(4/8).

.
] ¢
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<1. SUMAARY. AND COBCLUSION
In aur stuay of 263 rrime-time programs fros the 1980-81 te~

levision seasor, ve examined tbe nature of crime and lav en-

characteristics |of cripinals, and the portrayal of env
forcement officials, op/ these prograss. !

®

forceaent. Acontent apalysis system was employ#d to ana-
‘lyze the tyges of illegal behavior shoun,::y the

frime-time television creates a fa%tasy world that is
frequent 1y dangerwus and violent. OQur study identified 417
illegal acts, an averade of about 1.7 crimes fer serios epi-
sode. Moreover lawbreakers on television tended to engage
in the most serious and violent crimes, to an extent that
bears /little relation to reality. Every fourth crime showun
¥as aurder; one crime in six was a violent theft. Overall,

.4 mafjority of all illegal acts portrayed were criles of vio-

legte. .

»

ing that most crimes are such ®undane offenses as drunk
driviny, larceny, didorderly conduct, and drug abdse. Even
serious crime in reuwl life tends to be directed against

All this is in{;yarp contrast to PBI statistics shaow-

L
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\ those syorn to uphold the lav.
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property rather than persons. ' But television entecrtainment
largely ignores most as ._ts of real crime in America, tc-
cusibg instead omn the wmost serious, violent, and 1life-
threateming offenses. By seasationalizing 'crime in this
“ay, TV misses an opportunity to educate the audience about
the true dimensions of America's crime probles, which the
public views with growing alars aand frustration.

. -
—

If prime-time ctime bears little relation’ to the gen:

'uine article, L . .

feal life counterpafts. Televisjon int.oduces the yiewer to
two types of crimidals ~ ~ the professional deviant who lives
a life of crime,- and the apparent pillar lof the comdunity
vho turns to crime to saintain ot better his standard of

televisiont's cri;:ials “are equally far removed from their
P

living. 'Criminals on prime-time are usually middle or upper,
.class white lalegh over age 0. As "pature" adults, they
pal

rarely®act op impdlse. Instead their ‘lawbreakin'g is care-
fully calculated to advance their cwn interest. ’

The rvast majority of televised crime-is predicated cn
pure greed, and wealthy characters were over twice asylikely
to cohmit crises than those identified as poor or aiddle
class., dAlong these lines, a stock criminal type is the bu-
sinessman shose selfish pursuit of protit leads hias into
illegal activity. Buuimsn&and "their upderlings acccunt

kers with identifiable occupa-
tionms. They constitute the ‘largest crimihal +jroup aside
fros professional gangsters. ' But  _substantial nombérs of'
criminals are drawn from other pillars of "the community, in-
cluding educated professionals and the police themselves. Iu
factd” one criuinal in .eigMt was drawn frcm the ranks of .

This portrait of crime and-criminals is perhaps most
notable for what it fails to ‘shqw abhout the crime problen
that - ay pxeoccupies the American fpublic. e rarely see
the juVenile delinguen: or the youth gang. NOrL are we ex-
posed to the culture of poverty , that is directly or indi-
rectly respcnsible fdr so®much crime. Similarly, the plack

community's inctaasinq;y ?ubllc concerw with street crime is

rarély in evideace. !
. 5 {

Just as the focus. "on well-to-do  lawbreakers ignores
the relaticnship between poverty and crime, so’'the conceon-
tration on chleulated self-interest bypafﬁes the role cf
other sotivations froa emotional flare-uls to wmeantal ill-"
ness. )
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Pinallysy television's nightl4' streas  of ‘luriet,
sugging, and mayhes obscures the less dramatic but such pore
comson threats to "av-abiding citizens froe Sich unspectacu-
lar sources as drupken driving, drug abuse, and burglary.

. But then, in at least one respect, there‘is no‘crise "prok-
.lea"‘on television. In the S$antasy wopld cf TV entertain-
sent, most lay breakers are thwarted, and crimse is revarded

_. with puoishsent. like oost other aspects of prime~time
crime, this too bears little relation to reality. '

Television's crime stoppers vere the 373 characters we iden-
tified as law, enforcers. Over two-thirds were policg, with
thé resaibder divided amopg private eyes, lawyers, jJudges,

. and .qgoverament agents. An’additional 37 [private citizeans
, perfdreed lav " enforc@sent functious, such 4s capturing a
" crisinal. - . >
.- .

N . . o .

Lav enforcers appeared tsaquently on comedies and dra-
mas alike, on all three networks, in both coutiguing and
single appearance roles. Most vere white males; 15 percent
vere nonvhites, and -cnly 11 perceat were women.

. ' o 4 A ! e '

In gepbral law enforcers wvere portrayed in a positive:
light, althouyh "sugercops® were raraly seemn. rifty-four
percent functioned as good guys, 28 percent as villains, ard
the rest played pneutral roles. The largest nusber, 'abodt
one in three, vere portrayed ag doing their jobs fn a compe-
tent manner. However, vvery few were cast .in a heroic light.
Only four percent went beyond the\ call 'of duty, rather than
just performing competently. - Moreoven, significant sinori-
ties vere portrayed as either inegt or' positively criasinal;
.\ about bne law enforcer in six fedl into these categories.
¢+ ] So law enforcers fared rather in gyeneral, but they vere
X,tainted somewhat by incospete and even illegil bebavior.

\]
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. « A rajor finding was the privileged pogitiog/of .gkivate

investigators gelative tc all other groufs of 1 enforcerse.

. Hinety-three iécceut af priva.~~weyes functiomed as goocd

. guys, conmpated to omly 53 percont of police and fewer than

half the lawyers and goverusent ageéhts. In all the frogframs

ve viewed, not a single private eye played the beavy. , By

contrast, the crooked cop and the greedy lawyer provided re-
curcing negative images of law enfcrcers.-

- ) i »

Private eyes frcved alwost qod:gke in their crire
solvigg abilities, vhile other haw entorcers were often por-
trayed ad" mere mortals. Sixty-tuc fercent of the private
eyes Vere the primary agents 1n,solviq crines, c&lpa[ed to
only 19 percent of pclicemen. In fact every group othqﬁ>than|
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T .. traded hig badge for'a trenchcoat. . s
e 9 _‘///9r/ ///////

. enforcement officials v
« More often than not, they either failed to catch the crock

L v '\108 . . . % :

2 ' ' <
ptivate eyes actually failed to solve crimes mote dtten than
they succeeded, though they sosetines assisgted. others in
sakiny the collar. By conttast. pcivate eyes succeeded al-
sost nime times as ottag 5 they failed. So ordipary law
re. presented as highly tallible.

or played supporting roles for the glasrrous Pprivate eyes.
The "“supercop® is alix€ and vell im prive-time, but he hag

- thé*phenonenal siogess— of private eyes was part of a
broader trend-involving e need for outside help or unor-
thodox ‘seans to enforce the law. In addition to tuat quin-
tessential outsl ¢ the private eje, therpolice often re-
quaired the A of private citizens to foil the bad gquys.
Their asgiafince dfﬂ not take the forsm of providing evidence
or identifying suspects, but of actually solving -the crime
thesselves.” Private citizens actually edged out Erivate
eyes as the most effective group of crime solvers. Pinally,
lav enforcers who bent the rules wexrs over twice as likely
to solve criaes as those who went by the bqok.

A}

In sus. aeither- Dict'Ttacy qo: “Joe rriday ptovided the
sode! -lav enforcer for today's cofs and rubbers shovs. - He
found few square javed "Blue Knights"™ wii0 captured the vil-

#lains’'and comforted the victims.  Hor did television: favor
the metkodical and aundane invegtigative style of "Dragnet's
" dedicated Gops. - In fact, police did mot tare as vell as
one might expect. --' A slight majority were portrayed favora-
bly, but vhen they Jid err, their transgressioms tended to

. be quite serious. Boreover, they rarely played primary

roles in solving crimes. Lavyers and goverameat ageats
fared no better. The glamor hoy of law enforcement was the
private e wvhose Holmesian abilities often consigned the
lav enforcement professionals to the role of Doctor Watson.

L
-

\\ lore broadly, effective lav enforcesent was often the
province of the outsider who bypassed the lawv enforcemant
establishaent. On television,- the police, the government
and the legal professicn are often shown as competent if ug-

~inspired upholders of the law. But th.se lawv enforcesent

professionals oftea need the help c¢f the lone outsider, the
private eye or the citizen-detective, to bring evildoers to
justijce. / .

How can ome account for the "alternative reality™ that
television createas in its gportrayal of crise and law ep-
forcement? We believe it reflects both commercial pressures
and '\ﬁa social values of Hollywood's creative community.

.
L ] -
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This.conclusion i - ‘dravn from the results of our survey of
over 100 top writers, froducers, and indnstry ezecutives.
{Complete results are presented in Appeadix D.) Por exaa-
Ple, nearly three out of five memburs of the "Hollywgod el-
ite™ themselves agree that there is too much violence on te-~
levision. - Moreover, three cut of four +telieve that TV
entertainment “should portray society realistically.

. 7
———— el bee

In this case why do they portray ‘crime ia such a‘vio-

lent apnd unrealistic fashion? Presumably they are cob~ .

strained by audience tastes, ib the ftorm of. Nielsen ratings.
Yet>ratings cannot account for: the entire disparity betveen
real life +rise and television's version. Audiences may
like "shoot~em~ups®, but they are go not aliknated fros the
authorities that are consistently <§9nigrated during grime
time. . ’

3

- . -

*  #hether public faith in authority is justified or mis- .

placed, it is not reflected in TV¥'s portrayal of crime as
the province of busincssSmen, educated professionals, and the
police.: These portrayals instead seem to reflect the orien-
tations of television's creators, who are very skeptical to-
vard our “social anmd political institutioas. Por examgle,
three out”of four say our legal systes favors the wealthy,
and nearly tvo-thirds:-believe that the very strfucture of Am-
erican soriety causes people to become alienated frog it.

They are just as critical of those in positions ot authoci-

ty. Just under two-thirds agree that public officials are
not integested in the average citizen, and 82 percent reject
the motion that those in authority kaov best. Almost half

disagree strongly that ogpe’'should. defer &ta those in authogi-’

ty, and not a siangle person expressed .scrong contidence' in
authority. /

-
Given their widespread rejection of both American so-
cial institutions and their gquardians, one wqyld susgect

that many in the'television elite would like to see sustar-
tial changes im our scciety. In fact, a substantial minori-

ty of 43 percent endorses a complete overhaul “of Aperican .

institutions. In- line with this sentiwent, they-perceive
ousiness leaders ,as one of the mcst influential grolps- in
Auerican society; they would prefer to drof business froms
the top to the middle of the pecking oruer, bhehind consumer
groups, intellectuals, blacks, and feainists. .

e
Qur studies suggest that television's content may re-
flect, in part, the :attitudes of television's creators. But
arten't they siwply gesgonding to the dewmands of the market-
place? We trtound that the Hollyvwood elite dc not regard
[} .

10y
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thaesselves purely as enturtainers, but. as _social refcrpers
.as well. Two out of three dgree that television ‘entertain-
ment should be a major force for sccial reform. At the sane
time, ooly one in eight believe that TV is too critical of
. traditioual vaiuus. In short, television's creators are uct
in it just for the monej. They also s€éek to move their au-

dience towvard their cwn'vicion of the good society.
.
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TABLE 1

Crimes Portrayed on TV Entertainment Prograss

2Ke99epCy |
Murder 101
. HRobbery : 65
Kidnappiag T
Aggravated Assault 35
Bribery 19
Burglary 18
Drug-related 17
Blacksail 14
Fraud;:<» ~ 14
Gasblyng 12
Larceny (theft) 10
Bxtortinn 7
Rape )
Babezzlesent
Auto Theft
vandalisa
Liquor Offenses
Loan Sharkiag
Other N k]
Va 417
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Note: Pe;éeutages in tables may not sua to,

' 100 percent because cf tounding.
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|
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Total Arrests, All €rimes 1980 PBI Statistics. (%)

w

brunk Driving
Larceny
Drunkenness
Disorderly Conduct

aDrug Abuse
Burglary .
Simple Assanlt
Praud
Aygravated Assault
Vandalisa

/  Weapons 0tfduses

Rynavays .
Robbery
Motor Vehicle Thefts
Hape
flurder »
Kidoapping

, Other . s

'
s’

Total
¢less than cne percent

Source:
Crise jo Americy 19890, congil
by the PBI and published by

mmvire o e e TG GUVBL B HE 1515
Unless otherwise noted, this is th

of all FBI crime statistics cited im this report.
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" TABLE-3

SeriQus Crimes on 1981 TV Entertainsent
Prograas ccspared to 1980 Reports (%).

. Murder

" Rape
Kidpapping .
Aggravated Assault
Bobbery
Burylary
Larceany-Theft

Total

Violent Crise
Property Crise

Nt e Wwimd
DO witu tu W oM

-
©
Q
el

88
12

Total. T100%

¢ less than one percent

kd

o, oN
»n NVOEDe e

2l

10

1008

Note: Pigures are percentages of all

PBI crime index, listings; larceny

category includes motor vehicle theft.

b-.__-_-'—-..._—-__—_L-“-——___—-—~;—J

-y

[y
bo.
&

e



. 109
) ' TABLE 4
-’ .
— - i
] ‘ '
! . Crime Rate by Sex Comparison of 1V | s
| Bngectaiulenq'and PBI Arcrest Reports (%) |-
- ':o ’ i .t . :
l. All Crime ~ Violeot Crime |
! > - i
| Sex v 281 v . 281 |
| Male 89 a4y "y 90 90
1 ¢ |
{ FPemale . 11 16 10 10
v ' —_— — — — ‘
i 100% 100% 100% - -100%)
L , }
L4
_‘.’::"'af‘.!f.‘m'l‘-&'hlnlﬂ]_.)hl.ﬁ_ﬁm‘u" T NIV AL 45, g T - “ - [
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) o TABLE S .
' s
‘A‘ ' N
. . A
- | . |
| Crine Rate by Age Group. f
| Cosparison of TV Entertainment i
I . ., and PBI Arrest Reforts (%)- i
I ‘ N B
i ) |
| .all Crime Serious Crize Violent Crime. | , .
A, : i |
I° buB A A 1) S A )} B L I J:} SR
4 Under 18 6 21 « 7 36 8 ‘19 A
- e, | 18-30 18 49 8 , 46 18 .95 1 »
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TABLE ? -

Y

o
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Crime rate distribution by occupatioa on¥ |
TV entertainment prograas (3)

Adl Cpipe Homjcigde

h—-.—.—-.—-——-—-—_n-_‘-'-—d

i
| .
L}
|
{
|
| . .
{ ‘Gangsterss 36 31
i Businessaen® 24 26
| Policey 13 : 6 _
| Professicnals 8 " .
] Blue Collar 5 5
| Other Flunkies S "
i Other 9 190
i . 100 100
| .
| ‘ .
.. _¢ Includes flunkies who were h
{ ordered to commit crimes by
I . bosses id these nccupatidnalf
| categories.- .
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, . TABLE 8 ,
" l'l . - .
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. 5 ' . ; . -
l { |
. Crime Rate by Economic Status {
i on TV Entertainment EFroyraas (%) [
te . I—’ |
. ‘ ] é .. . . . " . ‘
| Status e Al Criags Homicides |
| Poor ' 3 . . ) 0 ]
[} Biddle Class e 4 8
| Wealthy 16 : 20 | o
| Uakhown E 117 . 72 i
_ \ l [ 4 o a—— . r'. ' \———-‘ l
Y 71 100% ' . 100% [
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TABLE 9
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‘Crime Bate by Becidivism oa
the TV Entertainment Programs (1)

Pirst Offeader

Habitual Tftwinal

,Unkhoun

Toal I- 4y

1
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Bate by Hotive on TV Eatertaifmeat Frograes (3)

. b . *

Hotive All Crimes . Jlonicides
Greed 7 75
Personal Vepdetta 6’ * 9
dental Iabalance 3 - 1
Political . 1
Sexual ' . 6, .
Syapathetic 4 . ¢« 2
Accidental 1 2
Unexplained 4 L 4
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TAULE 1
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- Murder Circusstances/Notivos, 1580 FBI Statistics

*

R J
0
-
:.
Eelopy Istal 41.1 N
Robbery . 10.8 |
Narcotics 1.7 i
Sex Offenses 1.5 1
Ot her Pelony ~ 3.7 |
i
Syspected Telogy 6.1 :
Argusent Total 4.7 !
Romantic Triangle 2.3 i
Influence of Alcohol/larcotics' 4.8 |
Property or HNooey 2.6 }
Other Arguments 35.0 1
@ l
¢ % other BMoives or cireqastaces 5.9 i
Ynkgowy L 15.9 !
.f.. 1003 |
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TABLE 12
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r P |
f {
[ Crime Rate by Plot Eesolutiog |
| on TV BEntertainment Programs (X) [
i . . ) i
| _ . AL
: . Al) crises Serioug Crimes Yiclent Cpiges :
| Success 8 .5 N 4 A
J i
| Defeat 68 79 80 |
[} . o . o |
I - . N !
| Character Chg . 4 . 4 4 |
| “ |
i Unresolved 20 12. 12 |
| — - - [
i 100% 1004% 100% i
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i Crimes C ed by Arrest, 1980 PBI Statistics i
1 L :
‘ | . X "
. | Segicus Cxises Yjolept Cripe :
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TABLE 14

Prime 1ime Television Chgracters
with Law Enforceseat Occuﬁjions (%) .

¥ R
i |
- {
|- |
i |
| |
| {
| i
| i
| . (g |
| . Reolice 3 A | |
| . Patrolman % 10 1
l . Sergeant f- 8 [
l Lieutenant | 7 1
| Captain ) . 0 l
i . Detective e 9 i
, i ) Chief 3 i
' | . Deputy Shergiff 8 i
i Sherift 7 i
{ Other 9 {
; I % |
i . | -
i L 16 . |
{ Private Practice 2 i
| Public Intaerest 2 i
| District Attorney {3 i
[ Judge 2 {
[ Qther 7 !
: {
’ |
| Rrivate Jpvestjgators 8 I
i - 1
| v {
} Government Ageants L] |
I
[ |
| Qther J I
{ . —_— |
i |
| )
] Total 1008 |
{ |
1 { '
~ dumber of cases 373 |
i {
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| TABLE 15 |
et | |
| i -
[ . i
| . Plot Functiors of lLaw BEaforcers (3). @ |
| |
» I l
| 70 . |
| |
| 60 548 |
| ——— |
| SO [
- | .
I 4o | o
{ i T X
{ 30 28% | :
{ ——— 18% [
1 20 ——— |
i |
RL I
| . [}
| 0 i
| Positive Negative ~ ~ %eutral A
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TABLE 16

Plot Punctions of Lav Baforcers-by letuJ;£>NQ).- )

-——

h———-—--——-—-h-—------—-‘
v

Network

fupctiop ABC  MBC CBs

Positi‘p 62 56 kY

Negative 1” 30 39

Neutral 21 14 £y
(‘ _ 1005 100% 100%

Nusber of cases 99 203 71
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) : : ' TABLE 17
|
i . Plot Punctionf of lLaw
} . Enforcers by 1ype of kole (%).
Y TR .
]
icle
\ ' Bipor sipgle
Star Begulaz ARpearapce
Positive 80 8§ S 2
?lgatile SR -31 38

,v
'

B e She e wm GEs S Sur QUL GEn SEe Spe e A Se G Bon SR axtn e Se

)
Wusber of cases 112 152 .109

seutral 6 18 30
100% 1008 . 100%
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| J'~TABLE 18 |
| |
[ |
i . |
| ¢ Plot Punctions of Lav 1
[ Enforcers by Age (%). i
| |
| ' |
: Age Group ‘l
i |
: £uaction Ynder 30 39-30 Ovep 30 :
] . : |
| Positive 68 53 40 |
| |
i |
[ Begative 13 31 34 |
| g | i
| ¥eutral 19 16 26 |
| ———— ———— |
i 100% 100% 100% |
| i
| . |
§ Number of casesg 74 !
| |

v
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TABLE 19

e
e

e

Plot runctiongéoi Lav Enforcers by Race (X).

Ragce
Rupction . Mbite dopubite

positive 52 . 68 .
S

Negative ) ' n 13

Neutral ‘ / 1 23

1008 ~100%
¥usber of cases 318 55
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"TABL: 20

Plot Punctions of Law Eaforcers by Gccupation (%) .
P

*

Occypation .

r
‘

i

{

|

(

i

(

!

[

:

( Pynctjon Police . - Lawyer

| . Positive 53 44

: )

i Negative 30 31

}

‘ ..

1 NReutral 17. *25

{ ———— ’ ———

| 1001 100% -

{

l : R . { ’

| Huaber of cases - 263 64

| ¢ . '

]

| . .

i Priwte s GOvernmept

{ Investigato N.q__ens .
{ |
| . . [
| Positive %3 . 40 |
{ ]
| M 1
| ¥egdtive ‘ 0 40 |
{ . [
t * ’ i
| deutral 7 20 [}
| ————— ——— |
| . 100% 100% i
| {
f )
i Nuaber of casas 29 15 |
i }
L ]

3I5-HO97 0 - 84 -~ g
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TABLE 21

.

Types of Negative Functioas
Performed by Lawv BEnforcers (%).

) . N\
~-

S L
298 4

18% 18%

6%
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i TABLE 22 {
{ |
: | !
{ Type of Negative Behavior by Gccupation (%). |
A4 ' _ - |
| i
! 9ccapation !
[ - l -
. Govergaept
LY «
| Bebavjor : Bojize - hayrer - Agept [ S
- Illegal 33 20 17 |
| : | '
{ . ) b
{ Malevolent . 4 1= 0 [
i |
[ - |
[ -Poolish 19 15 0 ]
' g v ) '
| - !
| Greedy - 12 40 13 |
[y l . ‘
| . |
| Incompetent 32 10 50 {
1 — - . ] -
| 1608 1008 "~ 100% |
| - l.
- ’ - . ® |
| Numbar of cases 38 - 20 6 |
[ l,
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{ TABLE 24
|
: - * Ll
{ iype of Positive Behavilot by Bole in a Series (%).
i .
l LT :
‘l P ole
|
' Bisog
L
Star Asgylag Apne
Competent . 72 . 6f 1
Friendly 13 ‘J 34 {6
" Heroic . 15 1 3
100% 1008 1003
Humber of cases 89 77 35
-
& A
- Ny
X | \ ¢
[ 4
¢ {
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. X . »  TABLE 25 . . :
. \ { -
| ¢ \ R J
| |
| ' |
| All Puactions Perforsed by law Banforcers (%) ]
1 l
| |
: e Regcsat : .
' rrfendl.y . 14 N
- | Coapateat 34 |
A | Heroig 4 . { 4
.1 Megstive ' : o
| Illegal _ 8 «] { =
{ Halevolent - 2 |
| Greedy 5 i
{ Poolich 5 (]
i Incompetenpt 8 ]
| Reusral ‘ 29 {
*1 : 1008 |
{ ' } J
‘-
L}
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| TABLE 26 I ‘
| . : o |
' :
‘ . .
| Ccime Solving Activity by Plot Functioa (%) . ]
| : l
| |
: Rele in Solvipg Crige . :
| . |
: Rupctioa Solvee .Hﬂu_et Iaile Lumum :
1
i - Pomsitive 98 a8 a7 38 |
| [
| . : |
] ¥egative 1 " 49 35 |
{ . _ |
| i
[ Neutral 1 2 24 37 [
l . |
. 1 . 100% 1003 1004 1008 ]
l 1
/ ' i
| ¥umber of cases 75 49 66 183 i
| . |
]
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TABLE 27

Crime Solving Activity by Occupation (%). .

Role in
Selving Cpise Bolice
Solves .. 19
\
Assists ) 14
Pails 21
]
Not Involved 46
T
Nusber of Cases 263
Private
Solves
Assists 28
Pails . 7
Not Involved 3
“700%
Nusbec of Cases 29

Gccupation

4

Soverpmept

Jayestigator  Agept
62 - 20

14
33

33

“Yoox

15

]

-
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v
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TABLE 248

-

Crime Solving Activity by Plot Besolution (%).

¥ Al
| i
| |
| i
| |
i i
l |
| |
| ’ |
1o Bolo ip Selving Crime :
i .
i - | .
| i !
| . - dot $
[ gesolutjon Sglve Assjst Fajl: Ipvolved |
| " Success 95 87 I 34 |
{ _ |
[ . ' |
. { Defeat ] 2 44 32 i
; i | ¥
i : |
) . Chare Chge 0 2 K 2 |
{ i
i i
§ Unresolved 5 9 13 32 i
i : i
| {
{ ———— - i
1 100¢% 10012 100% . 100% §
| )
| £ |
i Number of Cases 73 47 4y 122 }
L | J
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TABLE 29

-

Plot Resolutign by Charactexr!s Role in a Series (X).

Bole in Solvwing CEipe

Bjpor Sipgle
Begolutjon sStar Reqular Appeagance
76 59

success i
Defeat 5 25 37 °
Char. Chge 1 3 )
* - -

Unresolved 18 13 - 28

~“J00% Yoo Yo0%

4

Nuaber of Cases 73 47 122
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TABLE 10
3 .

¢ Plot Resolution by Occupation ().

-

Begolutj Bolic £ ] HY usg.t
108 e ‘dovestigatog

Success . 59 34 100 3

A

Defeat 22 20 0 67
Char. Chge 3 ] 0 0
Goresolved 16 42 0 0
. 1003 008 100% ~100%
#umber of Cases 195 50 28 12
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Appendiz 4
" ’ CRIAB ABD CRINIVALS

The folloving prograss were coded for crise and ¢riminals:

ABC ’
Hart to Hart April 8;-'81 Bensch
Macch 3,'81 April 15,181 Bacch 13,'9
Narch 10,'81 Sept. 10,'81
Macch 24,'81 Dynasty
Apcil 14,8} 240-Robect Barch 9,1u1 : 7
April 21,8 - Narch 21,'81 .
Faotasy Island
vegas Soap - Match 28,481 '
8arch 4,'81 Bateh 9, 081 April 18,'81
darch 11,'81 Racrch 16,9481
Macch 18,'81 dpril 20,81 Barney HMiller X
, Barch 25,'81 Racch 12,81
April 1,'89 Taxi ; Narch 19,81
Apeil 15,'81 April 16,'81 / Harch 26,'81
/ April 2,481
The Greatest I's a Big Girl do April 16,81
Aserican Hero April 10,'81
Rarch 13,'81 Mork and Hindy
Threa's Cosgany/ April 15,181
April Ve,08¥%
MBC a -~
Pacts of Lite Walking Tall BJ and the Bear
April 15,;81 Rarch 24,81 facch 10,81
Rarch 31,181 facch 17,81 "/
Sheriff Loba April 7,81 . Ratch 24,81
Narch 3,181 darch 31,'81
Nacch 10,'81 Chigs April 7,81
Bacrch 24,'81 Rarch 29,'41 April 14,81
April 7,'81 dpril 5,081 .
April 21,481 § April 19,81 Gangster Chronicles
Sept, 31,'81 Rarch 21,81
Nero Holfe ' April 2z,'81
march 6,'81 Plaaingo Road
March 20,'81% facch 3,t'81 Quiaocy
March 27,'81 Racch 10,481 April 8,°'91
April 10,'81 dacch 17,81

L2

LRIC ) |

»



Apcil 17,081

W .

811l street Bflues
. Barch 21,1981
Racch 25,081
Narch 28,'81%
April 4,'81
April 21,181

Aptil 2,081

CB§-

Magnum P.I.
Raxch 19,'81
‘ Aacrch 26,'81
April 2,'81
April te,'81
April 23,'81

Palserstoun,U.S.A.
Macch 31,'81
April 18,081
April 21,'81

Trapper John, M.D.
Sept. 6,'81

¥hite Shadow
Aarch 2,'81

The Inuredible Lulk
Narch 6,'81

The Jeffersons
Macch 29,'81
House Calls '
darch 16,81
April 6,'81

Lou Grant
Batch 16,°'81

Enosg
Knots landing Barch 14,'81
Bacch 26,'81 Afpril 1,181

April 15,'81
Dukes of Harzacd
8acch 13,v81 Nurse
Racch 20.'81 Sapt. 30.'81
Hacch 27,81
Apcil 3,81
‘Apral 10,'81
April 17,41

ERIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:
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FRIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

Appeadix B

LA REFORCEAS

The follovwing prograss were coded for law seforcers:

Il

ABC

The Graatest v\:b Paatasy Island Benson
Americaa leco Barch 26,81 Asrch 13,161
Sacrch 18,41 April 16,81 April 10,'81%
April a,'an
April 15,91 Three's Cospany 240-Robert
Sept. 30,'81 April 1s,'81 Sarch 21,89
Yegas Soap Taxi
Macrch 4,81 #arch 9,081 April 16,081
Narch 11,81 March 16,181
Rarchk 18,181 April 25,81 Aloha Paradise
Harch 25,%81 April 15,81
April 1,081 I'a & Big Girl Wow
April 15,781 Harch 20,'81

!nti to Hart Bork aasd Afad

\ March 3,'81 Apcil 16,081
BSacch 1§,'81 L
Sarch 17,481 Dynasty . .
Rarch 24,081 Barch 9,4'81%
Apcil 14,181 April 20,'81
April 21,481 .
18C .
Quincy lo:g %ol te Hill Street Bluyes
farch 4,'81 arch 6,'81 darch 21,181
Rarch 11,131 Racch 20,'81 sarch 25,181
Raxch 24,'81 Barch 27,'81 « Bacch 28,'81
April 8,'81 April 10,'81 April 4,181
April 17,081 April 21,v81

BJ and the Bear :
#alking Tall

March 10,81 Sheriff Lobo
Racch 17,¢81 Racch 3,'81 fdarch 24, '81
Racch 24,'81 Barch 10,'81, Rarch 31,'81
March 31,181 Rarch 2§,'8) April 7,'81
Apcil 7,'81 April 7,181
Apcil 18,181 April 21,'81

>
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Chips . HBarper Valley P.Z.A. Cangster Chronicles ' ,
. Narch 24,'8% - Sarch 6,'81 : Sarch 21,481 .
] April 5,vat- Harch 20,'81 April 22,181
Py April 19,'s1 farch 27,'8" .
~ Sept. 13,981 April 17,981 Racts of Lite
) _' April 15,81
Little Nouse on Planingo Road
the Prairie Nazch 3,'a Brady Brides
Harch 9,'81 Narch 10,81 Rarch 47,481
| far 17,041
. AprN)/ 2,81
cBs »
Ragnum P.I. ‘ " the Jeffoecsons Park Place
Rarch 19,81 farch 29,'81 April 16,%81
Harch 26,'8" :
April 2,'81 Paluratown 0.S.4. Lou Grant
April 16,'89 Narch 31,41, Harch 16,'81
April 23,+81 Apcil 14,'81 April 13,991
April 21,'81
Wkite shadow Archie Bunker’s
Hacch 2,°'81 House Calls ) Place
Harch 16,081 Barch 2, '81 Rarch 29,°81
. . March 9.'81 Sept. 20,'81
Enos N
! Sarcch 18,'81 Trapper Johkn, H.D. Dallas
Apcil 1,'81 Sept. &,'81 Barch 27,'81 .
April 15,081 April 3,81 .
< the taltoas .o April 10,081
Dakes of Hazszard . Harch 19,81 April 17,181
fSarch 13,181
Aarch 20,'81 The Incredible Hulk ‘
Racch 27,'8) _ Barch 6,81
April 3,'81
April 10,'81 One Day at a Tise ‘ '
4pril 17,181 v Sept. 20,81

o

1.

aiy
w
F
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. - Appendixz C )
HOW TV ENTERTAINAZET PORTEAIS ausuésso ‘

10 t . \

The raging debate over television's effects on its
buge natippal audience has sparked interest in how varicus
groups are poktrayed. #omen, blacks, bispanics, and the

"elderly are along those whose portrayals have been examined.

The busipess world is an iategral part of both Ameri-
can life and television entertainsent. Yet television's
portrayal of businessmsen has not yet received the extensive
attentiqgn accorded other grpups. . :

Television's notion of a4 businesssan smay bring to
aind the schesing J.B. Bwing ot "Dallas,™ the CBS drama of a
troubled Texas oil family. But is this consussate bad guy
represeptative of businesssen oa television, or is be the
exception in Hollywocd's world of good-natured hard-working
men and women, whose businesses serve as the socially and
econosicdlly productive foundation.of Asericanc life?

To answver this guestion we analyzed the iortraials of
businesssen and wosen during eight weeks of prise-time prc-
grass drawh equally from the 1979-80 apd 1980-8%1 television
sedsons. QOur “content analysis® is descriptive and does not
attespt to determine the causes bebind the televised image
ot busimesssen. e are simply explaining, in a systesatic
and reliable fashion, what vievers see when presented with
Hollywood's version of businessaen.

Businesssen fproved to be a staple of prime-tise enter-
tainment, appearing ipn almost oue out of every two shous we
viewed. We coded 226 in all, of whom 43 percent appeared ca
CBS, 33 percent on ABC and 28 percént omn MBC. fHost were
siddle-aged males who tended to be very wealthY when their

r

10 Reprinted from Linda Lichter, S.d.Lichter, and S. Hoth-

man, "Howv fhow Business Shows FEusiness,™ Public Opinmjon,
Oct/Novy 1982.

R~ —— .
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Y econonic ;}§;ua vas koowne According to Hollywood, the typ-

ical busineshmen iphabits a beautitully furnished estate, is
pampered by Servants, and sports expensive jewelry and
clothing. Not a single businesman in the study was working
class or poor. ) :

8
¢

In TV's contiauing struggle between the forces of good
and evil, businessmen came dowa Syualely on the side of the

bad quys. Sixty perceat were portrayed negatively compared .,
to only 28 perceant who were shown as positive. The remaip- -

ing 12 percent occupied neutral roles.

floreover, this overview f:obably understates the nega-
tive image of the business world that is beamed nightly into
America's living rooss. This becomes appar®nt when we exa-
sine the specific types of aegative and positive portrayals,
for TV's bad busisesssen are mastier than good businesssen
are admirable. Among those jportrayed positively, only 10
percent shoved that their work as businessmen contributes to
soclety's econosic c¢r social benefit.- - In one of the few
such inatances, millionaire Jonathan Hart ot “Hart ‘to Hart"
financed a project to increase - world food production. But
this character's connection to the business' world is tenuous
at best, since his main activity is not running his lucra-
tive enterprises but globtrottiug in a tireless effort to
solve crimes, )

Aoother three fercent of businesaleh made some scrt cf
charitdble contributios. Most (87 percent) wmerely eangaged

in some form of sympathetic or helpful behavior. Por exams- .

Ple, #rs. Pynchon, the newspaper owumer on “Lou Grant,"™ coax-
ed a young reporter toward a reconciliation vith her sother.

Businessmen's negative traits were somewhat more di-
verse. Of the bad guys, the single largest group, 35 per-
cent, did something illegal. In fact TV's businessmen were
seven times more likely to break the lav thanm to contribute
to society's economic well-being. Another sizeable groug,
32 percent, were greedy or otherwise self- centered. Twen-
.ty-one percent played the fool, wmainly. in sitcoms, and the
Cemaining 12 percent vete pocrtrayed as malevoleat.

Among pusinessmen on television there is no shortage
of criminals. On a “"Barnaby Jones" episode, for example, a
coffee importer fronted for a groufp of violent revolutionar-
te:,, while a bank manager on "Loko" plotted the robbery cf
his aown bank. Un an episode of "Bnos® an owner of seveéral
bars knowingyly purchased onshine to sell to his customers

.
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lucrative conglomserate oa the gow defumlt J. and the
Bear® dealt in illiegal explosives and tried to‘'sabotage oae
‘ot his own ships to collect the imsurance.

that was both illegal and dangerous. l‘; ouo: of a
"

The greedy ent:og:enn: ws exemplified by pompous
Ars. Olesen who, with her bhusband, runs the general store of
“Little House on the Prairfe.™ She reneged on an agkeesent
to buy honey fros sose childrem, forcing thea to acceg
half of the price she originally prosised. Rlsevhere,
ice's"™ son begged her to seek another jod beca: se of the\ex-
tremely lov vages paid by her boss, who runs a diner.

Television also offers a wealth of foolish business-
men, epitomized by bar owmer Acrchie Bunker. ' Accordiamg to
the philosophy of Buskeriss, for exzample, 4{if every person
shot onpe criamimal, ve could cut the crime rate ll
Theén there is ovpiniozated George Jefferson. Io one episode
he claised that housewvives lead lives of luxury, then Dearly
destroyed his fancy apartment while - trying to babysit for
bhis yranddaughter in his yife's abseace. ]

Pipally, smalevolence is a =zpecialty of J.B. Bwing of
"Dallas." In one segaent, J.R. used his enorsous iafluence
to insure that a political enemy, vhos he b alraady bést-
ed, did not get a peeded job. Blsevhere a .Yptel manager on
"The Jeffersons® voiced ardent dislike for.blacks and ex-
pressed sadistic delight in firing employees.

In general, big bhusinessmen fared vorse thap small bu-
sinesseen, Executives and samagers topped the list ot had
guys with a 78 perceat negative rating. Among presidents and
heads of larde ccampabnies and corporations, 64 pe:ce?i vere
negative. Saall businessmen fared somevhat better, afthough
a majority (51 percent) were showd negatively. Similarly,
saall busipess received the highest positive rating otdﬁg
petcent. Still, this pales by cosparison to the predosindnt
negative rating for thcse on all 1zrungs of the business lad-

der.
Tt

It would seem that no specific group of businessmen
could escape the onus television bestows upon their profes-
sion. But“this does not convey the full story, for diffe-
rent types of businessmen engaged in varied kinds of pega-
tive activities. The worst offenders were the heads of big
businesses. Over half the corporate ¥ leaders portrayed ia a
negative light (53 percent) cosaitted an illegal act. Thus,
the owner of a chesical coapany oo the short-lived “Walking

balt. .
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Tall® wused bis (facilities to manufacture and distribute
illegal drugs. Of course, J.&. Bviag of "pallas® reveled in
crines ranging from 4illegal land deals apd folitical dirty
tricks to prostitution. He told one sexual partner that he
liked. his women on a "cash and carry basis."

In contrast, the negative activitiez ot executives and
mapagers wera about equally divided among illegal, gpalevo-
leat, foolish and greedy acts. 0f all busimemamen, this
group ws the most likely to be driven by pure malevoleace.
Among them was the odious louie, the cah COoapany sadager an
"Taxi.® He encouraged one of his cabbies to pursue aa un-
successful boxing career even though be kaew it would endaa~
gesr the man's health. Another cabbie, vho supposedly enjoyed
Louie's good opinion, -be dubbed “aardvark nose." \\

Approxipmately two-tbirds of small businessmen shown as
negative vere’ either foolisb or seli-interegted, and 23 per-
cent commnitted a grise. Amoag these self-interested small
en trepreneurs was a licentious dry cleaner owner on "Nurse"
vho uasuccessfully harrassed bis female customeis.

Bich businessmen were portrayed in a slightly more ne-
gative light than their middle class counterparts, although
the . diffs “ence vas not overvhelming. The oaus of wealth is
evident, hovever, when viewed in light of their specific ne-
gative traits. Almopt half the negative rich businessmen
did something illegal,” while aboyt halt the negative middle
class businessmen vere merely 'foolish.

.

Accorlingly, the multimillicnaire owner of a football
tranchise was eomeshed in a veb of illegal fipancial trin-
sactions, kidnapping and aurder. Compared to this exawsple
of high finance, Atchie's "Bunkerisms™ and George Jeffer-
soa's social climbiug are far down on the scale of offenses.

The context of a busioessman's activity was another
key to wunderstanding bis portrayal. Businessmen were at
their worst when performing purely business functions. Six-
ty-seven percent of those engaged in business activities
vere pnegdtive, cospared tc 44 fercent of those involved in
purely pecsonal circumstances. In tact, those ibD perscnal
circusstances were actually slightly wcre likely to be posi-~
tive than negative (%3 percent vs. 44 perceat). Thus, Nrs.
Pyanchon, the newspaper publisher, served as a volunteer at a
fescue center after a4 widespread disasterous fire.
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In contrast, oaly pine perceat of those in a purely ’

{ business contezt ware positive. Nore representative vere a

casino ovoner who ras a rigged gakme, a store cwper Who prac-

ticed deceptive advertising, amd a stock broker who dealt in

aurder. Those cosbining business and personal activities

fell between the two, with 54 percent negative and 36 per-
cent positive. ‘ :

Soreover, businessmen commit their most 4gregious of-
fenses vhile on the job. 7This is ccpfirsed by exasining the
types of negative bebavior associated with tbeir vork. F®hen
doing sosething negative while wvorking, busioggsmen vere
sost likely to comdit the verst type of offedse-a crise
(H4%) . When they erred in their personal lives, their be-
havior was most likely to be £ ish (45 percent).. #When bu-
siness and personal activitie were cosbined; characters
vere maost likely to be greedy or otherwisd self-interested
(37 percent). ’ :

One of the most crucial asgects of any character's
- ,pbortrayel on television is hovw he fares in his endeavors.
Regyardless of how he behaves, his ultisate ‘success ccnfers
legitimacy on his acts, while defeat punishes both the evil
doings of' bad guys and the admirable intentions of good
Juyse. When businessaen did sosetbing positive, the? vere
revarded with success 85 percent of the time. only 5 per-
cent of the good quys vere defeated. convetsel,. bad gquys
dere such more likely to be defeated than succeed - 58 per- !
cent defedt compared to nine percent success. 7The rest vere
unresolved or repentsd.

) Exaaples of businessmen vho wmet with success included
Murray Klein, Archie Bunker's business partser, who finally
convinced the narrcv-sinded Archie to join a coasittee
fighting Anvi~Semitisn. $hen the benevolent Harts of "Hart
to Hart" tracked kidnappers and surderers, their detective
work ianvariably paid off. dNegative businessmen, bovever,
alsost inevitabiy set with defeat. A real estate salessan,
vho saugly belittled the difficulty of housewvork to his

’ vife, managed to dumf a pot of spaghetti on his head when he
tried to cook dinner. Similarly, the owner of a health focd
vusiness who changed the expiration date on bhis vitamins and
sold wheat germ that "aoves™ had bis store closed by the lc-
cal health departsent.

To sumsarize, in the struggle between good and evil on
television, businessaen cast their lot with the bad gquys.
fost ver 2 shown in a4 neyative mdanber - as criminals, tools
ot malevolent or greedy creatures. Fever than half as many
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vere sghown as posgitive, and sost of these were serely
syspathetic or friendly in their personal lives, rather than
as cospetent enterpreneurs or mapagers with a socially pro-
ductive role, In fact, the closer a business character's
plot function was linked to his occupational role, the worse
he was portrayed.

The vealthy and big businessmen received the blackest
eye of gall. When big businesssen erred, they wvere most
likely to cossit a crise. Ssall businesssea fared only
sliq;tlr better, as they vere aore likely to be foolish cr
greedy.

’ .

While television rately showcases the virtues of Amaer-
ica's capitalists, it shows no sisilar reluctance to disc~
ourse on the failings of capitaliss. Por exasple, in an ep-
isode of "Taxi,"™ th: drivers cosplained that their cabs had
deterjorated into a dangerous copdition and desanded that
mapavesent a the needed repairs. But Louis, the sanager,
planned to dd&tor the company book O mapagesent would nct
be held responsible in the upceming upion hearing. When the
cabbies protested Louie's underhande - tactics, he defended
hisself by telling thes, ®Every great businesssan has done
it.n

Apparently, even children understand the exploitative
hature of Asmerican business. On an episode of "pifferent
Strokes, " .two young boys started their own tusiness selling
brovnies. After accepting an order too ‘big for thes to han—
dle, their sister c¢ffered to help if they made ber a full
partner. Althouyh they desperately needed bher agsistance,
the boys «tefused to include ber in the Fartnership. Io-
stead, they offered to pay her a .meager salary as their em-
ployee. They told her their raticnale: "That's yhat busi-
nesi i3 all dabout. You do the work and ve get the profitg."

. J

Even the the "work ethic" that gave impetus to western
Capitalisa is ridiculed as "wvorkaholiss." On an episode of
"The Jeffersons®, for examgle, Lionel Jefferson was "beeped"
from his vffice then raced off to work on the day of his new
daughter?’s christening party, leaving his sobbing wife'and
disappointed guests behind. He was eyentually brought back
to the party by nis father, whc varnmed his, “Never put work
a%,ve spending time with your tamily."®
©

Sometimes the results of such obsessive hehavior age
BOLe Ser10us, as depicted 1n an episode of "Cpe Day at a
Ti1se." Cateer-ainded Amn Romano, the series' heroipe,
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vorked berself into a heart attack. Threaded with tobea aad
surrounded by bheart sooitoring eguipment, she received a
stern lecture from her doGtor on the virtues of moderatioa.
The wvorkaholic may also work himself right out of a. job. Ca
an episode of "The Bofers,” a real estate salessan drove
himself so hard to win a promotion that he fell q;leep dyr~

If American business has redeeming social values, they
rarely surface on prime-time television. Rather, business-
sen are cast as evil and selfish social parasites whose ef-
forts to secure "more" are justly condemned and usually
thwarted. Television has blyrred the important distinction
betveen selfish and self-interested behavior. According to
television, what is good for business is not - likely to: be
good for Aserican societ). o

»
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BACKUROUNDS AND ATTITEDES QF TAE HOLLYNOOD
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"I think there should be nc umistake about the
sense of respoasibility we carcy ... and this bas
led us to believe that we can, within a framework
of good shdgpanship, adwance valid social cos-
ments, valid ethical concepts, valid gemaraliza-
tions.about the human condition vhich bave meaning -
for the audience." -

( Sheldon Leonard
Televison Producer

v

Cdaservatives aad liberals barscnize on few issues,
but they are equally vehement in criticizing television en-
tertainseat. On the liberal side, women and minority grougs
claim that television's unflattering portrayals of thes
perpetrate negative stereotypes, Conservatives .object to
the: loose morality which they vievtq: undermining the tradi-
tional American values of family, bLhrd work and patriotiss.
And myriad groups, from the P.%.A. to the National Institute
of RMeutal Health, worry that pervasive television violence
is breeding aggressive individuals or even criainals.

Disagreements over the political messages of televi-
sion programs and their relation to the "politics™ of their
creators have been equally sharp, although little hard evi-
dence exists to bolster either side. typical of those who
view television as 4 conservative voice is a researcher at

it Reprinted from L. Lichter,R. Lichter, and S.Bothman,
“Hollyvood and America-- The 0dd Couple,* fublic Opimjom,
DacysJan 1983.
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the prestiginus Annenbury School of Coshunication .who con-
cludes, "The basic reality of the televisicn world is the
reality of the Aserican siddle class establishment; its sor-
ality is the conventional and rigid Sunday-school sorality
of the siddle class."\2

For many who Adhere to this line of thought, the per-
sopal poli+ 'cs of television writers and producers are sisi-
lacrly conservative or of ssall coonsequence because their
ptoduct inevitably supports conservative values. Ip this
view, ®The production and sapufacture of television drasa
are rooted to business interests ip the United States. Con-
sequently, the content sust be prbduced by people who are
either williang ' to suppress Jdeep-seated dissideat values cr,
by people who atre fundasentally i . agreesent with the sys-
tea™i3

On the tlip side of this question, #ichael Bobinscn
writes that televigsion programs reflect the liberal vdlues
of progras c<lLeators on such topics as hososezuality, dinter-
tacial marriege, and the social position of wosen and sinor-
ities. e

Sisilarly, Ben Stein claims that television has an an-
tipathy toward “"establishsent figures®™ and an accoafpanying
sympathy for the poor amd wsinorities. Pased on interviewus
with Hollywood writers and [producers, be concluded that,
", ..the attitudes of the people who create television coin-
cide almost exactly with the piclure on television."i®

In this wugoing debate, there are twc crucial ques-
tions to ansver. Pirst, what are the attitudes and values
of the people who create televisicn entertainsent? Is te-
levision's creative cosmauntity a hcsogeneous group concerned
vith either® protecting their industry's business interests
or with promoting sccial refors? Or are they a diverse
group of individuals whose different backgrounds and per-
spectives cancel each other out? Jsecond, are their views cn
society rteflected in program content? Does television en-
tertainment contain sessayes aktout the acbievements and

V2 Larry Gross, ®The B-al World of Television™, Journal of
Comaunjcations, [- 86.
13 Nyriel Cantor, Prime-Time Televigion (bBeverly Hills,

Cal.: Sage, 1980), p. 19.

e Michael #Robhinsoo, "Prile-Ti}y Chic", Puplic Opipaiou 2,
Mar-May 1979, pp. 42-47.
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failings of Americanm society? 1f 50, do they constitute a
potpourri of competing values or a systematic perspective
that adds up to a quasi-ideology? To answver this guestion,
ve are currently xamining television's social perspective
by systematically analyzing large pusbers o6f programs broad-
cast over the past three decades.d®

In this essay, we consider the tirst point at issue.
¥ho are the creators of TVentertainment? What are their
backgrounds? What dc they think about American soci~ty, and
how do they react to the criticisms levelled against their
product? 1To find out, we interviewed 104 .of Hollywoods most
influential television writers, producers, and erecutives,
af-paft 0f -a -larger study.of elite groups. Since formal ti-
tles meas little ia this field,”~ we constructed a ®reputa-
tiopal® sample by asking industry "insiders® for the Dames
of ke; people.Those who assisted us ranged from Ben Stein,
author of The View Prom Supget Boulevard, to editorial staff
members of TV Guide.

We selected only pnames on whose importance our soucces
were agreead. We then eliminated those who had not been as-
gociated with the development, production, or selection cf
tso0 or maote successful griae~-time series. The final list
consisted of approzimately 350 names, from which ve sampled
randomly. Of 172 individuals. wvho were coatacted, 64 refused
and 104 (60 percent) ayreed to be jnterviewed.

The 104 individuals jntervieved represent the cream of
television's creative community. The sample includes 15
presicdents of indegendent producticn companies, 18 executive
producers, 43 additional producers,” 2b of whom are also
vriters, aad 10 anetwork vicc-presidents respomsible fer grc-
gram development aud selection. The remainder gave such ti-
tles as executive story consultant, grogram director, and
Story supervisor. Among those surveyed are some of the most
€xpr- enced and respected members of the craft. Hany bave
been honored with Emmy Awdards, and a° few are household
nanes.  Host isportantly, this grouf has had a major role in
shdpli 4 the shows wocse themas aud stars have become staples
of oui popular culture.

The sociral and petsonal backgrLounds of the televiscn
elite are summarized inp Table 31 This ygyrcup is populated
almost exclusively by middle-aged white males. Uver nige
out of ten are sale, and all but one out of the 104 surveyed

#
¢ For soae initial findings, see L. Lichter, R. Llichter,
and 5. Buthman, "How Show Business Shovs Business,"™ Eubl-
1¢ Opinivn 9, Oct.-NHov. 1982, pp. 10-12; L. Lichtet and

d. Lichtetr, Prime-Time Crime ( washiagton L.Ce: The Media
Institute, 19813).
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are vhite. MNost age in thelr forties and tifties; the aver-
age age is 49,

'
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TABLE 31

Backgrounds of the TV 2lite

&£

dhite 99%
Hale 98
FPros metropolitan area 82
Pros northeast corridor 56
Pather voted Democratic 68
Pather graduated college 35
_Raised im Jewish religion 59
College graduate 75
Pasfly income $200,000; €3
Political liberal . 75
Religion "none” - 44
Regular chburchjoer 7

P e e e - e G G e e S Y
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8y and large they repressnt an urban and cosmopolitn
sector of society. Very fev have roots in middle America;
instead, they wvere raised in big cities on the east and west
coasts. Seventy-three percent hail tros either Calitornia
or the Boston-Washington northeast corridor, with over one
in three coming fros Mew York state alone. Bighty~two per-
cent grew gp in large metropolitan areas (over 100,000 popu-
lation), leaviog less than one in five who made the fabled
journey from sm3ll town America to Hollywood.

In many other vays, hovever, television's top creators
have travelled far from the wvorld of their youth. Selative
to their parents {(anod to the average American), they are
vell educated, extraordinarily well paid, have adopted secu-
lar outlooks, and are politically very liberal.

They <come from diverse socio-economic backgrounds,
although few were forced to staft at.the bottos of the lad-
der. Only 15 percent come from th: blue collar backgrounds,
and the lar;est number, 42 percent, say the tathers were.
businessmen, A aincrity of their fathers, 47 percent, bhad
some college training, and only 35 percent «cbtained a de-
gree. When asked to rate their family's econcmic ciccums-
tances during their youth as belcw average, average, or

ol
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, :
above average, they wete evenly divided, with about one in
three choosing each category. '

Not surprisingly, these writers, producers, and execu-
tives are auch better educated than their parents. Qver
oine out of ten attended college, three fourths received de-
qrees, and 31 percent had sose graduate training. 1hese
educational advances pale betore the - dramatic rise in their
econoric status., Of those who responded, one in four re-
ported a 1981 family income in excess of bhalf a million dol-
lars, and almost two thirds (63 percent) - earned over
$200,000. Only four percent reported incomes of less than
$75,000. Granting that these are the most successful prac-
tioners of their craft, few occupations offer similar finan-
cial rewards. By contrast, the average JAgerican family
earned $22,000 in Y981, Horeover, these figures probably

‘understate the wealth of this group. An unusually high pro-

portion, 22 perceant, refused to divulge their incomes. of
this yroup, wmost were associated with shows curreatly rup-
ning in prime-time or in syndicaticn. .

The television elite have traversed cobsiderable dis—
tances in their attitudes as well as their circumstances.
In the sphere of religicn, they have moved toward a marked-
ly more secular orientation. MNinety-three percent had a re-
ligious upbringing, the majority (59 percent) in the Jewish
faith. An additiosal 25 percent were raised in some Protes-
tant denoltzatiou, and the remaining 12 percent as Cathol-
ics. Curently, however, 45 percent clais no religious af-
filiation whatsoever, sore than six times the nusber of
those vhp wvere not raised in apy religious tradition. _This
is also greater than the proportion who currently ascribe to
any particular religion. Defections have occurred froms all
religions, so that only 38 percent now call theaselves Jeus,
12 percent remain Prctestants, and 5 percent have Tetained
their Catholic faith. - Moreover, mcst of those resaining af-
filiations appear to be purely poaminal. Ninety-three per-
Cent sday they seldoa or never attend religious services.

Politically,the television elite is drawn from liberal
and Democratic backgroupds. A plurality grew up in politi-
cally liberai householdS vhere politics was a coamon togic
of discgssion. | Porty-six percent characterize their ¢ fa-
ther's political views as left of center, 18 percent as mid-
dle of the road, and 36 percent as conservative. Of course,
children's judyements of their pareuts' attitudes are often
untéliable. Recollections of parental party affiliations
are aore trustwaorthy, and less subjective. Over twvo thirds
(b8 percent) recall that their fathers were atfiliated with
the Deaocratic party. Only !9 percent vere Hepublicans, and
the remaimier were either independent or adherents of minmor

parties. In addition, many of their fasilies were politi-
Cally orientud. Two out of three recall that their parents
3

’_’\—r-—-

[M‘t)



152

discussed politics at least occassionally, including

sation. Only 32 percent say that political nmatters were
saldom or never discussed at. home.

Whether or not their parents imparted their ¥a com~
mitsents, a large majority of the televisioe elite
sider themselves literals and regularly wvote DemocCTatic.
Seventy- five percent describe themselves as left of center
politically, compared to only 14 percent who place thes-
selves to the right of center, This contrasts sharply with-
the national picture. 1In-a 1982 national foll, only 27 per-
cent of the general public classified themselves as liberal,
32 percent termed themselves conservatives, and the remain-
der called themselves moderates. In response to similar
poll questions over the past tvo decades, self-described
consorvatives have always cutnumbered liberals, and the lat-
ter have never dccounted for sore tian 29 percent of those
questiocoed.

the television elite's ideoloyical self descriptions
arv reflacted in their political tehavior. Table 32 shows
how they voted in presidential elections simce 1968. 1In the
past four elections, asong those wcting, Democrats outpolled
Repunlicans by margieos that never dropped belo¥ .three to one
and rose above five to ope. WNo Bepublican presidential can-
didate received more than 25 percent of this gtoup'slﬁotes.
In 1972, Nixon racked up 62 percent of the vote natiobnwide,
but among the television elite the landslide £flowed in the
other direction-they supported NcGovern by a margin of 82 to
15 percent. 1Ia 1980, there were substantial defections froa
the uelocratic‘tgnks here 4s elsevbere, and Carter received
only 50 percentof their votes. But the beneficiary was not
Ronald Reagaa, who polled only 20 percent of tbis groug.
lostead, the disillusioned Democrats switched to John Ander-
son, vhose 27 percent total put him well ahead of Reagan.

The television elite's liberal self-isage and fpresi-
dential selections are consisteat with their attitudes om a
vide range of social and political issues, as Table 33 re-
veals. We Juestioned them on four kinds of topics: eccnomic
issues, political amnd social authority, disadvantaged
groups, and sex and sorality.

In the reals:ot econhomics, these wveaithy liberals do
not ‘reject the private enterprLise system, although many fa-
vor expansion of the welface state. Seven out of ten be-
lieve that the government should substantially reduce tbhe
incolle ydp petween the rich and the poor, a policy which
vould surely reduce their cwn incomes, and 44 gercent think

the qgovernsent should guarantee esployeent to anyone who
wants + job. ’

170 *
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| TABLE 32 ¢
( {
| Presidential vVoting Record of the TV Blite: 1968-80 |
( o {
{ ) |
i 1968 i
| Nixon 17% |
{ Humphrey 80 |
| 1972 |
| : Nixon , : 15 |
| BcGovera 82 i
{ 1976 |
} PFord . 25 i
| Carter 72 |
‘ 1980 o |
Reagan 20° |

| Carter 49 |
I Andersoup - 27 : i
| |
| dThree to four percent voted for minor pacty candidates|
{ | {
| (
4

[ - —

Por most, howvever, this economic liberalism does not
shade over into radicaliss, Instead they support the pri-
vate enterprise system tb has been so good to them. Wine-
ty-four percent suppor be notico that people with gmoze
*ability should eatn moré; impl icitly rejecting the Marxist
principla, ™“from each/according tc his ability to each ac-
cording to his beed,"” Bighty-aae Fercent reject public own-
ership of corporations; indeed almost two thirds believe
less government regulation of busipness would be good for the
c€ountry. Finally, over tvo out of three see the American
private enterprise system as faitr to workers.

If the television elite pledges allegiance to welfare
capitalism, it is far more skeptical about the social and
political institutions allied to this econogic systes.
Three out of four imdict our legal systems as favoriag the
vealthy, and nearly two thirds believe that. the very struc-
ture of American Gsociety causes people to become alienated
from it. They are just as critical ¢f those in positions of
authority. Just under two thirds agree that public offi-
cials are not interested in the dveragye citizea, and 82 per-
cent reject the no:ion that those in authority know Lest.
Alaost half disagree strongly that one should defer to those
in authority, and not a singyle petsoh exgressed strong con-
fidence in autbority.
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* [ TABLE 33 ]
| N
| . TV Elite Attitudes on Social Igsues® . |
| . {

] . 1
| Strong Agree Disagree Strong|
] Agree Disadree
' N A
v ' * '
| Goverpaent should re- 24% 453 163 168 |
| distribute iacose . {
| ) - 0
4 Governsent should 8 37 . 26 30 |
4§ 9guarantee jobs*~ . |
| ) , [
| Big corporations should 6 13 14 66 |
s § be publicly owned i
] |
§ Private enterprise is 18 51 25 - 6 |
| fair to vorkers - i
| b {
| less regulation of bus- 20 ‘ 45 25 11
| iness is yood for U.S. - : ‘ i
. s ’ '
| People with more abil- 62 32 -1 R I
§ ity should eara more i
[ J [
| EBolitjcal Aliepatiop {
] e i
§ U0.S. institutioans need 8 kLY 28 29}
| coaplete overhaul ' }
| : _ |
{ Strwture of society 16 46 25 12]
| causes alienation {
] |
§ U.S. legal systes 39 37 16 - 8y
| favors wealthy l
] |
{ Public officials don't 23 92 32 3
§ care about average maag ) |
] ) i
{ Peoplg in authority 4] 18 39 83
§{ Ekaow best |
(] . -cont-~ 1
{ ’3,‘3 |

Given their  widespread rejection of both American
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i TABLE J4 1
[ |
i TV Blites on Social Issuest - cont | -
| - |
{ . |
| Strong Agree Disagree Strong|
] Agree Disagree
l . | '
| Disadvagtdjed Groups . |
| Women are better Q 8 17 75}
{ off at home |
t |
| Women should get 4 24 39 33)
| preference in hiriang [ v
[ | :
{ Blacks lack edu- 28 45 20 U
| cation to advance 3 {
[ |
| Blacks lack motiva- 1 AN 19 63| .
| tion to advaace i
[ i
| Bleck yaius cose at p) 1 .19 78}
| wvbite expense i
[} |
I Blacks should get pre- 4 39 32 ' 25)
| terence in hiriaog : |
[ |
| Wbhites and noavhites 2 13 23 . 64|
| should not wmarry . i
| ‘ |
| Discrisinatjoa can 5 ) 8 : 23 64|
{ be ended ) | N
] |
{ Poor people are vic- 13 48 31 81
{ tiss of citcusstance i
[ |
| Sex and Mogaljty i
i . 1
{ Woman has right tc 91 6 1 2|
| decide on aboxtion ' |
| {
| Homasexuality is wrong 5 15 31 49
| |
I Homasexuals shoulda't 6 9 20 66|
{ teach in schools [
| ; i .
{ Adultery is wrong 16 33 , 32 19)
t ——— ey e
| ®FPigures ia tatles do oot alvays sua up to 10038 because }
| of rounding I
! ;
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social institutions and their guardiaas, one would suspect
that many in the television elite would like to see sukstan-
tial changes in our society. 1In fact, a substantial minori-
ty of 43 percent endorses .a cosplete overhaul ot American
iostitutions, In short, their acceptance of “the econoaic
systeam is teampered by a deepset aliemation fxom the social
and political systes.

If the  television slite's gpolitical alienation cob-
.trasts sharply with thoir . moderate econosic viaews, it is
quite consonant with their social liberaliss. They exfress
strong support for the social advancesent of women and
blacks, two groups who have often criticized theit portray-
als in tulevision entertainaent. Over bnin€ out of ten re-
ject the arguament that wosmen are better off staying hose
than having careers. Three out of four disagree strongly,
and no ope strongly supports the ncticn that a woman's place
is in the hose. This syspathy for wvomen's career aspira-
tions, however, does not extend tc support for preferential
treatment in hiring. Seventy-two fperceat reject this tyge
of affirmative action.

This group also pictures society as unfair to blacks,
vhose underpriviledged positiom is seen as no fault of their
own. Almost three cut of four agree. that blacks are denied
the educational opportunities they meed to advamce up the
social ladder. An even higher proportion, 84 percent, deay
that blacks lack the sotivation to advance. (1his sentiment
extends to the poor in Jgeneral. Sizty-two 'percent agree
that most poverty is due to circuamstances beyond the contrcl
of poor people.) Aa overvhelaing 97 percent affira that
black gains do not coma at the expense of whites.

Their liberalism oo racial issues extends to the some— '
times volatile guestjon of intermarriage. Bighty-five per— .
cent believe whité¥*and nonwhites should be froe tc marrcy if
they so choose, and twvo thirds £feel strongly about this
principle. Such strong sentiments notwithstanding, a major-
ity rejects preferential hiring as a wmeans of assisting
black advancement. Pourty-three percent support this poli-
¢y, a larger proportion than those who supported affirmative
action for vwomen, out a minority nonetheless. Perhaps re-
flecting the difference betveen sentiment and policy, #@ost
are not sanguine that social discrimsination can be ended.
only 13 percent believe that racial and religiocus discrimi-
nation can be endedd in their lifetimes. o

The television elite's social 1liberalism is also evi-
denced by their views on sex aod morality, another focal
point for telavision's critics. On such issues as abcrtion,
homosexual rights, and extrasarital sex, their vieus diverge
sharply fron traditional values. Ninety-seven percent te-
lieve that 4 wvoman has the right to decide for hecrseltf

.
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vhether to have an atortion; even more striking, 91 percent
ajree stronyly with this "pro-choice™ position. Pour cut cf
five do not regard homosexual gelations as vrong. Only five
percant feel strongly that bomcsexuality is wrony, compared
to 49 percent who disagree Strongly. AD even greater pro-
portion, 86 percemt, suppdrt the rights of Bomosexuals to
teach in public schools. Pinally, a majority ot 51 percent
refuse to condesn adultery 4s wromg. Horeover, the majority

of .those who feel strongly about this issue take a perais~
sive stance; only 17 perceat strongly agree that extramagi-

.tal affaics are wroug.,  Prom this evidence, it would be dif-

ficult to overestimate the clash of values vhen television's
Ccroative comsubity lccks horns with fundamentalist Christian
critics like the Moral Majority or the Coaltion for Better

Televisix;.

These findings suggest that ‘the television elite's
political alienation is rooted in the social rather Fthan
economit issues. It is their social liberaliss rather than
their economic vwiews that sost ‘clearly distinguishes thea
from the general public. To probe this tofic more deeply,
we inquired jnto their hopes for the future, as vwvell as
their dassessments of the present. We asked them to choose
godls for America to pursue for the next decade, by select-~
ing the amost important and least important goals from the
tollowing six choices:

1. Maintaininy a high rate of economic growth

2. Making sure that this country has strong defense
torces .

J. Seeinyg that the pgeople have wmore $2Y in  bow things
get decided at work and un their coBmunities

4. 2rogressiny tcvard a4 less impersonal, mote humane sc-
Clety

5. The [ight 4against criae

b. Progressing tevard a society where ideas dare more im~
portant than soney

Por the past decade, political scilentist Ronald Ingle-
hatt hds been presenting such choices to subjects in America
and ¥estern Europe. He classifies such choices as economic
qtovth, national detense and crime as traditiomal ™pustru-
a-ntal®” values. A humdne society, particigation, and plac-
1ng tleas atove money, on the other hand, are "expressive®
DL "post-vourjeuvis”™ values that are gaining strength amony
uew elite sectors in post industrial sccieties. In most ma-
jor social qroups, Ypost-bourgeois" choices still represent
4 Binogcrty  posrticn. Amony leadiny journdlists e inter-
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vioved, a vory 1libecral mlite on most issues, onl: ope in
three chose "post-bourgecis™ gosls as most importast. Corc~
porate executives, a more conservative elite, rejected such
goals by an eight to onoe:\igin.

In sharp contrast, th? television elite prefers ®gost-
bourgeois®™ or “uxpressive® values over %“instrusental® opes
oy alsoct a two to one wmargin, as Table 35 indicates. of
the 63 percent selecting "post-bourgecis® goals, by far the
largest group, 4) percent, see a sore humane society as our
top priority. That is more than double the ousber favoriag
econosic growth, the next most popular goal. At the cther
end of the scale, ounly three percent place such imspqrtaace
in a strong defense, a high priority of the Reagan adminis~-
tratioan. The other side of the coin is equally telling.
When asked vhich goal is the least important, 60 perceant
chose "instrumental® goals. oace again, pational defense
has the dubious distinction of being considered least impor—
tanot by the largest pumber- it is the lowest griority for 37
perceat. By coatrast, only six percent regard a more husane
society as America‘'s least important priority.

TABLE 35

TV Elites Choices aad Goals tor American Society

A

|

i

]

|

|

i

Goals st Least |
dmpor tant laportant |

|

¥ational Dcfense 5% 373 |
fconomicC Growvwth 19 13 (]
Pight Crome 13 7 ]
i

Humane Society 3 6 1
Ideas, Not Noney 14 14 |
Commuaity Particigan & 20 |
— _— i

Totals {
{

Instrumentai 17% 611 i
Expressive 63 40 i
{

i
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The televisios glite's strong preferences tor expres-
sive over instruseantal social goals places them at the cut-
ting edge of what Inglehart calls a "silent revolutioa®
transforsing the political culture of advanced industrial
societles. It nov becomes cleaarer why many feel alienated
from traditdomal social and political institutions- they
share a value orientation fundamwentally differeat from that
of the general public. _ ' ,

If this elite seeks nev directions for Aserican socie-
ty, they would also prefer a change of directors. We asked
“them to rate tea leadership groups in terss of the influenc~
es each vields over American jife. Then we asked thes to
fate the same groups according to the amount of intluesce
sach should bave. The groups include such traditional- forc-
es in American life as business and labor, govecransent agen-
cies, the military, and religion, along with such rising
coatenders as the nevs medid, blacks, fesinists, intellectu-
als, asd consumer grougs. Ve calculated the average influ~
ence ratiry assigoned to each group oo a scale ranging frea

'1*, meaning very little influence, to '79, representing a
great deal of influeance. e )

The findings contirs the imgression that the televi:
sion elite is deeply dissatisfied with the direction our so-
ciety is taking and would like to alter it in profouwd wvays.
They perceive America's power structure as dominated by the
sedia and busicess, who finish' in & virtual deaa heat at the
top of the heap. These groups are followved, at some remove,
by government agescies, labor wunions, and the military.
Coansigaed to lower rungs of the ladder in their view, are
consumer groups, religious leaders, and intellectuals, with
blacks and feminists at the very bottos. \

vhen this group is askod for theirc prefaerences, the
picture changes dramatically. The new kingpins would be
consulel groups and intellectuwals, followed by blacks and
feminist s, Business and the medic fall from the top to the
middle of the pack. Lovest in the pecking order would te
goverament, religion, and the military. It would be hard to
imagine a more thoroughly indictment of the social order.
The television elite would diminish the influence of each of
the tive most influentials groups; they would increase the,
influence of four out of the bottom five gLoups. {See Table
36) They givwe short shrift to all the traditional sources of
influence- business and labor al ike, -goveroment, religion,
d the ailitary. Instead, they champion the emergence ¢t
sumers, intellectuals, black leaders, and feminists as
neth elites in American life.

ur tesults seem all of a piece. Television creators
emerye as  upbolders of the M™pewv liberalism®™ that sutftaced

.-.:-;i.'&
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' TABLE 136

“

s .
TV Elites Ranks cf Influence Armong Leadership Grougs

L b
l i
| i
{ |
| |
| |
i o |
i Perceived . Preferred |
! Influence Ingluesce i
| ) : l
| 1. Nedia 1. Consumer Groups 1
{ 2. Business 2. Intellectuals |
| J. Goverasent Agencies 3. Blacks |
l L. Unionmns : 4. Feminists l
i 5. Hilitary "S. Business i
| 6. Consumer Groups 6. Media {
l 7. Beligion .. 7. Unions |
i 8. Intellectuals 8. Government Agencies|
| 9. Blacks L 9.,8eligion i
| 10. Feminists 10.Xrilitary |
| t
4 4

— /I .
among upper status cosmopolitan qtuﬁﬁs in the 1960's. The
.crucial gquestioan, is whether this perspective influences
their work. In short, does this social fportrait of televi-
sion's creators tell us anythimg about their artistic out-
put? Ultimately, this can only be determined by systematic
analysis of television entertainment. Por example, we found
that businesssen are mainly bad guys on TV eatertainment;
this is consistent with the attitudes held by the people who
create these shows.'? But such vork remains before we yill
bave an overall pidture of televisiop's social wessage. In
the interim, ve asked the creative comaunity what they
thought about the social isplications of their work. Do
they see theaselves as pure entertainers, or as educators cr
even social reformers? Do they necessarily disagree with
coaplaints that sex cor violence permeate grime-~time?

The results shown im Table 37 are clear abnd coasis-
tent. The television elite believe thay have a role to gplay
in reforming Americanm society. They reject conservatives!
criticisas of TV entertainaent, while giving credence to li-
berals' cosplaints of television violeace. Pirst, telesi-
sion's crfeators make clear their preterence for cealisa over
escapist fantasy. Fully three out of tour believe that TV
should portray society realistically. and those who texl

7 L. Lichter, 8. Lichter, and S. Bothsan,"dHov Shovw Busiaess
Shows Business®™ Public Qgpimjpop, Oct/%ov 1982, pp. 42-u1,
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" : TABLE 37

TV Elite Atiitudes Toward IV Entertainment

-— v - e e o o

Strong Agree Disagree sironql

violence of TV

r-_--—_--__-.-—-—-.‘---

Aggee Disagrese|

)

TV should promote 21 45 21 13 §
social refornm l
: [

TV should be realsitic 137 39 12 12 |
i

TV is too critical . . 'I
of traditional values 1 11 32 56 |
{

There is too auch sex 10 20 B P 38
on TV }
{

There is too much 21 38 27 14 }
|

{

rFi

strongly agree by wsore thanh a three to one margin, More-
over, two out of three - bheliceve that TV entertainment should
be 4 major force for social reform. This is perbaps the
single most striking finding ip our study. According to te-
levision's creators, they atve not in it just for the money.
They also seek to mave their audience toward their own vi-
sion of the 90od society. /

Thus, they reject the criti<iss that television is too
critical of traditional values by an eight tc ope margin. A
ma jocity stronqgly disagree with this arguwent, and only one
person strohgly endorses it. Similarly, 62 percent disagree
that there is too such sex on TV, as fu~dasentalist Chris-
tian Jroups tave charged. By contrast, nearly 60 percest
agree that television is too violent.

In sua, they view TV entertainment larqely as we might
expect on the basis of their social attitudes. Like many
other liberal, cossopolitan, wugpper status Americauns, they
believe sex is less of a probles than violence on televi-
sion, and they see the mediuw A4as a source ot needed social
refors. The difference is that they are the creative torce
bebind that very medius.
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The television elite is a homogeneous group of mostly
siddle-aged vhite males. Their backgrounds and outlooks are
very different from those of the siddle American audisnces
that they entertain nichtly. They hail from urban areas of
both coasts, from the cosfortatle homes of liberal, asiddle-
class parents, many of Jewish background. They are secular,
well-educated, and enjoy enormous financial comforts ‘ich
fev Asericans share.

Their, strong self-avowed literalism is reflected in
their voting records and views on social and political jis-
Sues. They are coasistent Democratic voters and strongly
favor expressive over instrumental goals. They viev a hu-
mape society as America's most iwsportant priority and pa-
tional defense as leas* important. They see society as most
influenced by the medija, business, labor, and government
agencies. By contrast, they bel ieve that the most ipfluence
should reside jin consumer groups, intellectuals, blacks, and
feminist leaders. They are very; liberal on major social agd
moral issues, iancluding race relations, abortion, homosex-
uality, and extramarital sex. They are aliepnated from so-
Ciety's institutions and place little faith ip politicians
or others in authority.

Pinally, their liberal perspectives are reflected in
bow they viow their ovn wmedium. They dispute conservative
claims that television is too critical of traditivpal ipnsti-
tutions and shows too much sex, although they symspathize
with the objection that TV is toc violent. Perhaps most
siguificant, they tLelieve TV entertainment szould reflect
real life and be used to promote social retorm. The crucial
question remaining, is whether the television elite's liber-
al vorld is systematically reflected in TV enturtainment.
We have already seen that their dislike of businessmen is
evident on prime-tise shcws. e must yet discover what oth-
er elements of this vorld view are structuring the coatent
of America's chief means of eantertainment.

166
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Mr. Hucues. Thank you very much, Dr. Lichter.

Professor Eron.

Professor ERON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. ,

I have been engaged in the study of aggressive behavior for over
25 years. Many of those studies have dealt with che effect, of televi-
sion violence on aggressive behavior. As Professor Cook and Dr.
Pear| pointed out, it has been demonstrated consistently in the
many studies, over and over again, that there is a relation between
television violence and subsequent aggressive behavior on the part
of the viewer. Also, I think there is littie doubt that this relation is
primarily one of cause and effect. . \ -

It is true that the relation is not a powerful one that explains a
major portion of the variance. However, the correlations usuall
obtained are certainly as high as those found in any other researc
with personality variables, and the fact that the association holds
up under a wide variety of experimental conditions and different
measurement operations increases confidence in the validity of
these findings.

While, as Dr. Cook pointed out, you can never demonstrate cause
and effect with certainty from nonmanipulative field studies, the
integration of field studies with laboratory experiments leads to &
conclusion that television viewing and subsequent behkavior are
causally related. Laboratory studies have shown conclusively that
aggression can be induced by television viewing. The results from
field studies are naturally less clear because of methodological com-
plexities. However, causal effects in longitudinal studies have been
reported over 10 years in the work that I have done with Lefkowitz
and Walder, over | year in studies by Singer and Singer at Yale,
and over 3 years in six different countries in work that Huesmann
and [ have done.

Milavsky and his associates, in a multiyear longitudinal study,
funded by NBC, found remarkably si:nilar results using the same
analysis techniques. While their conclusion was that a “causal
effect was not proven,” their results are actually consistent with a
cumulative causal process that produces only small changes over a
few years.

For example, their causal coefficients increased as the longitudi-
nal period increased. The same effect was found in our six-country
study—in the Netherlands, in Poland, in Finland, in Australia, in
the United States. The size of the correlation between television vi-
olence viewing and subsequent aggressive behavior increastd as
children got older, from age 6 to age 10, indicating there is a cumu-
lative effect of continued watching of violence on television.

Other investigators have also demonstrated that violence viewing
can affect behavior in this cumulative way at even earlier ages.
Singer and Singer, in a study funded by ABC, followed a sample of
3- and {-year-olds over the course of a year, measuring a number of
variables at four different times, and concluded that violence is a
cause of increased aggressiveness even in children at that age. The
Singers state, “our data reflecting a third or fourth of the life span
of preschoolers, seems to point to a causal link between watching



N

164

TV, especially programs with violent content, and subsequent ag-
gression. Certainly our results seem to argue against attributing
the later watching of violent TV fare to an aggressive trend 1n per-
sonality or to some third underlying factor.”

Further, there is no evidenee from any of our own studies that
only those children who are already predisposed to being aggres-
sive will be affected by aggression and violence on television. Chil-
dren at all levels of aggression are affected. We found this to be
true in our l0-year longitudinal study done in New York State, our
4-year study done in lllinois, and in the replications of that study
done in five other countries. In each case, if you hold the previous
or characteristic aggression level of the subject constant, the rela-
tion does not diminish. In fact, 1n our 10-year study, if you consider
those subjects who at age 8 were not aggressive but were watching
violent television, by the time they were 19 they were significantly
more aggressive than those subjects who at age 8 were highly ag-
gressive but were watching less violent television. '

In our earlier study, the 10-year study, when we observed the tel-
-evision habits of 8-year-old children in 1960, and then restudied
these youngsters in 1970 when they were 19 years old, we found
the TV violence effect was true only for boys. In our more recent
studies with 6- and &-year-olds in the late 1970's, we found that
girls, too, are affected now. One reason may be that there now are
many more aggressive females on TV whose behavior can be mod-
¢led. Also, in society at large, aggression has become a more posi-
tively sanctioned behavior for females. At any rate, while earlier
we found that only 50 percent of thic population of youngsters were
vulnerable to the effects of violence on TV, now we have 100 per-
cent of our youngsters vulnerable to this effect.

Intelligence is often invoked as a third variable which might ex-
plain the relation petween television violence viewing and aggres-
sion. Certainly intelligence correlates with both of these variables.
However, in most observational studies the reseavchers have meas-
ured and partialled out the effect of intelligence and still detected
a significant relation. In our 3-year followup, when achievement
was partialled out, we still found a significant relation between tel-
evision violence viewing and aggression. For boys, the partial corre-
lation between violence viewing and aggression, controlling for in-
telligence, was lower than the raw correlation, but it was still sig-
nificantly positive. Essentially similar results were obtained in the
five, other countries in which “he study was replicated.

Like intelligence, social class is a third variable which is often
invoked to explain the relation beiween. two other variables. How-
ever, in our l0-vear longitudinal stuydy, partial correlations holding
soctal class, as measured by father's occupation, holding that con-
stant did not alter the relation between television violence viewing
and aguressive behavior. Similarly, in the recent J-year longitudi-
nai study, the correlation between television violence and agires-
sive behavior is not diminished when social class is controlled.

The same was true in the other countries as well. Thef recent
study by Milavsky and his associates is the one study yiclding
somewhat different results for social class. These sociologisfs. using
an unconventional measure of social class, found that the relation
between television violence and aggression disuppenred/ ‘hen they

¢ /
/
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controlled for social class. It should be noted, however, that this
wis the only one of many analyses they did controlling for possible
third variables, which showed a significant dimingtion in the rela.
tion between violence viewing and aggression. Thus, the confidence
in our consistent finding that no third variable studied thus far can
wiccount for the relation between television violence and subsequent
”%‘lﬁmvssion in children is not diminished.

What is the effect of the area of the country or the part of the

world where the study is done? Our 10-year longitudinal study was _

conducted in a semirural county in upstate New York from 1960 to
1970. Our recent 3-year study was done in a major urban area of
the United States, Chicago, and was replicated in five countries in
order to obtain wider variation of sociocultural factors and to test
the generalizability of these results, While a number of researchers
have reported results from other countries cumparable to the ones
I have reported, only a few have studied the effects of television
violence with comparable methodologies 1n more than one country.
A2 this s what we did.

The countries from v-hich we have collected data in the cross-na-
tional 3-year longitudinal study—Australia, Finland, Israel, Neth-
erfands, Poland, and the United States—lie in widely separated
areas of the world, have different political and economic systems,
and vary in the degree of goveramental control over television pro-
gramming. Although there are a number of differences in the tind-
ings from one country to another, it can be concluded that, in gen-
eral, the relation between the viewing of television violence and
subsequent_ agyrressive behavior on the part of the observer is not
limited by sociocultural environment. In each of the countries a
positive relation between the two obtains Further, in each of the
countries the size of thg relation increases as the children get
older. which is evidence of a cumulative offect, the same kind of
cumulative effect that Milavsky and his associates also found.

The variables 1 have been talking about so fur have been with
relatively stable fuactors—age, gender. IQ. and social status—which
act as potential limiters of the relation’ between television viewing
and behavior. However, there are other variables, perhaps more
modifiable, which also intervene in the relation between television
violence and aggression. These have to do with the youngsters' so-
called television habits, how frequently he watches, how much he
identifies with television characters, and how realistic he believes
televison to be. ¥

A violent progriam that is viewed only once in a while would not
be expected to have as much effect as a violent program viewed

regularly. Indeed, we found that the more frequently a_youngster

watches violence, the more frequently he watches his favorite vio-
tent programs, the more aggressive he becomes. These results sug-
pest, I think, why the movies on which those of us in older genera-
tions were raised did not have the same de! ~*~rious effect on us as
television is now having on young people. The serials that we at-
tended. the Saturdav matinees, they - ~toinly . .re violent. The
shoot-em-up westerns, the Three Stooge “iich in their reruns are
stll among the 1 ast aggressive progran... un television. were with
us then But the children werent exposed as 9ten as youngsters
are today [t as the mcessant, mexorable, ai o viteus aature of day-
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to-day television exposure that appears to have a profound effect
on the socialization of children. -

We found also that the more youngsters identify with television
characters, the more effect the television has cn their behavior. We
found also that, the less able they are to distinguish between fanta-
sy and reality—and this is a point that was brought out this morn-
ing by one of the Congressmen, I believe—the less clear distinctions
they make between fantasy and reality generally, between what
they see on television and realism as it is in life, tﬂe more they are
affected by television violence.

! would like to summarize this now. Television violence affects
youngsters of all ages, of both genders, at all socioeconomic levels
and all levels of intelligence. The effect is not limited to children
who are already disposed to being aggressive, and it is not restrict-
ed to this country. We have demonstra »d that children of at least
five other countries, with different political and economic systems,
varying in degree of control over television programing, are also af-
fected in their aggressive behavior by the violence they observe on
television. The fact that we get the same finding of a relation be-
tween television violence and aggression in children in study after
study, in one country after another, cannot be ignored. The causal
effect of television violence on aggression, even though it is not
very large. exists. It cannot be denied ¢r explained away. We have
demonstrated this causal effect outside the laboratory, in real life,
among many different children. .

We have come to believe from our studies that a vicious cycle
exists in which television violence makes children more aggressive
and these more aggressive children turn to watching more violence
to.justify their own behaviors. Statistically, this means the effect is
bidirectional. Practically it means that if media vioience is reduced,
the level of interpersonal aggression in our society will be reduced
eventually.

The one study in the face of all this contrary evidence which pur-
ports to show no causal relation between television violence and ag-
gression bases its conclusion on one analvsis in a whole series of
analyses. It is the contention of those investigators that the rela-
tion disappears when social classes control. However, we reiterate,
that in all of our studies, in New York, Illinois, five other coun-
tries. controlling for social class did not affect the causal relation
between television violence and aggression.

Finally. our studies have been criticized because it is said that
the kind of aggression in children that seems to be affected is no
more than boisterousness and inciviiity. It is true that our original

‘criterion measure of aggression as manifested in the classroom

does not directlv measure violent crime. However, this measure of
classroom acting out does predict vver 22 years to the number and
seriousness of criminal arrests, the number of traffic accidents and
moving violations, convictions for driving while impaired, and
extent of spouse abuse. Thus, the measure of aggression used in
these studies with children does reflect the kind of behavior with
which this subcommnmttee is concerned. These are not just trivial be-
haviors. They are predictive of violence and crime. '

Thank vou.

[The statement of Leonard Eron and Rowell Huesmann follows:]
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The Role of Television in the Development pf’ﬁﬁzlsocial Behavior . .
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We have been engaged in the study of agpressiye behavior in children tor

over 25 years. One of us published the first report of a large scale field study
implicating television violence as a likely cause of agpressiocn in children (Eron,
1963). One uf ug wrote the chapter on television vsiolence and aggressive behavior
for the NIMH report on Television and Behavior: Ten years of srientific progress
(Huesmann, 1982), and both of us were coauthors of the research wvhich has been
characterized as "scminal” in the original Surgecn General's report on Ielevision
and Social Behavior {Lefkowitz, Eron, Walder and Hucsmann, 1972). This study
documented the effect of televiaion violence over 10 years ou a large group of

. young persons first observed when they weve eight-years-old. Our research on the

effect of televiaion violence on behavior continues into the present. We have
recently completed a threa-year follow-up study of 700 youngsters in Il1linois.
This study has now been replicated in five other countries, Australia, Finland,
Tarael, the Netherlands, and Poland (Eron, Huesmann, et al 1983; Huesmann, Eron
et al., in presn; Huesmann, Lagerspetz and Erom, in press). We aleo have recently
cnmpleted 8 22-year follow-up on the subjects described in the Surgeon General'sa
Report (Eron and Huesmann, in press). ‘Ue will be referting to all of thege studids
in ‘this statement as well as to research done by a number of other investigators.
That there Im a consistent relation hetween television violence vicwing gnd
subsequent aggressive behavior on the part of the viewver is no longer disputed,
having been demonstrated mahy times both in the laboratory and in field investi-
gations (Huecsmann, 1982; Lefknwtiz and Hucsmann, 1981). Algo, there is little
doubt that this relation {s primarily one of cause and effect. True, the relation
in not a powerful one that explains a major portion of the variance. However, the

“wgrrelationsagsually obtained are certainly as high as thoge found in any other
research uit;“hnisgyallty variables, and the fact that the association holds up
under a wide var{ of experimental conditions and meagurement operationa increases
couf@dence in the ::T}dlty of the findings. .

Q
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While one can never demonstrate cause and effect with certainty from non-
wanipulative, field studies, the integration of field studies with 1atoratory
expoariments leads to a conclusion that television viewing and subsequent behavior
are causally related. Labaratory studies have shown conclusively that aggresaion
can be induced by television viewing. The results from field studies are naturally
less clear because of methodological complexities. However, causal effects in
longitudinal studies have been reported over ten years (Eron, Huesmann, Lefkowiez,
and Walder, 1972), over one year (Singer and Singer, 1981) and over three years
in s{x countries (Huesmann, Lagerapetz, and Eron, {n press). M{lavaky, Kessler,
Stripp, and Rubens (19R2), {n a multi-year longitudinal .etudy, funded by NBC,
found remarkably gimiiar results using the same analysis techniques. While their
conclusion was that a “causal offect wis not proven", their results are actually
cousistent with a comulative causal process that produces only small changes over
a few years. For oxample, thelr causal coefficlents increvased as the longitudinal
perfod fncreased. The same effect was found in our six-country study.



Obwivusly, televisfon violvuce does not have the same effect on everybody,
Some high Violence viewars are unaggrensive and some low violence viewers are -
agpressive. Under what conditions, and by what processen, doés the effect of
refevision on aggressive behavior become mantfest, and how is the effect exacer-
bated and/or mitigated? .The factors we have investipated are age, gender, 1Q,
social status,™and socio-culbural environment. Also important arc the amount

“of time spent vicwing, television (frequency cof viewing), identification of viewer

with TV characters, and tiow realistic’ the viewer believes television programs ¢
are. We will briefly surmarize the evidepce for how each of thesa varisbles
{nfluences the relation between television violence and Mchavior,

Age y

From results of our carlicr studies (Eron, Huos nn, Lefkowitz, and Walder,
1972; Lefkowitz, Eron, Walder and Huesmann, 1977) in which we followed a large
group of suqugts from age B to 19, we surmised that there must be a sensitive
prifod in a child's develupment, probably around age 8 to 12, when youngsters
are especially susceptible to the infiuence of violent television. This surnise
was based on our fi.ling that there was no relation between the violence of pro-
grams these subjects watched at age 19 and their aggressive Lghavior at that time,
although. there had been a signifigant contemporancous relation for the .ame sub-
lects at ape eight. Further, the correlation over time was larger than the early
‘contenporaneous one. This suggested there mipht be a, cumulative effect at least .
into-late chilqrood or the early adolescent yoars. .
* To check oun these suppositions and to determine the boundarine of .this
sensiti{ve period, we undertook a new three~year longitudinal study in which we
luvestigaged the television habits and aggressive behaviora of a group of 672
youngaters {n Oak Park, I11inois, a socially and- economically ‘heterogeneous
suburb of Chicago, and 86 children from two inner city parochial gchools in
Chicago (Fron, Huesmirs, Brice, Pischer and Mertmelstein, 19833 Hucsmann, Eron,
Klein, Brice and Fiacher, {n press). Half of the subjects wore in the firse
grade (age aix) and half in the third grade (age eight) at the beginning of the
date collection. During the first year of the study, the youngsters ware tested
in their classrcoms with a variety of paper and péncil procedures and their parents

were Interviewed individually. The children were subsequently tested again in both.-

the second and third years of the study with the same procedures. With this over-
lapping, longitudinal design, it was possible to separate aps effects from cohort
¢ffocth and trace the development of both televicion habits and apgrassive behavior
as well as the relation P:tuween thef from age six to age ten. This study has becn
or {a now _being replicated in five other cnuntries, Pinland, Poland, Australia,

‘n___,_,,—ehe*ﬂiiierlandﬂ and lsrael (Wuesmann, Laperspetz and Fron, {n press).

In grneral, we found that {ndeed the relation between telavision violence
viewlng and apgression g already emerping at age six, bhit the relation {g not as
substaitial and conslstent across samples of that ape as in sam; tes of 9 to 11~
year-olda. Such a finding {s consistent with the theory that the effect of vio-
lence is cumulative (Erun, Huesmann, Brice, Fischer and Mermelstein, 1983),

Other investigators have also demonstrated that violence viewing can affect be-
havior at even ecarlier ages. Singer and Singer (1981) for&oued a sample of three
and four-year-olds ever the rourse of a year, measuring a humber of variables at
fousr differcnt times and _oncluded thal vioi, ace {5 a cause of {ncreased aggressive-
urss even i children ac that age. The Singers state, “om data reflecting a third
or fourth of the }ife apan of preschoolers seems to point to... (a) causal link

‘ '
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between watchihiy LV, espectally programs with violent content and subsequent e
aggression. Cevtainly, our results seem to argua againat attributing the later R
vatching of violent TV fare to an aggressiva trend in personality or to some third 3
-underlying factor.” (Singer and Singer, 1%, p. 115),

et al., 1372) that once an individual has reached adolescence, behavioral predis-
pusitions and inhibitory controls would have become so crystallized that i. would

te difficult for television to influence patterns of characteristic behavior such

as aggression. Hrwever, more recently, Belann (1978) collccted data cn 1650 ) .
teen age boys in london and concluded that "the evidence is very strongly sup- N
portifre of the hypothesis that high exposure to tolevision violence fnc:cases the

degree to which boys engage in serious violence (p, 15)." Also, in - -fudy of

adolescents in the United States, Hartnagel, Teevan and McIntyre (1%/.; found a - S
afgnificant, though low, correlation between violence viewing and apggressive
behavior, Thus, it secms likely that television violence is a cause of aggressive
behavior over a wider age spectrud than previously suspected.

As for thE"uppér end of this susceptibility age range, we had argued (Eron, 2? L

~

However, because of a number of converging developmental trends, as demon-
strated in our recent devalopmental study (Rron, Huesmaun, Brice, Fischer, and oo .
Hermelstein, 1983), 1t is likely that children around age eight in the Uinited X -
States are especially susceptible to the influence of violent television. From ..
grades | to 5, children are becoming increasingly aggressive: also during that '
period the amount of television violence viewed increases from prade 1 to 3 and
then starts to decline. However, the child'h perception of televised violence as
tealintic declines frum grades 1 to grade 54§ Thus, in the United States, the kA
third grade moy be the center of an easpeciafly sensitive period when the factors R
are just right for television violence to hjve an effect. Some of the strongest
relations between television violence and byth simultaneous and later aggreasion
have been reported for children about this age (Cha€fee, 1972; Lefkowitz, et al.,
1977). Interestingly, howaver, the developméntal trends for aggression, violence )
vinvigg and realism ate somewhat different in some of the other countries inveski- .
gated. Thuas, ona effect of the specif.c gocialization processes employed in a
culture may be to alter the time of the sensitive puriod when telavision can have
its greateat effects’ .

There s no evidence from any of our studies that only those childran who

. ave ilready predlsposed to being agpressive witl be affected by aggression and

. violence on television. Children at all levels of aggression are affected. We
found thia to be true in our 10-year-longivudiral study done in New York State,
our three-year study done In 1llinois and in the renlications of th§t study done
fn five other countries, In each case, 1f you hold the previous or ‘characteristic
pgressfon level of the subject conatant, the relatfon does not diminish. 1In fact,
In .ur 10-year study, if you ronsider those subjects who ut age B8 were not agpres—
“ive bat were watching violent television, by the time they were 19 they were aipgni-
flcantly more 2 'uresslve than those subjects who at age 8 were highly aggeressive but
were watching less violent television (Lefkowitz, Eron, Walder and Huesmann, 1977).

N\
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What are the limits on the relstion between telovision violence and.sgpression
sat by gender? In our 1960 to 1970 longitudinal study, we had found & significant
effect for boys but mot for girls. During this same period, Schuck (1971) had
found similar differences between boys and girls in aggressive behavior after:
listening to 8 violent radio broadcast. One explanation for this difference in
effects on boys and girls was that in 1960, when the messures were taken originally,
there wore no female “aggressive models for girls to imitate. From an observational
leatning point of view, 8ll other things being equal, the most effective models
would be those most similar to the ohserver. Apd,.in 1960, females on television | -
served only as ohjects of violence or passive observers. A more complex socisl. .
lesrning point of view would implicate the kinds of behavior which are reinforced
in young girls as they grow up to become asdolescents and adults. In the United
States, at least during the period that thMese girls were Rrowing up and learning
their cocial roles - in the middle or late 508 ~ girls were discouraged from being
aggressive and participating in masculine like, large muscle sctivities. Thus,
sgpressive behavior was not relevant for them and would not easily be incorporated
into their repertoire of problem solving behaviors., Also, pirls who, ss has been
known, learn to spesk and read earlier than boys are more apt to engage in fantasy
type sctivities and imaginative play. As Singer end Singer have demonstrated (1981), .
prosocial imaginative play is related to reduced aggression. Also, the incressed
use of fantasy may lead to a greater annreciationof the distinction between fantasy e
and reslity. In 1960 and 1970, girle believed television was less realistic than
did hoys (Lefkowitz et al., 1977). Furtter, those girls who believed telsvision
was realistic were more aggressive than girla who did not believe television was
realistic and were more 1ike boya in other ways (e.g., they preferred boys' gasmes
to girlag pames and like to watch contact sports on television). Thus, it would
seen thn’ gender {s a limiting factor in the relation hetween television snd
aggression tu the extent that girls adopt traditional roles and eschew masculine-
type activities. . , . o

In our more recent three-year longitudinal study, we included measurements »
to evaluate the relative mevits of the observational lesrning and gender role
learning explanations for the discrepancy between the boys and gpirls in the tele-
vision violence-aggression relation. However, won found that now there is an
overall significant positive relation between the violence of the television pro-
grams a young girl watches and how aggresaive she is judped to be by her peers.

Even thouph boys in general obtain higher apgression mscores than girls and slso
watch sfgnifiecantly more violent television, the correlation between the two
viriables {s now actually higher for girls than for boys indicating they are now
cven more affected by television violence than are hoys. Further, a multiple
regrension analysis indicates that no matter what the initial level of sggression
of girly, those who watch more tetcvision violence are likely to become more
aggresstve than those who watch less. Hovever, as mentioned above, these more
recent data do not support a conclusion of undirectional casuality. Regressions
predicting TV violence viewinr from agpression revdaled that those girls who are
more aggressive also aremore likely to hecome heavi i violence viewers regardless
of their {nftial level of violence viewing. he Bidirectionality of the effect
suggests that a simple observational learningfmodel {s not sufffcient to explain '
the correlation between violence viewins andghggression for gir{a. It should be
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noted that while tﬁzre wore aimilar €indings of a positive correlatfon for girls

in Poland and the Metherlands, the finding was not replicated fn Finland and Isras!

in sll grades, although it vas in some pradass. o T

o~
s e

It doos not seem 1ikely that the-cerrent reiation between & girl"s aggression

and her violence viewing-ts die to the presence of wore aggressive fensle wmodels
—programs now than when the previous longitudinal study was done, although -
there are {ndeed many more such models. To test the influence of gender of TV

characters on the gbtainaed relation, television Progra™y were scored for the smount

of violence perpetrated by males and females. We found othat, repardless of the *
child's gender, there were higher correlations between the child's agpressiveness

and the child's vieving of a male character's violence than bytween aggressivensss

and the child's viewing of a femald character’s violence. This apparently
grester influence of male models on children has bean detected)in the data from .
other countries as well, Thug, it dces not scem roasonable attribuge the
emergeance of a relation between violence viewing and sggression in girls to the
more recent appearance of agrreasive female wodels on TV. But why should the
correlations betwaen television viewing and sggressive behavior now be even
higher for girle than for boys? One possibility ie that girla, who have & wmuch
lover sverage level of aggressiveness and are exposed less often to agrresaive
models in their everyday interactions, have a greater potentdal ‘for television
violence to change their behavior. . .

dntelligence
lli'\tnll'icen.co in often invoked as a third variable which might explain t¥e
relation between television violence viewing and agrression. Certsinly, intelli-

gence correlates with both thase variables. However, in most observational studies,

the researchers have messured and partialediout the effect of intelligence and

atill detected a aipnificant relation. In our three-year follow-up, when achieve-

ment was partialled out, we srill found a significant relation batween televigion
violenee viewing and aggression. FPor boys, the partial corrclation between vio-

- lence viewlng gnd aggression, cantrolling for achievement, was luue:#an the raw

Q
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correlation, bhut it was still afﬁnlflcantly positive, Essentislly
were obtained in the other countries in which-the study was replicated,

Social Status

Like intellipence, sucial class is a third variable which 4s often invoked
to explaln the relation between two other variables. However, i our .10~year
longitudinal study, partial correlations holding sacial class, measured by
father’s occupation, .constant did not alter the relation betwern television vio-
lence viawing and aggressive hehavior. Stmilarly, in the recent three-year
longitudinal atudy, the corrclation between television violence and agpressive
hehavior is nat diminished when social class {n' controlled, The wame waa true
{n the other cnuntries ag well. The recent study by Milavsky e al (1983) is
the one study ylelding somewhat different results for rocial class. These
sociologists, using an unconvent{onal measure of mocial class, found that the
relat{on between televis{on violence and aggression disappeared when they con-
trolled for soclal class. It should be noted, however, that this was the only
ane of many analyses they did cn‘;;nlling for possible third variables,which
ahowed a significant dimfnutfon the relation botween violence viewing and

aggrensfon.  Thus, the confldience In our ronsistent finding that no third variable
studied thus far can account for the relation between television violence and sub-

sequent aggression {n children 13 not dimin{ghed.
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Sutjo-tultural Eny.ronment

*  Whae {8 the uffect of tha area of the county or part of the world where the

study is done? Our 10-year longitudinal study was conducted in a semi-rural X
county {n upstats New York frum 1960 to 1970. Our recent 3-year study was tone -
in a major urban aves uf the USA (Chicago) and was replicated in 5 countries .
In order to ohtain wider variation of rocio-cultural factnrs and test the generali- L
2ability of the regultsu., While a numher of regearchers have reported rcsults from S ¥
oth¢r countries, comparahle to those reported above for the USA (e.z., Belson, 1978; *
Gransberg & Steinbring,,1980:  Krebs and Grochel, 19773 Murray and Kippax, 19773 i
Williams, 1978: only a few have studied the effects of television violence with ) L
comparable methadologles in more than one tountry (e.p., Parke, Berkowite, Leyéns,
Wast and Sebastiau, 1977), s

The countries from which we have collected data in the cross-national three-
year longitudinal study (Australia, Finland, Israel, Netherlands, Poland, and
USA) lie {n widely separated arcas of the gorld. have different political and =
economlic systems and vary in degree of governmental control over television pro- 5
gramning. Although there are a number of aubatantial differcnces in the findings
from one country to another, {t can be concluded that in general, the rvelation
between the viewing of television violence and subsequent aggressive behavior on
the part of the observer i{s not 1imited by socio-cultural environment. 1In each of
the countries, USA, ¥inland, Poland, Australia, the Netherlands, and Isrsel, a
positive relation hetween the two obtalns. - Further, in each of the countries, the
nlze of the relation  {ncreascs as the children get older - which is evidence of
a4 cunulative effect;, the samo kind of cumulative effect.that Milavsky and his
associares (1983) also found.

¢ So far we have considered gome relatively stable factors (i.¢., age, Render,
1Q and soctal status) ans potentianl limiters of the violation between television '
viewing and behavior. Howvever, there are orher varfables, perhaps more modifiable,
which alse {ntervene in the relation between televisfon violence and aggression.
These have to do with the voungstors' so called television hahits, how frequently
he watches, how moch he {dentifies with the television characters and how realistic
he balleyes television to ber .

Intensity of Viewing

One {mportant mediating variable obviously would be the intensity with which
a child watchea television {n general and particulariy the {ntensity with which he
or she watches violent programs. A violent program that is viewed only onte in a
while would not be expected to have as much effect as a vielent propram viewed
regularly. While older studies (Eron, 1963: Fron et al., 1972; Rohinson and
Bacthma, 1972) had found no relation between tatal amount of viewing aud agpres-
sfon, MeCarthy, Langer, Cerateln, Efsenberz and Orzeck (1975) veported that fre-
quency of viewing was ralated to agrresslon. Similarly, two studies which were
done {n areas where television was recently introduced (Granzberg and Steinbring,
1980; Wiltlams, 1978), bhoth sugrested that frequency of viewlinug was a crocial
varfable, In these and the cCavthy, Lanper, Gerstein, Ficenberg and Orzeck (1975)
study, amaunt of television vicewed appeared to be a critical poteatlating variable
tn eltcdeing the relarton betwren violent television and aggressive hohavior.
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In our more recent thiee-year Jongitudinal slu%y. the remults suppore this
Interpretatton of frequency as a potentiating varlable. The correlations between
intensity of viewing and peor-nominated aggression were nositive and nignificant.

A program ethat {8 viewed once tn a while does not have a significant éffect on a
child's uggresn{vencss, no matter how vislent the progran is. 1In fact, a violence
viewing score unweighted for frequency did not correlate at all with appressiveness.
It may be, as rome arousal theoriscs have argued, that excessive viewing, regard-
less of content, stimulates aggressive behavior., Studies cited by Dorr (1982)
{ndicate that agpressive behavior may result au much«frdm arousal produced bv
hectie sequences in both the commerelals and the programa as from specific imi- '
tat off of apgressive acts. Singer and Singer (1961) demonstrated that children

who were constatently heavy viewers of the zore frenetic type of propramning such
as the "Cong Show" and cven “Scsame Strect” showed Increascd/ippressive behavior

fn the nursery school three months oy more later. These results supgerst why the
rovies, on which older gnnarations were raised, did not have the same deleterious
ctfuct .on young moviepoers as television. The serial movies, the Saturdav matinees
were certuinly violent. 1The “ghoot 'en up Westetns", and “The Three Stooges",
which in their reruns are sed among the mont agpressive programa on television,
warg with us them; bhut the children weren’t exposed an often ag voungsters are
today., Tt iy the inceasant, {nexorable, ubiquitous nature of day-eo-day television
exposure that appears tu have a profound effect on the soclalization of children.

Popularit y N

Indtvidual differences in popularity among one's Meers may also play a role
an a medlaefng variable In the aggression/vinlence viewing relation, Previous
studien (Schramm, Lyle and Parker, 1%961) have showm pthat youngsters with poor
snclal relations spend more time watching television. °Thus, it would be expected
that children®whe, are not popular nmang their peers watch more telovigion. In
our ten-year longltudinal study, we indecd found that the less popular child eurned
to vatehing more and more telovision., At the same time, the less popular child
truded to he a more aggressive ¢hild. “In the current cross national study, we
feund aigni ficant negative earrclations between ropularity and aggression in almost
All countrics and gradea tn both penders.  One nay hypothesize that the lesa pop~
ular child, lacking social reioforcement s, watches televicion to ohtain vicariously
the gratifications dented tn soeial interactions, Lengitudical regression analysis
{adleat«d that for bath genders, unpopularity indeed led to an increase in tele-

visfon violence viewing, .
N .
ddent it feation virh 1y Characters -

-
While thee wright of cvidence avens to Indfcare that all viewers are moat
Pikelv to tmitate «n herore, uvhite mate actor. Individnal differences should not

Ledponred. It may be that sone ehildien identify much more with sope actors
el bl st ification mediates the relation hetveen violenee vicwing and apgres—
ivenese. Suchoom ddent fficatfon wonld be {mporeant nat just in an observationa!l

Ledtning sodel but alan in a model which cmphaslzed noras or standards of hehav,or.
The mor the chited fdeat1fies with the actors who ate apgressors or victims, the

more Tikely dn the (g to e influencothy the weope, believiag that the behaviors
wte appropriate and ta be expedtod, .
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To test' this theory In our threc-yoar studv. we askod each child how auch
he/she was 1ike several characters on.television. The characters included two -
agpressive males, two aggressive females, twn unaggreasive males, and two un-
agprressive femnleu. Fron their responses, reliable identifieqtion scorea vare
derlved. . ) .

Not uurpriainuly. the identiffcation with apsressive characters score cor-
related significantly with aggressiveness, particularly for boys. More intares--
ting was the discovery that identification with approrsive TV charactera inter—

acted with violence viewing to establish an even stronger relation with agarssaion.
Those boys who watch vinlent television and idedtify. with aggresaive TV characters

are predictably more aggressive two yeard later rogardless of their initial level
of aggressivencaa. Identification with apgressive characters gceems to be & cata-
lyst substintially incressing the effect of television violence on boys. ldanti-

fication with aggresaivé TV characters by itself is a good predictor of aggression,
hut not as slgnificant a predictor as {es product with television violgpce viewing.

Araie

Fanrasz Reality Lscrlminatlbg;

Another potential mcdlating variable in the relation between television
violence and aggressive hehfvior might be a child's ability to discriminate
between fantasy and reality as portrayed on television. Violent scenes per-
ceived as unrcalistic by Ahe child should be less likely to affect the child's
behavior. Some evidency for this effect has been provided by Peashbach (1976).°
As a result, nne might expect that individual differences on this variable could
2termining who would be most affected by television vio-

-

lence.

In the three-y¢far longitudinal study, we measured children's perception of
televialon violenc¢¥ as fantasy or reality by asking them “how much do you think
‘propram x' tells/about life like tt really 4a?7 Just like 1t really 187 A
tittle like it {87 Not at all Iike. it {s?" Thay wore askéd this.question about
ten violent propgrama, and their scores were the sum of thefr responses for the

shows they had watched,

In the earlier ten-year longitudinal study (Lefkowitz, et al., 1977) it

had been found that girls thoupht television was significantly less realistic
than boys. It was hypcthesized that this might be one of the reasons for the
lack of a significant longitudinal relation hetween violence viewing and aggres-
s«lon for girls at that time. In support of this hypothesis were data indicating
thit the wore aggressive a girl vas at both «<Ge 8 and 19, the mnre realistic she
thought television was. In cur current study, rawever, we have found that Rirls
and boys now perceive televirion violence to bhe 2qually realistic (Huesmann and
Iron, In press). These positive correlations ringed from .11 to .25 dependin

on the gender and grade of the subjects, and there wera no systematic differcpfices
though, as indicated previously, the child's perception of TV violence as reglias-

tic declines dramatically with age. This adds valddity to the theory that fantasy-
reality discriminations also mediate the effect of TV violenqe, n ageression since,
as pointed out above, pirls and boys now display an equally strong relation between
vialence viewing and aggression. Thus frétuancy of viewing violence, identification
with TV characters and the tendency to interpret television as realistic would seen

to be significant mediating variables in the relation between tele¢ision violence
andl apgresalve behavior in boys.
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One final mediatfrs ariable that ghould be considerd s the e¢hild's use .
of fantasy. Some theorists have argued that a child who reacts to tnlevia%g;r”
vinlence by fantasizing about apgreasive acts might actually beenme leas aygres-
sive (Peshbach, 1964). ihile no research has ever reported finding such nega-
tive corrclation in a field stucy, this variation of a catharsis theory sti11
raiser its head from time to time. A more compelling argument exists that fan-
tasizing about agpreasive acta observed ot TV through davdrdaming or imaginative
play should increase the probability that the aggressive acts will he performed,

In aupport of thfy theory, Singer and Siwger (1981) report that children who engage
in mure prosocial imaginative #lay and fantasy are less appressive.  The hypothe-
sic is that these ~hildrer' have rehearscd progocial behaviers sufficiently for them
to become dominant :--sponsges. . ,

In the current tﬁ.-:-yoar vrosg-national study, aggressive and active-heroic
fantasy were measured w :h the Children's Fantasy Inveutory (Rosenfeld, Huesmann,
Erontand Torney-Purta, 1'32). On this 45-item questionnalre, children reporg
how often they engage in 'ifferenc rypes of fantasy activity. In the Chigapo
sampll, ve found signific. poaftive 'correlations between peer-nominated ageres-
sion and both fantasy variables for boys and girls. The correlation betwoen
aggresalon and active-hernic fantasy was the highest for girls (r=.17, p .001)
and the correlation hatwecn aps ression 9nd aggrecsive fantasy was highest for
boys (r=.20, p .001) (Huesmann and Eron, in press). These results are consonant
with rhe hypothios{s thay aghressive fantasising scrves ag a congitive rehearsal of
aggressive acts and {ncresses the likelihvod of thelr emisnion.

. .

A Process Mndel - ) ,

e have been consldering a number of variables which define the limiete within
which the effect of viewing television on the subsequent pacial bt~ r ehlld-
ren i3 vperative. We turn now to a cvonslderation of likely =» expaal .« how
thia effect comes abour. - g

’r

o One aspect of the model has to do with arousal effects, Resea.-hers have
alluded to this process as important tn activating agpressive behaviors, It hae
been, hypothesized that a heipghtened gtate of ti- 5 an including a strong physlo-
logical cémpanent, tagllts from frequant sevsa’ .n of high action pequences.
Arousal here {8 seen as both a rrecurger Bnd  onsequence of apgression (Huesmann,
1982). Another aspect of the model has to do {th the rehearnal 3f the behaviors
the child vhuerves on the nart of his favorite T characters. The more frequencly
the child rehcarsen the quuonro by continued v swing, the more Ikely is {t ta~
be remembered and reenacted when the younpster {s In a situation perceived to be
simfiar. - Further, by consintently observing apprénsive behavior, the youngster
comes to bilieve thege are expected, approoriate woys ol behaving nnd that most
people solve problems in living that way, Horms for apprupriate behavior are
established and nttltudes are formed or changed by observation of other persons’
frequent hehavior, especially {f rhat behavior {5 sanctiared by authority figures
(Tower, Singer, Sipger and Biggs, 1976). The chitd who has been watchlog pro-
grams with primirily aggressiv content comes away with the impresaion thee the
wrld {3 a funple fraughe with dangerous threats and the only wav to survive iy
to be on che attack.
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However, televidlon's (nflucace conpnt be explained solely in terms nf
arousal nrfobservat tenat learning and the seeting 6f norms of behavior. As
we've said before, ageressive behavior is overdeteenmined, and the variables
ve've been discuasing all contribute their effects. The process, however, Gecms
to be circular. Television violence viewing leads to heightened apgressiveness
which In turn leads to more televigion vinlence viewiug. Two mediating variables
which appear to play a role in this cycle ar2 the chiild’s academic achievement
and sdedal popalarity. Children who behave ajpressively are less popular and,
perhapys because their relations with thelr peers tend to be unsatisfying, less

-popular children watch more. television and view mroe violence. The violence

O
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they see on television may veassure them that thelr own behavior is appropriate
or teach them new coercive teehniques which they then attempt to use in their
interactions with others.  Thus, they behave more agprecsively which In turn
maken them even lesy popular and drives them back to televigion., ‘The evideace
nupparts a aimilar role for academic failure. Those childrea who fail in
schnol wateh more television, perhaps because they find it more satinfying

than schoolwork., Thus, they are exposed tn more violence and have more opportu-
uity to learn aggresrive acts. Since their intellectual capacities are more
limited, the easy appressive snlutions they observe may be Incorporated more
readily inte their behavioral rppbrtniru. In any case, the heayv violence
viewiug 1rolates them from thélr neera and gives then less time tn work toward
academic success. And of course, any resulting Incre. se {n agagression {tealf
dimipishes the child's popularity. Thus, the eycle continues with aggression,
academic f¢tilure, social failure and violence viewing reinforeing each other.

One final peint has to ¢1 with the type of antisocfal behavior being pre-
dicted in'these studler., A criticismthat has been levelled at nur criterion
mrafure of apgression as wl as the measures used in other studies is that they
do not tap rerlous intisocial or criminal hehavior but at most reflect such
bghavinra as hot:terouaness and incivilit."? True, our original criterion measure
of appreaston taps into the kinds of agproaive behaviors which show un 4n the
classrvom and, although thia meacure samgfes phyaical fifhting, steali.g, and
verbal abuse, it doch not directly myrwffre violent crime. However, we know from
our 22 sear longitudinal study ghat this measure of (lassroom acting out is
bredictive of number and werlousnesh of criwinal arrests, number of traffic

extent of spduse abuse-(Eron & Huesmann, in press). Thus, the megfures of
agpression used {n these studles % ith chijdrén does indecd {udicdte the kinds
of behavior witn which thia subcommittee is concerned,  These are not just
trivial behaviors. thiy are predictive of s{olence and crime.

acvideats an« moving violations, convictions for driving white ij;:};od and

~

d.ge
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Mr. HuGHes. Thank you very much, Dr. Eron.

First I would like to ask the panel if they would like to react to
anﬁ other participants’ presentations? Arv comments on——

r. PEARL. Since I was first initially, perhaps I should be the®
first to comment. _ . -

I agree with most of the remarks that have been made. I think it
is appropriate, as Professor Cook pointed out, to understand that

. effects need not be huge in order to have a significant impact. The
fact that Professor Eron points out. there is consistency in all kinds
of research with respect to these effects I think lends serious sup- -
port to the importance of the problem and the fact that these con-
clusions carn be used as a basis for further consideration.

I do think, as was pointed out, that television portrayals can ‘set
the agenda for the beliefs of individuals concerning what they will

- experience in the world in the nature of law enforcement and the

kinds of crimes that are apt to occur, and that these may be, as
portrayed on television, far from reality. '

Mr. HucHEs. Anybody else?

I think it was Professor Coo.. that concluded from his studies and
_observations, that although there is a causal relationship between
- violence on TV and actual violence or aggressiveness on the part of

individuals, that it was a factor, but not a maji:)r factor, in the over-
all crime problem. Would you all agree with that? .

-+ . Professor ERoN. Yes; I certainly would. It would be silly for us to
say that television violence is the only cause of aggression and vio-
lence and. :rime. ) . _ o

Mr. HucHEs. Not enly that it is not the only——

Professor EroN. But it is of significance. I think, in study -after
study, we find that television violence, independently, can explain
about 10 percent of the variance. Now, 10 percent is not a large
number. It is. small, and there is 90 percent that is not accounted
for. °

Mr. HuGHes. What are the major factors from your observations?

Professor. ERON. Oh, I think the behavior of parents, the models
that parents themselves present, is a factor. There are certain
kinds of deprivations in society that might be a cause. Frustration,
all kinds of things that youngsters learn from their peers, not just
from television, all of those are factors. But television, in and of
itself, independent of anything else, %n account for 10 percent of
the variance. .

1 Mr. HUuGHES. Are there any other factors such as the paren
model that attributes for more of a percentage?

Professor ERoN. No; I don’t know of any other factor that con-
tributes, in and of itself, inore than 10 percent.

Mr. HugHes. Would you agree with that, Professor?

Professor Cook. It depends on-what you mean by a cause. Unfor-
unately, I would think that issues of drugs, rate, and sociceconomic
backgfound account for a lot more of .. » variance than the 10 per-
cent Professcr Eron has told you a%put.

Professor LRoN. I would think it is not particularly race or socio-
economic factors, but the kinds of behaviors and things that indi-
viduals learn in different sociceconomic backgrouuds themselves.
But there ure different behaviors that are learneda and it is these

. that are important.
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Dr. PrarL. I think there is a very complex interaction between
socioeconomic circumstances -and what kinds of - behavior occurs.
Within 'any socioeconomic level there are quite a few differences of

beh:wijrs, differencesin backgrounds. Families differ in terms of
- the klifds of close support they may give their members, the models
which/they portray. I think these are important within any socio-
econymiz class grouping, I think it is for that reason that the whole

question. of television and behavior and crime generally is such a
difficult one, because there are complexities that involve the inter-

- action of a number of different. things which may be predisposing

¢

but not sufficient causes and jt may take several different constel-
lations in order to really relate to the occurrence of a behavior.
Professor Cook. Could I add something on that point, if [ may?
Mr. HuGugs. Yes. ' - . '
Professor Cook, When 1 stated.that the .effect, in my judgment,
was small, I did note that that is in studies that examined televi-
sion and violence over a 3-year period. But during that 3-year
peri(_)d(.’ the effect got larger ard larger the longer the time period
studied. : .
W, most children watch television for considerably more.than
3 yéuss, so the final word is not in yet as to the amount of in-
creased agpressiveness caused by, television. My remarks were lim-
ited to 3 years of viewing violence on television,
Mr. Hucues. Professor Eron, you alluded to the conclusions.
reached by Dr. Milavsky in his studies. As I undergtand it, your’
criticism of his conclusions are that, first of all, the study itself was

" only a very small part of the averall studies, and in*hisq(u\dy there

was not enough data to reach the conclusions that he reached:,

I believe, if I understand you correctly, it is that social class iso-
lation that provides the inability on your part to subscribe to the
conclusions that he reached. Is that essentially correct? '

Professor Eron. Generally that is so.'] have a lot of respec
the work that Dr. Milavsky and his associates have done. Itw, .
very careful. bedutifully done study. I have no objection to that. . -
tually, there is very littie disagreement between his actual cmpisi-
cal findings and ours. It is the interpretation that he puts on his
indings that I do not agree with. He bases his interpretation really
on one analysis in whick he controlled for social class, and did this
in half of his subjects by taking the social class of the parents and
in the other ‘half using the general socioeconomic level of the
schools to which those children went.

Now, that is not a very good indication of each child’s social

class—that is not a measure that is traditionally used. The usual
measure for social class is occupation of the father, education.
income. that kind of a measure, individually for any one child.
“That is the measure that we used in our studics. We used that
measure in New York State, with 875 children, in Oak Park, IL,
with 750 children, and with over 1,300 subjects in these 5 other
countries. And when we are using that measure, whicl I think is a
better measure because it is related to each individual child, and
the family background which that particular child has, in all of
those studies we fird *here 15 no dirninution in the relation be-
tween televisian wiolence and aggression when social class is con-
trolled. That was my objection to Milavsky's findings.

1&
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¢  Also, as Dr. Cook pointed out, there does seem to be over a 3-year
period a cumulative effect, that the relation becomes stronger and :
stronger, and certainly in our 10-year study we found that.

Mr. HugHis. Another aspect of Dz. Milavsky's study—and I be-
lieve his conclusion—was that even though the antisocial effects of
violence and TV are statistically significant,- nevertheless it .is not
large enough to be meaningful in a practical sense.

. What do you have to say about that? :

Professor ERoN. Oh, I think 10 percent is large enough when you

thiak -of all the crimes that are committed. Ten percent is a huge

- number. And as Dr. Cook pointed out, this is one area where we.

can do something. You can’t do anything ‘about heredity, very

. much, you can’t do too much about socioeconomic conditions of

families, you can’t do much about childrearing practices, whatever

it is that causes youngsters to be aggressive. But #n this area,
- which, among all possible causes, still accounts for 10 percent, = -

there is something that can be done. L

Mr. HucHes. What do Kou think we can do as a practical matter?

Professor ERON. I think the level of violence on television has to
be reduced somehow. The television networks have to come to the
point where they admit this and they do something about it. I am
not advoecating any censorship or anyt. ing of that sort, but I
think—the television networks have to regulate themselves the
amount of violence that permit to be porirayed in their program-
ming. - : . .

. Mr. Huckes..As I understand their testimony—and they will be

- testifying very shortly—their conclusion is that there are no per-
suasive studies that show that causal relationship. My question
would be, given the fact that we're talking about social behavior, |
which is very hard to measure and not the type of thing where you
will find a “smoking gun”’ type of evidence, where the presumption
is clear and convincing or beyond a reasonable doubt, as we like to
say in the legal profession, what additional evidence could we
adduce? We can't take a picture of the human .iind. ‘

Professor ERON. In my opinion, and in the opinion of NIMH, the
Surgeon General and other people, there is enough evidence. The
television networks don’t agree, and that’s their privilege. But 1
certainly think any reasonable individual looking at the evidence
will say, indeed, there is something here. .

Mr. HuGhEs. Dr. Pearl, I am particularly interested in some of
the subtle ‘.. .uences of the media, such as viewer habituation, sen-
sitization, and the occurrence of violence. Do you believe, for in-
stance, that a sequential showing of the destructive and painful
consequences of aggression would limit that particular effect?

Dr. Peart. I think it probably would help in that direction. I cer-
tainly don’t know whether, by itself, that that would, have that
kind of an effect completely, but it would certainly helphin that di-
rection on the basis of at ﬁaast some little evidence that has been
generated in the past years. I think in too many programs we have
a sanitized level of violence, particularly it seems to me in many
children's programs, cartooning, for example, in whith someone
gets practically destroyed, run over by a steam roller or what have

-you, and bounced back. : .
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I know it is fashionable among some to say that cartoons and

.8uch are obviously fantasy and would not have this kind of an
- imnpact and should not be considered along with thé other kinds of

programming. But I think there are enough studies which indicate,
indeed, that children who watch hédvy diets-of cartoons that have
a good deal of violence are the more aggressive children in compar-
4s0n to their peers who watch less of that.

Mr. HuGHEs, Professor Cook reaches th conclusion that it is the
cumulative impact that is really significaft. In fact, if I understand
your testimony correctly, one of the criticisms directed at Dr. Mi-.
lavsky's conclusions is ti:at the ct\mulative impact is not taken into
account, .

Do all the panelists agree that cumulative impact of violence on

V over a period of years, increasing as the individual gets oider
and comprehends more, as.they interract with others, are able to
use those traits that he or she might pick up from TV and becomes

~more important and significant?

Dr. PEARL. 1 wouldcertainly say it has a cumulative impact in at
least two areas, the one that we are speaking about, perhaps in-
creased aggressiveness, but as I alluded to, there is a cumulative

~impact also in changing attitudes in terms—particularly for chil-

dren, but I think for others, too—in‘terms of a growing acceptance
that a higher level of Violence may be normal in one’s world and
on that basis perhaps a greater readiness to accept that kind of be-
havior as being normal and not to become indignant with respect
to those kinds of behaviors, or attempt to do anything about t‘l):eat.

I think that is an effect, also, that is less talked about but which
I think is really not less important, at least for a society’s long

range';é(l)als and benefits,
" Mr.

UGHES, TV has obviously a very profound impact upon in-
dividuals, and often it is very difficult to distinguish between fact
and fiction in some Programming. How much of the simulation
from TV of what the real world is like is in evidence, in your stud-
ies? How much, for instance, does the unreal world—that is, the
high incidence of TV violence—become a part of the psychic of the
individual? Have the studies indicated anything?

Dr. PEARL. I think there are plenty of studies which indicate that
young children particularly, but not restricted to young children,
even when a program on the basis of those adults that have devel-
oped supposedly as fictional, that that is accepted as being real and
a part of many of these viewers. There is enough evidence to indi-
cate that when programs or violence on programs is seen as being
real, that that has a greater impact when thete is a clear recogni-
tion on the part of the viewers that it is fictional,

t seems to me that this is a characteristic that programmears are
going to have to take into account later, not just what they intend
but what the actual conseguences turn out to be. I think there is a
great deal that tesearch can show, that much of the research can
be helpful, I think. to the broadcast industry and others daveloping
programs, if they would only use it instead of feeling that research
is adversary and‘is really out, in a sense, to pin them in a corner
and to blame them. I don't think there are many responsible indi-
viduals who will say that any of this is the result of a deliberate
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attempt to create certain kinds of %fects. I don’t think so. I think
“many of these are untoward effects,sout they are real effects.

-*%  Mr. HucHgs. Dr. Lichter, in your report you state “Of course, a

-policeman’s life may not be dull, but neither is it always entertain-

ing to others.” One could hardly expect many television plots to re-

-, volve around cases of vandalism and littering, and while’ drunken-

ness may be a major health problem; how many ways cah you film

“The Days of Wine and Roses"? Nine hours of nightly prime time

quickly consumes an awesome amount of stories and dialog and- it

.is easier to maintain audience interest with dastardly deeds than .

with relatively hum-drum stuff of everyday police work. Over the -

lémg(-i run, “Dragnet’s” Joe Friday just can't compete with ‘‘James

ond. : . '

People from the media say that such a statement is an absolute
rﬁspgnse to much of your criticism. Would you want to comment on
that o : : g

Dr. Lxcm':é. Yes. First I would like to say that I do think there
are commercial ‘pressures that are. brought to bear on the types of
programs that are chosen to remain on the air. I would not.deny
that. But I would like to make some additional statements.

N First, there is at least one study I know that was a very innova-
Mve little study, that took an episode of “Police Woman,” which
was a very violent show, and they showed it two different ways:

First -with all of the violence in it, and then they chopped out the
violence. But that’s all they did. They basically left the plot line

‘intact. They found that when théy gave .this little test to people,

the people who saw the violent episode didn’t like it any better or
?ny worse than the -people who saw the episode without the vio- .
ence. ,

So what I am trying to say is I think perhaps-it may take a little
more creativity on the part of the people who put these programs
together. But [ think they can make programs without s¢ much vi-
olence that will be appeaf;ng. . :

. Furthermore, I have some surveys in front of me that show that
about three-quarters of the American public think there is too
much violence on televisizii, that television violence is dangerous
and that it is not particularly enjoyable. So, perhaps the public is
ready for something diffe..ent. :

Mr."HucHes. Thank you

The gentleman from Coniecticut.

Mr. Morrison. I have no questions.

Mr. HucHes. Well, thank you. ] want to thank the banel very
much for their contributions. Your testimony has been very help-
ful. quite insightful, and we are indebted to you. _

Mr. HuGhes. Our next panel, the final panel of today, consists of’
J. Ronald Milaveky, vice president, news and social research. NBC;
Alan Wurtzel, director of news. developmental and social research
of ABC; and Philip A. Harding, director, projects research, CBS/
Broadcast Group.

Gentlemen, if you will come forward at this point, we have your

© statements whi -h, without objection, wiil be inade a part of the

record. You may proceed as you see fit. We would like it if you
could possibly summarize for us.

.
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? I'am going to turn the chair over at this time to the gentleman .
j from Connecticut. [ have to 8o over to the Capitol for:just a few
! minutes, but I will be back shortly.
* Mr. MogRRisoN [presiding]. Have you chosen ap order in which
you would like*to proceed? s
Mr. HakrpinG. I think we can do it'as indicated on the agenda.
Mr. Morgison. If you would proceed, then, Thank you. .

STATEMENTS OF J. RONALD MILAVSKY, VICE PRESIDENT, NEWS

“AND SOCIAL RESEARCH, NATIONAL BROADCASTING CO., INC; -
ALAN H. WURTZEL, DIRECTOR OF NEWS, DEVELOPMENTAL
AND SOCIAL RESEARCH, AMERICAN BROADCASTING CO., INC,; .
AND PHILIP A. HARDING, DIRECTOR, SPECIAL PROJECTS RE. B
SEARCH, CBS/BROADCAST GROUP ' T

Dr. MiLavsky. My name.is Ron Milavsky. I am vice president,
news and social research, of the National Broadcasting Co. I. head
‘the NBC department responsible for learning all we can about the
social effects of television. I hold a Ph.D. in sociology from Colum- - '
bia Univerrity and have published a major study in thi discipline. _.

*+  For the past 14 years, I have directed- NBC'’s study of ghe possible .
social consequences of depictions of violence on television, The de-
partment began that study in 1969, That was the same year the
Surgeon General of the United States was directed to-conduct an
investigation of that issye. g

Until that time, the research aimed at determining whether vio- .
lence on television causes aggressive behavior w3gs based on three”
“approaches: laboratory experiments, field experiments, and sur-
veys. Each of these encounters serious limitations when applied to
the issue of television and aggression in real life.

Recognizing these limitations, the Surgeon General’s report of
1972 suggested that a longitudinal panel survey might be more ap-

\  propriate to get at the issue of causality in real life. An increasing
number of social scientists agree. Our book, "“Television and Ag-
gression: A Panel Study”’—which I have brought with me and 1
thiuk you have A copy of—represents the first major study . to be
published using this approach coupled with state-of-the-art analytic
methods.

The key element of the panel survey is repeated measurements
of the television viewing and aggression of the same individuals at
several points in time. This enables the researcher to examine tele-
vision's possible causal role by studying changes in aggression as
related to prior television viewing under real-life conditions. ‘This
design is the best available to address the central question of con-
cern to the public: Does television violende cause young viewers to
behave aggressively over the long term?

Our project studied 3,200 children and teens of diverse socioeco-
nomic and ethnic backgrounds in two midwestern cities over a 3-
year period. Procedures for the selection of this sample were de-
signed to maximize opportunities for the detection of any impact: of
a steady diet of television violence on the long-term development of
aggressive behavior patterns. Because of this focus, short-term
arousal or imitative effects of the sort studied in the experimental
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literature are not addressed. Our study looked for persistent

.- change in behavior as u result of television viewing. :

" _ Concerning young tgo{s, the data show clearly that the great ma-

_ ,{9nty are not antisocially aggressive. The problem with aggression
ies with the few who exhibit a great deal of it. Qur analytic inves-
tigations focused on searching for evidence that television was
causally implicated in this aggression.

We conducted a considerable number of causal -analyses to maxi-
mize our.changes of producting valid f'mdinfs and of detecting an
effect of television exposure, if it existed. All these analyses, indi-
vidually and as a whole, fcund no evidence that television exposure
has a. consisterit or statistically significant effect on the boys.

Our analyses accounted’ for such possibilities' as measurement
error, which occurs in all studies of this type; for the possibility v
that the causal relationship might exist among children with spe- '
cific amounts of exposure, perhaps only thosé who viewed the most
television; and the possibility that only children who were predis- ,
posed toward aggression by virtue of their particular personalities .-
or social backgrounds would be affectef.}None of these or other
deeper investigations found evidence.that a television effect was
there for elementary schoolboys:~

We also made a study of elementary schoplgirls. The data
showed that girls are considerably less aggressive than boys.

As was true for boys, the basic causal analysis did not show sta-
tistically significant indicatiens of a causal influence of television
on girls. In fact, the relationships in these analyses are quite simi-
lar to those obtained for boys. . '

Further, the same sets of additional analyses applied to boys

. were also applied to girls. They confirmed that the lack of consist-
ent statistically significant association which was found among
boys is replicated among the elementary schoolgirls.

_ n our study of teenage boys, we found that, like younger boys,

. most teens are not aggressive. However, we found that there is
more differentiation of aggression among teens than among ele-

~ mentary schoolchildren. Factor analysis revealed four separate di-

* mensions: there is personal aggression, aggression against property
aggression against teachers, and there is delinquency, a measure of
very serious aggression.

The analysis approach for exploring the existence of a causal
connection between television exposure and the three milder forms
of aggression was similar to that used for the younger respondents.
Agajn, we found no significant causal association between televi-
sion exposure and pérsonal, property, or teacher aggression. The
conclusion was corroborated in further analyses which aimed at de-
tecting causal effects by taking into account each of the large
nlt{mber of factors which might have hidden the existence of such
-effects. ‘

Of our four measures of aggression, “delinquency” is of greatest
social concern, although it is a rare occurrence even among teen-
age boys. Because the acts included in the measure of delinquency
are extremely rare, a special approach designed for the analysis of
rare events was necessary.

These analyses showed that the relationship between television
exposure and serious acts of aggression is clearly within the bounds
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of chance and provides no evidence of a consistent significant agso-
ciation: Nor did supplementary analyses of the same type as those
done for elementary schoolchiidren produce any evidence of televi-
sion effects. e 3 :

The focus of our stidy was on the detectiun of effects of t levi-
sion. However, since we collected a great deal of information about
the family and social conditions in which the children and teens

lived, we were able to do limjted explorations of the role of such .

factors in causing aggression. We found that living in low socioeco-
nomic circumstances, and in neighborhoods and in families where
aggression- is commonplace, and- for teenagers having. friends who

use drugs, are factors which do lead to increases in aggressive be- -

havior over time. Such factors clearly deserve attention in future
. reel;‘earph efforts aimed at understanding tl\:e causes of aggressive
avior, . . -

Despite our belief that there is no evidence that depictions of vio-
lence on television have long-range effects on day-to-day behavior,
NBC is keenly aware that it is a,medium which is received directly
in the home. We believe it is prudent to be concerned about the
depiction of crime and violence on television. We have a Broadcast
Standards Department which reviews all our entertainment pro-
grams to eliminate violence inserted for shock value and not neces-
sary to ¢. 'racter or plot. Also eliminated are detailed portrayals of
any techniques which might be expected to facilitate a violent gct
or the commission of a crime.

For some years we have also enlisted the aid of a number of
prominent social scientists to review NBC’s children’s programs.
Among other things, these social scientists review our children’s
programs for anything which might harm viewers, ai.. consuit
with our broadcast standards department so that their judgments
a?out what is «!lowable can be consistent with' social science princi-
ples.

Now, the issue of television's relationship to real-world behavior

is a complex one. With our study, we hope and believe that we

have substantially contributed to illuminating it.
I would like to comment on a few things that were said by the
previous panel as they pertain to our study, becatiise I think a few

things were said that were in error and I would like to clear tha’t '

up for the record. :

The first thing is that both Professor Cook and Professor Eron
stated that the only control that seemed to work in_.the sense of
reducing the relationships was the control for socioeconomic status.
That is not true. A number of other controls also reduced the rela-
tionships considerably, including family religiosity. If you want to

look on page 189 and 190 of the book, you will see where that is ‘

reported.

The other thing you will see if you look at that table on page
190, I believe, is that it is not correct that the school SES measure
" worked and that farnily SES did not. In fact, it is the reverse.
School SES did not work and it is a measure of the family SES that
did work. So Professor Eron is Just wrong on that and I would hope
he would look at the book and clear that up in his mind.

-~
"’



188~

The other point I want to address is it was said our data showed
increasing effects over time. The coefficients get a little larger in
the longer lags only for the boys. We report that in the bnok.

It is hard to know what to make of that for a number of. reasons.
First of all, we are dealing here with very, very small coefficients.
They get larger but they never approach statistical significance. So

they are really beyond the ability of scientists to make judgments -

_ about. That pattern does not occur among the four meaures in the
teens or among the girls. '

Now, Professor Cook and I disagree on that point. He thinks he
does see certain patterns there. We think he is looking at the data
a littlc selectively on those points and he is not looking at all the
data. Other people have looked at the data because it is a very im-

portant point in our.study. There are people who also do not see

patterns in those data. As a matter of fact, at the National Acade-
my of, Sciences meeting, Professor Sechrest discUssed our findings
after Professor Cook did and he didn’t see the patterns that Profes-

N
AN

sor Cook sees, We are talking about something that is so small -~

here that it is almost in the eye of the beholder. I think it sl:/

beyond scientific judgment, and I think you have to judge the
things by criteria other than scientific principles. 7

Another point I want to clear up is this assertion by Professor
Eron that television accounts for 10 percent of the aggression in
rea] life. That is a great exaggeration. None of the data in this
whole body of research show any numbers that could add up to
that kind of an effect. It is at most a fraction of that. Finally, it
was reportéd by Professor Eron that we found statistically signifi-
cant coefficients. That's exactly what we did not find. What we did
find is that the coefficients tended to be just on the positive side of
zero. But they weren't statistically significant.

With that, I thank you.

- Mr. MorrisoN. Thank you.
J4 Mr. Wurtzel.

Pr. WurtzeL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. -

My name is Alan Wurtzel. I am the director of news, develop-
mental and social research, for the American Broadcasting Cos. My
responsibilities include the supervision of the social research unit
which encompasses the following activities: first. the continual as-
sessment of prevailing attitudes, values, and hehaviors of the socie-
ty at large and how they may relate to television; second, review-
ing the scholarly literature on the social effects of television; and
third, the participation in the research activities of the academic
social science community. . .

The staff of this unit which I supervise consists of three individ-
uals: one with a Ph.D. in mas$ communications, another with a
master’s degree in mass commuhications, and a thjrd with a mas-
ter's degree in research design and methodology™My own back-
ground consists of a Ph.D. in mass communications and 8 years ex-
perience as a teacher and researcher on the mass media.

In my statement I would like to do two things. Firet, to outline
ABC's position on the National Institute of Mental Health's report

-~
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entitled “Television and Behavipr” as it pertains to the various
conglusions regarding television ;violence, and secondly, ta briefly
describe some of the policies’and procedures which are employed
by ABC to ensure that when violence is depicted in programming,
it is handled with appropriate care and responsibility. '

I should mention t]gat I will summarize. my remarks from a book-
let which ABC prepared and distributed earlier this year, entitled
"A Research Perspeetive on Telévigion and Violencs.” As it con-
tains a far more comprehensive analysis -of the issues relevant to
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today’s hearing, I would like to submit the ertire booklet for the .

record. .

Mr. MorrisoN. Without objection N
record. .

Dr. WurTzeL. Thank you. ~ N\ o ,

Our review of the NIMH report indicates that many of the stud-
ies cited in support of its conclusions are ser usly flawed and that

sthe report is marred by inconsistencies and omissions. Degpite.the
"impression created by the NIMH report that it\eontains new re-
search, .in fact it 'is gimply a review of the sciertific literature
which } - been publicly available over the past 10 yearsoThere are
ne star. ng revelations and no studies which detinitivély prove a
cause and effect velationship between viewing television violence
and subsequent violent behavior. In fact, the only really new study
in this area.is the one that has been discussed today, the study by
Milavsky and his. colleagues from NBC, which demonstrates that.
this NIMH conclusion of a causal relationship is simply incorrect.

Now, in the brief time allotted, let me outline our response to
some of the most important issues that are involved, issues which

* have been so frequently misunderstood and misinterpreted regard-
ing the research in this field. There are four issues:

‘First is the nature of the scientific community; second is how vio-
lence is defined; the third is how violence is measured; and finally,
the question of cause and effect. ,

The first issue, the nature of the scientific community, is imper-

tant because we place a great deal of faith and crediblity in sci- -

ence. For most of us, if a scientist says something is true, we have
no reason, and even less ability, to question that conclusion. . :

The NIMH says there is a consensus among academic research:
ers that television causes violence. However, in April of 1982, over
400 researchers studying television and its social effects were askec
in a survey by Bybee, Robirson and Turow whether they believed

violence on television was “the cause] of aggressive behaVvior, Only~.:
1 percent agreed with the statement. This i1s hardly a consensus. (O

Despite tlfe fact that the NIMH arknowledges. that no single
study conclusively links television with aggression, the report uses
the idea of "convergence,” which means that the NIMH research- .
ers looked at a number -of studies which all tended to point in the
same general direction to support their claim. The problem in
using convergence theory is that we fail to question widely held be-
liefs, and we risk perpetuating a:nuniber o(} incorrect assumptions
which are all base(s) nn a faulty basic premise. . '

It is also significant in this context that virtually every research
study cited in the NIMH report either did not observe real violence
aro}g the subjects tested, or depended upon statistical associations
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that were extremely small, Nonetheless,.the research staff of the
-« NIMH and the individual researchers insis using these data to

make sweeping conclusions regarding the impact.of television on

aggressive behavior. -

Now, in many social sciences .stzit\is.tical results of tHe Magnitude |
.. . reported in the studies cited by the NIMH repggt would lea a -~
, “conclusion of “no significant relationship.”.Yet in the NIMH stugd-

ies the same 'small correlations are interpreted as signifying very -
important behavioral and attitudinal relationships. The ‘point is '
that social science depends heavily on the interpretatibn of data in
. order to reach conclusions and-to determine implications. The ad-
mission th  th - behavior observed does not constitute real vio- :
" lence, coupled with the fact that the statistical correlations are ex- * . .-
tremely. low, suggests that conclusions and inferences are- being -
drawn which go far beyond what the empirical data warrant. In
. _short, in ABC's view, the research is-being interpreted and used in
. a way which is simply not consistent with a rigorous and objective .
- scientific method. . .
The second issue involves the definition of violence on television.
A frequent criticism:is that the amount of violence on television re-
mains high. The only way to determine how much violence exists is ' )
é to employ a content analysis which is simply the actual counting of )
every vidlent action wi-tf‘;in a samplé of television programs. The
crucial point is, however, that the way in which we efine what we
will count as violence will in large part determine what we actual-
ly find. Lét me say that again. The way we define violence and the
counting will determine what we actually find. ' -
For example, a number of researchers employ a greatly €éxpand-
o ed definition of violence. For example, they include accidents; slap-
- stick: acts of nature, like a hurricane or tornado; fantasies, such as
a witca casing a spell; and some even utilize coder discretion,
N which enables every individual coder to personally and arbitrarily
assign more weight to violent acts which in their own opinion are
objectionable.’ -

The point is that using thesg kinds of definitions, the picture
that we get of the amount of violence on prime: time television is
terribly distorted. For example, in Dr. George Gerbner’s viclence .’
counts, which play a prominent part in the NIMH -eport, fully *
one-third of all violence attributed to network programming is not -
even caused by human beings.

*he third issue is how scientists measure yiolence. This is one of
the least understood aspects of the research. When the public hears

. that scientists find a link between television and violent behavior,
* 7 they naturally think the violence which the scientist refers to are
the murders, muggings, rapes,” dnd random praperty destruction
which we hear about in the news every da?r. In fact, the research
does not measure these things at all. It would obviously be i:npossi-
ble for any researcher to systematically observe this kind of behav-

ior, so they have to use proxies for the actual violence.

Among the most commonly used substitutes ‘for measuring vio-
lence are, administering a questionnaire to subjects in order to’
measure their attitudes toward violence; observing children’s be-
havior at play in a schoolyard, so that making faces, imitating su-
‘perheroes, & push or a shove or yelling, have all been utilized as
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. measures of real violence; or requesting subjects in a laboratory sit- S

uation to take part in some sort of violent-activity. '

It should be noted that this request is ofteti-made by the research
authority and frequently the subject is assured. that participation
will not actually harm another person. The researchers themselves,

il many of the articles that are included in the NIMH report, ac-

knowledge that they.are not actually measuring ‘“violence” as the

term is commonly understood.

The fourth issue, cause and effect, is obviously at the heart of the
«question. Clearly, the crucial question is: Does television violence
cause viewers to engage in aggressive behavior?

Now, the NIMH reaches its conclusions by relying on stydies

- * that use a statistical technique called correlation{{ Correlation, as

any statistician will tell you,-can never be used to say anything -

o about cause and effect. It simply says that two-things are correlat-

‘ -ed or interfelated’ with one another. For example, thgre is a very
high correlation between the sale of bathing suits-and the con- °
sumption of ice cream, but weé cannot conelude that bathing suit

\\.Séielis.}cause people to buy more ice cream, or that people who eat -

v

ream will buy more bathing suits. In fact, it is usually a third
) variable—the hot weather during summer—that accounts for both.
In the same~way, a correlation canno. ‘tell whether violent pre-
grams cause childre behave aggressively or whether aggressive
children are more likely to out violent programs. What is usu-
ally mdre often the case is that a third variable, such as the child’s

IQ, education, level of poverty or paren roach to discipline,
are often found to be the real cause of the behavior..When studies , * .

have attempted to take into account these third variables; rela-

tionship between television and violent behavior is reduced to zéro:
The only way scientists can truly infer causality is through the

use of laboratory studies. But these involve unnatural testing envi-

:, Fonments and the use of material which is'often totally unlike Any-

e

thing which-would normally appear on television. For example,
studies have often used clips from unedited theatrical films show-
ing scenes whch are taken entirelgf out of context. After viewing
these clips, the subject is frustrated or angered by the experiment- -
er. Then the subject is asked to participate in a se¥es of activities,
which are designed to measure- aggressiVﬁ behavior. o
One of the most common methods is to'ask the subject to admin-
ister electric shocks to someone ustensibly in the next room. Now;
understandably, subjects are often reticent to engage in this kind
of activity, but the experimenter usually assures ther that, first of
all, npt cnly will the administration of shocks not hurt the other
perioF, but they will actually help him or her to learn a difficult
task. ‘
W4ll, after being reassured by the. scientific authority figure that
the actions they are about to engage in are socially sanctioned and,
in fact, are not harmful, the subject does what he is told. This be-
havior, is measured and then reported as violent activity. _
The guestion is,” How can we generalize from such a socially
" sanctioned activity to actual violent behavior in the real world?
The answer, of course, is that we cannot, at least not without indi-
cating a number of important caveats which place the conclusions
info a more accurate perspective.
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_ 'Now let me briefly discuss at this point some of the internal poli- . &
cies and procedures which ABC utilizes to enable us to depict vio- '
lence within an entertainment program with care and responsibil-
ity.’Special policies applicable to televised violence hfive been peri-‘J
. odically revised and refined over the years. Influencing these deci-
. sions are,independent social research, our day-to-day experience,.
and consultations wth indeperident consultants. - - )
All entertainment’ series and specials  are produced under the .
scrutiny of the Broadchst Standardd and Practices Department.
_ Evggy program script is carefully reviewed by Bro4dcast Standards
editors and every“violent action'within a script is carefully evaluat- _
ed. The portrayal of violence must be reasonably related to plot de- ..
velopment or to character delineation. Gratuitous-or€xcessive vio- -
lence is to be avoided and the qn%me or detailéd depictions of vio-
lent actions which zifht be copied or emulated are required to be
modified or eliminated. ‘ .
. One of the tools which the Broadcast Standards. editors.use in
evaluating program content is the incidentglwtl:a;isiﬁcation and analy-

o

sis form system, or the ICAF system. The F system was devel-

oped by the Broadcast Standards Department in conjunction with
social scientists from the social resedrch unit at ABC. It-enables |
every editor to systematically categorize, quantify, and weigh every
violent incident within a program and provides editors with a gual-
itative and quantitative measusg of a given program’s violent con-
tent. \ Co. . S

. The ICAF system is continuously monitored and reviewed by the .
ABC social research unit. This procedure maintaii% its high leuels

\

of reliability and.validity and ensures that the §AF system re--
mains a sensitive and actirate instrument for the identification
: "and categorization of violent program content. Used in conjunction
' with the editor’s ptrofessional judgment, the ICAF system is a
N highly effective tool for maintaining ABC’s standards of acceptabil- .
ity and appropriateness. \ 'l"
In conclusion, the issue of television and, violence is a complex
question for which there are_no simple answers. Our analysis of
the research relied upon by NIMH to reach its conclusions demon-
\ﬁtgates that there is.no reliable substantiation for the ultimate
: NIMH-position. In fact, we believe that there are still more unan-
swered questions-than there are definitively settled issues. .
Research is clearly a-valuable means by which we can under-
stand more about the medium of television and its social impact.
- But research is only useful after we have a@ssessed and evaluated
each study's strengths and weaknesses and placed it into-its-proper .
perspective. The NIMH conclusions are supposedly based entirely ———
upon scientific evidence and, therefore, must withstand the rigor of '
scientjfic analysis and review. Our careful examination of the re-
search indicates that the conclusions which the NIMH reached are
unsubstantiated and unwarranted when,they are subjected to sci-
entific analysis. .
infor affording me the opportunity to share our evalua-
ch with you today. . : :
[Mr. Wurtzel's statement follows:] s 4 .
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. ] In ABC's view the NIMH study is sbzioualy flawed: (1) . ¢
. it is essantially based upon zeceazch matezial whi'ch is not, C e ey .
' ' new, but which, is beinq iﬂterpreted and used in a :manner . incon~ . 3

—aiatent wzth objective scientific method; (2) the definitions o . i

of 'violence v czitical to the study, produce diltoztions: (3)
the methods utilized to measuze attual violence atre un:ealistic:
and (4) 1n attempting to deal with the ultimate quesgtion of . L e
: .cause and effect, the :tudy fails to take into account numerous .
.'variables fblevant to human behavior and thus produces conclusions
ba:legl.. noE \_ppen scientific method, but unfounded '.peefxlagion, '
v, ,{ . S ) ) o .
- ABC's review of the report indicates there are no startling
. revelations and no ?tuﬂias which definiéively prove a cause
and effect between viewing tﬁlevilion w‘dﬁence and suba!quent
behavio:. Nonetheless, as a mattez of policy and practice, LN
ABC has fo: many years evaluted’ all entertainment and‘lp;;ial
. p:ogzamming thzough its Broadcast Standa:ds and Ptactiéel Depa:t-
) " ment. Under ABC 8 procedurés, g:atutitous or excesaive violence S o
is avoided and detailed depiction of violeng actions which might :kﬁhu ]
e ., be emulated are modified or eliminated. 5, : s, . Y . /’J,,f”
. ) . ’ . .

& ’
. -

The issue of television and v&olence raises complex questions

L 4
for which tlere are no simple.answers: Research, in which: ABC .
. - . » N
has been and will continue to be an active participant, is valu- ‘4
able. The NIMH study, howevef. supposedly based upon scien- - Py
:, gffic evidence and method, cannot itself withstand the rigor
of scientific analysis and review.
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Mr. Chairman and Members of. the Subcommittee:

‘e Mass Communications, another with a masteta degree in Mass,
‘ L2

.

» . . - .
L4
‘
L

My name is Alan Wurtdel., I am the Director of News,

Develdpmental and Social Research Qperlcﬁn Broadcasting

Companies, Inc. My,responaibilities inclpde the supervision o

of the Social Reaeatch Unit which encompagses the following
activities., (1) the(goncinual'assessment of prevailing attis
itudea. values,'and beéavio:s o£ the society at 1arge and how
they may relate to television; (2) reviewing the acholarly
literatute on the social effects of gelevibion; and (3) par~

ticipation in the tesearcH activities of the academic social
'1‘ L4

science communi o v - * o
s ¢ .
. 'rhe s:&( of. the Social Research Unit, which I :

supervise, consists'%f three individuals: one with a Ph.D in @

Y ' -
Communications, a third with a mastears degree in Ros;arch ©

L] * .
¢De53’g and Methedology. My own background consists of'a Ph.D

" in Mass Communications from "New York University and eight

*years experience as a teacher and researcher on the mass media

at botn the Univetsit; of Georgia and éhe City Univetsify of
New York, - o _ ' ’

. In my preseniation'todey I would like, fioft, to
outline ABC's position o; the National Institute og Mental
Health's repor? entitled Tolevision and Behavior as its per-
tains-to the various.conclusions regardifig television violerce
and fts impact on behawior and atti;udes; and, second, briefly

to describe some of the procedures and poliqies which are




sélentl:ic community, (2) defining violence,

. . _
employed yy ABC to ensure that.when violence is depicted in

-

_progr;mmlngp it is handled with appropriéte care and responsi-

bility. -My'rpmarkl are summarized from a bodklet which ABC

prepared and'distribitgd earlier this Year entltled A_Research

Persgecb&ve on Television and v;ogencg. -As lt contajps a far

more comprehenaive analylls of the 1u|ue| relevant to today's
hearing, I would like to submit the entire booklet for the
record. o ' ..
. Qur review of the NIMH repore ‘Indicates that many of
the studies cited in aupport of its conclusioné are serloully
flawed and that the report is marred by inconsistencies and

omiseions. ;Despita.the impression creatéd by the NIMH report

_ that it contaj&s nel research, in fact, it {5 simply a review

of the scientltic literature which haa beon publicly available

over the past ten -yedrs. There are no startling revelationa

- and no studies which_d&finitlvely prove a’cause and eff@ct

relationship between viewing telcvision violence and subse-~
quent: violent behavior. 1In fact, the only new study in the

entire report 1B by NBC's Depnrtmept of Sorial Research and it

actually demonstrates Ihaq the NIMH concluslon‘of a causal

.
.

iélay(onshlp is simply incorrect. . < .

In the brief time alotted to me this morning, let me

outline ABC'a response to some of the most important issues

sunderstood

involved ~-- issues which have been do frequentl

+

and misinterpreted. These issues are: (1) tfe natuge of the

-

‘3 measuring.

violence, and (4) the cuestion of cause and effect. 4
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. - The first issue, the nature of the scientific . . |
community, is important because we place a great deal of Eaitﬁ ' ':ﬁﬂ
and credibility in science. For most of us, if a lciehﬁist

\:f‘._-'says soﬁething is true, we have no reason -- and less hb{;}tg

) -= to queltion that conclusion. ’ 7 . i
‘e . The NIMH says the:e is a cnnsenlua among academic

rasearchers that tclevision causes violence. aowove:, 1n,f

Ap:n 1982. mo:s than 400 reseazchers “actively uudying tele- . o 5
vilion and its soc.al effects were asked in a survey by Bybee., :
- Robingson and Turow whether thoy believed violence on t:le- .. w

vilion was *the cause" of aggressive behavior. Only cne'be:-

" cent agroed with the statement.' This is hardly a cqnaensus.

| ) Despite the fact that the NIMH acknowledges that no
single study conclusively links televésion with aggresaion, ) l ‘%
the report uses the idea §£ *convergence® ~- which meana;thit " ‘
the NIME tesearchers looked at a numbe: of studies which all |
tended to pofnt in the same general dtrection to support thelr 'a -
claim. The'p:oblem 1f using a convergence theory, oweve:. is
that we fail to question widely held beliefs, and we risk

" perpetuating a number of 1nco::ect assumptione which are all
based, on a faulty basic p:emi:;- '

It is also significant in this context that

*virtually every research study cit;grin the NIMH report either

2id not observe real violenca among the subjects tested, or }.
de;éndéd upon statistical associations that were extremely

small. Nevertheless, ths research staff of the NIMH and the

L] N . € Y




- individual teseazchera inaist on usdng thesa data to make

-sweeping conclusions tegar ing the impact of. televisian on

L]
© o, agy: essive behavior. ) . >

In many-social sciences, statistical tesults of the
magnitude tepottcd in the gtudies cited in the NIMH report
would lead to a conclusion of "no cignificant relationship".
Yet -in the NIMH studies the same .small correlations are inter-
preted as signitying very important beh:;iotal\and attiu;oinal
re)‘FlonShipa. Tﬁc~poin; is that social scienceﬁdopenda
heavily on “he intetptetation'ot the data in order ‘to teach
conclusions and to detetmine implications. The admission that

fthe behavio' observed does not constitu&e real violence,

coupled with the fact thatthe statistical cottelationa are

exttemely low, suggests that cogclusions and infcrencca are
. .

being dtayn which go far beyond what the empit‘cal dnta

wiazrant, In short, in ABC's view, the research is being

—ﬁgﬂinteipteted and us#d in a way which is not consistent with.a

rigorous and objective scienhi!&c method. oo
The second iasue involves the definiti#n of violence

on television. A frequent criticism is that the amount of

violence on television remains high. The only way to deter-

mine how mych violence exists is to employ a con'ent analysis

which,is'sinply the actual counting of.every vthent action
\witnin a samol; of television brogtams. Thé“crucial point is,

however, that th:\wo; in which we define what we will count as

violence will in large part determine what we actually £ind.

1

.-.2&

—
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spell); and even ceder discretion wh;;h/;nables each indivia- ".

.attrtbuted to network programmxng is’ not even caused by human

A number of researchers employ a gteatly‘bxpandod 1§

definition of .violence. For example, they include accidents -

(someone trips and falll); slapstick (a pie in the face); acts
of nature (hurricane or tornado); t!ﬂ/:sz (a witoh casting a

dual coder to personally and arbi ar;ly assign more weight to
violent asts which in_the pinion rn objectiona.ble.

The point is that: using these. kinds of definitions, "
the picture we get .of the ambunt of violence on prime time
television is terribly distodted. FPor oxample, ‘in Dr. George

Gerbner's violence counts, fully one-third. of .41l violence . ..,

. -

beings. _
. The third issue is héw'}ciulgiuts measure violence.
This is ope of the leagt underltood\asp;cts of *he research.
When the public hears that scientists find a liﬁk between
television and violegt behavior. they natuzally ‘think the
vlolonce which tne scien@ist teférs to arethe murders..
mugginga. rapes, and random propertyﬂdeatruction which we hear .

about in the newvs every day. 1In fact, the research doeg not ‘\

' 0y
measure these thtnga at all. It would obviously be impossible \

for any regearcher tu aystematically oshs.rve this kind of

behavior ‘80 they myst uge ptoxles €ur the actual violence,.
) hmong the most comﬁbnly used suhstitutes for

measuring violence are (1) adﬂiniatezlnq a written question-

naire to subjucts in order to measure their attitudes, (2)

[»]
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///-.~‘ o . 'If
obdetviug chxldren'l play’ bdhavie: fh a schoolyazd (making - F#
faces, tmitating supe:he:oes, an occaaional push or samve, of .- - ;lﬂ

. t

' 2 yelling have -411 been utilized as meauu:es of violence), an;
{3) requesting subjectz in a 1abo:ato:y sttuatian to take‘par:
in some sort.of violent, activ}ty. I: should be noted that

iy this :equeab is made by the téboa:ch authority and E:equently

"the uubjert is' assured that pa:ttcipation will not, actuallg : . |_
harm another pe:son. Often the :esearchorl themselves acknow* ' _ .,;

.+ 7 ledge Ehat they are.not: ao;uh;ly measuring Qislence' as'the - {

term ts commonly understood. t" P ) o

.Y ' The fourth ilsue - cause and effect =~ is obﬁiously'

v ) at the heart of the conr:ove:ly. Clea:ly the c:ucial questiun

\ is: Does: telev;iio:\ vinlence cause viewers to engage in < h
v aggressive behdbiot? - _ ’

(Ffi . . ¢The Nxﬁh Teaches its conclusious by relying Qn

studies which have used a stahisticgl techitique called corre-
nglgg.~-CO::elaéion, as any statiatician wilk {ndicate, can

never be used to, tell anything about cause and efféct. It: ‘ .
simply tells that two things are Q-telatgd or interrelated -

with one anothe:.' For example, there is a very ‘high co::ela- A

tion between the sale 'of bathing suits and the consumption of

ice cream, but we can not conclude that bathing auics cause
ople to buy more 1ce cream or that people who eat ice cr¥am

ill buy more bathing suits. .
In fact, it is,a third variable -- the hot weather

. “ during summer -- which actually accounts qu both, 1In the
\ . _ \ ) .
t




_. / /
same way, 4 correlation can not tell whether violent programs
cause children to behave agg;essively or whether aggressive
children are more llk;ly to seek out violent‘programs.: What
is usually ore oftan the.case, is that a thqu varl;ble such

as the chlld'} 1Q, education, level of poverty, or parengal

h'apptoach to Aiscipline are commonly tound to be the real rause

of the behavior. When studies have attempted to taxe into
account these third variables, the relationship between tele-
vision and violent behavior is reduced to zero. ' —
The on&y wa} scientiats can truly infer causality is
through the une of labératsry studies. - But these involve
unneturai testing environments and the use of vidéo'materlal
which- is often totally unlike anything yhlch would notmally
appear on telavision. Por example, studies have.often used .
clips from unedijted theatrical fllpa showing scenés entirely
out of context. After viewing theie clips, the subject is
frustrated or angered by the experimenter in some fashion and
then is asked to participate in a series of activities which
are designed to measure aggressive behavior, One of the most
common methods is to ask the aubject to'admlnlster electric
shocks to someone ostensibly in the other room;‘ Often sub-
jects are reticent to engage in this activity Sut the expefi-
menter usually assares them that not only will the shocks not
"hurt" the other person, they will "help” him or her to lear-
a difficult task. Thus, after being reassured by the scien-

tific authoi{ty figure that &«he actions they are dbout to

¢ D
’Q‘ ~
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engage inh are socially sanctioned and, in Eact. not harmful,
1

. the subipé' does what te is told. This behavior is then~m\

measgred<and.reported as violent activity.

The‘question'ia how can we generalize lrom such a

socially sapctioned-activity to actual violent hehavior in the

.,

real world? Yhe anawér, of course, 1s-€pat we can not, at
least not without indicating a number of important caveats P,
wh’' 2h bléce'the éopglusions into a more accurate perspective, _— N

. I would néw like to discuss Yriefly some of the

\Internal policies and procedures which ABC utilizes to enable . N

us to degict vio.ence within an entertainment program with
care and responsibility. Special policies applicabre to tele-
vised violence have been periodical;y revised and refined --
over the yea:s. Influencing the;é decisiona are 1ndependent
social research, our da{j}O 9ty experiehce and consultations
with independent conaultaeys. '
All entprtainqgnt series and specials are produFed ’ . ~
under the scrutiny o: ;he Broadcast Standards and Practices
Department. Every pro?ram s&ript is carefully reviewed by
Broadcast Standards editors and every violeﬁt action within

the script is carefully evaluated. The portrayal of violence

must be reasonably related to plot development or to character .

%elxneacion. Gratuitous or excessive violence is to be

»

"avoided and the unique or detailed depictione of violent

actions whigh night be copied or emulated ére required to be

modified or e

.
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One of the tools the Broadcast .Standards and Prac- ':

tices editors use ‘in evaluating pfogzam content is the Inci- o :

aent Classification and Analysis Form (ICAF) system. The ICAF

. system wag develgped by ‘the Broadcast Standards and Practices
\\\\\\\Depaztment in conjunction with s-ﬂtah,scientists fzom the ABC-

Social Resquch Unit. It gnables every editor to systam— '

~,

- atically categozize, quantify, and weigh every violent inci- L .
dent wiEpi a pzogzam\gﬁd\pi?vid;s editors with a.qualitative -

- and quantitative meaagte.of a~51vea\gfogzam's yiblence - . _ =y
content, ' }\;;\\\ T _ B

' tThe ICAF system is, especidlly useEGI\becauae it not .

only counts incidents of ‘violence but dittezentiates ﬁhe\‘ : /{

sevezity of the violence and considers the ovezall context ; T ,

~

™~

within which the violence is portrayed. The ICAF system
enables the Hrpadcast Standards and Practices editor to /
identify thoie elements within a program which may be exces-
~ - sive and qzatuitous and is an important aspect o©f ;he overall
evaluation of program content., . -
The ICAF system is cdntinuously monitored and
}eviewed by the ABC Sacial Research Unit. This procedure
.maintains its high 1gvels of reliability and vqlidity and
ensures that the ICAF system remains a sensitive and accurate .
Lnstzumént for the identification and categorization of
“violent program content. ®sed {n conjunction with tgq
editor's professional judgment, the ICAF system is a highly
effective tool for maintaining ABC's standards of accept=

ability and appropriateness.
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In concluasion, the iasue of television and violence

is a complex quéstion for which there are no gimple answers,
Qur: anaIyuls of the resaarch relied upon by NIMH to reach its

cqnclusiona demonstrates that there is no réliable substan-

' t‘xgkon for the ultimate NIMK position. 1In fact, we believe

that there are still more unanswered questions thap there are
definitively settled issues. o=

Research is' clearly a valuable means by which we can

-

understand more about, the medium of ‘television and its social

1mpa&t. °But research is only Gseful af:er we have assessed

and evaluated each study's strengths and weaknesses and placed

-

lit 1nto its proper perspective, The NIMH conclusions are sup-

posedly based entirely upon scientific evidence and, there-
fore, must withstand the rigor o¢ scier ific analysis and
review,' Olr c;reful examination of the research indicates
that the conclusions which the \NIMH reached are/unsubstan-
tiated and unwarranted when they are subjected to scientific
analysis,

Thank you for affording me the opportunity to share

A

our evaluation of the research with you today.
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Insight and understanging of the ;
mmmmmmuumaa
violence. The Information Is presented in o
straightforvand manner so that we can reach
e e i the omeval poblic,
a e .
acludedln am'i':':um:
ndards a

SCIENCE VS. VALUES

> The issue of television violence can be
addressed oa two different levels: a3 an objective
scientificqguestion and as a subjective valtes issue.
In deating with subjective values, divergent opinions

.and viewpoints are unavoidable because conclusionm,

are based upon reasoming which¥s both rational and
emotional. Despite the ability to develop strong posi-
tions oa either side of an issue, there is po delinitive
way lo prove tha! any one pasition is absotufely and
mequhrocaﬂsy correct. ,

y contrast, scientific study requires
rigor, objectivity, and the adherence to a predeter-
wined set of rules and procedures. Conclusi6ns rust
he based salely on empirical eyidence and must be
judged by analyzing the assumptions which uhderly
the study and the niethods which are employed in the
researct..

The NIMH conclusions are based entirely
upon scientific evidence. Therefore, they must with-
stand the rigor of sclentific analysis and review. Our
careful examination of the research indicates that the
conclusions which the NIMH reaches are unsubstan-
tiated when subjected to scientifie analysis.
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BACKGROUND OF THE REPORT
The 1382 NIMH report Rkevision and
Behavior is a lofiow-up to the 1972 Sugeon Ceneralt
Repart on Television and Violence, a study which was
initiated after a series of Congressional heari
- the impact of television violence on bcbavlor.ngus-

211
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Jbehavioral violence: The result of this elaborkte
Irvestigation
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undegtakings in receqt history.
v §1 million was aliocated to spuasor original
search directly addressing the relationship be- .

, documented in the Surgeon General's
report, was inconclusive with no direct causal rela.
bedonshiph'_m’esublhhed between television and violent

Ten years after the publication of the
Su General's report a follow-up review was initi-
;t' me ste was conducted under th:e auspices

establishing a ssven-member

Advisory Bonﬂ; of the seven ipants, fout had
contributed lo the Surgeon General's original study.
The NIMH Advisory Board commissione rchers
to review and evafuate all of the research fo-dale | )
concerning televisicn and behavior. Included in the
e e

e rgeon General [u 1972.
Despite the impression that the 1982 KIMH report
conugi{is new wr‘gswch. 12 fact, only one new violence
study is actually reporte o

The NIMH repont, Television and Behay-  ©
ior; s essentially a review of existing research which
has alr in the Hterature and which has
been previously assessed anid evaluated. Thus, the
NIMH is not a new addition to soclal science litera-
ture; it is simply a reiterstion of information which
has already been made vailable,

Neverthe!zss, the NIMH Advisory Panel
arrived at four rajor conclusions concerning the reiu.
tionship between lelevision violence and aggressive,
behavior and social attitudes.
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ABC RESPONSE: .
The research does got support the conclusion of a causal relationship.

1

- - —
b !

CONCLUSION NO. 2 : . h
Te 13 3 clear consensus among most researchers that television violence leads to aggressive behavior,

ABC RESPONSE: . ] '
There exists a significant debate within the research community over the relatonship between television
violence and aggressive behavior. - } : .

“?

A

NIMH CONCLUSION NO. 8
Despite slight variations over the past decade, the amodnt of violence on television has remained at

~ consistentlyhigh levels,

ABC RESPONSE: '
There has been a decrease in the overall apount of violence tn recent years.
. /\

NIMH CONCLUSION NO. 4 T

Television has been shown to cultivate television-influenced attitudes among viewers. Heavy viewers are more
lilzelyI to b:"rrore fearful and less trusting of other people than are light viewers as a result of thelr exposure
to television. . .

ABC RESPONSE: ‘
The resea.ch does not satlxrpon the conclusion that television significantly cultivates viewer attitudes and
perceptions of social reality, .

s Following are detailed analyses and evaluations of each of the {our NIMH conclusions.

x
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. In the technical report chapler on Televi-
sion and Violence, the autlior aites and evaluates 4
studies which lead him to the conclusion that “over-

Mhe evidence” exists 1o establish a
relations

dbgefor:h we ﬂm these szudxﬁslnl?et?ﬂ. :
we (st discuss three key aspects regarding ali tele-
visigln violence research: e e

1, The éefinitien and measurement of
vislence ari aggression. ,

3, The ase of correlation to kmply causation.

3. The use of “convergence theery” to reach a | here. The point, however, is that the'way in which
4 . conclusion. ) viojenceispgemfhfedwﬂlphyahmpa\r?ﬁ\dﬁemin-

213

© Céntrat to the issue of the imrea of
television riewing on violent behavior is the very de!-
inition of the term violence. When we talk about the
need for a definition, we must consider two uxme
issues: (1) the definition of violent actions or depic-
Hops within television programs, and (2) the
definition and measurement of violence and/or
aggressive behavior, .

Osting Vet Cartey (- -
The ms imvolyed witlf arriving at a ...
definition of violence are many hecauz violence is

not obvious and clearcut. The circumstances
under an action occurs, the acceptability of th-
action by a culture’s norms and mores, and the use «.
an action as self-protection are all examples which
can radically alter whether or not an action is consid-
ered violent,

Nevertheless, we can arrive at a useful
practical definition: “Viokence s the purposeful, anti-
soclal Infliction of pain for personal gain or gratifica-
uomn' is intended to harm the victim and is
accomplished Inspite of societal sanctions against
IL" (Krattenmaker and Powe). Obviods as this defini- _
tion might be, thete are a number of researchers
vold Mt upon il s e
would insist upon any
inflicted, even In seif defense, viblent. Others would
want 2o expand the definition to include unintentional
violence such as accidents, slapstick comedy, or even
acts of "ature like a hurricane or torado.

Scientists have been arguing over defini-
tion for years and we won't resolve the disagreement

RIS J
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ing the amount-of violence which is found In program
content. 3o it's important to keep in mind the specific
Sy 1 e et o roghe mat wher .
s 0 rec n
ferent studies use dilferent definitions of violence,
we m’l rompare their findings. .

and Messuring Violent

: Contraversy over the definitian of violent
comemlwzlym-upectohhe debate.* Olequal

exuaﬂy controversial — is the way
m which sdenusts to measure violent o
:fgusswe behavior. In ofder to address the question

elevision's impact on behavior, we must first be

able to define, identify, and measure violent behav:
iot. Otherwise how can we know that Ihere has been
any esfect at ali?

The crucial question, of course, is
whether or not exposure to 1elevision violence
causes iis occurrence in real tife. The concern which
everyone has is over e/ violence: the purposeful,
mt‘ic;oud lgelhcnon of pain MO! is lnte?dhed s:o gnn
a victim or destroy property. Of course, it is simply
impassible to obss ve mh‘hd
vestarch subjec on a systematic buls Conse-
quently, research: ;s have substituted other
meastres which can be observed and analyied. But
these measures are not violent behaviors as we
commonly define the term, For example, research
studies have measured yglence with piper and pen-
cil tests; bl'allu children to rate their classmates
as to who is most aggressive during play; by observ-
ifig children playing in » schoolyard: and during
*1 heiod be ated (BR et 1 1o waivn W) achauwieted e Qw8 of e 1o/ 83

ket 062 Wy e a3 My afv 40P DA 00 RTINS AP Nieal HeLOKCNLS 20
i termy mber] alty we wil CodaeR] Mt RTINS

. riments by reque sublect
osten;ibly:ml electric sh:&s :‘riln&. nw ° .
the violence \\’hld’l

*science research to date nmwlhuna left (ms

We might assume that
the nudlea refer to is anti-social, hanmful violence
but in reality it isn't. The research doesn’t address
the crucial question with which we are all concerned:
“Does exposure to television violence cause people
to commi? actual violence?” As two critics of the cur-
rent violence research have stated, “The sockl

question unlns\vered it has left it unasked.” (Krat-
tenmaker and Powe
USE O CORRELATION
TO IAPLY CAUSATION
The NiMH eondudu that a cause-
eifect 1 beﬁte viewing and
oo ::ion is b;.:‘edm variety of stu‘dm
AsSum: ona
which utitize “correlationsl” techniques.
Few research techniques create as much

mfuslon and hgen wbjedA tlgﬂ‘;n mucst‘:mn;li;Werpveu
a5 corre| cotrelation is a statisig)
measure of the interre of association
between two different variables. ‘rhe problem with a
correlation s that while it can tell us the degree to
which two things are related, it can not teil us which

came first nor whether one caused the other. In fact,
itis often the case that despite a high correlation
betweeswo things, the associntion 1 actuallybeing
cansed by a third condition whech affects the other ,
two.

For example, consider the fact that there
is a high correlation between sales of bathing suits
and sales of ice crean. Thus, & would appear that the
L 'bazhimsmtsandtheuleolkecmmue

~
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‘other methods) a correlation does not necessarily

i,

el
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related since a3 ohe goes up, so does the other.
However, we can never say that bathing suit sales
couses ice cream consumption 10 Hse. nor can we say
that the increase in lce cream sales causes people to
buy more bathing sults, It isamore than kkely that nei-
ther reatly has much to do with the other despite the
fact that m{m highly correlated. Rather, it

because both bathing suit sales and ice cream sales
ate affected by a third condition: hot weather during
the summer months, It Is this external third condi- L
tion which actually causes both the sale of bat .
sults and the sale of ice cream to rise (Agnew |

Pyke).

The point is, correlation - 1n never tell us
anythisg aboul causation. Thus, when we talk about
correlation between television viewing and aggres.
sive behavior, all we are rea!!r saylng s that there
seems to be some relationship between the two. And
when a causal relationship does exist (determined by

indicate which of the two variables Is the cause ané
which is the effect.

A correlation between viewing television
violence and msm behavior could be produced -
by any of the following: (1) viewing violence leads lo
aﬁmslon. (2) aggressive tendencies lead to viewing
violence, (3) both viewing violence and aggressive
bfmr are the products of a third condn' olr set
0 tions such as age, sex, income, or family
socio-economic level.

In thase corrdlational field studies which
do control for these third factors, the extremely
small levels of association between television and
behav.or virivally disappear. This indicates that the
“rele.ionship” between lelevision viewing and subse
quent behavior Is move likely the result of a variety
of external conditions which have absolutely nothing
to do with television itself. Some of these third vari-
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ables include the level of aﬁressivity among peers,
Poscntal behavior (aggressivity, anger, etc.), parent
child interaction (ways children are punished, nur-

tured, etc.), demographic factors, and intelligence.

Another imporiant point Jo remember
about correlation is the ureﬁ:)l the 8ssociation
and the anount of behavior which it can “explain,”

Correlations of 1.0 are "perfect” in that they indicate
that thereris a direct relationship between two vari-
ables. A correlation of zerg indicates absolutely no
relationship. Correlations which run from zero to .20

dicate very weak relationships; those which run’
1roNT.20 to .60 indicate moderate relationships and
those running from .60 to 1.0 indicate strong
relationships. . :

Virtually evéry study cited by the NIMH
replnt found coneLﬂons of less than .40 in associat-
inj television viewing with behavior, This weak
correlation combined with the inability of correlation
iq determine causality indicates that the NIMH's con-
clusion is unwarranted, .

ry A

|

.

THE USE OF CONVERGENCE THEORY

The NIMH report acknowledges that no
single study conclusively links viewing television with
violent behavior. However, the Advisory Panel insists
that because there is a “convergence” of scientific
evidence their conclusion is justified. In soci] sci-
ence,.convergénce — the analysls of many different
studies which point in the same baskc direction — is
sometimes used when no defiftitive evidence can be
found to clearly support a Position. The problem,
however, is that the use of convergence can perpetu.
ate urintended biases, flaws, or itlogical assumptions
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er on viokence
mdh;'armhninmndm studies which the
aut proves a positive rehdmslm
and viglence and which the NIMH
ronreﬁesuponlomchh'nmludondawse
rehﬁonsMp

Of these W studies, half were oonducled
in toreUn counu'les with dultures, norms, and
EJ i{ferent than those found in |

nlted sum

mately one-third of the studies
and consequently were never sub-
mted 1o scientific peer review and evaluation, Two
studies were not even cited as research investigs-
nom bm re reported a3 “personal communica-
nthe rescarcher and the NIMH author.
The ladl of scientific doculsentation in & number of .
cited studies makes a thorough analysis and evalua-
tion of the work impossidle. Further, a number of
significant studies which the autfior uses to substan-

liate his case for causality were, in fact, either
written by the suthor himsell or by his colleagues.

.

' . found no relationship

experiments
mtype tegedrch methods which can 3
causa] claim) were reviewed” 0} the fou
between te vlewlncand
aggressive beba rior (Milgram and
ound o long-term effects (Parke, ef, ol ); one fc'md
1o differences in the level of afressive behavior
between viewers and non-viewers (Love, et ol ). the
one which did find an &ffect used del Belgian
adolescents wha were expoged to ed b aatrical
molion pictures and not television programsing  *
(Leyens, e2. al). Further, ekmeau in the design of,
the Leyens stidy preciude a valid causy) interpreta-
tion. (Fora evaluation of each of these.
studies the reader Is referred to the apgendir.)
remaining studies are not abie to
adeq cddtess the question of causality. In
the relations! betwhen televi-
ress qmte small, Fev;, il any,
sbttsﬂul conirols were em, to take into
account third varlables which could affect the rela-
uons . However, when statistical controlt were
relationship between television and aggres.
sm was reduced to lg:uﬂcance For example, in
one study-(Hartnagel), the results showeda small
positive relationship between television and aggres-
sive behavior. Further analysls revesled th-1 1
relationship was spurious once third variables such
as m and gradcs in school were taken into account.
ession relationsh reduced lo -
:ero ‘I'M lechnical report chapter only cites the Tirst
part pl tids analysis, however. and it fails to mention
that the relationship between television and aggres-
sion was not established in subsequent analyses.
There are two other studies cited by the
NIMH which merit a brief mention. The first was con-

. Despite the assertion of £istinct cause- | ducted by Bel.on and investigated the relationship

{_}‘

LY

(4 ¥4

P

Al e R

.k
23
-




e e A U T e b KD L S fa et S NG e Sy Vet Uit

- Wl T s ..w,w;.?,;,‘.___;.\‘ S e el g s R 4 feurs £
. . ' - ? ' ) - P
v ' e ’ ' ; . e T -
: l ~ ,
\ . . ; > v
. THE K between television and ] ' anz- ’
. ) aggressive behavior emong .
REPORT adolescent boya in London. Although the NIMH Theve is a aloar consentus ameng mest
T | s o o e el | o e o olence
tween l¢ ression, , the rela.
’ . tionshipwas not straightiorward. Those boys who » s e Y
viewed a great deal of television and those who view- | ADC RESPONSE: .
| ed littke television tended to behave kess aggressively | Thegy axdels & significant dehate .
. than did moderate viewers, This —not within the research
g ( reported by the NIMH — runs counte?to the report’s oummunity ever the 7/
: . conclusion that there is a positive and direct relation. | TOlatiohelt, botwoen television and i 4
s . - | ship between the amount of television viewedand | aggressive behavier. ;
L subsequent aggressive Delavior. °
Y . The only new research report on televi- « ° *
: ~ sion and violence in the NIMH report is a study / ‘ )
! coriducted by NBC (Milavsky, er. al.). The study was ¢
- ~ - conducted indwo U.S. cities over a three yuregerlod . .
and em number of. T
research lechniques designed to eliminate many of ] . y
. \ : the technical criticisms which have invatidated pre- ) , N -
. - | vious n‘::'ﬁ? ﬁ:'fom. The NI:(': ﬁndunsg:u do not based The P;LPZ!“H p?inel! arg:.ts :‘!.:gu c(:}cluslbn - L
. . . suppogt | conghusipn of a pa i0aRhi upon two peints: first, thata rity of aca: ~ .
. - bepptw;me i wid afigressive béhﬂb”m demic researchers believe that a causal rektionship . :
the study gbpears In its own chapter in the NIMH | exists between television and aggressive behavior; ’
report, U {3 not discussed in the chapter onviglence | and second, thal tha sheer number of scientific " ‘t S
which the Adyisory Panel relied on in drawlng its studies jn the literature s the contention as ' .
coy conclusion, N opposed to the number of stddies which do not. . : .
-~ - In sum, a review of the studies and theis .
findings strong}y indicates that the NIMH Advisory i
Panel’s conclusion of a causal relationship between | - . . . .
\ !elevi;igyn and l\,l‘ioulteence is illc-,l’oar:ded and unéup- : e ’ * -
ported by any research data which is current! ~ .
sailable 7| THE OPINION OF RESEARCHERS - .
~ In fact, there Is no consensus among -
researchers regarding the relationship betweeh .
television and aggression, and a spirited debate
continues within the scientific community. In a R
. . recent Stbdy ), 486 acadeimic researchers
8 were asked thelr professional opinion of the infly- - “
7 ‘ o

. o - R17




ence of teleyision on agsressive behavior, Only 1%
reported that telavision was "the cause” of aggres-
sive behavior. Further, the ritajbrity did not fee] that
television wa* an important contfibutory causo of

agsressie‘bshavior. Claarly this is not a consensus.

. L
*

While it is true that there are more stud-
ies published in the literalyre which have lound some
elfect between television viewing amd aggressive
behdvior, this says'eore about the academic
research process and thefcriteria employed for pub-
lication in scientific journals than it does about the
television yiolence issue. It ts an acknowledged fact
(Krattenmake and Puive) that research stadies
which :rnn an effect are far more likely'lo be
ace for publicatipn that those studies which do
hot lind dn eflect. Since editors naturally prefer to
report results, publicition policies can result in a
distortion of the sciehtific evidence which actually
exists. In the academic resesrch field, where an
ndividual’s professional standing is based largely
oan publisked work. there is a real incentive for
researchers to produce studies which do demon-
strate an elffect.

_ _—
RESEARCH REVIEWS OF NO TELEVISION
EFFECT ‘

The research literature on felevision and

. acaderic sclentists than those who participated in
the NIMH study. Al e

h many

have CWIUMM .

the research evidence dows not support the conclu-
sion tha television violence causes aggresshe -
behavior, (Lesser, Noble, Kaplan & Singer, Howitt &

“Cumnberbatch, Stife, Armaur, and Kniveton) their
work was ignored bthe NIMH panel. :

’

9 violence has been reviewed and evaluated:by other , )

-
n
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The only way to address the question of
how much violénce is on television is to Systemat-
ically analyze a representative sample of television
programming by conducting a “content analysis.” To
accurately identily content trends, these analyses
must be performed over a period of years, Only two

. Such content analyses were {ncluded in the NIMH

report. Of these two analyses only one — by Dr. .
George Gerbner and his colleagues at the University
of Pennsylvanla— is used by the NIMH to support its
view that violent content has remained at a consis.
tently high ievel.

Since 1967, Gerbner and his associales
have produced the yearly Violence Profile —an
analysis of the violent content of network television
m}r&mmmg— research that has been suproned by

IMH funding. An additional conflict is the lact that

Dr. ner Is a member of the NIMH Advisory Panel
whi@h is responsible for the report and for its .
sions.

’
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The other major content analysis study
included in the NtMH véport is conducted annually by
the CBS Office of Social Research. The CBS study and
the Gerbner study utilize radicall{ dilferent defini.
tions of violence and consequently arrive at very
different conclusions. While Gerbner maiggains thal
viplence-is at a consistently high level, the CBS data
indicates that the level of v:olence has decreased
over the %asl decade. Since the NIMI{ relies so heav-
ily upon the work of Dr. Gerbner and his cofleagues,
we will first analyze thelr content analysis and then
compare it with the CBS study.

THE GERBNER CONTENT ANALYSES

The Gerbner content analyses havégen-
eraled a great deal of controversy within the resbar
community (Newcomb, Coffin and Tuchman, Blnk;.
Criticisms {ocus on three major issues:

1. The definition of violence which Gerbner
uses.

| 2.The Index which Gerbner constructs and

uses to report the amounts of violence in
programming

3. The sample which is analyzed and used to
genenﬁumzea full-year season.

Definition of Violence in Frogramming
The way in which violence in program
content is defined is crucial because more than
anything else, it aflects the study's findings and
conclusions. Earlier we discussed the difficulty in
arriving at a commonly agreed-upon derinition of
violence. Gerbner defines violence as: “The overt
expression of physical force against self or other,

A
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action against one's will on pai nol beiﬁg
hun of or actoally hurting o
makes the Getbner definition unlque is ths
definition is w onlzlo serious and mhstk
dep.am of expmded toinctude

uch s, inud acts of nature
such 33 ﬂoods. earthquakes, rricanes.

~ By employing such a definition, the

Gerbrer analyses arrmve ot violence figures which
distort the amount of realistic vinlence actually on
television. For example, in a nuniber ol Oerbner
content studies, over one-third of all the violence
counted did ot resuit from human action but was
caused by sccidents oracts of nature. Without an
understanding of the violence definition, we would
incorrectly attribute lar more vaolence lo progran-
ming than actually exists.

The Viclence Index

Gerbner uses a Violence Index to mea-
sure the nt of violence on network television. A
number of researchers (Krattenmaker and Powe,
oy o e tal e Ve e
is an arbitrary Tatic measure
not accurately reflect program content. Rather than
simply count the number of violent incidents per pro-
gram, Gerbper comblnes various numerical scores,
some of are weighted to reflect his oymtheo—

" ries and controversial assumptions. For example, the

Violence Index arbitrarily doubles hlehe“ratg‘ 0 ui:lunt
episodes per nm, dwblal "rate of violent
episodes per h ams,” #hd combines
together percenum straightforward numerical
sums. In response (o this overwhelming criticism of
the Index, Gerbner replies, “The rates are doubled
in order to raise their relatively low numerical values

alent of "

adding together the reswd) ulv-
and or?iges " the Index prwe&as 3

blased rate picture of television content.

?s one mmmﬁ\er commented, "One is

ree to s and oranges

fsn't at all clear /at the result mears, and some

pecple may take it seriously” (Owen),

Gcrbner and his collugues utifize’a one-

ramming to
uenhze about the entire ylelgv'mon
use of one week's worth of programming to
represent the tota! content of a 52 week season.is
clearly ipadequate.

The CBS study uses a 13 week sample of
prime time network programming to represent a full
year, clearly a more adequate, representative samg::
than Gerbners CBS also employs a more r
definitin of viotence: “The use of physical force
against rersons or animals, or the articulated,

xﬂvd threat of physical force to  compel mcular
behavi r on the pait of a person.” This de

atemr(s to analyae only realistic violence lnd conse
quently excludes from the analysis accidents, acts of
nalure. and comedy or slap

The CBS findings have shown a measured

1 to the importance that the concépts. . .deserve.” dowrward trend in the amount of violent program

$ if one wishes, bm”
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W the CBS study offers a fiuch different pic-
t

ure of violent conteril than does the Gerbner study,

the NIMH report dismisses their findings without
comment.

Other Content Analysis Studies ¢

Only the Gerhner and CBS studies mea-
sure television content over a long e period of
time to permit any sort of trends to be identified and
measured. The NIMH report does mention a number
of one-time content analysis studies but they are of
little value in addressing the primary question. For
example, one study cited by the NIMH utilized the
capsule program descriptions in TV Guide as the
method of analyzing the violence which appeared in
programming.

~ e

IE I== content among the three networks from 1973 th ﬁ m =- 4
REPORT 1981, the st yeur fo whih e aavie | Tolovielon as boom shown to cultivete

The cultivation theory suggests that view-
ers absorb & unique and biased “'social reality” from
watching television. According to the theory, which
has been put forth by Dr. George Gerbner, television
presents a distorted reflection of the world which
does not accurately represent what exists in rea! life.
Conse?luenlly, le who watch television will per-
teive the world from a “television perspective” and
not as il really is.

Although the NIMH Advisory Panel indi-
cates that the case for this cultivation theory has
been clearly established, the authors of the technical
report chapter reach a different conclusion. They:
stare, “The evidence concerning the causal direction
of televison's impact on socul reality is not sufficient
for strang conclusions™ (Hawkins and Pingree).
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are clearly central to the issue of cultivation.

A number of independent researchers
have been strongly critical of the cultivation hypoth-
esis and of the research that supports it. Their
criticisms address three key issues:

1. The use of cerrelation to imply causation.
2. The methods by which attitudes are mea-

3. The application of certain research tech-
niques in sttemapting to answer the research
question. @

The cultivation hypothesis states that
television viewing causes distorted social attitudes
and perceptions. Although the cuttivation research
utilizes correlstional techniques, the theory's propo-
nents interpret the findings to suggest causality.

As we have demonstrated earlier, <orrelation can
not indicate cause and effect. Further, in every
cultivation study reported by the NIMH report, the
correlation between television viewing and an indi-
vidval's attitudes are extrcmely small, when they are

—

NIMH reties almost exclusively on the research of fir." | social attitudes are related 1o television viewing.

*| Gerbner and his assoclates to substantiate their In other words, 97% of a person's attitudes and
claim that the cultivation theory is true. Although a perceptions are related to factors other than
number of other researchers have conducted work in | exposure to television.
this area, over half of afl the studies reviewed by the What is especlally significant is that tele.
NIMH were either conducted by Gerbner himself or | vision's miniscule relationship to social perceptions
by his associates. Thus, Ms methods and conclusions | decreases even further when we consider such

Tmportant external conditions as the individual's age,

sex, race, and place of residance. Once these vari-
ables are taken into account, the cultivation effect of
television on social attitudes and behaviors is vir-
tually non-existent.

MEASURING ATTITUDES

The second area of criticism regarding
cultivation research concerns the way in which view-
et’s attitudes and percepticns are measured.
Individuals are asked a series of questions: one pos-
sible answer being the TV answer,” which the .
researchers say reflects how the world is shown on
television, and the other response. a “real world”
answer, which the researchers say reflects how the
world really is. For example. a respondent might be
asked to estimate how likely they are to be a victim of
crime. Overestimating their chances of victimization
1s considered the “TV answer™ since the researchers
believe that exposure 1o violence on television culti-
vates fear and mistrust. Critics of the cultivation
theory suggest the questions which are asked are
highly selective, and [tems which do not support the
cultwation theory are simply omitted. In addition, the
"TV answer" is often arbitrarily determined by the
researchers (Hirsch). Further, it has been found that
on occasion; of the two responses from which an

“‘= ' As in the case of the content issue, the | found at al. In most cases, only 3% of a person's
REPORT Y sion
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individual must choose, both were incorrect. Thus,
the respondent is placed in the situation of having to
select an answer when the only alternatives available
are both wrong (Krattenmaker and Powe).

RESEARCH TECHNIQUES

One of the major criti:  of the cultiva-
tion theoty involves the variaus procudures which are
used lo investigate the hypothesis. A number of
researchers have attempled to re‘fliale the findings
of Gerbner and his colleagues and were unable to
find the effects which were predicted by the cultiva.
tion theory (Hughes, Doob and MacDonald, Wober).

Other researchers have been highly criti-
cal of specific methods. For example, a number of
studies used 3 sliding basaline in se,menting indi-
viduals into the crucial “heavy™ and “light™ viewing
- categones which, according to the theor{. deter-
mines how they will perceive the world. Instead of
establishing a strict definition of "“heavy™ and “Iight"
viewers, these categories are frequently determined
gthe idiosyncracies of each sample. Further,

though the categories are not consisteat from study

10 study, findings are compared as though they were
identical. For example, in one study school chikdren
who waiched three hours of television were classi-
fied a3 “heavy” viewets: in another. children who
walched three hours were classified as “light” view-
ers (Hirsch).

Another poknt of criticism is that cultiva-
tion researchers group together viewers who fall into
differing categories. When these groups are analyzed

separately. the findings do not support the cultivation
" theory. For example, cultivation researchers group

223

-light viewers. Similarly, "extren:ely heavy viewers”

“nonviewers" who don't watch television with “fight”
viewers who watch les than average. When non-.
viewers are analyzed independently of light viewers,
their fear and mistrust scores are aciually higher than

are grouped with “heavy viewers." When extremely
heavy viewers —wha view eight or more hours of
telesision daily— are analyzed independently, they
are found to be fess fearful and mistrusting than
heavy viewers (Hirsch). In both of these instances,
when unlike groups were analyzed separately, the
findings were in direct opposition to what the cultiva-
tion theory predicts.

Overalf) when the cultivation theory is
examined close! , it is found to be far less compelling
than the NIMH report indicates. Consequently, there
s no justification for the strong cc lustons which
the Advisory Panel reached. '
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All entertainment serles and specials
are produced under the scrutiny of the Broadcast
Standards and Practices Department (BS&P). Each
grogum ‘script is carefuily reviewed by Broadcast

tandards and Practices editors and every violent
action within the script is carefully evaluated. Each
violent action must have a thematic justification
and the depiction should portray only the minimum
necessary to maintain the integrity of tae storyline.

Gratuitous or excessive violence is eliminateddnd \‘
unique and detalled depictions of violent actions
which might be copled or emulated are either,od-
ilied or eliminated. » - co-

i In addition to reviewing all scripts,

everﬁ program is screened and approved in a
roui’-cul and finai form by the Broadcast Stari-

dards and Practices editidg stalf before the
Rr&grim is com_lyred acceptable for broadcast on

One of the tools which the Broadcast
Standatds and Practices editors use in evaluating
mum content Is the Incident Classification and

is Porm (ICAF) system. The ICAF was devel-
oped by the BS&P Department in con uncuo?dflh
soclal scientists from the ABC Social Kesearch
Unit. The ICAF enables every editor to systemat-
icall cateﬁorhe. quantily, and we'gh every violent
i nt within a program and provides editors
with a qualitative and quantitative measure of a
given program's violent content. -

The ICAF system is especially uselul
because it not only counts incidents of violence but
diflerentiates the severity of the violence and con-
siders the overali context within which the violence
is portrayed. The ICAF system enables the BS&P
editoy to [dentily those elements within a program
which may be excessive and gratuitous and is an
important aspect in the overali evaluation of pro-
gram content.

The ICAF system Is continuously moni-
tored and reviewed by the ABC Soclai Research
Unit. This procedure maintains its high levels of
reliability and validity and ensures that the ICAF
remains a sensitive and accurate Instrument for the
identification and categorization of violent program
content. Used in conjunction with the editor's pto-
{essional judgement, the ICAF is a highly elfective
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tool for malritaining ABC's standards of accept.
ability and appropniateness.

¢

The Social Reseaych Unit is a part of the
ABC Marketing and Research Services Department.
One of its funclions is to provide support services
10 Broadcast Standards and-Practices. In addition
to the administration of the {CAF System, the Social
Research Unit provides BS&P with relevant
research information to ensure that all policies and

uidelines reflect the most current data available.

ntemporary soclal science research is reviewed

on a continuing basis and plays an important role in
maintaining appropriate standards for the porisayal
of violence in programming. In addition to review-
ing research wh ars in thie scientific
literature, the Social Research Unit conducts a
:umber of proprietary studies which are designed
! toassess the impact of-Gur o views.
ers and to survey audience attitudes toward
depictions of sensitive program material. ,

Another relatell activity of the Social
Research Unit is to conduct workshops and semi-
nars for the Broadcast Standards edjting staff.
Tralning workshops are an important element In

rolessional growth and are held on a regular

asis. This service ensures that established polic
guidelines are consipte:tnlé and accurately applie
10 the evaluation of a| rogramming.

Al a typical training workshop, repre-
sentatives from the Social Research Unit, as well as
sutside expert consultants, discuss and evaluate
edi'ng policies and procedures. The case study

R25

approach is frequently used and has proven to be
an excelient method in increasing and refining the
abilities of the Broadcast Standards editas. in
addition, ICAR procedures are regularly reviewed
to retain the high refiabilitv levels of the coding and
to reline and improve th - -erall ICAF system.

The goal of th- . . wotkshops and semi-
nars is to Increase the capability of the Broadeast
Standards and Practices editors by improving their
editing skills and by broadening thelr perspective
and understanding of the viewing audience.
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. Somelimes researchers measure bekavior by
, Observing ndrviduals in (helr natural sumoundings. A common
” method of measuring aggressivity among school children is to

20

simply observe them ol play during recess. What is crucial how-
ever, Ys that the observers be kept “Diind™ or uninformed as to
the nature of the study. In other words, telting observers (o ook -
specifically for viokent behavior can produce urintended “find:
ings” because the cheervers might, of vaconclousty,
be biased 10 fiad aggressive behavior. While this may seem to be
a research m which can easity be accounted for, in reality,
& number of researchers have shown that this usiatended
“demand” effect can e bias research findings and subse-
quent anghysls (Rosenthal and Jacobson). OF course, a lagger
question is whefher or not cbserving chidren at ply is ah
appropeiate substitute for the roeasurement of actual viokence

- PANEL SURVEY A panel strvey is very similar 1o a
field survey exqepd that the same respondents are surveyed at
twi or more paints in lime in order Lo perrail the researcher to
wnfer some aspects of u:'uﬂfect- However. ngy{w rela-
tionships under aw sort wnqnpg@ue ighly ques-
Lonable and subject to a great dea! of misinterpeelation because
so many externd variables remain v wcounted for.

The speclal “cross-lags. 4™ analysis whweh is
em| by two of the studes cited in the NIMH report
& Huesmann. and Sinser & Singer) which the NIMH suggests
an be used (o nfer causality have. jn fact, been shown to be
wwaled 1n-making such causa coanections (Bohrnstedt, Duncan,
Cnok and (‘Amgcn. Rogosa, Kessier and Greenberg). Appropn
e teciiaques are available 1o make such causal inferences.
however, and were employed by the NBC study (Milvsky)

FIELD EXPERIMENT A lield experiment 13 3n
attempt 10 abtan the best of both research worlds: the natural
emironiment of the field study combined with the expanmental
approach’y abitty to nfer causality. Of course in any compromuse
there vs abways a 1rade all. In tus case, 1 1s the ability to estab-
lish a definitive cause-eflect rebionship. No maiter ‘ow :
ngorously the researcher attempls to coatrol for external van-
ables, 1t 13 simply impossible to account for every erternal
circumstance in a natura) setting, as opposed (o the unnatural,
it completely controtied, laboratory situaticn.

A senous problem which 1s frequently encoun
tereq in field experimenis 1s the use of “iNact groups. vdn
thiact group is siinply a group of indwviduals (such as all chuldren
[LY] pmkvh:-ubod' class} who are selecled as one of the
expenmreatal groups 11 a field expenment] A true epenment
uses two (or more ) equal and identical grdups. one s subject to

Sgmet e s e

experimentsl manipulation (in (his case, a television program
with violence) and the other to the codtrol gtuation(such a3 a
neutral television show without any violence). The researcher
makes the groups equal and identical at the start of the -
experiment by randomly assigning the subsect to one of the
experimental groups. With all essentia; aspects of the o
groups being ay equal as possible. behaviaral changes can be
dtributed 10 the one thing which was differert: exposure to the
Gifferent television programs. However. when an experimental
group is umﬁmd solely of indniduals from the samé intact
group. then third varlables are not controtied. The expenmental
ﬂwg:m 0ot equal and identical al the start of the expenment.
{ havioral changes that occur may be due to: (1) original
ditlerences in the group, or (2) differences in the experimental
manipuldtion (TV programs). For example, when an intact school
class i used in a violence study it is possible that the differ
ences In children’s aggressive behavior may be due to dil-
ferences in the way the tes..2r coulrols discipine; some
teachers are m:e strict than othm.( i :erh:mmher uses two
intact groups and assigns one group (teacher very w3t does
not allow any ::ﬁ play) to the “violent TV show.” and 1..* “con-
trol” group (teacher very lenient — allows 2 it of rough play,

}-+henon-violent TV show.” a misteading conclusion concerruny

the impact of television could resull. The differences in behavior
cotld be due to either the diferent program coatent or lo the
ongiial difference of the intact groups - the degree of the
teaches's discipiine.

CHnical Studies

The chnical case method 15 less commonly used in
socil science research because the Jampie sue 15 olten
extremely small which makes rneniuuon to the population at
lrge difficult and unrebable. Nonetheless, chrical studies are
valuahle when researchers are intercsted in pe in-depth to
discern motmation and similar underfying reasons for attitudes
and dehaviors. Chinical studies are alsé very uselul when speci

" populations such as delinquent adolescents. exceptional chul

dren, or other noi-normative subjecis are of mnterest
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residence are Laken ino account. By squaring these s (.1
2 1]= Mand . 085.06 = .004) we see thatl television accounts
for Tper cent of aggresaive behavior withou! ud less
than I/ of one percent of aggressive dehavior when ontrols are

ied. In othet woeds, over 95 per cemt of the belund

individual's aggrescve must be attributed to factors
other than televi N

The effects sae is a very important consideration
when evalualing reseatch since & is often possible 1o find rela
nonshups whach. 1n fact, are virtually meaningless when the true
magratude of the relationship 13 assessed.
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Following are brief reviews and analyses of the fourteen studles cited in the NIMH

Technleal on Vielence and to support the betwoen television
e mmmmuuwm NBC Study. Although

it was not inciuded in the NIMH technical chapter en e, it I3 the only new study on the
. , subject, and was reported at length in a sectiets of its owss in the NIMH report, R .
STUBY APPRBACH * SUBIECTS MEASHREMENT EVALUATION
BELSON. W Rederssion iokencr | Field Sunvey 1545 Lnkdon boys 1n the age Television viclence exposure ® Controls for third vanshles
and the Adolesceni Boy London. range 13 17 years. Ths wasa wis measured by asting the were performed 10 4n ynor
Saxon House, 1978 . dritty wample boys about their viewing 4 rep- thodor mannet dewloped by
resentaltve sample of ol the author Traditiunal, simul
programs beosdcast between o {aneous controls fot unpor :

1959 and 1571 mty;u 3 then tant third vanabies were not
ot

. rated Ihe programs for 25 dif periotmed. Instead. post hoc :
‘ ferent forma of violence A matching of hegh and low vies :
boy's viclence score was ¢ tum ef3 was sttempled o4 ¢ numg
. of the products of exposure 1o of third variadles Matching
rach show and the violenea rat procedures are weak ta causal
. g lor each show inalysiy

8 Foreign wro-'e
Immivemient i violent behavior ® High viewery of lelnised vio

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

way measured by asking the leace were about 3t eggressne
buys i they had comnntied any & ow viewers of televised
of 83 victent acts i the last § vicleace ’
months # Approumately Aaif uf the
sasiple did not engage in any
* vioken! gcts.
. # Ihe suthor acknowledges
that despite s matching pro .
s cedures, My research does not*
- . ehminate the poss:bihity that '
. v . the teverse causal hypothesis
- agjressre bovs ble to watch
violent programs - i true
. N *
\
22
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o .




nication, February 1980

sTUSY APPRSACH . WEASURENENT EVALATION
Ay
) iy, W
ERON. LD & Parel Surve; of Jyears o | 158 tiest and third grade et Television viole nce was meg- & The'dtlationsiup betweens
HUESMARY. L.R drentna Chcagn suburd sured by asting chidten how televizon violghice and aggres
Adolesce nt Aggeession and . This was anonprobodility Trequently they viewed their sive bebawior Qnged from 34
Televison. Axnods of 1he Meu o | wumpie. ' ek’ most walched TV shows to 23
Yort Acudempod Scrences. 1980, Two st:ho Stuseats then ® Surulaneous coeul af
PR tated these shorss for their impurtant thidvtables (of
amnunt of visually portrayed which 3 numbes are inciuded in
ghmal aggression Achild's  ° | the study) wus not performed
Vviolence scote wys ihe sum ® Details dhout which aggres
ul Ihe wrleace ratings for thest 1 wne behavior measute (sell-
. eighi trost [requently watched repart of peer lomingled) was
shows, weighted by the lre analysed 1n the cortelations 18
quency with which they fl evidenl
wiiched the programs
Aggressne behavior wis mea
suted by peer numindted
rainigs and self ratings of
aggression The latter icinded
f ems 1n which the choid rated
] how simibat they were 19 fic
gl chitdren described as
eagaging in specilic sggiesene
behavtor
FRACZEK, A Persong! Commy Panel Survey 237 Nigeen N nformalion provided 4 Foteign cyltuis

# No publicly available
swdvrmalion

8 No sunallaneous coetrols ol
tmportanl thied varsables.
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EVALUATION

GRANZBERG. G &
STEINBRING, J Televinton and
the Canathan tndian Technical
kepur' Depa.iment of
Ardtrupolagy. Unners.ty of
winmpeg, 1989

Pane! Survey over S yrars

Elemealary school age. Uana
Gan Indian buys Ining on
reserves. Small samples in
each community (about 50)
These wete non prodabiiily
sampics

%

.

Exposure 1o teievision was
measured lnstead commu
nilres with and without
televisior were compared both
belure and alter TV was intro
duced into one of the
communittes

These cummusilies were com
pared on fwo vatdles.
1) Fear of vctimuzation -
ahelher af aot the subjecls
‘ompieied & lypothenval
stushion described by the
researchers a3 one that ended
1n a dangerous and vioten!
Manner

(3] dugiession . trsponses 10

astions aboul whal the sub

13 would do 1n Rypnthetical

siuations. {Whal would you do
il someone called you 4 name’)
i they <aid they would retalate
11 tind they wele scored as
aggrtsure

@ The atudy has not been sub
jected 10 peer review or
pul.lished in a fournal The
technical report does not pro
vid~ enaugh inlurmation to
fully understand and evaluate
rxactly what the researchecy
@4 and what they loupd Stains
tical tests are nal sithaently
reported .

® The sample 13 not represen
tairve and comes rom another

countty 3nd cuiture. They yiew
diilerent programs lhnrb

& The study designis we, -~

because any dafferences
observed amorg the co:nmy
nittes (ould biige to 2
multitude of other (actnis
beudes television

# The iMroduction of letevis.
did not atiect the mean jeveis
of aggresstve behavior cxhsb
tied 10 1Ne communities

& Nymultaneous conlrols of
important (hizd varabies were
not employed

I

GRERNERRG #

Hetsh C Mildiea st Telesiaed
Yoodetn € PulC (R0 sea Quar
o 1318 15 531 041

Fiekl Yarsey

26 hildeen 10 the 3 124ra 15
vear old age froups hited vut
suesorndires Ths 1y a st
prudeility ample

Tetevision eapovice wis med
suted Iy a isting of 30 programs
cuerently of recently mred 1n
Locdun Vivlent program cate
guiies (programs 1 which a&cls
ol vwience were common)
nchided (1) westerns. (2}
«hon aecture, 13} science
fictan. and (4) mixed shows
Reypondents chedked If they
wateh egch showeach ueed of
alfmast every tme 1 13 on

Aggresine gitiludes we
megsceed (1) porcened attec
Tive'i®se of using v.vience to
sutve prubleas, and (2)
personal willingness 10 use vio

leace 1o yalve own problems

® The relationship betwecti
e1posure (o vioience 4l
&4 cessnve alldudes was 15to
17 However ihe relationstep
between exposure 1o non /tn
lenee and agdressne atiiudes
was 1210 14~ atmost idenn
@l Uielevision violence 1s
supposed to cause aggressne
behavior, ft does aot foflow 1ha
non vivlent programming 1%
celated 1o aggressne attitudea
a dimost ihe same tevel
® Simullaneous conlrols for
third varudles weie not e
ployed in thes study
® The asngunt of winlet.ce 1n
the programs was tot reported

622
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STRY APPRIACH WaNCTY WEASYRERINT TVALUATION

HARTNAGEL, TP, TEEVAN, Field Surwey - Aprobebility mple of 29 Televiston exposure was mea- 8 The relitionshp between

51 dr. & WeINTYRE, ) J, nior Kigh school and semior sared by asking respoadents viglent television ezposure and

Television Violeace and Viclent m;h school Maryland students i they: (1) gotinto a serious viokent behavior oaly was 1

Behssior Social Awces, 1975, responvied 10 3 questionnaire with a stadent of school; When important (hirdvanables

. M1 351 ' (2) hurt someone badly e Bke ses, frade, race, lather's
for um to seed bandages: OCCUpAtION, educationdl expec-
{3) took part in a fight whvere" WioRs, family strycture snd
sroup ol your friends were school grades were coatrolled,
agalnst another group. The (re I3 relationsXip was reduted
quency of theie betuvion was 10 nedr t2ro
tecorded and summed 10 lorm ® The authets concluded teievi
hindes. - sion does Bof cause aggressive

béhaviot
LAGERSPETZ K Panel Survey 220 Children Na information provided ® Foreygn culture
Perwnngs Commuaxation, - . & No publicly avaslable
August. 1979 & | tormanon

YENS I P PARKE.RD
CAMIMO L R BERKOWITZ L
Eiects of mowte viclence on
aggreasion 1 g hieid setting as
a funchan of grovp dominance
and codesion Kowenci of Prr
wadiity 4% Sociaf Pyvedolegy
1975 J2 346 360

Experimental Field Study

8§ delinquent. secondary

% hool boyy 10 2 Belguan inslity
tion This 1y a 204 grodedidity
sample

Television violence was nol
measyred nstead tea un
edited commerciy) movves
suiee te Enghsh, others oot 1n
Enghsh were shown to the
buvs

Aggressne dehvior was mes
sured by observing the boyt
behaveor over d neriod of
time fnstances of aggression
nchided phytcal theeats.
phytical attuct verbal agares
sion. Aamagirg abredts, loyd
outbursts no! derected ot oth
e seif aggression

® No evidence was reporied un
long teem physical aggressne
ellects

® Any dillerences reporied in
his study may be due to the
ac §roups that were used a3
much a3 the Lind of films they
viewed Subsects were not ran
domty assigned to expenmenial
conditions Therelore (he
Rroups were not equal at the
start of the study Drllerences
observed can not de atinduted
to the experimental manipuls
tions {1 fhus case the movies
e subjecis sew i

0€¢

b
?
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st Journs! of Com.aunica

‘@ tons 1971, 37 13), 206 216

B

Theta Cable Television in Los

les. 260 coupies were  +
néuced to partic-pate (6
mosths free cable service)
This1S 8 nanprodabiity
umple

content (N =51}, (1) Nghn
violent of hurtful content

(N 2 45); (3) neuleal ur Igh
enlertuement content

(N = 19), (4) mized — botk
prosacial and viglent contest
(N2 25); and (5) natural con-
ten! ~ view whatever they
wished (N <43)

Behavior was assessed by kv
ing wives record all nstances

husbands “helpful™ (hus
band took son for 4 walk on the
beach) and “hurtful” (husband
lost rempor while drving car)
hetayior

b=ty ~ 4
STUDY APPRBACH SURJECTS . MEASURENENT EVALGATION
LOYE.D GORMEY.R & Expenmentsl Peid Stwdy From a pool of 725 husband Subtects wete assigned one of ® Thisty petcent of the subjects
STEELE. G Ellects of Telew) and-wife couples recruled Tewe types o mn‘; (1) d&d not complete the study
s0n° An expenmenial field (hough aancyacemens over Nigh in prosocial of helpfut Theselore Lhe results are

lased on the behavior of /&2
men. These men dre not repre
sentalve They were ptedomin
antly Caucasian. also more
dllivert and Detler educaled
Shan the hofm
& In all likekhood wives inew
what programs (heir husdands
wele viewing and Lhetelore
may bave been influvenced by
demand chdractertsincs of
study .
& Nuandication of the rature of
the hurthul bedavior the wnes
repurted was presented. Il los
irgtemper while droving was
the most senious farm of hurt
ful behawios, one must questio
ihe tevel of vicleace wodied
here
® Dufferences in mean levels ol
hurtful behavior were not ob
served among the fve groups
of television watchers
® Researcharsad 10 real con
trol over which programs
viewers Ktupily watched Thys
theut five diets of TV may have
been diluted
& Subjects were nol randomly
assgned 10 the dilforent teteys
sion diets. Asy hifereaces
smongthese p. o8 can mot he
attnbuted to the televisson pro
(*ain8 they viewed because
they were nol equal 1n all other
respects Many uther Nrd van
ables covid be respansidle far
any dillerences observed
These important third vinables
were hot controlled

b
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MOCARTHY. £.D., LANGHER,
T4, GERSTEN, J.C.. EISEN-
BERG, J 1, & ORZECK, L.

Violemce sad behavioral disor-

dets Journal of
%ﬂm«aﬂu 1875, 28 (0),
185,

mabe; o Tl“lir"
¢ o in
et
and 125h Streets.
&no:}mw ility >
sample Childrea were |l
obgecilof anaiysis.

Television exposure wes mes-
sured by asking the mothers
whal were their cuidren’s four
{avorite TV shows. Three
fesearchers assigned each
§ram 3 viclence rating wh
fanged from | 19 3. Al News

tecered a |; uns,

novies and ports (hie
teanis snd asedall) recemed s
2 shows ke NYPD, Mod Syued
4nd some sports (Ike wresting
40d hockey) tecemed 4 3.

Anthled viglence scofe vas
calculated by taking 1he square”
foot of the sum ol the violence
scures of the child's four fpvor
e TV shows This figure was
then muno\yied by the pumber.
n'L hours rv-m»d’;m by

the child.

Chudren's SRhaylor was mea
sured by asking mothers §54
queslions t thesr childrens
behavior. These stems were
reduced (o 4 dems These
dems slade up T dillerent scal
et (finterest here are two

s (1) fighting (teases
other chuldren, does not get
along with other ciidren al
schowl), and (2) delinquency
(does rash and dingerous
things, 1n troudle with police)

© The relaionships between
viclence viewing and fi
was 05 and between

viewing and deling wis
er0.
® Simultaneous oonirols lor

tNird variables

child to asy other children she
may have answered questions
about

8 The weighted violeace index
Is & contrived and witificul
measure.
8 While the authors report thus
4 8 porel su lorgitud)
wal data are presefied ’
@ Rebabikty u:mum for vio-
lence ratiaps of the programs
are not reported. The validty
ol the procedures used in the
violence ratings must he ques.
honed since teams &
baseball were rated 4542
¥ The sample was atypwcal hav:
ing been derived enlirely from
Marhattan

<

’
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MILAVSKY, J.R., KESSLER, R, | Panel Survey coveringa 3-yeur 3.200 elementary and second Television violence exposure uin avery sophisiicated and
0, AKURALHS. | period | sy schodcidren e wis measured oy tiRg1be. | Getaded s, Milhaty ot
Television and i0a: nedpobs and F. Worth, childran how frequently they o, were able [0 sbow thal vio-
Results of 8 suly. e D\ aged 7 through 3. viewed & representative sample lent television exposure had no
Pearl, L. Southile, andd, _mar of television progams. These significant elfact,0n subse-
(€ds.), Felewision end B e 5cores were then weighted by queat aggressive behavior.
1or Ren years of scienlific the amount of violence con- # The results of this study are
progreu exd uriwlm v tained in each progracs. very compeliing because of the
the M9}, (Vol 2). Washington, ; . greater validity, consistency
DC. US Governmeht Printing Agtressive behinior wis mea- and relevancy of the measuring
Office, 1982 sured by 1Mk peer somination Insruments employed.
procedure for elementary ® This study fs of further
school children. Fos teenagers, importance because the
sell-réports werp These authors were able to rephicate
v inciuded a nuasder of different the small correlation between
measures of aggressive behav- exposure to televised viclence
. tor: pltysical aggression (trying and aggressive behavior mea-
to hurt someone Y sured ot the, same*point in
and shoving, Mting or piench- time. However, whea other
ing), (:mq third variables were laken intc
10 hurt others by saying account, this relstionship was
things, ow;lh to get some- reduced lo near zer0.
one in ir JSeslingand | ® When these data were ana-
damoging property, delinquency Im«d over time, no support for
agiression (senous criminal the causal relationship was
behaviors hte kaife fights, found. 7
mugqang. car thelt or gang u Noevidence was reported
light} . and aggression againsl o that the shor-term leboratory
teacher (unrubiness or rude- type eflects cumuiste and gen
. ness toward a teacher) erakize to day-to-day behavior.
@ These results were true not
only for the entire sample, byt
also for syb-g, considered
- R to be peedisposed 10 agstes-
stve behavior.
VILGRAM, S & SHOTLAND, Expenmentsi Fieid Study 2.785 subjects parncmated in AMedical Ccn/ﬂ episode with < ® No significant differences
RL el,hl expenments conducled in several alterndime endings were obsetved In the stukes.
Television and antisocie! Y, St Lows. Chicage. Detront {ormed the antisocial teteviston Televigion did not lead 10 an
Mehasin Fietd expenments Some programs were » program ’ 1 rease 1 anlisocn! behavior
New York Academic Press, ta sobtects 1n theaters, dhile . ra ® Real television programs
1573 other programs were brbadcast | Mooeling of the antisocial were studied 1n the natural
and tested in major markets. actions were observed. These euronment in which they are
inchided smashing a chanty viewed .
display and sieakng the morey

—
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another’s toy. knocking over
blocks. tearing up & poster. or
pusting another cmld,f

PARKE, R.D., BERKOWITZ, L., Experimental Field Study W pvenide offenden from Television violeace w3 not 8 Although dilferences in
LEYENS, J.P, WESY, S, & : Wisconsin. They ranged in age measured. fastead len . aggresave behavior were ob
SEBASTIAN, RJ. ' from 1410 18 years. Ts was a unediled commercay] filmg scrved in the study, they can
Some effects of violent and aon podedility sampls. were shown (o be boys. Half not be altnbuted (0 'he mavie
nomiien movies on the the fitms were vickent, the o] content alose. The boys lound
dedavior of jverile delin: other Raif were non-violent. the violes fitms Io be more
quents. In L Berwity, (Ed) erciting, more likeadie, less
Adrances in experimentad sociel Agarestive behwior was mea- bortag and not silly compared
pychalogy. (Vol 10), vew sured by the sa.ne procedures lothe neutral filmy. To oser.
Yurk Academic Press, 1977 n Leyens et of come ths problem, the authors
conducted 2 replication of the
study with more interesdl
noa violent Fimy. No .
cant differences were reported
3 for physical ot iaterpersonal
~ aggresyion in tAis study. [nths
second siudy the repofted
1t doth types of films were
\ equally interesting and
exciting.

- ® Subjects were 1t randomly
assigned lo experimental con
anons. Therelote 1mtial

- alilerentu may :vewy “‘A'ny
. e1isted among the groups.
observed diflerences can not
be attriduted to the film
stimult
SINGER. J L & SINGER, D.G Panel Field Study condueted 41 nursery school and inder- Television viewing logs were ® Mean differences in Jevels
Teletssion, Imaginaiton and dunngihe course of 1 year nen chiddren in the New kept by patents of aggressiveness wers not
sst0n A stuch of pe © 0 ares. Thie was 2000 obse rved over the year's span
schoolens gy Hillsdale. NJ - prodability sampte Aggressive behavior was med of this study. Children who had
Bribaum, 1969, ' sured by having odservers rale seen mote television over the
1 afi a5 point scale ihe level of course of the slydy did not
agpresiiveness eshudited by behave anry triferently after )
dachchild Ena pies of these year had elapsed.
behaviors inchled “seisng o | ® Absolute levels of aggressive

bedavior were very low in this

sudy Girle rarely showed any
resxion at all

® Jericus forms of aggressne

behrvior did kol occur.

® While controls [or §ES, eth-

¢ backgrouad and 1Q were

: ' employed 13 I3 study. the
29 small, noa represeniative sam-

vee
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SINGER..J.L & SINGER. D.G.
Felecivion, imagination sad

S e,
May Hillsdale, NJ -
Enbaum 198, -~
(conlisued)

. L

Y,

pie of middie class, white
chidren did not allow encugh
virabildty in these measures to
adequately conduct these Lesls
Otber important third vanablesg
ware not messured in this

study. -

® Crogs lagged correlational
procedures were used These
ptoceduses have beea deman-
strated 1o be imvakd {or causal
analvsis,

& Jntipl bevels of aggressmve -
ness were not conlrolied in the
analysis.

WILLIAMS, T™M

Duttereniaal mopact of TV on .
chuidren A natural expenment
W communities with and with
ot TV Pager presented of the
meeting of the Internaisonal
Sociely for Research on Agres
won, on, 1978

Fanel Fleld Study over 2 yean

240 elementary schonl children
16 Caneld. This was ason prod>
obiiny wmple

Television e3posure was pot
measured, instead three towns
wete compated. (1) no televr
siof town, (1) one network
towh ad (3) mok networt
towh

Asgressive behdicr was mes
sured by observation of verbal
and phynicsl behavior dunng
free ply at school. peer and
teacher ralings of eggression

& The study Nas aot been subd-
pected 1o peer review o
published 1n a journal Ts
paper (S pages inlength) does
not provide eaough Information
{0 undersiand sad evaluste
exaclly what the researchers dd
(] they lownd Statistical
tesls are nol repocted

& The sampie is very small and
comes {rom another coualry
and culture. The programs they
view are different from ours.

@ The study design 11 weak
because any dilferences ob
setved aMORG the ks could
be due to s mukitude of other
{actors besides television
Impostant third variabies were
ot conlroied.

& Only 4 children were studied
o wo pids in time [nferences
{rom this smadl ol long
{uding dats can not be general-
ited
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AGNTW. N, & TRE, 3.
A Eagrnood, NJ.: Preaiice Ha, 1975,

s cu s e s
15004 O ioe
m’n Rand Corporation. 1874, ’

SLANL, D.M, ,
Ifhl- gc’lhﬂ Yiokence profile. Joume! of froodeasting. W17, 21, (3),

BOHRNATEDT, G.W.
- Obsetvitiond oa ke Measererment of hange In E.0. Bor
Soctological Methodology Ma Fraacisco: Jossey-Bass, 196

BYBLE, C., ROBINSON, D. & TUROW, J.

s media iholar's perceptions of television's effect on chiidren
Paper presented ol the donual comveation of the American Associa
tion (or Public Opiaon Research, Humt Valley, Mavyland, 1942,
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Mr. Huanes [presiding). Thank you, Mr, Wurt:.2],

Mr. Harding, we have your statement which, as | indicated previ-

ously, will be made a part of the record in full. You may proceed as
you see fit. .

Mr. HArpING. Thank you.

My name is Philip Harding, and 1 am director, special projects
research, in the CBS/Broadcast Group.

I would like to say at the outset that we at CBS afpreciate the
opportunity. to present our views on the possible social consequenc-
es of crime and violence in the media. We -are pleased that this
hearing has been conceived not as adversarial in nature but as a
more scholarly forum for the presentation of information and
points of view on this complex guestion. To approach the topic in
that way offers far greater promise of bringing into precise focus
the specific issues involved.

Questions of this sort can be addressed at two levels. The first is
the level of opinion, wherein wé are spared the need to deal with
facts. So long as debate is mairnthined at that level, each side’s posi-
tion is unassailable—and, of course, usually immune to change.

There is, however, a sezond level from which to examine and try
to resolve such questions. At this level facts, by which I mean ob-
servable events and processes, are the very bedrock. And when
such facts are insufficiently available, we say so and get on with
the business of seeking them out through disciplined research in-
quiry.

Most of us, I suspect, would agree that the issue before us today,
whether depictions of crime and violence on television are likely to
produce crime and violence in real life, is more appropriately ad-
dressed at this second, scientifiolevel.

It should be recognized that questions as to the relationship be-
tween media content and crime are by no means new. Half a cen-
tury ago, the Payne Fund was supporting research on whether
movies influenced their teenaged viewers to engage in criminal be-
havior. In the intervening years, comic books and even radio
became focuses of similar inquiries. As regards television, CBS has
been represented at some half-dozen House or Senate hearings
since 1964, as well as at a hearing of the Eisenhower Commission
on the Causes and Prevention of Violence. Indeed, only this past
December, some 4 months ago, the NIMH report was the topic of a
formal evaluation by the National Academy of Sciences, undertak-
en at the request of the National Institute of Justice, to assess the
need for research into the possible contribution of telewision vio-
lence to crime.

So there is, then, a considerable history to the issues confronting
us today. Television, like the earlier media which were the subject
of similar concerns, does, of course, aeal with crime and violence.
But scientific discussion of the social consequences of such depic-
tions must, 1 submit, be brief, because there are few facts to
present. )
Let me elaborate. In Volume 1 of the NIMH Report, the summa-

hat we are diseussing
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today is titled “Violence and Aggression” and refers, of course, to
television violence and viewer aggression. The pertinent sectign of
volume 2, the one composed of technical reviews of the research,-is’
similarly titled, as are both of the two studies which have become
the particular focus of critical discussion—the Huesmann and Mi-
lavsky studies. '

The conciusions drawn by those studies and by the report relate

R,

primarily to “aggressibn.” Ir: short, the word which has been adopt- * -

- ed for this discussgon by the scientific community is “aggression’’
and not “violence.” It is aggression and not violence that the great
mass of the studies have sought to measure. The reason for this is
a pragmatic one. As Krattenmal;er and Powe observed several
years ago in the Virginia Law Review—and here I am quoting:

A normative definition of violence agreeable to all and fairly objectively determin-
able can be derived: The purposeful, illegal infliction of pain for personal gain or
gratification that is intended to harm the victim and is accomrlished in gpite of
social sanctions against it. Whether viewing such pehavior simulated on television
tends to cause its occurrence in real life seems to be the question about which re-
searchers. regulators, and the public care. Such violence, however, is precisely the
sort of behavior that no researcher in a laboratory may seek to cause, and that no
“real world observer” can hope to witness systematically.

The fact that the NIMH Report and the underlying research
bear on aggression rather than violence has been emphasized by us
and by other observers who have questioried the social importance
of the\ behaviors studied. Some critics of the research, including
ourselvdg, go further and ask whether many of these behaviors are

“aggressive” in any destructive or hurtful sense.
of example, one of the studies has as its subjects nursery
ddren whose behavior was observed and rate during free-
. Play periods. To the extent that this study turned up any behaviors
. its authors considered aggressive, these were limited very largely
Y to instances in which a child may have carelessly knocked into
| other children’s toys or disrupted games. Another study considers
it aggressive for ihird-grade children to stick their tongues out and
give people dirty looks. One of the witnesses here today, Dr,
Thomas Cook, in a soon-to-be-published evaluation of the NIMH

= Report, has suggested that many 0f the aggression measures are

not clearly related to my antisocial behavior, He notes:

Many readers understand."aggression” in terme of physical violenc'e-' with intent’
o harm or as criminal behavior and not as tie “incivility” that the majority of past
measures of agyression mostly tap into.

Now, I have no wish to review all the behaviors measured in gll

of the studies. But I think we can agree that while some of these
behaviors do represent some form cf aggression, we must always
recognize that very few of them could be meaningfully character-
ized as violent. .

And if so little of the available reseaych has dealt with violence,
still less has focused on real-life crimﬁln short, then, the types of
behavior discussed in the NIMH Regort and the research on which
it is based simply do not afford the basis for a scholarly conclusion
as to whether violence on television leads to crime or violence in
the streets,

Let me close with a few ges ~ral observations. While the causes of
crime are complex, we may al. agree that among the major contrib-
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uting factors are a variety of deeply rooted rocial conditions. Those
conditions, however, are notoriously difficult to eradicate. Jt, there-
fore, becomes all too easy to point the finger of blame elsewhere—
frequently at the media, and particularly at television. CBS be-
lieves, however, that after years of hearings and official Govern-
ment reports, there is still no convincing evidence that television
violence creates criminals or increases crime in our society.

It, therefore, becomes all the more important that we not allow
our concern about crime to lead us into actions inconsistent with

“the first amendment. Crime and violence appear in the media, both
in the form of cramatic entertainment and in our daily newspapers
and news broadcasts, for the simple reason that they are part of
the world in which we live. It is difficult to imagine any role for
the Government in this area whi¢h would not be fundamentally at
odds with our traditions of free speech and a free press. .

Those are issues, however, which can be better discussed by
others. What I have tried to suggest to you today is that this is a
terribly complex area, and we are still very far from understanding
the facts concerning it.

" Thank you.
[Mr. Harding's statement follows:)
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Statement by Philip A. Harding

Director, gpecial Projects Research, CBS/Broadcast Group

Ny name is Philip Harding, and I am Director, Special Projecte

K’ “eatch in the CBS/Broadcaet Group.

I would 1ike to say at the outeet that we at CBS appreciate the

opportunity to preeent our views oa the poesible. eocial

consequences of crime and violence in the medis.’ We are

pleased rhat this hearing has been conceived not aa adversarial

in natute but as a more echolarly torum for the presentation of

lntér-ation and points of view on thie complex question. To

2pproach the topic in that way offers far greater promine of

bringing into precise focus the specific issues involved.

Questions of this sort can be addressed at twa levels.

tirst ia the lovel of opinion, wherein We are wpared the need
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to deal with facts. So long as debate is maintained at that

level, each side's position is unassailable -- and, of course,

ugsually {amune to change.
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There is, howevsr, a se¢cond level from which to examine and try

to resolve such questions. At this level. facts -- by which I
mean observable avents and processes -- are the very bedrock.
An¢ when such facts are insufficiently available, we say 8o and
gst on with the business of seeking them out through

disciplined research inquiry.

*

Most of us, ! suspect, would agree that the issue before us

today -- whether depictions of crime and violence on television

are lixely to produce crime and violencs in real life -- is

mote appropriately addressed at this second, scientific level.

1t should be recognized that questions as t: the relationship
between media content and crime are by no means new. Half a
century ago. the Payne Fund was supporting ‘research on whether

movies influenced their teenaged viewers to sngage in criminal

behavior. 1In the intervening years, comic books and even radio

became focuses of similar inquiries. As regards television,
CBS has been represented at some halt-dozen House or Senate
hearings since 1964, as well as at a hearing of the Eisenhower
Commission on the Cauases and Prevention of Violence. Indeed.
only this past December, four months ago, the NIMH report was
the topic of a formal evaluation by the National Academy of

Sciences, undertaken at the request of the National Institute
of Justice, to assess the need for research into the possible

contribution of television violence to crime.

:

us



246

Thozo'il. then. a conuiderable history to the issues
confronting us today. Television, 1ike the earlier media which
vere the subject of similar concerns, does of course deal with
crime and violence. But scientific discussion of the social
consequences of such depictions must, I submit. be brief

bscause tr-.re are few iacil to present.

Let me elaborate. 1In Volume 1 of tho‘hluﬂ report, the summary
volume, the chapter coming closest to what we are discussing
today is titled “Violence and Aggression and refers of course
to television violence and viewer aggression. Ths pertineat
séction of volume 2, the one composed of technical reviews of
the research. is similarlv titled, am are both of the two
studies which have becons the particular focus of critical
discussion -- the Huesmann and Milavsky stud.es. The
conclusions drawn by those studies and by the report relate
primarily to “aggression.* 1In short, the word which has been
adopted for this discussion by the scientific cormunity ie
"aggreseion" and not "violence.® And it is aggression. not
violence, that the great mass of the studies have sougat (o
Beasure. The reason for tﬁis is pragmatic. Ag KrattenmAker -

and Powe observed several years ago in the Virtg ..a Law Review:

A normative definition of violence agreesble to all
and fairly objectively determinable can be derived:
the purposeful, illegal ianfliction of pain for
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pérsonal gain or gratification that is intended to
harm the victim and is accomplished in spite of soclal
sanctions against it.” Whether viewing such behavior

, simulated on television tends to cause ita occurrence
in real life seems tgthe the gquestion about which
researchere, regulators, and the public care. Such
violence. however, is precisely the sort of behavior

' that no researcher in a laboratory may seek to cause oo
and that no “real vorld observer" can hope to witness
systematically.

The fact that the NIMH report. and the underlying research,
bear on aggression rather than violence has been emphasized by j
\\n us and by other observers who have questioned the socia:
\\lepo:tancn of the .behaviors studied. Some critics of the
:Gi;q:cn. including ourselves., go further and ask whether many
of these bohavfo:s are evan "aggreasive" in any destructive or
hurttul sense. By way of example, one of the studies has as
. its subjects mursery-school children whose behavio:';as
observed and rated during free-play periode. To the extent ~
that this study turned up any behaviors its authors considered
agressive. these were limited very largely to instances in
which a child may have carelessly knocked into other children's
toys or disrupted games. Another study considers it aggressive
fé: third grade children to stick t?g}: tongues out and give
people dirty looks. oOne of the witnegses hers today. Dr.
Thomas Cook. in a soon to be published evaluation of the NIMH -
report, has suqéeated that many of the aggression neabgres are
not clearly relatéd to any anti-social behavior. Heahotés_that

"(m]any readers understand 'aggression’ in terms of physical
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violence with intent to harm or as criminal behavior and not as
the ‘incivility' that the majority of past measures of . '

’-aqqzession mostly tap into."

.1 have no wigh to review all the behaviors measured in all of

the studies. But I think we can .jree that, while some of

these behaviors do represent sgie form of aggression, we must

ralways recognize that very few of them could be meaningfully . h;

characterized as violent. . ,

3

And if so little of the available research has dealt with
violence. still less has focused on real-life crime. In short,
then. the types of behaﬁioz discussed in the NIMH report and
the research on which it is based simply do not afford the
basis for a scholarly conclusion as to whether violence on

-television leads to crime or violence in the streets.

h ] , .

Let me close with a few general observations. While the causges
of crime are complex. we may all-aqraa,that;anonq the %i}or

- contributing factors are a variety of deeply-rooted gocial

" conditions. Those conditions, however, are notoriously
difficult to etadf@ate. .It therefore becomes all too easy to
point the finqer of blame elsewhere -- frequently at the media
and particularly at telgvision. CBS believes, however, that
after years of n'atings and official goveznneAt reports, there &Si
is still no convincing evidence that television violence

cteates criminale or increases crime in our society.
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1t therefore becomes ail the more important that we not allow '
our concern about ¢rime to lesad us into actions inconsistent
vith the Pirst Amendment. Crime and violence appear in the
media -- both in the form of dramatic entertainment and fa our
daily newspapers and nevs broadcasts -~ tor the simple reason
that they are part of the world in which we live. .It is
difficult to imagine any role fot the goyernment in this area
which would not be fundamentally at odds with our traditions of T

free speech and a free press. P -

° Those are issues, however. which can be better discussed by
others. wWhat ! have tried to suggest to you today is that this
is a terribly complex area, and ve are 'still very far from

understanding the facte concerning it.

.

. Mr. HucHgs. Thank you very much, Mr. Harding. s
. First, would any of the panelists like to comment on any of the
other statements made by panelists? You're pretty much all in
accord with what has been said by each panelist?

Mr. HArDING. Yes.

Mr. HucHes. Mr. Harding, in your statement you emphasize the

A

distinction between aggression and violence. Professor Eron, in his °

research, seems to make a connection and seems to go even further
and relate it to violent criminal acts. '

What would your response be to his research?

Mr. HarpING. I have not seen that research. I have not seen any
research which sought to extrapolate from measures of these more,
I would say, harmless acts of aggression, to the more serious kinds
of things that happen in-later life. . '

I was interested in listening to that because I have never seen
that kind of information in the research literature, and I certainly
would want to look very closely at those relationships.

Mr. HuGHES. I am sure that Professor Eron would be very happy

_to make that data available.

In your closing statement you make the observation that “CBS
believes, however, that after many years of hearings and official
Government reports, there is still no convincing evidence that tele-
vision violence creates criminals or increases crime in our society.”

That sounds to me like a request for a “smoking gun” type .of
evidence, and I doubt that we will ever find tha' kind of evidence
and I think you would agree with that. I am not so sure you could
ever prove beyond a reasonable doubt since we just can't take a
picture of a person’s mind.

What, in your judgment, would be the kind of evidence that
would be persuasive? ’

&2




249

Mr. HaRDING, To me, the most—and other people have said
this—the most, persuasive kind of study is the laboratory experi-
ment done ini the field under naturalistic conditions. I do not like
the labpratory study that is done in the laboratory because so
many of the conditions are controlled and it is simply unrealistic.
So I think you start with that.

Some years——- '

Mr. FucHEs. Is CBS doing anything ta acquire that kind of data?
_Mr. ARDING. Yes. Several years ago, going back to 1969, I be-
lieve—and this was in response to the concerns about violence that
had then come to the forefront in society—we convened a confer-
ence of social scientists to address this very question. In fact, in the
ccfmte:ét of that conference we solicited proposals for that very type
of study. _ _

‘We stipulated, however, that if we were to provide grant moneys
for research in this field, there were a couple of ground rules that
had to be observed. One was this kind of thing that I am talking
about. The research had to be addressgd to television violence
which’ was observed under natural viewing conditions and not in
the laboratory, and the behaviors in question had to be observed
and measured in the real world and not in the laboratory. There
were other things, but dfter a rather extensive Peer review process,
we did indeed fund certain studies which met those criteria on an
unrestricted grant basis, which meant that'CBS had no right of in-
terposition—anything to safr about the findings. '

But that comes closest, I think, to the kinds .of studies that we
feel offer the most promise—— :

Mr. HuGHes. Were any such sfidies commissioned?

Mr. HARDING. Yes. ﬁlexe' e three or four commissioned. I
hesitate because CBS ‘commissténed 'some by itself and others in
connection with a committee/an ind try committee, called the
Joint Committee for Researcl/on Televiion and Children.

Mr. HuGHES. Have those studies been completed?

Mr. Harbing. Yes, they were completed. The authors of one of

" them were Stanley Milgram and Lance Shotland, and that study is

in the literature. Another one is the Belson study with which you
may be tamiliar. A third was by Feshback and Singer, done in the
late sixties, and a fourth was a’replication of Feshback and Singer
by Williams Wells. . : ‘

These were essentially laboratory field experiments in the sense
thay they were laboratory designs applied to a field setting, where
you have these kinds of naturalistic——

Mr. HucHes. Those studies were taken into account by the
NIMH?

Mr. Harbing. The NIMH report dealt with only those studies
that came out, I think, since 1972 or 80, so Feshback and Siager
perhaps may not have fallen in that. But yes, they did refer to
Belson and they do refer to the Milgram and Shotland research.

Mr. HucHes. So you are saying, aside from the conclusions that:
might be arrjved at in the field, no other studies doneyin the labo- -
rdtory would be sufficient, no matter how conclusive the sociolo-
gists or the researchers were in their findings? .

Mr. HarpinG. It depends on the level at which you wish to ob-
serve these things. If you look at a laboratory study done in a labo-
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ratorg, you can demonstrate that certain things can happen, it is ,

possible for them to happen. It is possible to show a child a film of

another child hitting a Bobo doll, for example. A child may learn -
from that film that one can hit a Bobo doll and that is, indeed,
what Bobo dolls are for.

But, on the other hand, 1 don't think you can be-satisfied with
that. As I say, both the stimulus for the aggression and the aggres-
sion itself were so contrived that, I would not be satisfied wit
making basic social policy or any other kind of decisions based on
that kind of—— ' '

Mr. HuGHes. Some of the studies I am aware of, the study b
Professor Cook and certainly by Professor Eron, a lot of that work
was done in the field, was it not? ) .

Mr. HarpinG. Yes, Professor Eron’s was done in the field.

Mr. Huches. How would r;'ou distinguish between those studies ¢
and the studies you envision’ . :

I meah, obviously, the data.was collected, and I gather you have
no quarrel with the techniques that were used by these sociologists

, and scientists. i} )
- Mr. HARDING. My quarrel is twofold: one, as I indicated in the
- statement, is with the nature of the dependent variable, the crite-
rion variable, what is called aggression in these studies. That s one

, thing that 1 do take issue with, I haven't ‘seen Professor Eron's

. most recent work, but I would be terribly interested in any study
which related aggression at one time, or<television viewing many
. years beforé, to aggression at'a much later time. But I will reserve
judgment on that. I just haven'’t seen it. o .
\The. other coricern | have is with the analysis techniques. What
we are dealing with here is essentially correlational data, the kind
of thing Dr. Wurtzel was talking about. We can never truly meas-
ure cause and effect, I don't believe, except in a laboratory kind of
situation. Professors Eron's and Heusmann's work, since it used
multiple regression analysis to arrive at its conclusjons, must
therefore have relied on correlational analysis rather than analy-
: ;es which permit causal inference. Those are the two objections I
ave. :
Mr. SAwyER. Would the chairman yield for a minute?

Mr. HucHes. I would be happy to yield.

Mr. SawvEer. I don't like to interrupt, but I have a question. I
meant to ask the prior panel about this but then I got diverted and
missed the opportunity. :

I am puzzled by what is meant by the word “aggression.” You
know, aggression isn't necessarily bad. I hear parents complain
that their child isn't aggressive enough. It depends on what you
mean. What do you mean by aggression? Everybody is using that
word and I'm not quite clear on what you mean. Do you mean
punching somebody in the nose or being a little pushy to get
ahead?

Mr. Huchrs. That was the point of part of the testimony.

Mr. Sawykr. Oh. I missed it, unfortuantely.

Dr WorTzEL. That is one of the key issues in terms of this entire
question; that is, many of the measures that are being used such as
aggression are never really well defined. vary tremendously from
study to study, and, in fact, can be as abstract as asking a child if
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he would be #terested in seeing a balloon pricked with a pin. Yet
those are assumed to be aggressive and, even beyond that, violent
behavior. '

Similarly, there are very frequently inconsistencies in the way in
which violence is defined. Of course, what all these studies attempt
to do is to get a menu of programs which the researcher claims to
be violent, see whether the child watched that show, and then see
if there is an association with whatever measure of aggression the
researcher happens to be using.

Mr. Sawver. I suppose that the average kid in high school going
out for the wrgstling team is probably basically aggressive, and
maybe th e thing for a football player. That's why 1 wag
having trouble in trying to distinguish—— . '

Mr. HucHEs. Professor Eron's study, which I think has to give
you some difficulty, perhaps would fly in the face of your sugges-
tin that the definition of aggression really is a little ambiguous
and therefore it challenges the results. Professor Eron was much
more specific. He was talking about acts of violence. His study
dealt with criminal activity, drunken driving and other activities.
So that study was much more specific than the other studies.

What do you have to say about his study? Do you challenge the
methodology that he used.

Mr. HarpinG. If I understand the study that you're talking
about, when .it was first done it measured aggression at the age of
9. Then they went back 10 years later and measured it at the age
of 19. I think it was 1 year after graduation from high school.

It is my understanding that the methodology was a little peculiar *

because they had measured aggression at the earlier age and then
they went back and talked to as mauy of these same subjects as
they could find. But irstead of asking about these people’s aggres-
sion at their present age, they tried to find out who “used to be,”
whatever the aggression variable was. Who used to be. So you had
néd way of interpreting what point in time the answer referred to.

If I am thinking of the same study, it was who used to be doing
hese things. You had no sense of what time the respondent had in
ind when he answered the quustion. So you don’t truly have a
easure of aggression at time cne and a measure of aggression at
me two. The second is a measure of the subject’s aggression some-
here in between the ages of 9 and 19. It is nof clear exactly when.
t is simply methodologically flawed on that basis.

Mr. HucHEs. How else could you accomplish that, if you did not
at it at different periods?

Mr\Harpinc. You would want to get—I suspect if your objective
is to measure the effect of television on aggression at time one and
at a lafer time, you would want to measure the aggression as it ac-
tually exists at that later time. In other words, get some kind of
aggression description of the individual at the second point in time,
which is exactly what they failed to do, as I understand it. -

Mr. HuGHes. How would you do that unless you were at the
scene of the act of violence? Obviously you have got to pick some
arbitrary period of time and determine at that point what type of
behavior took place in the intervening years.
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~ Mr. Haroing. Exactly. ] don't think the idea was to do it for the
intervening years, But I think it was to measure aggression at that
second time, at age——" ' C

Mr. HucHEes. OK. But to try to get it at the exact time, that an
act of aggression or an act of violence took place, would be most
difficult. _ : '

Dr. Milavsky.

Dr. MiLavsky. I would just like to add to that. I think both Pro-
fessors Eron and Pii Harding are right on this, in different ways.
As [ understand it, frsm having read Professor Eron’s longer state-
ment—he excerpted {~om that this morning—he has got another
measurement 10 year; after the one that Phil knows about—and -
Phil would not have any way of knowing about it, not haying read
the later statement. In that he does have measures of serious

- criminal behavior. He reports, although we haven’t seen the data,

’

a

that there is a little bit of a relationship between that measure”
that they took when the children were in the third grade and this
measure 20 years later. .

Mr. HucHes. Well, there is enough of a conclusion to that effect
that he concludes there is a causal relationship.

Dr. MiLAvsky. Yes, but what we have not seen—and he doesn’t
say that he did that in his extended statement, either—but we
have not seen yet the relationship between the earlier television
exposure measure and that later behavior. He has got that data
but we have not seen that yet, nor has he talked about it.

Mr. HuchEs. Have you requested that, Dr. Milavsky? .

Dr. MiLavsky. No. He is not here in the room. As a matter of
fact, during the intermission I was going to ask him——

Mr. HuchEs. I can’t imagine that that would not be available
upon request. '

Dr. Miravsky. No, no. | am not saying that he is hiding any- .

~ thing.

tg: >

Mr. Hughgs. Well, here we have obviously four very respected
scientists, I am sure nobody quarrels with their credentials there.
They are very reputable and they have ne reason whatsoever to
color their testimony or their conclusions. They have done exhaus-
tive studies and independently they have come to the same essen-
tial conclusion.

Is it possible that your conclusions ar¢ - . ong?

Dr. MiLavsky. I don't think so. I thinn it is possible that their
conclusions are wrong.

Mr."HucHes. | expected you to say that. o

Mr.s HarpING. No, I think it is true that. as I said before, a lot
dc-p(e;inds on the level at which you are willing to accept data of this
kind. .

Mr. HucHes. You see, I have the impression that television has
arrived at this conclusion, and “don't confuse me with facts; my
mind is made up.” That's the impression I get.

Dr. Mitavsky. I would like to commeat on that. I think we
should be very clear, at least as far as NBC is concerned--and I
think this feeling is shared by the other networks—that we are dis-
cussing some very complicated sets of evidence on the.issue of long-
term effects here. Most of the discussion today was on that subject.
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As far as imitation is concerned, we are not even—as far as
we re concerned, we are not arguing the point. We are not even
looking for data on that subject any more. We are locking at our
programs and saying let’s not get into that. Any program cannot
possibly have anything in it that might lead to the harmful imita-
tion of acts by even a deranged person, insofar as that can be hu-
manly foreseen by human beings losking at these things and .
making judgments. So that is not an issue here. I don't want you to
get the impression that we are stohewalling and we are acting as

" though we can show anything we want to on television. We do not
take that kind of position.

Mr. HuaHes. I appreciate that, and I appreciate your candor. I
think that-is a very resr..."ble approach and I am delighted to
learn that that is the policy of the networks.

377 You know, Dr. Wurtzel, I was a little intrigued by your use of
the survey that was completed with some 400 researchers by
Bybep. As | understand it, you asked 400 researcHers whether they

»~ believed violence on television was “the cause’'--and I emphasize
that—of aggressive behavior,

Now, “the cause” is sort of all-inclusive, isn’t it? )

Dr. WurTZEL. Congressman. this is-—~— .

Mr. HucHes. That's like to the exclusion of everything else.

Dr. WurtzeL. We did not conduct that study. This is a study that
was conducted by Bybee, Robinson, and, Turow.

Mr. HucHes. I'm not quarreling «ith the study. I am quarreling
with your testimony. You Jead us to believe that the study found

* that 400 researchers concluded that there was no causal relation-
ship by the questions that were asked. The one guestion that you
point to as showing a de minimus response—I"think 0.8 of 1 per-
cent, which is de minimus—was the question of whgther it was
“the cause.” | éitean, that is to the exclusion of all other causes.

Now, do you think that 15 a fair representation of that survey?

Dr. WurTzeL. I think it is a fair representation on 2 number of °
levels. First of all, I think we have to recognize that 18 areas of
interest in terms of the academic community were questioned to
.these 400 researchers, and in terms of interest and importance, vio-
lence or television and aggression came up i5th. So it clearly is not
on the minds of many, many of the researchers who are working in
the field. There is something of significant importance, for a
number of reasons. ' .

Second, I think the point we are trying to bring out here is that
the NIMH came out ,with an awiilly significant global statement
suggesting that there is a cause-effect relationship between televi-
sion and behavior and that there is a consensus within the scientif-
ic cgmmunity that this has been proven beyond a shadow of a
doubt.

First of all, that survey indicates that that is not, indeed, the
case, and secondly—-— - ,

‘M:. HuGcHEs. Let me just stop vou there. There was more than
one question asked. You came in here and you testified about une
question, “the cause’’ question.

How about the response when the survey asked these scholars
their perception of whether aggressive behavior was an important
cause?
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Dr. WurTzeL. Yes, and then some 20 percent suggested that that
was the case. \

Mr. HuGHEs. 21.2 percent.

How about a “somewhat iraportant cause'? .

Dr. WurTzg).. Forty-three percent, :

Mr. HuGHES. 43.8-percent. Then there was a total of 65 percent. I
would consider that a yretty* significant number of those 400 re-
searchers, wouldn’t you

Dr. WurTzEL. I am not suggesting that this study is in any way
definitive. First of all, from a survey methodological standpoint,
the questions are skewed toward one end. In other words, we don’t
see a question here that says “a somewhat unimportant cause.” So,
No. 1, there were certain methodological problems in the questions.

I am using this as an illustration of the fact—and I think this

-addresses a comment that you asked a moment earlier—and that

is, how can we have four distinguished social scientists up here on
the panel previously and they all come out with these statements
reflecting such different viewpoints? It seems as though—again, as
the NIMH suggests—the academic scientific community simpl

feels that the book has been closed on this case. That is not, indeed):
the ease, not at all. In fact, there is a very, very vigorous debate
within the scientific community. I think you saw some of it this
morning when you saw Professor Eron talking about the way in
which he interprets the data and when you see Dr. Milavsky and

. his colleagues talk about the way in which data is interpreted. And

when you also discussed the fact that there has been no consistent
definition of the very thing-that we are being asked to measure.

In fact, Krattenmaker and Powe, who wrote an article in the
Virginia Law Review, which Mr. Harding mentioned earlier, indi-
cated that it is not se much that we haven't been able to answer
this question about the effects of television on violent behavior.
Tlie social science community hasn't even asked that guesticn. So

what 1 am trying to suggest is that there is a great deal of debate
and that by no means is the conclusien of a causal relationship one

that r=flects the entire research community. .

Mr. HuGghes. Let me just tell you as a lay person—I am not a
scientist, I'm not a sociologist; I'm the guy who has four kids who
watch TV. Television is a dynamite media. I mean, to try to con-
vince our kids they don’t need Captain Crunch, for instance, was a
tremendous job. And around Christmastime, you guys had us going
bananas wit{: new toys on TV. We encouraged them to stay away
from the television around Christmastime because their desires
change by the '.ur, depending upon what commercial they were
seeing. People are so influenced by TV. It is probably the most dy-
namic media, and vou do have a short time to get a message across,
and it has to be a very important message, and I understand the
constraints involved.

But having said that, having said I am not a scientist, I am per-
suaded that there is a relationship as the NIMH report indicates. 1
can't see how you would disagree. Obviously you have modified
yvour policy somewhat. There is a relationship. The question is to
what degree. What is the contribution? Where, in this complex
series of influences that goes into shaping an individual, does TV
fit in that overall ¢ .mplex situation? That is perhaps the question.
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I can’t believe that anybody would come in here and say that the
viclence on TV doesn't have an impact. You can bring all the scien-
tific studies in the world in, but I can tell you I would have a hard
time believing that because just common sense tells me that if, in
fact, it has-that profound an impact on my kids on commercials, it
has got to have an impact on violence. Kids are great mimickers.
They become very impressionable at the ages of b, 6, 7, and they
try to mimmick the tfxings that they think are in the real world
and are important to tReir peer groups. :

I remember one of the cases I tried as a prosecutor was'a case
where a guy shot his wife because she turned off “Hogan's
Heroes.” He shot her. It is not scientific what I'm going to tell you,
but there were a number of instances of violence tﬁat followed -
that, where a spouse fooled around with the TV set. Copycat type
of offenses. In my little community ] saw it. The- copycat type of
persnality is after all, all kinds of things. Perhaps the publicity, .
trying to get their name in-the paper. Who can comprehend and
fathom, really, ail the motives.

The point is, they are influenced by things that they see around
them, and TV is that pervasive, TV i a day in and day out influ-
ence and makes suggestions of normal behavior that ! think gives
all of us concern.

I 'am just delighted to hear that the media is1ooking at this, that
there are ongoing studies, and policies are being modified. I think
you fellows are being overly humble today in submitting to us that
TV does not have a large influence on the American public. It's a
profound intluence.

Mr. HArDING. Mr. Chairman, I just want to say something. You
were talking about the impact, the social impact of these violent
portrayals.

The three of us are researchers and have been looking for many
years at this issue. The body of research has simply not demon-
strated a causal relationship between viewing of television violence
and the more serious kinds of things with which your committee is
concerned, crime, and the serious formé of violence. In all candor, I
just have not seen that demonstrated in the research. That may be
a fault of the research. It may be that that effect could be out
there. But given the state of the art of the research methodology
developed to thiz point, given what that research shows, I don’t-——,

Mr. HucHes, How do you explain away the copycat offenses, the
skvinckings?

Mr Harpincg, | think you have a certain level of ‘pathology out
there, and these are people who would get the idea from television
or from motion pictures, or fromi books, or from newspapers. It hap-
pened to be television in one case and it happened to be something
else in another. But something tri gered that for them. ' '

Mr. HuGues. Most of those people don't read books and newspa-
pers. many of. them don’t. They do watch television in many cases.

Mr. Hawroinag. But I wonder what you do. Even if you say that,
that it came from television, what do you do—I mean, if you're a
programmer--because you cannot foresee what is going to set one
of these people off. Some of it just makes no sense at all, and yet
they react to it. It can be purely prosocial programming. ¥ could be
“"Romeo and Juliet.”
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Mr. Huches. I agree. You can never prevent it entirely. All you

can do is endeavor to develop a reasonable set of guidelines and
policies, where the industry polices itseif as part of its responsibil-
ity to the public good, recognizing the tremendous power you have.
That's all we ask. ' _ ’

I have taken much more time than I should have, I am going to
recognize the gentleman from Michigan. N

Mr. Sawver. Thank you. I just want to make an observation.

I think it is a question of degree, the degree of influence and on
how many people, and the degree of alteration or deprivation of
thﬁ'lrest of the public of the progra.ns that they feel are worth-
while. -

Obviously, some people grossly misuse an automobile, and I don’t
< think you could say, therefore, none of the rest of us ought to have
automobiles or the same thing with guns or whatever. So I think
you have got to balance the amount of the restriction against the
credit, or the good, or the entertainment, i you will, to balance it
the other way. . i _

It doesn’t personally appeal to me that I can’t watch a program
because 1 person out of 10 million out there might be impacted b;
it, rightly or wrongly, to do some nutty thing, sometimes, as you
say, with no relationship tq.the programs. .

I am very persuaded that the news media coverage is an induce-

ment to certain deranged people to do deranged things. I have in-.

vestigated that to my own satisfaction, even in hearings with the
people that did it. You can almost see that same pattern with
Hinckley. He wanted to use the media to prove to this gal Fnster,
whoever it was, that he was some kind of a big figure. Lee Harvey
Oswald, I know from our own assassination hearings, it really
wasn’t that he didn't like Kennedy or that he had anyting against
anybodv. He really was just one of these frustrated people who
couldn't get any recognition. He tried distributing Cuban litera-
ture. He got arrested, but no publicity. He defected from the
United States and went to, the Soviet Union after serving in the
Marine Corps, and he didn't get—other than being put on a .watch
list or two, nobedy paid any attention to him. I think finally, just
out of some sort of twisted drive to get recognition, he ended up
killing the President of the United States.

It really beats me how you overcome that. But you do have to
recognize it, even outside of criminal areas. I know some outside of
the criminal areas who view any publicity as good publicity.
Whether it is good or bad, I would say the average one of us would
shrink from any unfavorable publicity and would much rather
prefer none. but that doesn’t go across the board. A number of
public figures around the country are perfectly willing to do outra-
geous things, just because they view any publicity as good publici-
ty. Of course, then you get the demented variety or twisted variety
and that becomes an object in and of itself.

I guess, other than hoping for normal restraint and good judg-
ment, at least attempts to prevail in the news portrayals, and in
the ‘programming, balancing good against the potential is about
reallv all vou can expect, in my judgment. Until we get the public
to where they don't want to watch the notorious or this and that—
which occasionally they have reacted to, and very eftectively, on
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programming and that sort of thing, wherg the complaints are
enough from the public that the media responds. But I guess, un-
tortunately, the thing that makes news is racial accusatiens in Chi-
cago and mental insanity accusations and the things we saw with a
Vice Presidential nominee here a few campaigns back, where it de-
veloped he had some kind of a mental institution backgrouni.
Those kinds of things, I guess the media does them because unfor-
tgnutely. the rest of us tolerate them and seem to want to listen to
them.

I know the chairman and I and our subcommittee are very con-
cerned with drugs here as one of our major things, and I suppose,
other than holding it down as best we can, you are never going to
cure it until the market goes away, until people don't want it. 1
guess we have all proved that with prostitution for as long as
memory goes. T

So [ suppose the problem, as somebody here made an observa-
tion, that tﬁe problem is kind of with the bad news selection or the
things that nake news, I guess a par+ of the problem is with our-
selves in general, although I do think the media's selectivity of
what makes news on the news side of the thing also promotes
people to doing outrageous things to get some news recognition
when they think it is valuable to them.

But I just think we have restrained pretty well, as near as I
know, alf programs depicting crime, where we always end up with
the cririnal being found wrong and punished and the good always
prevails—-unfortunately, maybe more so than in real life. But other
han coing that kind of thing, it is hard to say how you stop the
entertainment.

One other thing I wanted to observe—— _

Mr. Huches. If the gentleman would yield to me first, I wonder
if the ]gentlemzm would conclude this hearing. | have to go to the
capitol.

I just want to thank the panel for their testimony. It has been
very helpful. I know you came a long distance, from an ongoing
corvention in Las Vegas, and we really appreciate your corning in
today Thank vou.

Mr. Sawver |presiding]. Just one more observation.

Or these crime statistics that are used, we have been holding
hearings on that. First of all, there is kind of a shocking fact that
only about one-third of all crimes are reported to the police, so that
statistically vou have got a tremendous margin of error in there.
When only a third of them are reported, it is hard to even perceive
fluctuations up and down when such a big bulk of them aren't re-
ported.

They have also found that when an anticrime drive is undertak-
en o an areit by the police or other forces, the amount of reported
crime goes way up, and not necessarily because there is any more
crimie because they are cracking down on it, but because the public
i» made more aware and more conscientious about reporting it. So
it appears to have a totally reverse effect when they have big law
entorcement crackdowns

You knov.. I spent some time as a prosecutor in an urban area. It
was kind of shocking to see how distorti-d these crime figures po-
tentudly are when we used to pay a lot of attention to them. They
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are almost counterproductive when you get crackdowns, in that
almost axiomatically pushes up the amount of reported crime in
the area you are cracking down in. With only a third of them going
reported—and that is not just crimes like rape, which you can
figure there may be understandable reasons for that—but all seri-
ous crimes, they say a total like two-thirds are not reported. So I
just think you are dealing in an area that is hard to get your teeth
into, and then you are coping with the problem of trying to decide
when a kid watched a television program when he was 7 years old,
what impact does that have on his pulling an armed robbery when
he is 17.

I am not a researcher, but I would look askance at you if you
were very positive about the conclusions, one way or the other—
and I don't draw any particular conclusions. But I would fret about
the research methodology if somebody was very satisfied with the
fact that watching a couple of awful violent films at age 7 resulted
in an armed robbery or a murder at age 17.

"Well, I want to express the chairman’s appreciation for your
coming, and I apreciate it, too. Thank you very much.

We wili stand adjourned.

[ Whereupon, at 1:20 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
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. Boys Town,
Boys Toiun. NE, October 24, 1983,
Hon. WiLLiam J. HugHss, *
Chairman, %(bcommz‘uee on Juvenile Delinquency, House of Representatives, Wash-
tngton, DC. :

Dear Mg HucHes: 1 am writing to express my interest in two issues which are
likely to be considered by your Subcommittee in forthcoming hearings: The Impact
of Television Violence and the Reauthorization of the JJDP Act.

In this regard, I am enclosing two recent reports from Boys Town that might be of
interest to members of your Subcommittee: Television & Youth: 25 Years of Re-
search and Controversy and Status Offenders: A Sourcebook. Also, I have appended a
copy of a recent speech on television violence.

Thank you for your continuing interest in these issues. Please let me know if I
can provide any additional information. -

Sincerely yours,
JouN P. Murray, Ph.D,,
Director, Youth & Family Policy.
Enclosures, .

VioLeNce DoNe 70 TV V .0LENCE RESEARCH: A RESPONSE TO THE CRITICS

tJohn P. Murray, the Boys Town Center)

The history of research on the topic of television’s impact on children is largely
Jthe history of research on the impact of televised violence. Indeed, almost 1,000 of
the more than 3,000 reports published during the past 30 years have been addressed
to the violence issue.

Clearly, we know much more about television's impact now than we did 30 years
ago. but the controversies surrounding televised violence are as prominent and per-
vasive in 1983 as they were in 1953.

Receutly, several organizations such as the National Institute of Mental Health
and the Group for the Advancement of Psychiatry have undertaken scholarly re-
views of the impact of television (see, Pearl, Bouthilet, & Lazar, 1982; Group for the
Advancement of Psychiatry, 1982) but a great deal of criticism has been leveled at
these and other reports which draw conclusions about the impact of televised vio-
lence te.g.. American Broadcasting Companies, Inc., 1983).

The critics worry that scientists have not amassed sufficient evidence to support
the claim that viewing televised violence can lead to aggressive behavior in children
and adolescents who view such programming. Those who doubt the validity of this
conclusion—and largely have been responsible for much of the “violence done to TV
violence research”—have voiced seven main criticisms:

1 Studies which show that TV viclence can cause aggressive behavior are lab-
oratory experiments which bear little resemblence to real life;

2. Studies dealing with real-life experiences which show a relationship be-
tween violence viewing and aggressive hehavior are only correlational and are
not relavant to issues of cause and effect;

4 All research resuits may be dismissed because no individual study 1s per-
fect in all respects;

1 There are many ways of defining *“slevision violence” and “aggression”
and the results of studies using various definitions cannot be compared,

7 The “convergence” of research findings showing that TV violence causes
aggression 1s questionable because the empirical methods used are similar in
many studies;
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ti Sunilary, the “convergence' of researcher opinion about the impact of TV
vivlence s questionnble bacnuse these researchers share a common empirical
approach to the study of these issues; and, finally, } )

7. We should not waste time studying the harmful effects of televised violence
because if we found such harmful effects, we would not know what remedial
action should be taken.

I would like to respond to some of this violence-done-to-TV-violence research be-
cause | believe that these criticisms are ill-conceived, occasionally self-serving, and
frenquently wrong-headed.

The first contention that the causal link between violence viewing and aggressive
be! avior is imited to laboratory based experimental studies is simply not true. In
addition to laboratory studies, there are field experiments. and longitudinal/panel
studies which support the notion that there are some long-term, cumulative effects
of viewing violence on aggressive behavior (see, Berkowitz, 1983; Murray, 1980).
Even the highly touted NBC study by ‘Ronald Milavsky and his colleagues (Mi-
lavsky, Kessler, Stipp, & Rubens, 1982) which claims to find 'no effect” does in fact
demonstrate a smal’ but important causal influence. Furthermore, Thomas Cook
and his associates have pointed out that these causal effects in the NBC stud
appear to become stronger over longer periods of time (see, Cook, Kendzierski, g
Thomas, 19831. And, this causal influence of violence viewing on aggressive behavior
is even more tlearly demcenstrated in longitudinal studies of American, Australian
and Finnish school- youngsters conducted by Leonard Eron and his colleagues
(Eron, 1982; Huesmaudn, Langerspetz, & Eron, in press; Sheehan, 1983) So, I believe
thiat we do have evidence—from more than laboratory studies—that TV .violence
can cause aggression, ’ . ,

The second propusition that correlational studies are meaningless for discussiong
of causality, is _imply without merit. While it is true that standard correlational
studies of, for example, the amount of television viewing and ratings of aggressive
behavior do not 1éll us which is cause and which is effect: still, these studies provide
evidence of an ecologically valid link between violence viewing and aggressive be-
havior From these studies we know that these two events, TV violence and aggres-
sion. co-relate or go together in the real world and the results from experimental
studies clarify the process by which this renl world relationship is formed.

In addition to this central role of correlational studies supporting the causal find-
ings from experimental research. there are forms of correlational studies which
themselves lend credence to a causal interpretation. Indeed. recent correlational
studies are far more impressive in their demonstration of causal processes. For ex-
ample. William Belson's (1978 stugy. conducted for CBS. found a causal-correlation-
al relationship between long-term Aiolence viewing and real-life aggressive behavior
1n teenape boys.

But, perhaps more impressive are the recent studies showing a relationship be-
tween media violence and indicatord of societal violence conducted by David PhllliFs
at the University of California, San Diego (1983; 1982; 1980; 1979; 1978: 1977). In
these studies. Phillips demonstrates clear causal-inference relationships between as-
saults und deaths portrayed on television in such varied fare as boxing matches and
soap operas. and tﬁo unexpected but significant increases in suicides and homocides
in the American public. For example. in the case of boxing matches, the rate of ho-
mocide clearly increased following mass media reports on the match and, more im-
portant, the victims of the homocidal attacks were likely to be similar in uge and
race to the loser of the boxing match (Phillips, 1883).

It seems clear to me that correlational studies can help us to understand the ways
in which televised violence may cause aggressive behavigg.

The third contention that individuz. studies are not perfect is. of course. self-evi-
dent But. it does not follow that minor imperfections—which are randomly distrib-
uted and not svstematic in these studies—are grounds for dismissing this vast body
of conclusive evidence
" The tourth, oft-repeated criticism is that there are many ways of defining the
terms “television violence” and “aggression” and. therefore, it is imvossible to gen-
eralize from these various individual studies. | beheve that this criticism is faulty
on two grounds First. while there i sume variation 1n the definitions of TV vio-
lence and aggressive behavior across studies, there is in fact only a limited range of
viaration 1 these defimtions: and second. to the extent that there is variation in
approach and defimition from one study to another, this should be seen as a strenght
rather than i weakness of the vast body of accumulated research. Thus. this fourth
eriticism of TV violence research in fact pomnts out the strength and vitality of this
body ot seientific evidence and enhances our abality to generalize the results derived
from various research projects. .
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The fifth criticism suggests that the "convergence’’ of research findings is not rel-
evant to our understanding of the impuct of televised violence because wany of the
researchers use similar scientific methods in conducting their research. I believe
that to accept such a proposition is tu deny the exi«tence of culture, 8f scientific
methods. indeed of human thought and experience. We come to understand the
world and to function as organized societies through the growth of knowledge based
upon %u.nul'utive observations. If one ohservation or experience is felt to'be

. unrelate the next, if one finding contrudicta another, if we cannot reflect upon

»

- individual inquiries and find some general theme or coherence, then there is no

meaning to research and scholurly investigations. Fortunately, despite the critics'
nihilistic approach to the validity of empiricai studies of televised violence, I believe
that there are sonmie cleay themes, that there is a covergence of evidence, und that
the results of meta-analyses - s well as informed reviews show that television vio-
lence can influence the attitudes, values, and behavior of viewers (see, Berkowitz,
1083; Cook. Kendzierski, & Thomas, 1983; Hearold, 1979; Murray, 1980; Murray &
Kippax, 1979; Pearl, Bouthilet, & Lazar, 1982 Surgeon General's Scientific Advisory
Committee on Television and Social Behavior, 1972).
The sixth, and somewhat related attack is the suggestion that the convergence of
- researchers’ informed opinion on the impact of TV violence is worthless because
these researchers share a common frame of reference. I agree that there is a certain
amount of risk in accepting the weight of professional opinion on research findings
if these researchers are all from a narrowly-defined discipline of science. However,
recent studies have shown that a bread base of social sei~=*iate and communication
professionals do agree vhat TV violence is causally re'ated to aggressive behavior in
. children. For example, a survey of 468 widely diverjent communication profession-
als (Bybee, Robinson, & Turow, 1982) and another study of. and 109 chologists,
sociologists, and communjcation researchers (Murray, 1983) show thay the over
whelming professional opinion is that televjsion violence is one of thef factors in-
volved in producing aggressive behavior. As can be seer. in Table 1. thf strength of
these professional opinions varies according to the field of academic sbecialization.
But, by and large, these results suggest that knowledgeable and reafonable scien-
tists, drawn from differing fields and, research perspectives, do agregfthat violence
on television does lead to aggressive behavior by children and teenaglfs who watch
such programs. - ) .

TABLE 1.—DEGREE OF SUPPORT ‘FOR THE PRINCIPAL CONCLUSIONS OF THE NIMH REPORT
CONCERNING THE IMPACT OF TELEVISED VIGLENCE ON CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS *

Professional membershyp 3

. APA ASA KA NPA Toal
) i
Number 10 sample e e 43 10 21 35 109
. Number respording o e 31 5 13 19 68
Response rate (percent) . v, L I 62 5 62
Type of response (number)
Strongiy apree ! 24 l {0 12 4
Modetate'y agree 4 ) 4 9
Slrongly g-safree ¢ 1 3 ] H 6
Moderately disagree . . | 2
No op:non . e s a
Unabie to decide R .1 l | 4
Percent agreement on the impact of TV violence 90 20 85 84 82

' Tre stalsmert in questen 5 oee of he poncpdl Conclysens contained I & cecent repert from the National Inshitute of Mental Heath (NIMH)
he conserss Imorg mast Gl the reseaith commumty i Ml yigience on lelevision does leas o gRIessive Dehgvie by Chidren ing
Teenagers wha wa's Ibe programs Ths coriueon 15 based o= laboratory expenments and on held Studies Nof al chidren become aggress:ve of
Cuse But the coneialons between volenCe and aggression ars postve I magniude television viokence s as Wron Iy Corretated with aggressive
bendyv-or 2% ary cther MRdvgry: varatee that has been measurdd The research questionshas maved trom asking whether or nol there 1& an effect
I weebrg gapiang'ong fee the ettegt
! Tne tota sample of 100 noded §1 payrhoiagrits tAPAY 10 saciogists (ASA) B1 communscalion researchers (ICA). and 35 protessonals
INPA who were ngt aHinated with one of these dssaciafians

The seventh and final criticism suggests that we should not waste time studving
the hurmful effects of television violence because if we found such harmfu’ effects
we would not know what remedial action should be taken. This ostrich-like ap-
proach tu the study of social issues—bury vour head in the computer printouts and

g - R65.
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_Phillips, D.P..(1982). The impact of fictional television stories on U.S. adult fatali-
ties: New evidence on the effect of the mass media on violence. American Journal of
Sociology, 87, 1340-1359.

Phillips, D.P. (19801 Airplane accidents. murder, and the mass media: Towards a .

theory of imitation and suggestion. Secial Forces. 58, 1001-1024.

Phillips. D.P. (1979 Suicide, mtor vehicle fatalitfes, and the m@ss media: Evi-
dence toward a theory of suggestion: American Journal of Soctology, ¥4, 1150-1174.

Phillips, D.P. (1978). Airplane accidents, fatalities increase just after stories about
murder and suicide. Sctence, 201, 148-150. ) -

Phillips, D.P. (1977). Motor vehicle fatalities increased just after publicized suicide

_stories. Science. 196. 1464-1465. «

Sheehan, P.W. (1983, August). Children's television watching and the correlates of
aggressien. Paper presented at the Annual Conference of the Australian Psychologi-
cal Society. Syndey.. e

Surgeon General’s Scientific Advisory Committee on Television and Social Behav-
ior. (1972). Television and ;.'rou-inf:'l up: The impact of televised violence” Rockville,
MD: National Institute of Mental Health. '

{From the New York Times. July 3}. IQHé)
THE NETWORKS SHRUG OfFF VIOLENCE

{By John Corry)

Granted that the television networks are an easy target, that violence has many
causes, and that when it first was argued that television contributed to the rise in
violence the argument was made more from instinct than from data. Grant all these
things: it is still depressing when the networks now insist that a viewer who has
seen, say, 13,000 simulated murders by the time he is 17 has not had his psyche
altered

A recent report from NBC. packaged as a H05-page hardcover book finds no evi-
dence that television iz causally implicated in the development of aggressive behav-
lor patterns among children and adolescents.” The conclusion, in fact. is the last
sentence in the book. most of it written in the language of social science, and most
of it incomprehensible to lay readers. It is likely, however, that the conclusion will
be quoted again and again in what is now a ritualized argument—the networks on
one side. almost everyvone else on the other.

Still, there is a difference in the argument now; the networks, once cenciliatory,
now seem implacable. They are enlisting their own social and behavioral scientists
to make their case. \

The argument over television and violence seemed to be moving toward a resolu-
tion in 1959, when the National Commissicn on' the Causes and Prevention of Vio-
lence found that watching violent programs made it more likely that a viewer
would behave violently. It seemed to be settled in 1972, when the Surgeon General's
Scientific Advisory Committee on Television a.ad Social Behavior reached a “tenta-
“tive conclusion of a causal relationship”™ between television violence and aggressive
behavior

In fact. the Surgeon General's committee had worded its conclusion so cnutious'y
it nearly lost it. The television industry had veto power, which it exeicised, over
appointments to the committee. In addition. NBC and CBS employees were mem-
bers of the committee The commyittee’s report was scarcely an attempt to indict the
television industrg, and in the (,%xgressional hearings that followed its release there
seetmed to be gnc(ﬁ'vvlmgs and understanding all around. :

“Now that we are reasonably certain that televised violence can increase aggres-
sive tendencies in some children.” Elton H. Rule. the president of ABC, said, "we
will have to manage our program planning accordingly.’

Nonethetess, not much seemed to change. Violence remained a staple. Then, in
1975, Congress prodded the Federal Communications Commission, and the F.C.:C.
profided the networks What emerged was an informal policy called the “family
viewing hours © In theory. the networks would refrain from showing violence, oi at
least excessive violence. before the kids were put to bed. Whether television violenc:
reallv did decline when the policy was in effect is arguable. Many ‘peaple have sug-
gested, however, that if violence did go out, sex came in to replace it The midale
and late s brought jiggle. innuendo. and soup “Baretta® may have folded.
“Three's Company” and “Charhe's Angels” picked up the slack.

)
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cations for the Eighties, 1982.)

David Pearl, National Institute of Mental Health. - !
Kathy Pezdek, Claremont Graduate Schpol. .
Suzanne Pingree, Universitiy of Wisconsin.

“Richard Potts, University of Kanaas. .
Mable Rice, University of Kansas.

Donald F. Roberts, Stanford University.

"Eli A. Rubinetein, Univérsity of North Carolisa.
Nancy Signorielli, University of Punnsylvania.
Derthy G. Singer, University of Bridgeport.
Jerome L. Singer, Yala University.

Ronald G. Slaby, Harvard University.

Bruce Watkins, University of Michigan. . :

Tannis MacBeth Williams, Unjversity of British Columbia.

John C. Wriiht, University of Kansas. .

We believe that the most reasonable summary of our knowledge is that: “. . . vi.
olence on television does lead to aggressive bel.avior by chiliren and teenagers who
watch the programs. This conclusion is based on l:boratory ex riements and on
field studies. Not all children become aggressive of course, but the correlations be-
tween violence and sﬁrenion are positive. In magnitude, television violence, is as
strongly correlated. with aggressive behavior as any other behavioral ‘variable that
has been measured. The research question has moved from asking whether or not
there is an effect to seeking ox%lemtions for that effect.” (p. §, National Institute of
Mental Health, Television and.Behavior: Ten Years of Scientific Progress and Impli-

e
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{From the New York Times. July 3}. 1981'4)
\ ) THE NeTworks SHRUG OFF VIOLENCE
(By John Corry)

Granted that the television networks are an easy target, that violence has many
causes, and that when it first was argued that television contributed to the rise in
violence the argument was made more from instinct than from data. Grant all these
things; it is still depressing when the networks now insist that a viewer who has
Stl'vn. zay- 1%,000 simulated murders by the time he is 17 has not had his psyche
altere

A recent report from NBC, packaged as a 505-page hardcover book finds no evi-
dence that television is “causally implicated in the development of aggressive behav-
jor patterns among children and adolescents.”” The conclusion. in fact, is the last
sentence in the book. most of it written in the language of social science, and most
of it incomprehensible to lay readers. It is likely, however, that the conclusion will
be quoted again and again in what is now a ritualized argument—the networks on
one side. almost evervone else on the other.

Still, there is a difference in the argument now: the networks. once cenciliatory,
now seem implacable. They are enlisting their own social and behavioral scientists
to make iheir case. ,

The argument over television and violence seemed to be moving toward a resolu-
tion in 19649, when the National Commissicn on the Causes and Prevention of Vio-
lence found that watching violent programs made it more likely that a viewer
would behave violently. It seemed to be settled in 1972, when the Surgeon General's
Scientific Advisory Committee on Television aud Social Behavior reached a “tenta-
tive conclusion of a causal relationship” between television violence and aggressive
behavior

In fact. the Surgean General's com:mittee had worded its conclusion so cautious'y
it nearly lost it. The television industry had veto power, which it exeicised, over
appointments to the committee. In addition. NBC and CBS employees were mem-
bers of the committee. The comRittee's report was scarcely an attempt to indict the
television 1ndustrg and in the L!gngressional hearings that followed its release there
seemed to be w)(:(h'('('hnﬂs and understanding all around. :

“Now that we are reasonably certain that televised violence can increase aggres-
sive tendencies in some children.” Elton H. Rule, the president of ABC, said, "we
will have to manage our program planning accordingly.’ ‘

Nonetheiess, not much seemed to change. Violence remained a staple. Then, in
1975, Congress prodded the Federal Communications Commission, and the F.C’:C,
profided the networks What emerged was an informal policy called the “family
viewtng hours © In theory. the retworks would refrain from showing violence. o1 at
least excessive violence, before the kids were put to bed. Whether television violenc:
reallv did dechine when the policy was in effect is arguable. Many ‘people have sug-
gested, however, that of violence did go out, sex came in to replace it. The midale
and late T0s brought jiggle. innuendo. and soap “Baretta” may have folded.
“Three s Compuny”™ and “Charlie’s Angels” picked up the slack.
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Meanwhile, in the vears after the Surgeon General's report, the amount of fe-
search on television Ancreased enormously. A 1980 bibliography of television re-
search lists some 300" tities published before 1970, and some 2,500 titles published
after that Last year, the National Institute of Mental Health, summarizing the
studies. reported that "the consensus ambng most of the research community is that
violence gn television does lead to aggressive behavior by children and teenagers
who wateh the programs”

The National Institute of Mental Health also reported some *consistent results”
in the studies: "“People who are heavy viewers of television are more apt to think
the world is violent than are light viewers T hey also trust other people less and -
believe that the world is a ‘'mean and scary’ place.”

. In other words, the conclusions that a few researchers reached in the late 60's

were upheld by many more researchers in the 70's and early 80's. The argument,

one supposed, was now closed.

It was not, of course; it seems to be starting from scratch again. ABC. which was
complaisant about the Surgeon General's report in 1972, recently put out a glossy
booklot entitled A Research Perspective on Television and Violence.” It said that

“ufter more than 30 years of scientific investigation, the issue of televmon violence
remains open to debate.”

Meanwhile, the director of research for CBS said in Cnngressional hearlngq in
April that there is “still no convincing evidence” that television violence contribut-
ed to crime. Atethe sume hearing, the director of research for ABC challenged the
National lnstitute of Mental Health report for its use of correlations—the statistical
measure of the relationship betwean two things. said that “correlation can never
be used to tell anything about cause and effect.”

The heaviest zup of all, however, has been brought up by NBC. Its report, “Televi-
sion and Aggression,” is baused on a ~tudy of 3,200 children and adolescents in Fort
Worth. Tex, and Minneapolis. Between May 1970 and December 1973, they were
interviewed —some of them as often as six times—in an attempt to determine of
watching television made them aggressive. There is no evidence, the report says,
waat it did.

The report does find, however, that boys in “low sociceconomic circumstances,”
who are “sncmll\ insecure, have other emotional problems and are not accepted by
their parents.” tend to become aggressive. On the other hand, the NBC researchers
say thev can’t be sure that these charactenstics are "“causes of aggression.” As ABC
sind at the Congressional hearings, correlations don't mean a thing. The methodolo-
¢ in the NBC study seems to have made it unlikely that the researchers could
identifv anything, much less television, as a cause of aggression.

Th ‘study in fact. buttresses the. idea that television has no effect on, viewers at
all At the recent Congressional hearing. ABC pointed out that a survey of 400 re-
searche  ‘ound that only 1 percent of the researchers thought that television was
“the cause” of apgressive behavior. ABC was missing the point. Hardly anyone
thinks television 1s “"the cause” o anvthinz: it is. instead, one of many causes. Tele-
vision's special contribution is that it reinforces violent values, weaving them more
tasely into the social fabric.

.« - The National Coalittion on Television Violence, an umbreila group of organiza-
tions that monitor television, says that violence in prime time now seems to be atya \
higher level than ever before. Dr. Thomas Radecki, the chairman of the Coalit}Kﬁ
say s the increase in prime-time violence has not been “dramatic.” but that over/the
years it has been “definite ” There has also been a “definite” increase, he sug psts,
in the violence of movies. cartoons. comic books and even toys.

The populiar cultare reinforces itself this was. and at the very least the popular
culture desensitizes us to violence. It makes violence a more acceptable form of be-
havior. 1t biunis the {act that it causes fear and pain. Television is a formidable part
of the popular culture Television changes our attitudes If the networks decline to
recogrze this, it 18 unhkely they will recognize anything pertinent about violence.
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o T ol TR ANSESRERGTRRR OF
TOMMUNICATION!
Aprsl 19, 1983 VEIYERSIIT 00 PIAASKLNaATL

«

Representative William J. Hughea

Cheirmsn

Suboommittes on Crime )
0. 3. House of Reprasentatives

Ccummittas of the Judivlary

¥ashington, D, G, 20515 »

Dear Chairwman Hughes:

it ihe suggeation of Dr. David Pewrl, Chief, Behavicral Soiences
Braach of K, I am aclmitiing a copy of our letter to tiw Jurgeon
Qsraral and the accompanying ocitique of the ADC atatement for
inoluaion in the pudblio record of your recent haaring. The latter and
critique raprasent the dnanimcus judesment of the seven solentifio .

advieors to the NIMH report on Ialeviaion and Bshavior.

If you nave any questions or nead for further information, 3lease
call w8 or Dr. Paerl.

+

Sinceraly youra,

8 el < )N -
- e u-rPs.. . ;Zs.. —J .
George Cerbdner ‘
frofesacr of Communicationa

aond Dean
—ap CC: Dr. Hayden Gregory
Hr, Ed O'Connell
Dr. David Fearl
Pr. Eli Rubinatein
)
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April 19, 19083

vy
’

Dr. C. Everett Koop

Surgecn General
U.S8. Publio Health Service

Roon T16 @
200 Independence Ave., SW .
Washington, D.C. 20201

°

Dear Dr. Koop:
The undersignegd were menior scientifio advisors in a projeot of
]

the National Instit:&? of Mental Health that resulted in the 1982
publication of and Behavior: Ten Years of Scientifin /
Progrenp and Ioplications for the Eighties, We arg writing you to
express our strong support for the conolusions an; soientific integrity.

As you know, that two volume report was ;

of that NIMH publication,’
prepared as a ten-year update to the 1972 Report to the then Surgeon
The new NIMH report haa recently come
The

substance of that oriticism, whioh we believe to be unfounded, oalls

for an informed response,
This letter is specifically intended as an open reply to a newly

N
General, Dr. Josse Steinfeld. i
under public attauk by sowe wembers of the television industry. i
’ !
L {

j

published 32 page pamphlet, widely distributed by the American ;
Broadcasting Companies, Inc. The pamphlet, "A Researoh Perapective on i
Television and Violence," purports to be a rigorous and objeotive i
refutation of the NIMH roport, However, the ABC statement is neither ¢
rigorous nor objective. Instead,. it is a shallow attempt, ostensibly !

for public consumption, to focus on only one portion of the NIMH |

- review, rehash industry attacks on independent research of the past ten
years, lignore or distort both the evidenca presented in the NIMH report ,

and the consensus of the field, and present conclusions that obscure h

the issues and deceive the readers, It would be no exaggeration to '
compare this attempt by the television industry to the stubborn public /
position taken by the tobacco industry on the scientific evidente abou7

smoking and hcalth, .

The ABC statement concentrates op four research issues, We deal
with each of these in a critique of the ABC charges. Our critigue 1s
attached to this letter, We invite your attention to that analysis and
request that you transmit it to the NIMH and others who may be

concerned, for their informatdon,
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A telling indictment of tho ABC positjor: is inherent in findings .

on the effects of Lelevision that were ignored in thein,atatenent.
Rescarch has lohg aince gone bayond the issue of violence, The summary
(Volume 1) of tha NIMH Féport devotes only nine out of 91 pages to that
topic, Similarly, only 72 out of 362 pages of teohrical reports in. ga'
Volume 2 deal with violence ‘and aggressaion. - Some other topias

inciude: health-promoting posaibilities; effects on.cognitive and

L}

_emotional .functioning; effects on imagination, crcativity, end

prosocial behavior; and effects on cducation and learning. These are

&1l parts of a relatud”body of data whioh only confirms the obvious -
conclusion that television is an influential teacher of children and
adulte, It is ironic that the networks themselves have puraued and

used the concept of positive programming in defénse of some’ of their
children's productions. The research on positive effects is no better

or worse than that on violence and sggression. Yet the-industry, by

some conveniunt logic, accdepte the tormer and disputes’ the latter.

What is especially distreasing lbout ABC'a effort to discredit a

' carefully developed assessment of research is that it only serves to
confuse and deter the considerable opportunity for constructive change. .

It is now more than a decade since the original 3urgeon General's
Report. In téstizony before Cenator Fastore in Maroh 1972, all three
network presidents scknowledged, with scme qualification, the findings
on televised viclence end pledged to. improve television for children.

(It is noteworthy that the most fortirright and reaponaive statement was

rade by Elton Rule, President of ABC.) Surely the creativity, talent,
and consideratle resocurces of the television industry could have been ‘
bat to better use than thé renewed campaign of obfuscation and evasion
aftey ten years of significant scientific progress. Indeed, instead of

a positive resporse¢ to that evidence, quality programming for children

on comrercial television-hat become ‘ncreasingly rare.

As our appended c*ztique 1nd1cates, the ABC argument iz - -
scientifically indefensible. By the very manner in ich it was
constructed, it is only the latest example of unwarrpnted resistance to
the clear policy implications of overwhelming sciengific evidence. The
reneJed attempt to evade, undermine, and discredit the work of hundreds
of scientists suwmarized in the NIMH volumes and to shape the course of
public discuzsion by selective attention and misrepresentation, is ’
unworthy of un industry that professes -- and is licensed ~- to serve
the public interest.

While we realize that the Department of Health and Human
Srrvices han no direct regulatory respons:hi’ity for television, we did
want to briry to your attention our confi .ce in the validity and ’
integrity of the NIMH report, and our conw-icticn that the recearch
sunmarized in the report documents both tue dangers of certain progran
content and the potential for positive change. . -
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We delieve ALC should reexaaine its stance on this 1ssue. We
believe all broadcasters ahould exert theip conaiderable influence to
serve viewers more effectively and to use esearch £to that end, We

hope you will lend your geod offices to th 3 goal ’'in any fashion you
de’m appropriate,
s \ '

Reapectrully,

A\
Stayen H. Chaffee George Gerbner
-+ "Dirdgetor ’ Frofessor of Communications
InsYitute for Communicatio ' t7d Dean | ?
esearch e . Apneuberg School of .
Stnrrord University Cozmmunications
] _ . University of Pennsylvania
Beatéixﬂn. Hamburg Chegter M. Pierce
Pr¢fesscr of Clinical Psychiatry Professor of Psychiatry
-, 4nd Pediatrics : Harvard Medioal School
Mt Sinai School of Medicine _ !
Nep York ) A
Eld [A, Rubinsteiﬁ Alberta E. Siegel
Ad junct Researoh Professor Professor of Paychology
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A RESEARCH PERSPECTIVE ON TELEVISION AND VIOLEKRCE .
- published by zne'Aneriqau Broudcasting Coppanies, Inc., 1983, ,

.

. R By ) L &

Coinittoo of Scientific Advisors to g )
- the National Institute of Mental Health Ty

report on Zelevision and Rshavlor - '

‘ 7'\ . kN ‘ . . : J.,'b
N \ . - ’ N 1 ‘ . ’ - 7"-,-:':
\ The 32 page pamphlet, prepared by the Social Research Unit of - T
o ABC, is intended as a response to-the 1982 NIMH publication, Jelevision E
\ ©  And pohavicr: Ien Jears of Progress and sntions for the : :

' Eightics. The booklet identifies itsclf as an annlysis dadicated %o 3 b

wpigor, objectivity, and the Adherencd to a predeternined set of rules
and ‘procedures.® (Page 1) If fails on all threc counts, It reads
or the defense replete with carefully

instead like a slick brief
worded misinterprotationd,/omission of large bodies of .relevent

J evidenoe, and sheer miustftements of faot. s
¥ ] The pamphlet begins (Page 2) by calling into question the entire
Il body of research revieyed in the NIMH report as "simply & reiteration ,
. of information which has already been made available," ABC sees this
‘ as a fatal frlaw, degpite the fact that the foreword to the NIMH report

and moat of the pre¢ss coverage made clear that the report was not based .
on new research, but was a comprehensive and integrative review of
existing recearch, The ABC irterpretation suggests that once 3
published, research findings quickly go stale and looe their validity "

. or reluvance. On the contrary, of course, finiings accunulate with
later studiecs testing, confirming, and extending those published -
earlier, ’ .

that is especially lacking in rigor or objegtivity is e
premise by ABC that research on violence stands in isolation from the
larger body of research reviewed by the KIMH report. Perhaps the most .
telling confirnatory evidence on the offects of televised violence is
that 4t iz now only one part cf a massive body of research, all of .
' which clearly points to the obvious; television entertainment is a
teacher. A pattern of effects has exerged from all this ecvidence. It
would be indeed ancmalous if the findinga on violence and aggression !/{
uid not fit iuto this larger pattiern. . ! P

Ignoring that crucial issue, the ARC pamphlet 4zolates four —
spocific conclusions frow whal is actually a minor part of the KIMH .

-
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report. 1In this dritique we shall address only some of the &any
violations of ths principles to which that booklet olaims to be
dedjcated, .

B R R T T e R T I R
B e T St IR Sl R «.-.a L...v,.r,.m,.

We shall begin by citins the ABC summary of and responae to a;gh///
.of the four NIMi cenclusions addressed in the pamphlet, and follow_that

with our critique, ociting ABC further as heeded to illustrate our”

examplea. .
¥

*NIMH CONCLUSION QNO. 1
The resecarch findings support the conclusion

of a carsal relationship between television:'

violence and agpreasgpve behavior, . .

"ABC RESFONCSE: .

The receuarch does not support the conclusion

of a cdusal reélationship.® » '

The attribution of causality ls a complex why of defining
relationships, even in the physical sciences. = The \queation is not how
irrefutable, the cuusal conclusion way be, especially in the sceial
seiences, but rather can it be invoked at &ll, In 1§72, the Surgeon
Geacral's Scientific Advisory Commiftee, on which twd\ distinguished
wembars were full-time svientists for NBC and CBS respectively, and on
which threc cther members had been part-tine Ognaultaifts to the °*
industry, core to tne urnanimous conciusion that\there Jis "somc
rreliminary indication of' & causal relationship, good deal of
research rewxnins to be dcne before one csp have confidence in thess
conelusions, "

The ten year update provided much additional research to ad¢
“eonfidence! to tnp conclusions,

o

Delining .uui Huasuring Yieient Behavidt

O

Most research in thbgfield has concerned 1tself with the linkege
between "telcvised violencu® and "apgressive behavior." Harely have
scientists attoempted to observe, let alone induce, "violent behavier,"
Tho ARC statenent uses & subterfupe in equating apggressive behavior
with viclent bebhavior and then asking if televised vinlence causes
viovlent behavior. While few studies, for obvicus reasons, can
levatiiatlely explore thul connecticn, dne fotable insfhnce does cxist
(Eeleon, 1478 That siudy did find such a causal connecetion between
Lelevined violence and actual antis-ejal behavior, Leupite the fact
thet the tudy wat fuidded by CBS, when {t was independently publiLhed
16 Loox flew, 1t was dirmissed by Lhe indusiry es merely "correl.-
tional." Ldt-chdige 1S now leveled by ABC dyainst the NIMH report's
conclusfons,

o
~3
of

ERIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

)

[Q



St ey .
. . - A s

I
{1__
|
!_

dag of Correlation Lo Jmply Cousation
<
Although even the stimulation of haraful tondencies in willions
of children is of no amall consequence, ABC obfuscates the issue, JIt
™ otates baldly that "The point is, corrélation can nuvepr teil us :
anything about causation.® (Page 6) Even thecretically, -let alone in a .
- practical way, this i3 simply not true. Correlation is a necossary but
- not sufficient condition in a causal relationship.” To argue that & =~ = -
. study’ is “correlational® as the industry did with the Belson atudy, is
S not legitimately to dismiss its significance, -If there had been ng
- corrolation, the question of causation would have. been settled long
e 8g0, Instead, study after study by ‘indepondont investigators found
Lt gignificant correlations, ’ ’ . B

ZIhe Uiie of Conversenca Thaory B N

The ABC pamphlet next develops something called Convergence
Theory to argue that scientists cpn'be led to accept any "wideapread
Belief" on which many different studies seem to couverge. If there is
jany substance to that curious critieism, it must be in the basic
assumption behind the ojeration of the televisidn industry itself, Ten
: billion dollars annually are expended on the Ywidaspread bolief™ that
S ¢+ advertindrg indness penple to buy products,  ‘here is no rore .
definitive causal relationship between advertising on television and
- .pubseguent buying behavior th#h there is between televised viclence ana
v - 2 later aggressive behavior, . 5
. 4 . :

R * + To put it in simple statistical terms, let us assume that S
. finding a significant positive cor}elation; no matter how small, was :
. equivalent to o penny fulling 'hes:a." Assume further that finding no

P, =
P

-such gorrelation i3 a case of "talls." What would one infer if the
ronny fell "headaﬁ ninety-three tjpes out of a hundrad? The
advertisers, and those of Us doing research op televisios effects
(where a vast majority of studies comes up "heads") are quite gonvinced o
that butting on *heads" iz che correct wu, to go, - =

Of course, no rerearcher cited by NIMH argues that television
violenre is the only or even necessarily the main factor in aggression. U
The conclusion on which there is a significant "convirgence" is that it
i is @ contriduting factor, Hauving set up a strawe-wan relationship *
=, butguen causytion, correlation, and convergence, ALC noxt argues that
only & handful of studies support the NIMH conclusions,

Beview of HIND Studies . ).
. ] . o
The ALC stetement bepins: "The WIMH techinical chapter on
' vicelence end agpressionagn Voluwe 2 cltes 14 btudie$ which the uq&hor
Buggenty preoves @ pouvitiwe. relationship between television anq’violence
. v i s
- 4 ‘l

B .
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‘and which the NIMH Bdport relies upon to réach its eonclusion of a
cause-offect rolationship.® (Page 7) -

- .

The ohapter referred to i5 a rather comprehensive review not
-Just of 14 studies‘kut of the largar penumbra of research .pn televised
violence which further illuminates this body of findings, - In fact, 95
publications zre referenced in this chapter, most of Which support the
major argument, - o

) The ABC utatemont pointa out -that this chapter doos not discuos
a study by NBC researcher-Milavsky, one that dicmissed television's
effoct on aggression as negligible, ™although the NBC atudy appears in
its own chapter in the NIMH report.® 0Of course, it is precizedy
because anuvther chaptor was devoted to the NEC study that it would have
been superfluous to incorperate ite findings in the chapter under -
diseussion. Indeed, it was NIMH and our committee that invited the NBC
fesearchers and requested the inolusion of tho NBC-study as a sepurate
chi Jter of Volume 2. What AEC implies was an omission is' in fact the
rosult of a conscientious effort on the part of NIMH and our Committes
to 1nc1ude;a11 relovant research. The conclasions of the NBC atudy .
were carcfully considered in the final evaluation @nd summary published
-4n Velune 1, ‘ o * ' '

In sum, ABC has not refuted the NIMH conclusion of & causal ¢

¢ prelationghiy betwuer teluvision viclence and aggression, and has
- @isgtated- both the convergence and weight of evidencs bearing on_:h&
- issua, :
Y LI >

. . - ’
s T MNIMH CONCLUSION NO, 2

‘There 45 a clear consensus among most revearchers

that television violence leads to aggressive behavior.

"ABC \RESPONSE : - - ‘ e :

. There'exists & significant debato- within _ v
Ve the redearch courunity over the rolationship between . 'ﬁ
. T teluvisken and uggressive behavior,® £

. . ABC found ore (unpublished) study (Bybee, et-al,) that it could g
conulrue as supgesting that there’ is no consensus %« Qng a~ demic £
researchers.  The prodlen is that ABC misreprcuented even .- ¢ study. f
To be precise, the sarple polled was not all "acadewmic resea, chers, " as -

ABC stutes (FPage 8) but members of professional societics in spevch and
Journalism, an unkrdown proportion of whici; are researchers, Mure
dmportantly, researchers in the {icld of television inciude many
prycholeptr L, socivlopists, and other social Bcientists who were ulso
abuent from the sauwjle. :

"Even more deceptive is ALC's interprctation of the rasults of
that survey. The fuaue 18 not whetner television is Lthie cause of
t..

. i

ERIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic: .



Q

RIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

gentributor to such behavior.° On that.po%gf

aggreasion. As we have already noted, no responsible researcher makes
that claim. All ‘complex behavior has Bany causes. What'the research
results showed, as NIMH reported, is that tfﬁ;wision is a significant

7 the Bybee study cited by
ABC actually showed a clear oonsensus. About two-thirds of those
polled agreea that television increased children's aggressive behavior.
Had wore scientists from other fields been included, th.t consensus
would probably have been even higher. Tue suthors of the Bybee study
are themselves distressed at the ABC misreprasentation.of their
findings. t : :

Attempting to neutralize the great preponderance of published
studios that find phe linkage, ABC claims that apudzea which find.an
effect are gore likely to be published than studies with no findings.
That sceming anomaly would have disappeared if ABC had correctly stated
that well-designed studles, ufﬁh clearly deveioped hypotheses, and
careful statistical analyses,-leading to scientifically defensible
conclusions, are more likely Lo be published in roputable soigntific
Journals than poor studies with inconolusive jesults. :

It 4s an insult to the researoh community to state'as ABC does

== baldly dnd without jualification -- that "Since cditors naturally

prefer to report results, publication policies can result -in a .
distortion of tre scientific evidence which actually exists.™, (Pdge 2) .
In that sentence, the ABC statement atteupts to disoredit the entire
formal process of scientific publication. -

Finally, ABC cites seven references to claim that gany acadenmic
scicntists have concluded that the research evidence does not support
thd causal linkage. In fact, that list of ceven’'all but oxhausts the
~ist of "many." 1n the context of the previous example of 93 "heads"
coming up in the penny toss, these are'the seven "tails."

In sum, the AEC has not refuted the NIMH conclusbor that there
is a clear consensus among research scientists on this issue.

"NIMH COLCLUSION NO. 3

Despite slignt variations over the past decude, the
amount of violence on televasion has resained at
conuistently high levels.

"ABC RESPONSE:
There has been @ decreave in ' he overall amount
of violence in recent years.' :

ABC's contuntion that "there has been a decrease in the overall
apount of vielunce in pecent years® 1o based on an in-house CBS report
and iz not supported by independent studies. In any casc, it does not

I3
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< Genoeption of sacial reality,

NIMH conclusion that "the amount of viclence
at, conaistently high levels,* .

neceasalily contradiot the
o On televigion has remained

Singled eut for special attention by ABC is an extensive a*ﬁ
long=standing recwarch projeoct called Cultural Indicators, conducted at
the University of Pennsylvaniats Annenterg School of Comsunicativns

- 8inde tke late 1960's, The project began as a study for the Kational
Conmission on the Causes and Prevention of Violence (the *Eisenhower
Conmission®) and continued.under various foundation and redical
duspices to investigato many agpeota of television content ang viuwér,

. lgnoring its proper name, broad scope, many puﬁ;ioitionu, and
-Lgsesarent by NIMH and others, -the ABC pamphlet. reaches back six years

.+ «t0 olaim that *The Gerbner content- analysés have gonerated a great deal

of controversy within the reacarch community (Newcofid, Coffin and
Tuchman, Blank)," 0f the authora cited ‘as beding responsible for the
"controversy®, - Coff'in, Tuchman, and Blank were network erployces and

", Newcorb u huranistic tcholar whose dialogue with the Cultural Indica-
tora team was as supportive as eritical of the effert, Of aourse, all .

compler rescarch relevant to-social policy does and should be debated.

But ABC vorceals Lhe actual debate fron the readers of its pamphlet; i¢ '

dous not nention the rebuttals published in the same journals == agnd
usually in Lhe very save 15S5ues we gs the works oited, L

The<§8c Famphlet ropeats perennial notwork'objaetiona as if they
had never been addressed and dealt with boti®in the litorature and in

" - the NIMH report. 1In fact, at leant three chapters of Volume 2 of the

NIMH- veport provide eritical overviews and asseusmonts of all aspects
of the content analyscs ABC insists are "controversial.® :One of theses,
an overview of ueasures)of violence in television content, comparocs
Beveral veasures including that of Cultural Irdicators and the Cfis
study. It-\finds "no detectable trend," and observey (on Page 117):
"Hogardless of L:easure, changos that within the 8gope of* 2 or 3 years
would appear to constitute an upward or downward shift become, in the
long run, oaciliations.® That and other sintlar reviews of the
recearch evidence by independent, scholars 1 RIMN and our Committee to
conclude that despite variations over the years, violence on television
"remajned at connistently ‘high Jdevels. "

&he Detdnition of Vielence X
The ABC pumphletl supports its contention of a dverease in the

amount of violince by pteference to a  CBS study not -subyect to peep
teview or other sejentitic scrutiny and not regularly published,
However, 1t was i.troduced {nto the 1981 Conpressional hearings on
"Socxu!/hrqavlhrul Eftects of Violence on Television" us ths inductry's?
;ptem;t tu ceunter evidence presented by reresrchers at the heusring,

f exarlnation of the 1981 hearing record (e.g. page 108) shows that
€38 tuceerded in "redueing" the amount of violence rueported by siwply
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excluding a significant (and unreported) amount of ‘violent represgne
tations, (The violence monitoring effort announced by ABC itself with
much fanfare a few years ago did not seem to yield results suitable for
its own pamphlet.) : ) v -

o The ABC punphlet argues (on Page 10) that "The CBS study and the M
. Gerbner study utiliza radically different definitions of -violence and. L
' concequently arrive at very different conclusions,® The CBS study
definition of violence (not cited by ABC) is "Tho use of physical force
againot percons or aninals or the articulited, expsicit threat of
physical force to compel particular behavior on the part of a person.”
The ALC pamphlet states that "Gerbner defines violenae as: 'The overt
exprension of phycical force against self or other conpelling action .
againat one's will un pain of being hurt or killed, or gctually hurting !
» or killing.'" The two ¢efinitinns are in practice virtually identical,
ALG argues thut “"What makes the Gerbner definition unidue is that this 4.
definition i3 appliod not only to serious and realistic depictions of ’
violence, but is expanded to include comedy and slapstik, accidents, ;
and acts ot rature such as floods, earthquakes, and hurricares,” -
Actually, both definitions include the use of physical force in any :
conttat, “The diffurence i pob in definition, as ABC olaims. It 45 4in 4
what CBS chose nol to lacludc in its report. C

———r The reunts OPS exeluded From 1ts report were thona 1t nlaimed, R
-without evidence, to be "harmiess® aots of “accidental" and "huporous® i ;
vi ‘ence. The cvidenze reviewed by NIUH i: licates that violence in any
gonue¢it may teacn powerful lessons and cun b harmful in ity effects.
But even with such manipulation, the GBS study was able to rcduce its
violence ‘score fror 138 incidents a week in 1972-73 to 105 a week in .
1980=8*, That is « .1ll more viplcnce in one week of prire tine
watehing alone than most people oxpericnce otherwise in a lifetime, It
¢can herdly be seen as contradictinrg the NIVH tinding that "violence on
television remained at consistently high levels.®
liow tuch of all that mayhem is "accidental” and "hunorous®
violence thal tro netwerks claim is "harmless?" Here again, AUC is i
wide of the wark, On Page 11 the pamphlet claims that "in a hurter of
Gertntr studles, over one-third of all the v’ylence counted did pot .
result £1oR hLulan adction but was caused by accidents or acts of //
nature,®™  (knplaiis in Lnu’qriginnl.) Waat are the facts?

The ARC pamphlet deals with prive time programs alone, The
soupce of ADRCY'. ob.ervaticon on "hugan action" 1s the original heport to ¢
Lw:mwmnmmwﬁ.LMumumaw;muﬂlwmmmnlgwﬁj.mﬁm
Cortynt and toateol, Pore 40 and Table 67 on Pauyge 7. ‘Thoue figures
pefce not tu priec tire but to the combined result of prime tine and .
weeherod ¢aylire hildrent's (mostly cartoon) programs, In cattoonr”
quenioed animoels rather tdan.buman., strictly defined, comnit most
vicictie. Thelefore, the "over ope-third of all the violence counted®
han ol Meouaed by actidents or acts of nature" tul mostly by cartoon

Q

ERIC | :

s \

&3
D
<



7 ®aninals® comaitting énthropomorphic mayhem, (ABC uses cartoon .

’l violence only to cbfuscate tho facts but not to express concern over

- : the most violent and exploitive:.part or prozrauning. uh&t the trade
calls the "kidvid 3hetto.') .

A uareful look at the pame Table 67 éould have révealad that .

when only regular programs (rathor than cartuons) ‘re conaidered, as in _

prime tiwe, nine out of ten acts of violence 'ara perpotrated by human
agents, Table 69 in the sapme series &lso shuws that of these.acts of
E hurting and killing people only one-tifth sppear in a "light® or
K "jugorous™ contekxt, with consoquences that, according *.o availablo
evidance, cannot be blivhely dismiszsed.
Where does that muddle leave those real "acts of nature such as
. floods, ctrthquokes, ana hurricanea™ that according Lo ABC "distort®
o the amount of violence reported? JIn light of the facts they also
’ shrink into innignificance., An analysis of Cultural Indicators data
for 15 sanple perioeds since 1969 chows a grand totsl-of only 13
fictional "acts of naturon hurting and killing. The viewor boubarded
with violence every hour of price time has to watch an average of three
©. . and a half weeks to encounter or¢ act of "accidentsl® violence. The
©.. - 'social pattern of such vioctimizetion (i.e. what types of charuaoters
tend to g¢t hurt or killed "agcidentally") may be far from inconse~ '
. quential, but the rarity of thc. coowrence pukes the ABC claim .
groundlos Figar _ 4 Lo
. . B .-
—" The ergurent that an *exp.. ‘d" definition "c¢istorts” even one
. set of violence figures used in 1.6 R4 report is thug both deceptive
- and trivial.

i - he Yiolense Index ard Sunple .

°

¢

One of the oldest claims of notvqu publicists, rencwed here
despite ample clarificaticn through the years, is that the Violence
Index "™ . an arbitrary and idiosyncratic measure which doed not

- aecurately reflect progran content, Hu“her thai?ainply count the

urber of violent incidents per program, Gerbner ccmbines varicus
sdicerical scores, some of which are weighted Lo refleot his own
theorctical and controversial acsumptiong.” (Page 11)

: © This relteration’ignores responses published sirce 1872 and the g
annual publication of the Viclence lnd. . in which the "simple count of
tl¢ number of violent incldents jar program® is separately tabulated
for the convenience of those who ; efer that vimple measure to alco

' conatduering the pervesiveness of  Lolence in all programning and lethal
vu.. bon=loethal cons:quences.  An vxlensive review of teuts in Volume 2
of the Nl report found that the Yiclence Index "wcols the criticul
statistical and empirtcal requirerments of an index: unidimensionalaty
and inturaul homogeheity." (Pagus 167-8)

t-5317 v - 84 - 18

Q Ea‘ff
| 1

~.




L -3

[E

Aruitoxt provided by Eic: . K

O

",

by 3 b AN S e £ SR A Tearie os e 6 o ibaB . st e o T e e T R I BT T e . .

B s i e e T R S TR Tt o T e M
Y RN NS T, L. Ca . B L L D

R A b
LR ¢ e

s a0 - . N

. o

PN

ABC's quibble with thu sample cmployed in the Violence Index is

ainilarly misdirceted, Without citing any aupport, the ABC pamphlet
states thut "The use of one week's worth of programming to represent
the total content of a 52 woek 'seacon is clearly inadequate," (Page
11) As expluined many times, and reviewed in at least two teochnical
chapturs of the NIMH Report, but.ignored by ABC, expepimerits with up to
7 wecks of progrmzming have not produced notably different results
(e.g. see Volume 2 Page 113). Tne NIMH review concluded: STheas

studies thus indivate that while a larger sample might inorease .

precision, given the operational®definitions and multidimensgonal !
measures that are sensitive to a variety of sigrnificant aspeédths of M
television violence, the 1-wuek sample ylelds stable results with -high'"
coat efficieney." (Volume 2, Page 165) Certainly, .the confistenoy of,
violence and other mecasures of fictional demography and power from year
to year would bé hard to explain with a sample that ia inadequate tg
the task for which it was designed. e

The extensive research evidence supporting the definition of
violence and its measurement in samples of television content hes not
been examined by ABC; it hus been ignored, The ABC olaims appear to be
designed for the uninitiated, repeating contentions network publioists
have boen propagating for over a decade. In Sum, the ABC statement did
not rofute the NIMH conclusion that violence on television remains at
consiatently higit lavels, : ’ .

Sy

"NIMH CONCLUSION NO. 4

‘Television has buen shown to cultivate
televicion~influonced attitudes among
viewers. Heavy°viowers are mors likely
to be more fearful -and less trusting of: .
other people tHan are light viewcrs as a

result of their exposure to television., .

"ABC RESPONSE: : .-
The recearch does not support the

t'nclusion that television significantly
cultivates viewer attitudes and percep-

tions of social reality," ,

ABC moves on to challenge the extensive tody of research
findings on television's cultivation of viewer attitudes and
conceptions of realitly. The ABC pamphlet claims that even though the
NIMH report acceptcd many of the findings of the cultivation analysis,
"th2 authoi's of the technical report chapter reach a diffevent
concluntun,  They ctate; 'The evidonce 09nccrnihg tha causul direction
of televieaen's {6pact on soelnl reality’ 18 not sufficient for sirong
conclumions? {Hawkins and Piugree),n
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The fact 1s that the chipter by Hawkina and Pingree gsupports the
oultivation theorx,and confirms findings cited by NIMH, "Causal
direction® is not an issue in cultivation theoury which holdg that the
pervasive and repetitive patterns of television gultivate rather than
only croate attitudes and perveptions, After the passage cited by ABC,
Hawkins and Pingree observe that "the rplationship between viewing and

8ocial reality may be rociprocal." (Page 239)wIn their review of many

studies, inoluding their own,.lawkins and Pingrec oonclude:
s : .

PIs there a relationchip hotween television viewing and social
raqlity? Most studics show ovidence for & link, regardlecs of the
"kind of social reality studied, Thece studies cover 4 divorse
range of auread including prevelence of vivlence, family structures,
interperconal mictruct, fear of victdmizaticn, traditional sex’
roles, fanily values, images of older pecple, attitudes about

doctors, and concern aboul racial probleus,...Relationuships betwecen.

viewing and demographic meascures of social reality olosely linked
to television content appeas to hold despite_vontrols," (Page 237)

Another example of the ciiticiums cited oy ABC is the statemant
that ", , , [CJlultivaticn respgarchers group 'non-viewers' who dontt
watch telvvisinn with 'lipght! viewers who watch less than average,
When non-viey vy are anziyued independenily of light vicucers, Shoir
fearr and mistrust scores are actually hisher than light vicwers,
Similarly, Yextromely heavy viewers" are gruuped with "hedvy vievers,'
When extrencly heavy vichors == who vaew elght or nore houlg of
television dally =- are analyzuq 1nde:ondently, they are fodnd to be
e fearful and mistrusting than heavy viewérs." (Page 14)

The fucts were reported in.an article in the sane Joyrnal fron
which ABRC sclccted its informstdon, but they were itted ffom the ALC
paphilaet, Whkat ure these facts?

Non-yievwers and "uxtremely heavy viewers" are very small-and
atypical groups {(about 5 pereunt of the population wach, Their deviunt
responies are trivial in size and nontagnificunt statistically, In any
cure, the inclunion of these deviant proups meany that the lUIMH coreiu-
taons atout. cuilivation are underertirated; when they are ceicludod, the

reoultitg: patterne are even strorgcr for the retcdnirg 90 percont of

the popuiation, ] s

A serics of addivicnal repetitions off criticirny already oealtl
with in the reoccarch Litorature ud oviewed in the NIMY report further
atrairr o Uhe Creaabality obf the ALC 'oritique,® Clecarly its authors arce
awers of the ¢ -holurly eochanges that have tuken place; they seem not

Lo have . d oosingle nepative comaent, no watter how far-fetched, .
Yot they toer Lo be oliivious to the nuch more nuwmelrous extensions and
conlirs.ticu of fiadiigs by independent scholiars in the United States
g abroad,

o
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In sum, tho ABC pamphlet deceives the reader not familiar with
sthe research literature. It ia thus the ABC pamphlet and not tho NIMH
.report that distorts, in its goneral deuign as well as its details, the

-evidence on television and violence that 1t purports to place in

perepoctive.

~
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DEPARTMENT 1)F IIEQALTH& HUMANSEHVICES - Puthe Hoalth $cvice

-

" Ascohal, Orug Abuas, and

Mental Hosith Administration - .
: ) Natenal ingtituie of Menta) Heslth . ‘
- Rockvile MD 20887
% . . April 18, 19 - ' t
S ) .
o - 1]
o Mr. E4 O'Counstl, Coussel
R - . Subecommitee on Ccime L. .
E " Comalttes en ths Judiciery : . ! o
e -7 U8, Kouse of Rapressntetives oL ' ' .
: 207 2, Cannan Muiltding L. 3 .
_ vashington, D. €, 20515 L
o a ’ bear Mr, 0'Conaédi: . .
.. : " When 1 apake to you eatlier todsy, 1 mentionsd that I had ahowy
oI " Mg, Oregory a copy of e recent Survey conducted by Dr. John Murrey . .
3’ on resesrcher views oo the NUM Updats Project conclusions® regarding ) ’ .
A telavised violerce snd behavicr. Nr. Cregory fndfcated he would 1like
.- me to ssnd & .copy o the Committse so that 1t could be put on racord. .
: Accordingly, s copy i¢ enclossd, Dr, Murray 19 villing for this to :
P b published in the record or vo be used in sny\vay that the Comaittes - : ..
,C'* vishes, ' o . ~

L4

You vill note that the survey fouad, oversll, th.t a2 percant of the
sctiva resesrchars queried agraed vith the AINME stetessat o the
o fepact of TV violenca. . . N Q .
L 1 spprectated the oppertunity of tastifing before the Committee and . 1
. will be pleassd if 1 cen bu cof further setvice, -

Since .\Iy yours,

: Y e, (1O

i K g

A N
- Chief, Bohaviorsl Sciences
. Resssrch Brench -
) »

¥aclosure .

X . : :
L}
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Dr. Tinw Mornnay PA.D,

i Bz-ys Tow ¥ CENTER . 5
: &‘V § Towwn, NEBAASKRA & S ib
. RESULT3 OF AN.TNFORMAL POLL OF KNOWLENGEABLE PERSONS

"CONCERNING THE IMPACT OF TELEVISBION VIOLENCE

ORI RS L .. —.Background |

The attached questionnaire was distributed to a sanple of
researchers and knowledgeable observers of children and television
in order to assess the extent of agreement with a recent statement
‘about the.mpaot of television viblence.
. L}
The statement in question is one of the principal coneclusions
. contained in a recent report from the National Institute of Mental
: Health (NIMH): *,..the consensus among most of the research ~°
© cormynity is that violence on television does lead to aggressive
behavior by children-and teenagers who watch the programs. This
conclusion is based 'on laboratory experiments and on fleld
studies. Not all children become aggressive, of course, but the v
correlations between violénce and aggression are positive. In :
magnitude, television violence is as strongly correlated with .
agpressive behavicr as any other behavioral variable that has been &
measured. The research question has moved from asking whether or )
not there is an effect to sceking explanations for the effect.®

°

. Q
Survey ! . . . o
0 )
The participants in this survey do not camprise a random sample of
o all experts in this area, but they do represent a broad spectrum

of avallable expertise and professional opinion. .

These professionals can claim exper*ise in the area of children

2 and television by virtue of the jzc. that each person has written .« -
articles of reports on this topic, In fact the 116 participants v
were’the sole or senior authors of 597 books and,articles and were -
conttibuting authors to many additional reports.’ Moreover, those

surveyed were drawn from several professional fields (i.e., ¢

‘psvcholopy, sociology, and conmunications) and are employed in

universities, research jinstitutes, consuner organizations and the

television industry. . .

The ballots were distributed during the period March 1-10, 1983, .
The results presented below are based upon a count conducted at
the end of ltarch, '

- .- 4_‘..__. .

}
‘A Yote on Professional Fxpertiser A recent bibliography of the
past 25 years of research on children and television (Murray,
192n) included citations for 2,886 reports. These reports wre
produned by 1,570 senjor, individual, and corporate authors
{ndicating an average level of professional productivity of 1.8
reports,  However, the 116 participants in this survey have heen
the senior authors on an grerage of 5.1 reports swigesting that
these professionals are anong the most productive and knowledge-
ahble rersons concerned with the issues of childreg and television,

o ’ | 288




TV VIOLENCE SURVEY

Results

. — .
a.  The ballots were sent to 116 persons who were identified ag’

. members of the American Psychological Association (APA), the

- ¢ . American Sociological Assocfation (ASA), the International

o Communication Association (ICA), or persons who aPfe not'affiliated
o with one of these professional assoclations (NPA) .

Of the 109, experts surveyed {7 questionnaires were undeliverable
at the stated address) 68 were completed and returned yielding 2
‘response rate of 624, Thé table below contains a deseription of
‘professional opinions on the impact of 't'glevised violence offered
by the experts who responded to thiz survey, ) '

+ ) . {

N 5
’ : ~ Professional Membersh ip®

Lo

v LAPA ASA  IGA NPA TOTAL

- o—a-

2 in sanple ' B 1 2 3% 109
# responding . ¢ 31 5 13 19 68

. rd
Resmnse rate 4 72 .50% 622 5u% 62%

Type of Response (#):

Strongly fAgree 24 1 10 12 47
Moderately Agree 7 4 - 1 i} 9
Strongly Disagree ' 1 3 1 1 6
Moderately Disagree 1 - - 1 r2
. No Qrinian vem — . . -
Unable to Decide . 1 1 1 1 y

e I R B T U - ——

% Apreement on the impact 90% 20% - 85% 8uz 823
of TV violence

\

- P Y

“The total smpi%of 100 incladed 43 psychologists (APA), 10
sorialopists (ASA), 21 cownuni:ation researchers (ICAY, and '35
profesaionals (NPA) who were not affiliated with one of these
associations, R
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" oo Pried

" Sally Biseniano, Hamen's Lsuss Lonsutient

4 .
Soaed of Dirorions e .
Thomay Radecks, B0, NCTV Chainar Wi ¢ o qups
@ so‘\_«uwn Uiacia Uan tcnwlom‘:mm “"L 1.
we t B

Yiauondl FTA Fas) Brewoen; ©
A s e
Townes Deien, Prasisent )

. w,
Waahingion Meac, For Teunision asd Cnikirgn
Wmmm

United Mithoie] Communications
Diedetoe

Sara Bonon Eegcutivg
1 G ROBoaIet) M1 Action Lantes

o

. g April

I |

Chairman Will$am 7, Hughee '
. Suvbemoditter on orime
. 34X Canuon Hewan SEfice

' Buflding
Waskingten, r.¢0 2051 .

fear Chaljeman Hughuss .

. » . . -
As Y loatan Dliectar of the Sational Coalithon on
Vielerce, '3 vould Tike to inform you of my organiza

to particrpate 11 future hearings on vinience, crim
radia.

«1 foul tucie is an NEgent need to have NCTV'sg

NATIONAL COALITION ON TELEVISION VIOLENCE -

A1y

mﬁ “:““.m Ofice:

. Ragecxr, M 5
Nationdl Coatition on TV viclence

A% €. Puk Ave
PO.Sox 2157 o°
mm,.ms

1217) 908234
OMes:
Nataasl Conlition o TV Violnce
1530 P. Glresi N W
PO fox 12099

Woshinglon 0C. 20008 (203 4420814
’ '
15, 1483

Television
tien's desiye
A, and the

Frem tectinmeny presente” at the hearing of April 13,
tﬂstinoqy heare,

TThe QY e} “ealition un Television Violence 1t a nenprof o,
PuUnlicN nterest qroup which views tho use of violence to enter-

tain by Whe commerc{al networks 43 &h environrmental
threatening the welfarg nf the publie,
cpinion:  The American MAdical Ansaciation
es television as a hazard throatening the
AmArecae apd jeateed oy futyre socioty.”

It wa Sluar ose his tkat the uyse o
AT areent o reb)ge hoalth prcbler,

AR Y e Aefore the Tubears Litee on crime.
HERRC . T ptratinte prritively te thie puhegms
RO * ’

'

Frelnse o« w15, e » copy of cur most recuet gL
which ineigdes eur OO results of Aetwerk to}l
you have ANY nece cape | crmmoents, or would live to A4
Surther please cantact me, '

'.;':'-'rc‘ly. —
Beew Z’i’p/[q/
frian ctl ity

:

LA R o

f violence to e¢ntertain pLesr-ts !
Accardir:le NCTV waeld

hazard

We are not alene (- Lrie
has doemed vi¢ e+ on
rveifare "of your- ’

Tive 7
1T feel oy
teoe ‘e S,
’ 74
LR S .
€olap~r 1f - :
1%Cues o) pg
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_ PRESS | xm»:asx pRESS mmsr __PHESS RELPASE  ['WESS RELEASE _PRESS RELEASE . .

‘“,

: NATIG&\AL COALITION ON TELEVIQION VIOLENCE
. ‘ N . .

Boe13 otDiacion o > . . mmmm & Moaltoriag Otfen: a M

"-'v u “echki, M P, NCTV Cha.rperson . s Or Thomas Radecki, M.D. .
» 1tthc 3 Unw Bchool of Medicing £ . Netienal | Codliugn 6n TV vicis

e -t €3 1r o8 & . . 3’355 lvl ,

e PTA Peyt hﬂ'dnl .
1 A on MO FPegntan victende Cune

‘e
. gy ieat of Pm.‘-u L, Un o of MEnytang . ’ . ’
14) a8 Caboin. Pawrdent " wnmn M
Washingtea Assoc ot Television and Crilg & Natf nuuun on ¥ Violency -
A 1230 P GUasl MW

siasasn O: ¢n, Pudlic Mesia Directol . 4
gt Wei.o2-81 Gimemue galisne . PO BN 1NN -
e e er Esdzeing Soeinc Veashingion, DC 20033 V2 aFi0e o .
N ’ocen\mumuhe-e Apgrarsh §n0 &.0on Cenhy -
iy & cﬂﬂllﬂc \.c'ﬂen sgssuts Corgo et . 3 v . . v

cramp .;n u.lmzo [FIi) mes;a

.
.

TV, Violence At Record bLevels i : s,

Action Demanded Durihg Nat ___al_g_.xldmn_‘g‘&ﬁ_‘l_'_e_l_'gg_l_s'ion Week (Mdrch 13-19) ° -

. . .o . B

For_Reluayg: Hcdxw-jday. .H.\rch 1.6. 1983 ‘ . . . . -

L.uue:.‘ Dr. bﬂ)ﬂ\ls R.nh-rn!, M.D. Chgirman, (2i7) 359—8]35 . . )
Karen Judbner,, Monuartr‘ Director, (217) 359~ 823& - .

Brian Jalloy, Washington Offica, (202) &'02_-0515 '_ . : .

-

rh; National Coalition on Telewision Violenge(NCIV) released its emast-recent nonitoring
dats ‘today on prime-tima and Saturddy morning ietvo’k' 1V violence. 1t has IQ:d that
prine-tiae violence is presently at its highest level on record sveraging 8.7.2cte of .
yis tenee per hour in the most recegtly conplered quarter (Sept. 27..19..82-.091- 26.‘1912). T
pus record oh 8.0 acta pe. hour get in the tirst quarter of \\.

inis surpassed the vr'?vxl‘
1982(comparabla dats available since 195% from Univ. .of Pennsylvania and/or NCTV).

‘ SGTV reports findings a record of 28 high violence programs accounting for 50% of
‘ .
Its preliminary data for Junuary and February.

W11 prire-t ine television programming.
.1 1983 ghow cven higher levels of vzol.eq:-e avnagin;' vel} aver % vfolent acts per hour.
Setwork TV's most. viclent sefiee sceerding to NCTV fr Zbc__A__‘[eg_q;(Nhg_) wvath 39 acts

* vielence per hour(a pang of U.§. seldiers wanted by the U.S. wnil{tary has cone

Sipriund and works axz Weidenaries taking &n )v‘m‘Lhat the police can't or won't doi.

et i 1982's wost viplent program, Fall fuyfARC) at 34 acts/hr, followed by Taies of

. '-f- Sold M. nh-}(ABCI(]h, Voyugers(NRC){30), Gavilan(NBC)(?7) fQukes af Ha:z: nf Hn;rard(f'!S)(N). . .

. r«.aeest _Amerfican Hl-ro((ﬂ“c)(n). T.J. ‘Hooker (ABC)(20) . Simon & Sison(CBS)(20), Magnu : '

1. (CBS)(I?), Rnjght rmnra(NBC) (18), ¥tc. TV mavies made up one-third of all TV.violence.

. Cartuon vielence do.,rmwd fyou record highs dut still avouged 25,6 violent acts

pcr hour with CBS \ott violent. N
* New high vinlence progracs w(th only tpe or two epinodes rated 1nc'1udu Renegades (ABC)(AZ). e

High Perturmanc p(ASL)(Zb), wu.ﬂds 6 Harrluru(CBS)(H). Scveral new 16w violence programs

bave been intioduced bit rake up less than 1/3 o,lazhe nev program time: Gondo(ABC)(0),

R

. ['S e
) . A S, - "



e ‘\
. \Mam s,fnmny(NBC) (0), Teacher's Only(NAC)(0), and, Family T, rms(uam(z) . .
oyt " ABC remaina the «aun vxou-nt network with 10,2 vidlent acua per hour fedlowed by
CBS(B 3) and NBC(7.6) . NeTV continues to ul‘ ite participating organimuonn to print
(he nares and addresdes of the heaviest spohsors of violent programa, Philtp Morris - . . .
) St (mller s Bewr b Seven-up) io.l.he t violenco advur:isehﬂ in-the pr”xul quagter), . .
' K It 13 followed Ly Polaroid, $c!neul Motors, 1BM, nnd Magnavox. Low violence advertisers

7/ Kodnk and Hallrark aieng with (‘eneul al Plectric, Noxell, and' Amerdcan Hoge Producty were
s , pratsel, NCTV continues to encouragc 1tl'lener-wrntng pn-uuu campiaign. * 3
L. or. ?homr Radecki, M.D., Psychtnu‘u Divector vf the Chyrpaign County Hental llealth

_.,// : (‘rnu:r in Champugn. 111inois and Chairwan of (ho couluon called the "“uat(on "shocking." ' .

B olfgns on normal chudren and adult vleweu to be ovgwhelmlng. Jhe Anerican Medical .
A Asgociation announced at its Decemdber, 1982 national board meeting the necd for imediate . &
action stating that TV and entertainment violeuce.ia cnuumg ah sptdemic b! vlolencer o : "
. azopgat the ™ ynung people of this country., Jt,is time that (‘o“grcsl face up to ltl o .
.reapuraibiltty. xt is obvious the nrtworku. brondrutcra movie lndurrr)’. and pay cablc . .
IV channels will cont irue u“dumgarél the ‘atzoable damge that they are doing to the
« Anerican society witb.;hcu heavy promotion of violence." ve -

Raderk1 wen, on to say, "The host popular cable TV channel for children as well u"_
afults appears to he HBO and, the ot}mr pay cable mwovie channels, NCIV hag recently . ¢!

N .

[ unmmx the very high levels of well- -crafted wat, reverge, and horror novie violence .

ot (how chirnela.  Covbined with the high Ilc\‘els of violente on prh(-um and SA¥urday : 3

. [
B rnimy, Too® secund generation 15 being expukcd te cven more .violence than its firsed -
The *first TV generation.has growm up to be the moﬁl‘. violent generati@\ of young adults ‘

. in .\nenra = history, lumlerlng 300%, raping, 400%, and asnultlng 500° ®ore often per - .

caprta thar their pamnta generation at the came ages. It is abundantly ‘clear that !
the poeriis atfon cf violence in TV axd movie entertainment is plaving 4 mj'o‘ role in

. thew epiuem..." | ) ¢ .
v . . . e

v kajker, taid, "We have not heard of any action/whatsoever coming from the*U.S. House
.
. -
A Te\’.vcomnun:;ntlons(Cl..‘..r»Rep Tirmothy Wirth, D-Colo.) lin"ce the{r neastarps

, 0 woraber, 981, I am.asking that.in today's Telecommunications hearings on children

anc te.ev.s. o JWednerday, March 10th, $:30 a.m.) . that we B¢ given arsurances-that soie
. wefinite acti.ns on the prodlen of(brosdu‘t and cable TV vlolenc% will be fortheconing.
R we hive eoc.mented hundreds of thoP.nnds of dollazrs of campaign contributions to, this -
comnittee from the broadcast and table TV industry. We ask that this cogpittee not
’ forpet the public’s interest in t-)day s hearings and on the {ssue of ~{olence. 1 ask * - .
J thpt peapld wrun their cnngle.-smch to demand ln:medlato funhcr hoartngu o entergainment ’ : J

v , K : &
iolence and lanediste concreto dction s ’ —\

. Radu tt suggests a number #f actions that can and shold bo taken, He states that

- - . * .

o .o 250t .
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the rost trportant is that uof ruuul’ouduigl‘unu "NUTV has estimated ﬂ.n'alno‘n one
billivn dollara vorth of atr~tlne and print advnnslnn is spent by the TV and -ouu
induser fes promuns Jiolgnt entertainment each yedar. Oply 3 of ‘americans ndulu and .
children reauae that they,are harefully affected by lhe violence they consuBe. Viewers . . ' .
ate literally brajnwashed throu‘;h this massive one-sided advertising intd thinking that ' ' )
cfitertginment violunce could not have a hlmful effect on them personllly. People h .
actually sometimes becove angry at the suggestion that they psrsonally Mght be T
?fecu-d. Yet, the research suggests that prodably anyore who consumes the national
average ol 10-15 hours of violent entertainnent per wedrk % unconsciously affected in

a hasaful way. Thn mIs?  compuon (-Huct-; are '-ignlﬂcam increases in anger, Iredtabitiey,
and loss o! tc:-;e.r. a devvnsnuauon tovﬂrdb violerce, and a grunel feay and distrust
of the world around you, 5 .

Radechi satd additional needed congressional agtions include varnL_;_ attached to , '
progyins coyteining high ‘levels of entertainmant vto_lenco. better funding of PBSwith
the cstablishaght of 3 to.4 PBS cable channels to deal more fully with consuner affairs,
scrence and docurentaricg, and publie affairs and ast{ona) accegs(Radecki calded PBS = - . ’

five l'a:labje. He called {t tife least expensive .

the best watched, 10w vielinee alteenat
crime-stopper in Lh- W.3. today); and government regulatidns that will promote broadcast

and cable TV's uccounznblllty to the public, oncouuge diversity of opinion, and guaurantee
that the intevests of chijdrqn. and adult Amsrlun- are servod Radecki ssid ﬁun research
1n needed on the harrtui effecth of TV sports v;_plunca(bcxlng. § ofessional wreatling, T
e hockey), soap upera emuonzl violence, and toy and games violence which ate hcavily ‘,

semered on TV, he called on/he committes to make research funds available for these
arcds. L o - hd A
Grace B;_i_s_;t_Qg:-r. iant ‘president of the RationAl PTA, said, "1 find this econutantly - . . \

voecalating vielence deplorable and distressing. We believe in the Surgeon General's 2

Feeorrt, 1t 19 very 1mpo.tant to get this mnlrn’mg information to the Aneric.u public, 5

T Ihe .;ln:v..uo poal 2610 teach children and aduits to turn +{f the TV vhen v!olenco is | . ¥

Lo .ng used meIelv o qe entennn.'excn'c. or titiitate the vtevsr.“ Dr, Radecki pra!:u&- “

. Y ® L
to6 latnnd. PTLs Lricical Viewing Skilly coutsc:, He said, however, "Unless the mesraye 8 A

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

X3

“fothe PTA, tre AMA, and the National Institute ef -‘!(‘ntlb Health gets to the viewer with
“+ help of countisaevertining previding one ad warning agalnst using ytulence to entpruw»‘ . . it

arsggf for every " promnting viclence, tuere v:11 be l{tele impuct frow thesq efforts. . v L ‘
T IV and movie andustry a4 engaging in calse and deceptive advertising by |;ronolir|g ' :
tis e viclieng prn'xmm-» an good entemgainment. ) - .

Towiars Osbuen, pant president of tne Waphi{npton Awsociation for, Television and Children,

. ol
«1d, "Becudes this inc n-dlh)e ir ase in prime time violenee, we have to remember that . o
Satutday Patalifp ..uumm are m -mlont,‘ still. Children are an inportant Jong-term . )

sBvestrent fur thi “4»..'.”. Industry shuuld he partners with Ls, not adversarfes.
¥ 14 , ) € ]

\ ' .
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R ( n¥tworks to begiy serious digcussions on the violence {ssue. De, Radeck{ noted that R

7
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)\Chndren ste ot there to be expleited.  But the fndustry has chosen to uxploit vulncrahle
minds for short-term ecomfaic gain, it doesn’t mike wense to me thagswe are inducting,,

Ythrough TV, \alm.s which go against the peace and .ocurlty o oul coumry

‘( Dr, Radetra called for continued prussure on advertiscrs ag well 4s cailing on the .. N
. .

NCTV will alse shortly wubnmit @ patition tor cmm!er-ad\anlnin] to the FCC based on. ) '
the F.urm-ss Doctrlne and with the FIC based on dccepuve and dishonest advarthtng N .. -
prace 1ces. v . A
;r. Radeiki said, "TV and movic violence are at an all.-time high. Things are-bnund
L) ue:'.r_.nbi worse with%the ircreaning 'r..slcs eof pavy cable covie -channels with lasge

“cf frucsone murder and rape. lu additfop we caport this problem to other ' ' . ‘-
countries and, thereby, further increase lovels of vidlence in & world ready to explode. . '

Fatertainnent violence fosters values hosule to demutmcy and to.Juden-Christian erhirs.

we are uuner.r.xng a breakdown of cxvxlu.utnn in large part due to unrestrained gre 4
3

to Wpe money. In a democracy it s the right of thx- people to take just and sensi ‘e -

actien and it s the duty of our elerted representativos to see that thap action {s -

taked.’ c, % K

.
.

Radvcki deplored the {mage of glorlucd nacho malé vtulcnce wnh .mu:m asod reL -

that he rlalzs {5 extremely common to TV. Radecki pointed. to tesearch shnulng tha: 15% N
of Anul('.m wwn have said there was nome chance they would rapg & women if isaured f
petting away with it. Radecki estizated from available survgy idata that o.vﬂ' 108 ot , T . -
Aserican men bave npud womcn With the most cozzon vaictims beink wives and girlfei. s, <
He mote. =olence lhn ar leas: 2% of Arogsfar couoles D?')'chrly strike u‘ach othes

at )u,t onee 3 )m.lr with a high percentage of wigen chrnn}t"’ly. abuaed.
N,  Radeckd nun-d that HCTV hgs new accumutated CIObi to"850 studies done in”"the V.S.
aand 18 furelgn countries documenting the harm of enterts {nment vioFence-~violence whoac

pmpt.u- of to excite, nhz'xu or tatiliate the viewer rathek than tn educare the vu‘w‘ur o~ oo

abuut rhe ¢ :ragedy and harm n! real-!ife violence. He no'u.!u studiea nh&u.ht najor acounts ~, ..
ot “sbes Lodlense, vielence in the hu'ne seRs ing !or bn b children and adu!tl. and :rininal ’
STrect vitirnve cozIng fr the _e.‘lrcr.s cf -%mm'_ prol.:.:-—lng He euunus tha: bo'wcen
gt 1+ eoring froe tik-promotiorn of vidiende {n cﬁt.ev.tnn.-.wnr.. L3N ' B
He megr wany other causer gf viclencs iuciudf;:g'\alcohu:fe!so promoted by TV), dreg ° ’ ‘- ¢
Abuse, netertiorating se a3l syste®™p, heredat:, p‘oo: pm-(-.-sringfnd pher modeling, etc. g
* However, e poirts out tial Di. Wplliaw beis:s of the Lordon School of Economics found
that TV and sovie violence was the #) cause of youth violenge in a. large CBS-funded study . e
rhat lovked at 227 poasible cauren of vmlul\c\e. ’ )

. * ’ . ’
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’ 'Jn,emlnm; R!sr\vmlama qu.\uu- Violent Movies on Prime-time Includeds .
. -
11. ABC Monday Nifht Movie f 19 Battle Beyond-the Stage L% . /’
12, the Quest(ABC) - 5, " ) The B{g Red Onc - 5 . 3 .
13, Matt Houston(ABC) . The Shadow Ridery P 41 »
‘- 14. Hare to Hart(ABC) 17 uonraker 43 .
. 15. NAC Sundey Night Hﬂvie 17 Outlau Jobie Wales ) .
. 16, Fantasy lsland( 16 Evely Which Way Sut H.oose 38
{ . 17. AEC Sunday Night ania 15 The Biue and: the Cray, Pt 3 3n .
18. CBS Saturday Night Movte 15 . Tha Bluea Brothers . 36 “J.
13, CBC Sundsy #uht Movie . 15 Dr. No o 34 -
, % .20, ARC Friday,Night Movie 14 ""S‘luing Baddleo v W -
. 21, Tucker Bitch(CPS) , The Cauntlet 34 s .
12, Walt Disney(CBS) . 12 The Blue & the Gray, Pt 2 ' 29 A
23, Powers of Matthew-Star-NBC 11 Honeyboy A 2 . -t .
. ~ 24, Hi1] Sereet Blues(NBC) n Deadgy Encountex ¢ LY I .
) . 25, Cagley & Lazay(CES) 11 My ¥ nu-rd M A
N ., <265 the Devitn Connection(NBC) 10 The Finsl Countgown = ** T I
. \ 27, CBS Tuesday Night Movie 10 . Lowe at Fiec Bits | ° . . &
28. CBS Wednesday Night HoTh 10 Animal House 16 7
' . -Swokey sndathe Bandit g1 g 16 /
. . . .
, , N
- . a2 0O o
. Aboes Resiage Violence: 1
. prsAimir Mg wpe B "™k gy Tras snumly Morning ClrloOnl--F..: Monitoripg:
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Comeme'a Bronn NBC 2 Son v tar € ASC L Meatpalis & Spagen«CBS) - 0
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. N cas * JCe -# Lo Chach L ABC 0 Gaty Colaman ShowiNBC) s
J Egg 1 78.:‘. Ingradidie SaBe o' L Far Alden1(CBS) Y o, y o;',
[ " . AR 0 )
2',,, r"::;l.-' 7‘_22 * e v o e *Most of woience n Littie Rascat Segments
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o Go GET Some Mu
N (By Daniel Schorr) __ s

Johw'W.  .ckley Jr: chuses me to reflect; having recéntly turned 65, on' what the: * -
—~ medip age . us wrought. Hinckley’s unhappy lifetime of soritt 26 Yyears coincides .
roughly with my life in television. Whatever else made him want to shoot a Presi-
dent, Hinckley epitomizes the perverse effects of*ounsviolence-prone culture of enter- ,
tainment. 4 ) . . C :
Hinckley weaves together strands of média-stimulated fantasy, fan frenzy, and the
_urge to proclaim identit[\; by starring in a televised event. His '?zcess is attested to

M~ N
K AND COOKIES AND WT\'ljcu THE M’vansns ON TELEvisION

‘-

by everything that has happened, since March 30,s»vhen he marfaged to disrupt the '

e regular ﬁraograr_ns listed on his copgoof TV Guide to bring on conlmand performances
: l&y Da ther, Flank Reynolds,,Roger Mudd, and the other news superstars. Since .
. ove r 22, 1963, these electronic special reparts—the ‘modern equivalent of the ()'

old riewsr‘uper extra—have been America’s way of certifying a “historic event.” .
: - Much has been shown to Hinckley's generation to lower the threshold of resist-  , , .
ancerto violent acts. When the time caimé for Hinckley to act2to plug himself intp v
. this continuum of television and movie violence—the screenflay was easily writtep .
« " the roles- nearly Ereassigned: The media-conscious “public’.* President, v‘!onald
- Reaiign, attracted the cameras, which attracted the crowds, whichprovided both the N
- arena and the cover for the assailant. The netwonk cameras routinelf assigned,
. ¢ sinck the Kenaedy assassination, tp “the presidentig watch" recorded th.e "actual-
~ ity” and showed it in Wypnotic, incessant replays “The audience tingled to the all-
o~ toofamiliar "special report” emblazoned actoss the screen. . Lo e .
To nobody's surprise, the celebration of violeace stirred would-be imitators. The N
_Secret Service'recorded an astopish,igrag numker of subsequent thfeats on the Presi-
dent’s life. One of them came from Edwe:a Michael Rebinson, 22, who had watched '
the TV coverage and liter told Police that Hinckley had appeared to him in a .
»  dream, telling hirfi to “bring completion to Hinckley's realila'." : , R
. _ Psychiatrist Walter Menninger examined Sara’ Jane Moore, whé tried to' kill. o
President Ford in 1975, and found it no coincidence thét two weeks earlier a well-
_ publicized attemgt on Ford’s life had been made by Squeaky Fromjne. :
. “There is po doubt,.” Dr. Menninger told me,."of the effect of the broad, rapld,
7 and intense dissemination of such an event. The scene in front of the Washington
s~ Hilton must have.been indelibly coded in everybody's mind with an im ediacy that
does hot happen with the print media. We have learned from the studies of televi’
ssion that people do get influenced by what they experience on teleyision.”
The broadcasting indust:{ gays it can't help it if occasionally a disturbed person
en

’ tried to act ous depicted violetice—fictional or actual. In 1975,\a Vietnam veteran in . .
“Hyattsville, Maryland, who hud told his wife, *“Iwatch televistbn too much,” began } ,
{4 . sniping at passersby in a way he had noted during an episode of S.W.AT.#~and, like
= ", the fictional sniper, was killed by a police sharpshooter.’

The American Medical Assdciation reported in 1977 that physicians were telling
of cases of injiry from TV imitation*$howing up in their offices and hospitals. One
octor:treated twe children who, playing Batman, had jumped off a roof. Another
sa;d a child who had set fire to a house was copying dn arson ingident viewed on °
' television. * - . . .
~ -+ No court has yet held television leg‘ally culpable for the violence it is gecused of

e stimulating. In Florida in 1978, fifteen-year-old Ronny Zambra was convicted—after _

a televised trial—of killing his elderly neighbor despite the novel ‘plea of “involun-

. . tarx subliminal television intoxication.” The parents of a California girl who had

<. been séxually assaulted in 1974 in a manner depicted three days easlier in an NBEC
television drama lost their suit against the network.

That's as it should be. ] support the constitutional right of theroadcasting indus-

tTy to depict violence, just as | support’ Hustler magazine's right to depict pornogra-

. phy—with distaste. As Jules Feifter, the cartoonist and civil libertarian, has noted,

one sumetimes finds oneself in the position of defending peovle dne wouldn't dine

. with. What troubles me, as I reflect on the case of John Hin sy, is the reluctance

d of television to acknowledge its contribution to fostering an ¢  :rican culture of vio-
nce, not only by the way it preser.s fantasy but by the w., it conveys reality—
and by the way it blurs the line between the two. y)

In 1974 Reg Murphy, then editor of the Atlanta Constitution,(he is now publisher
of the Baltimore Sun), was kiclnapped. He says his abductors immediately sped to an
apartment and turned on = TV set to see whether their act had made the #vening
news. * N : :
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e . In 1971 prisorrioters in /\_ttica.' New York, listed as & primary dermnand that their
vLIC . Nt

grievances be gired on V. .
‘In 1977 in Indianapolis. Anthony George Kiritsis wired a suwed-off shotgun to the

- neck of a mortgage company officer, led him out in front of the police and TV cam-
eras, and yelled:- "Get those goddamm cameras on' I'm a goddamyf national hera!”

;thlreupop she\pulled a gun out of a shopping bag and shot herself fatally in the

 head. . ) LN

These incidgﬁj—thv list coulg go-on and on—were al] aspects of the phenomen~
of theé mass in g% grand grbiter of identity, validator of existences Descar
dnight say today, ‘'l dppear onelevision, therefore I am.” .

. One becomes accustgmed, after working a long time in the medium, to he:

. stréngers (remark, without elaboration, 'l saw you.on television!" One even gets
inured to being hauled over to meet somebody's relatives. It is as though the TV

Jpersonality has an existence of its own. I experiencedithe other sidé of this .phe-’
" ‘nomenon in 1976 when I stopped broadcasting for CBS. People asked, solicitously, "

_everything was right—as though, being off the air, ] had ceased to be in-some oxis-
tential sense. N ,
“Getting on television” has become a preoccupation o1 people in government poli-
tics, and industry, not to meption all manner of single-issué advocates, Candidat~s
~will fashion their campaigms around *‘photo’opportunities.” Senators wil] be drawn
by thespresence of cameras to legislative hearings they otherwise would skip. -
Many people will do almost anything to get on TV. Some will even Kkill.
Anthony Quainton, former head of the State Departmﬁnt’s Office for Combating
Terrorism, associates the increase in casualties during hijackings agd hostage-tak-
ings with the desire of terrorists to insure news-meédia attention, Deliberate acts of
Korror—like the tossing out of slain victims—ar2>planned as media events. On the

_ other hand, the failure of the hijacking of a Turkish plane to Bulgaria in May was

at least partly due to the fact that'two of the terrorists had left the plane to give a
press conference. . . o ! .

Sometimes the aim is toJ\ijack television itself: When the radical Baader-Meinhof
gang in West Germany kidnapgped a politician in 1975 as-tdstage for the release of
five imprisoned comrades, it forced German television to-show each prisoner board-
ing a plane and to broadcast dictated propaganda statements. “For 72 hours we lost
control of our medium,” a Germdn television executive later said.

_When Arab terrorists seized the Vienna headquarters of OQPEC in 1975, killing

to occupy the building until TV gamerds arrived. ,
. A central feature of the plan of, thé San Francisco 4Symbionese Liberation
Army,” which kidnapped Patricia Hearst, was the exploiuﬁion of the media—forc-
in%‘ radio and ¥elevision to play-its tapes and carry its messages.»
he Hanafi Muslims' hostage-taking occupation of three locations in Washington
in 1976 was a glasgi"case of media-age terrorism. Th® leader, Hamaas Abdul Khaa-
lis, spent muc is time giving interviews by telephone, while his wife checked on
whatavas beifg broadcast. - R )
. These crifnes are tghly contagious,” warns Dr. Harold Visotsky, head of the de-
. partment of j
sion for keeping up with the news and imitating it," - ( S ,
It does not seem to matter .much if they are keeping up with *the néws’ or with

“entertainment.” for more and more the distigctjon is'thinly drawn. A real attempt -

on the Presilent’s life produces a rash of threal A prime-time‘drama about a bomb
on an airplané prcducks a rash of reports of bombs on airplanes. .

In all of this. television claims to be innocent->a helpless eyewitness, sometimes
even a hostage. It's not that simple. To begin with, television has helped blur the

. lines hetween reality and faritasy in the general consciousness. -

Television news itself—obliged to coexist with its entertainment environment.
seeking to present facts with the tools of fantasy—ends up with a dramatized ver-
sion of life. Everything that goes into making a well-pace .'smooth’lry edited 'pick:
age” subtly changes reality into a more exciting altegory of events. The confusion is

compounded by the use of “cinéma réalite” techniqyes in fictional dramas. and the

modern forms of fact-and-fiction “docudramas’ and “reenactments’ of events.

. It began to come home to me that audiences were blurrin% the distinction.be-
tween reality and entertaintnent when | received telephone calls from several pet-
sons. durmg the 1473 Senate Watergate hearings that preemipted soap operas,
"asking that the networks “canceya boring witnesg and "put back John Bean and

In 1974 in Sarasote, Florida, an anchorwoman on televisign station WXLT said on *
the air, "In keeping with Channel 40's policy of bringing you the, latest in blood and «
« puts in livinﬁ tolor. you're going to’see another first—an attempt at suicide.”

- three ‘persons and taking oil_ministers hostage, the terrorists' plan called for them

ry at Northwestern University. "Deranged persons have-a pas-.

’
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his nice wife ! Moreover, sume friends of mine praised a “docurffentary” shows by
NBC The Raid at Entebbe, und had to be reminded that it was a reenactment.
The gradual erosion of the line between fact and fantasy, between news and thea- .
ter, can have serious conseyuences. People slow toeact to accidents and muggings ‘
may be experiencing the existential question of whether these things are really hap- -
pening. A woman wrote columnist Abigail Van Buren of being bound and gagged by .
. a robber who told the victim's four-year-old boy to .watch ¢elevision for a while * -
' before calling for help. The child looked at TV for the tfext three hours, ignoring his
mother’s desperate effc . to get his.attention. Perhaps. to the child, the show was |,
. more real than his mothdr's muffled screams. - |
* 4 7 Having obscured the difference between fantasy and reality, television wifers in- .
g centives to people who are seekinig emphatic ways of getting recognition. Innocent
hand;waving, s an attention-getting device, yields to demonstrations, which in turn
-+ yield to riots, ) i
' In my own experiénce, covering urbasi.unrest for CBS in the 390s, threatening R
»  rhetoric tended to overpower moderate rhetori¢ and be selected for the network's
Epening News because it made “better television.” 1 have no doubt that television
‘helped to build up militant’ blacks Jike Stokely Carmichael and H. Rap Brown
_ within the black community by giving them preferred exposure. Nonviolent leaders '
found “themselves  ubliged to escalaje.the militancy of their own rhetoric. Whep -
+— - Martin Luther King, Jr.Tame to Wasﬂington in 1968 to discuss plans for the "poor, .
people’s march’™ that hg did not live to lead, he told me he had to allude to possibili- .
ties for disruption as a way of getting media attention. ’ )
At d comununity meetinghafter the first night of rioting in the Watts area of Los :
Angeles in 1965, most of those who spoke appealed for calm. But a teenager who '
seized the microphone and called for *‘going after the whiteys'™ was featured on
. evening TV news programs. A moderate commented, “Look to me like he [the wiite *\
man] want us to riot.” Another said, “If that's the way they read it. that's the way
we'll write the haok.” N o ' -
In recent vears, television newst compelled to come to terms with its own potency,
has sought to enforce guidelnes for coverage of group violence. TeleVision tries to .
guard against being an immediate instigator of violence, but its reaction is too little °
and too late to overcome the cumulativé consequences of a generation of depicted )
o! o Violence, It is like trying to control proliferation of nudlear weapons after distribut.
ing nuclear reactors over a prolonged period. ™ . . '
For three decades, since'the time when there were 10'million" TV sets in Amierica,
I have watched efforts to determine objectively the effects of televised violence while
the TV industry strove to sweep the issue under the carpet. .
. What television hated most of all to acknowledge was tHat violence on T\gwds not
+ .~ incidental or accidental but a consciously fostered element in the ratjngs race. In ¢
1976 David Rintels, president of the Writers Guild iri Los Angeles, where most of
N\ the blood-and-guts scripts are spawned, told a congressional committee: “The net-
works no{ only approve violence on TV, they have been.known to request &?nd in- -
- spire it, - ©d B
. "There is so much violence on television,” he said, |'because the networks want it.
They want it because they think they can attract viewers by it. It attracts sponsors.
Afﬁ{iate stations welcome it."” . ' .
A ?ersona] experiencé brought home.to me the industry's sensitivity to the sub-
- ject. In January 1969 my, report for an Evening News telecast, summarizing the in-
. *"terim findings of the National Commission on the Causes and Prevention of Vio-
lence, was altered shortly before air time at the direction of Richard N. Salant,
- president of CBS News, to eliminate a comment about television. The passage cited Nl
the commission’s view that while “"most persons will not kill after seeing a.single
- violent televisicn program, * * * it is possible that mary learn some of their atti-

. tudes about, violence from years pf TV exposure and may be likely to‘engage in vio- . -
lence.” For-munagemeént to overrgde the news judgment of the “Cronkite show' was
extremely ‘rare N ' '

4 Riots and assassinations would bring the issue pariodically to the fore, but the re.
’ . search"had been #oing an for a long time Fop mare than a quarter of a century
, social scientists have studied the effects of violence-viewing—especially on children.
= At Stanford University. Professcr Albert Bandura reported that children three to
.o six years of age whose teys were takea away after they had seen filns showing ag-
gression would be more Likely to pound.an inflated doll in their frustration than .
children who had not seen such filins. -~ . ©
A Canadrin study by R. 8. Walters and E. Llewellyr Thomas found that high
school students who had viewed apgressive films were more likely than others to
administer strong electric shocks to students making ¢rrors on an exam.
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An experiment conducted in Maryland for the ‘National Institute of sMental
Health found serious fights in schuol more common among high school students who
watched violent T'V. programs. ' _ ’

Brudley Greenberg and Joseph Dominick, studying Michigan public-school pupils,
found that “higher exposure toftelevision violence in entertainment was agsociated

“with greater approval of violence and greater willingness to use it in real life.”

Drs. Dorothy and Jerome Singer of Yale University concluded from an echaustive
series of interviews that the children whd watched the most television were likely to
act most .aggressively in family situations. Although they could not produce a
"smoking gun” that would influence the TV industry, they argued that they had
eliminated every other fuctor that could account for.the high correlation between
aggressive hehaviorand viewing of “action-oriented” shows. .

Dr. Leonard Berkowitz of the Univérsity ‘of Wisconsin, in two experiments ten
vears apart, found that thigd-graders watching a great many violent programs were
likely to be rated by other pupils as high in aggressive behavior ‘and that, at nine-

teen, most of them were still described as “ak,.essive’ by their peers. In fact, re..

ported Dr. Berkqwitz, the amount of television viewed at the age of niné¢ is "one of
the best predictofs of whether a person will be found to be aggressive' in later life.”

Congress took an early interest in the question-of violence in TV programs. In.-

1852 the House Commerce Committee held hearings on excessive gex and violence
on television. Senate hearings on TV violence gad juvenile delinquency, conducged
+by Senators Estes Kefauver of Tennessee and #omas Dodd of Connecticut, stirred
episodic public interest. The hearing transcripts make a tall stack, adding up to fif-
teen gears of congressional alarm over television, and industry reassurance that it
was addressing the problem. : : .

. 'The cqntroversy over television assumed a new dinfension of natignal concern in
the.wake ofthe urban riots and assassinations of the 1960s. In 1968, @fter the assas-
‘sination of Robert Kennedy, President Johnson named .4 commision, headed by, Dr.
Miltgg’Eisenhuwer. do inquire into theYcauses of violence and how it might be pre-
vernted. . .

Between Octofer and December 1968, the Eiscnhower Commission held hearings
on television, questioning social scientists and industry executives about the extent
to which the medium might be the instigator or abettor of violent acts. One commis-
sien member. Leon Jaworski, later to be the Watergate prosecutor, expresed the
belief that television might have “a tremendous responsibility’ for vwlsnce in

e

» America. .

The television networks acknowledged no.such responsibility. When Commission-
er Alhert E. Jenngr asked ‘whether “the depiction of violence has an effect upon the
viewer,” Dr. Frank Starton, prégident of CBS, replied: “It may or may. not have.
That is the question we don’t have the answer to."".

.Nevertheless, the commission decided to formulate an answer. After a long
debate—from whidh Lloyd N. Cutler, the executive director, disqualified himself be-
cause of his law firm's TV-.industry clients—the panel declareg in its final report
that it was "deeply troubjed by television's copstant portrayal of violence . . . pan-
dering to"a publiﬁpreoccupation with violence that Lelevisizn itself has helped to
generate. : ) v ‘..

The panel's report concluded: “A constant\diet of violence on TV has an adverse
effect on human character and attitudes. Violence on televisi ncourages violent
forms of behavior and fosters 1. ‘ral and social valtes in dailyYife which are unac-
ceptable in a civilized society. We do not suggest that television is a principal cause
of violenga-n our society. We do suggest that it is a contributing factor.V -
o-volume report of the commissién’'s "Task Force on Mass Media and Vio-
leste” concluded that, as a short-range etfect. those' who see violent acts portrayed
Aearn to perform them and may imitate them in a similar situatior?, and that, as u
long-term effect, exposure to media violence “socializes audiences into the norms,
attitudes, and values for violence.” e

The Eisenhower Commission'ssreport on television had little impact—it was cver-
shadowed 1n the news media by its more headline-making findings about riots, civil
disobedience. and police brutahity. The networks acted to reduce the violence in ani:
mated cartoons for children and killings in adplt programs, and the motion-picture
}ndustry quickly ~ompensated by increasing the incidence and vividness of its blood-

etting. . .

However, Congress. on the initiative of Rhode Island Senator John O. Pastore; a
long-standing critic of television, moved to mandate a completely new investigation,
calling on tHe US Surgeon General for a report on TV and vioi{\nce that would, in
effect. parallel the report associating cigarette smoking with cancer.¢
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. < Worried about what might emerge ffom such a study, the television industry lob-
' bied ywith President Nixows Secretary of Health, Education, 'and Welfare, Robert S
_ Fircd to influente the organigation and conduct of the Tnvwmion. It successfully
' opposed seven cthndidates fdia appointment” to the commit¥de, including the best- .
4 known researchers in the field. The Surgeon General’s Committee an Television and
, Sucjal Behavior, as-constituted, comprised five experts afiiliated with the broadcast-
in/industry. and four behaviora) scientists innocent of mass-media background. ot
Three years and $1.8 million later, the committee produced its report, “Television '

. and Gfowing Up: The Impdct of Televised, Violehce,' supported by five volumes-of ' .
. »" . technical st%es. The fulr report, read by few, provided télling data on the role of - ™
. - TV violence a¥ instigator of aggression in young people, but the ninetéen-pége sum-,

ary that would dqtermine the pyblic perceptivn emerged opaque and ambiguous, . s
i after an intense struggle within the committee, . . . L
., “Under the circumstances,” it said, wat<hing violent fare on television could* ¢
cause @ young person to act aggressively, but "children imitate and learn from ev-
~ erything they see. The research studies, it said, indicated “a modest association_be-
s tweeri viewing of television and vielence anong at least some children,” but “televi-
1 sion is only one of the maay factors which in time may ;g‘ecede aggressive behav-
jor, : : .
The summary danced around the erucial is;ge ogcausat«ion: “Several findings of 7
s the survey studied can Be cited to sustain the hypthesis that viewing of violent tele-. \
vision has a’causal relafion (o aggressive behavior, though heither individually nor
collectively are the findings conclusive.” -
" The ambiguity was mirrored in the pages of the New York Times. A front-page
story on Janua. » 12, 1972, based on-a-leak, was headlined TV’ Violence Held Un-
v g harmtul to Your™. But when the report was officially released a week later, the
Io. Times story sdid, “The study shows for the first time a causal connection betweerr }
: violence shown on television and subsequent behavior by chjldren.” ¢
“It is clear to me,” said Surgeon General Jesse Steinfeld, presenting his report at
. i hearing cunducéed by Senator Pastore, “that the causal relationship between tele-
Xi_sz;d violence.and antisocial behavior is sufficient to warrant appropriate and reme- .
ial acti- * ) .
The. e wag no significant remedial action. As the decade of urban violence and as-
sassinations ehbed, the issue of television ®iolence faded. to come back anqther day.
And another day would bring another report. ‘ .
Even before the latest incidents of violence, a new inquiry had started. Dr. Eli A.’
Lt Rubinstein had first come to the Surgeon General's committee as a vice chairman -
fresh from the National Ingtitute of Mental Health. His experience with the investi-
gation led fiim to make the study of the mass media his career. - . Q .
. In 1980, Dr. Rubinstein, now protegsor of psychology at he University of North™ ¥
Carolina, persuaded President Carter's Surgeon_General, Dr. Julius Richmond, to -
assemble an ad hoc committee to prepare an updated version of the 1972 Surgeon

S

L

| General's repdrt on its tenth anniversary. Two volumes of new technicpl studies 1
! , have alrt;ad{1 heen compiled. The conclusions are yet to be written, but tiere is no
/ doubt, that they will reinforcd and expand the original timidly stated findings. ¢

One thing the new report will do,.Dr. Rubinstein sajd, is to lay togeest the theory
that depicted ,violence can actually decrease aggression by servi *as a ‘‘cathar-
tic"—the cleansing xind purging of an audience's emotions that Aristotle held to be -
the highest test of tragedy. Advanced by some behavdrial scientists studyiné televi-
sion. the theory was examined during the 1972 study for the ‘Surgeon General, .
which concluded that there was “no evidence to support a catharsis interpretation.”

s 'lI'he updated report, citing new empirical s*udies, will make that point more strong-

y. . . ) i

“A tremendous amount of work has been done over the past ten:years, and the -
volume of literature has probably tripled.” Dr. Rubinstein says. “‘If any mistake was
made ten years ago. it was to be too qualified gbout the relationship between TV?
violenc - and aggressiveness. We have a lot of new evidence aboutrcausality, and
about what consfitutes causality. We-know much more about how .television pro-
duces aggressive behavior. We know more about how fantasy can crowd out-reality,
and the specific influences of television on disturbed minds, .

. “The fundamental scientific evidence indicates that television affects the viewer .
in more ways than we realized initially, You will recall that the original smoking- .
and-health study was lmmited to the lungs, and later it was learned how smoking
uffects the heart and other parts of the body. In the same way, we now know.that
the original emphasis on TV vio.. ace was too narrow. Television affects not only a
predispositjon fowards violence, but the whole rangeé of socigl and psychological de-
velopment of the younger generavion.”
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THe new Surgeon General's report, scheduled for release by the Reagan adminis- . ‘

tration in 1982, is hikely to be challenged by the:TV industry with all the vigor dis-
" played by the tobacco lobby when opposing the report on.smoking and cancer. Inevj.-
tably, it will be read for clues to violent behavior of people like John Hinckley. :
What made Hinckley different, what made him shoot the President ate ultimately, C Uz
"mattess for psychiatty and the law Yo determine. But the “'media factor” played a e,
part. S . ¢
. As Hinckley withdrew from s‘;:hool and family life, he retreated progressively inte .
a waiting world of violent fantasy, spending more and inore tims alone with televi- -’
- sion—an exciting companiun that made no demands on him. :
. ' But television was'not the only part of the media working to merge fat and fanta-
" sy for Hinckley, He  was gtrongly influenced by Taxi Driver, a motian picture about
a psychopath who found %he answer to his anxigeties through his obsession with vio-
lence. Like_the taxi driver, Hinékleyoscitlated between wanting to kill a.publicc = .
figure to impress the object of his affecgtons, and wanting to “rescue” her from o
“edil” surroundings. Paul Schrader, author, of the kcreenplay, tells fme that the -
mofnent he heard that President Reagan had béert shot, his reaction 'was, "fl‘hgre B

N goes another taxi driver!® : _ . : .
| Hinckley wis also affected by fan frenzy, a special manifestation of the media cul-.© .
' ture. It focused\pot only on Jodie Foster, the female lead in Taxi Driver. but also on I
" former Beatle John Lennom whuse music he played on the guitar. Last New Year's
Eve. after Lennon’s murder, Hinckley taped a monologue, in his motel room near
Denver: in which he mourned: “John and Jodie, and now one of 'em's dead. . K
"Sometimes,” ' said, “I think I'd rather just see here not . .. not on earth than v
being with other guys. I wouldn’t wanna stay on earth without her on earth. It'd
have to be some kind of pact between Jodie'and'me.” . . C
And the influences' working on Hinckley extended beyond the visual media, The ..
idea of a suicide pact was apparently drawn from The Fan, a novel by Bob Randall "
that Hinckley had borrowed=<along with books about the Kennedy family and :
Gordon Liddy’s Will—from a public library in Evergreen, Colorado. In the book, the . /
paranoid fan of a Broadway star, feeling rejected in his advances by mail, kills the /
actress and, himself as she opensin a theater producfion. Early last March, as .
.~ Foster was preparing to open in a New Haven stock-company play, Hinckley slipped
a letter under her door saying, "After tonight John Lennon and [ will have a lot in ) i
sommon.” : . N )
\ The plan that finally congealed this -welter of media-drawn inspiratiots and im-
pelled the young misfit to action was a presidential assassination. Before sétting ~- I
out, heglike the fictional fan—Ieft behindpa letter to be'read posthumously. It was |
to éell) '9§rer that he intended, through 7t13is. hilstorical'deed. to gain your respect i :
and love. , ' ST . Do
Y As though to document his place in thé media hall of fame, he dated and timed .
the letter and left behingd. in his room/n the Park Central Hotel, tapes of his guitar —
playing, his New Year's Eve solilogfty, and a telephone conversation with Foster.
A fa:lure at most things, Hinckley was a spectacular media success who had sur-
vived to enjoy his celebrityhood—a lesson that won't be lost bn other driven persons.
No one could doubt his importance or challenge his -identity as the news cameras
clustered around the federal courthouse when he arrived for his arraignment in a
presidential-size limousine heralded by police sirens. K
In the great made-for-TV drama, participants more ‘“normal"- than Hinckley
seemed also’ to play assigned, roles, as if ¢auzht up in some ineluctable screcnplay.
The TV anchors were revieWed for smoothness, composure, and factual accuracy
+ under stress. Secretary of State Haig. making a gripping appearance in the White- .
House press room.. was panned for gasping and for misreading his lines. President
Reagan, with considerable support fi White House aides and from the smoothly
reassuripg Dr: Dennis O'Leary, hiymself an~instant hit, won plaudits for a flawless
performance as the wisecracking, death-defying leader of the Free World. -
he effect was to reinforce the pervasive sense of unreality engendered by a gen-
" ergtion of television shoot-outs—the impression that being shot doesn't really hurt,
. that evervthing will turn out all right in time for the final commercial.

Ose can understand the desire to assure the world that the government is func-
tioming But Dr David Hamburg, the psychiatrisi and former president of thee Insti-
tute of Medicine of the Natioral Academy of Sciences, bulieves it ‘harmful to imply
that a shooting can be without apparent physical consequence.

“Getting shot is not like falling off a Eorse"' Dr. Hamburyg says. *“To sanitize an
~ act of violence is a disservice It is unwise to minimize the fact that a President can

get hurt and that he can bleed.” .
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One= more contribution had heen made to obscuring the pain and reality of vio-
lence, to blurring the critical distinetion between fiction an fact. The media Presi-
dent was, in his way. as much a product of the-age of unreality as was John Hinck-
ley, the media freak. In the media age, reality had been the first casualty.

: ' ' HOW MANY MURNFRS CAN YOU KIDS WATCH?
T

e Natianal Coalition on Television Violence says these are the most violent pro-
grams on national television. The data was compiled between February and May of
1481, and the scores for each program are in violent acts per hour. )

L} .
A B

Acts of
Ketwork Vlence

Prime-ime Shows

WEIG TA s st st s Ngg 25
L2 TR A 18
Lobo ... .. ... ... . NBC 18 -
‘Greatest American Hero ., ABC 18
Incredible Hulk ............ CBS 14
Mznum Pl ... cBs - W
Hart to Hart ... . ABC ~ 14
Dukes'of Hazzard ..., (8BS 14
‘ BJ &theBear. .. .. .. N8C 4
Fattasy Istand. ... ... .. *ABC - . 11
08, e e, s - 1
Salurday morning cartcons
TRURABIT 11 BAIDANAN.. oo+ vt e rsseenesessestseseessees @ oo oo ABC 64
Datby Duck... .. .. ... . ... NEC 52
Bugs Bunny/Roadrunner. . ... . ... ... R - (8s 3l
Superfriends ... .. .., et b eeeeenes saeT - ABC 3
RChR: Rich/Scocty Doo_.. [T N, 3
Plasticman. Baby Plas ... . ; .« ABC * 28
Heathclitt & Dingbat...... ettt st ABC 28
Fona .. ..o ABC 28
B CBsS i
PODOYE . e et et es e e CBS . 2%
Johany Quest..... L NBC 25
Orak Pak.. .o c8s 23
Batman " . e e NBC 19
Godzilia/Hong Kong Phooey ... ... NRC 18
Fintstones . . .- . . ... ... NBC 13
Tarz2~ Lone Ranger . CBS 13 .

K
[National Institute of Mental Health, Vol 1: Summary Report}

TELEVISION AND BEHAVIOR: TEN YEARS OF gcwmu-'xc PROGRESS AND IMPLLCATIONS
FOR THE EIGHTIES . s
I

CHAPTER [.—TEN YEARS OF SCIENTIFIC PROGRESS: AN OVERWEW

THE SURGEON GENERAL'S SCIENTIFIC ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT—197%2

Among the great inventions in the electronic age, television is ome,of thé most
beguiling. A sound-and-light show appealing to the prepoutent senses of vision and
hearing. it draws attentiod like a magnet. Infants as ounf as 6 months gaze at it:
little children sit in front of it for hours at a time; and millions of elderly, sick, and
institutionalized people keep coniact with he outside world m¥ady through televi-
sion. An integral part of everyday life, it-4elps to determine how people spend their
time, what they learn, what they think and talk about; it influences their opinions
and helps shape their behavior.-Few other inventions have so completely enveloped
an entire population. More Americans have television than have refrigerators or
indoor plumbing.

It is no wonder. then, that students of human behavior have been attracted to
television as a field of research, asa vast arena for the study of behavior in today's
technological world. It is no less wonder that the American public is concerned 4
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about the effects of television on their lives and the lives of their children. Some
people think it has a mahgnant influence; others praise it g5, a boon to society.
Wanting to know about the effects of television, the public furned to the scien-
tific community fér answers. ’

. Spurred on by both curiosity and a need to find answers to practical questions,
scientists have been busy during the past decade at many kinds of television re-
search. Such research did not arise suddenly. Investigations ifito the effects of televi-

. sion began in the late 1940s, almost as soon as television began to appear in Ameri-
;‘((}Fohumes. contihiued at a relatively slow pace in the 1950s, and rccelerated in the
Y60s. . .

In 1969, the increase in research on television began with a_request by Se¢fiator
John G. Pastore to the Secretary of the Department of Health, Education, and Wel-
fare. As Chairman of the Senate Subconimittee on Communications of the Senate
Commerce Committee, Senator Pastore wrote,"] am exceedingly troubled by the
lack of any definitive information which would help resolve the question of whether
there is a casual cqunectior between televised crime and violence and antisocial be-
havior by individuals, especially childreg. . . ." The Senator asked the Secretdiy to
direct tne Surgeon General of the U.S. %’ublic Health Service to appoint a commit-
tee to “conduct a study to establish scientifically what >ffects these kinds of pro-
grams have on cbildren.” - !

The [Mpartment swung rapidly into action. The Surgeon General directed the Na-
tional Institute of Mental Health to tdke.responsibility for|the commitiee and to
provide necessary staff. The Scientific Advisor Committee oh Televisior and Social
Behavior wis apﬁoinred. and one million dolrars were provided for new research.

. .Sclem?i;:s throughout the country submitted proposals; the most promising propos-
] . als"réteived approval; and their authors were funded to conduct the research. Thé
. stadies were completed within 2 years, unususl speed for the havioral sciences. In
./ Wecember 1971, the committee sent its report tu the Surgeon General. The report. '
entitled Televsion and (sowing Up: The Impgct of Televised Violence, summarized
the state of knowledge at that time. It was‘accompanled by five technical volumes of
reports in which the contributing scientists described their studies in detail. .

*he report confipmed the “pervasiveness of television in the United States,” stat-
ing that almost everyone ‘watched’some television programs »~< *hat many people
watched for njany hours a ddy. The report pointed out that hitue was known about
the reasons people view so much television or choose particular programs. The
report also confirmed that there was a great r(%:s!l of violence on television. On enter-
min;‘nent television during 1967 and 1968, there were about eight violent incidents
per hour. .

The report’s major conclusion, often quoted, was: ‘Thus, there is a convergence of
the fairly substantial experimental evidence for a short-run causation of aggression
amofg some children by viewing violence on the screen and much less certain evi-
dence from field estudies that extensive violence viewing precedes some_ long-run
manifestations of aggressive behavior.. The convergence of the two types of evidence
constitute some preliminary mdication of a casual relationship, but a good deal of

* research remains to be done before one can have confidence in these conclusions.”

The committee itself wrote that these tentative and limited conclusions were not
entirely satisfactory but th®t they did represent much more knowledge than was
available whe « the committee began its work. “

* TEN YEARS LATER

During the .1970s, muc};'o'f the necessary research was done, and—to anticipate
findings that will be described later—it can be said that the evidence for a casual
relRionship between excessive violence viewing and aggression goes well beyond the
preliminary. Jevel. Scientists in this decade have also broadened the research. They
have been trying to find the many interrelated and intricate, factors that operate in
television programing and viewing—who watches television and why. what children
see and hear on television, what people learn from television and how they learn it.
Amohg other topics. they analyze television’s effects on social life and values.

Asla result of the Surgdon General's committee effort, a new generatiort of scien-
tists |was spawned. Some of the scientists who undertook research prujects in (he
L 1960Us are still working the field. Many of the younger people brought into the
projects as assistants and agsociates developed a continuing interest and are now
contributing their talents and efforts to television research. They include investiga-
tors from all the behavioral sciences. notably psvchology. psychiatry. and socivlogy.
as well as from public health and communications. They do their work in many set-
tings. including umversities and the television industry itsell. Mach&of the research
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is supported by the government and privgte foundations, bt many of the smaller
projects have no major outside funding. During the pas*“decade, at almost all cop-
ventions of .behavioral scientists; there have beew$t sions on television research
which has become an established specialty. ‘
Although the number of scientists doing televisicn research has fhcreased, it is

still small compared to the magnitude of the research problems. Many more investi-

gators from all fields are needed if regearch is to ﬁnd,answers to the questions con-

* cerned citizens ask.

-

_Because scientists from many fields have been at work, thet studies have taken
_different ‘approaches. Some, for example, concentrate on analyses of program con-
tent, others observe children before and after they have looked at violent programs,
and still others observe children after they have looked at benign and prosocial pro-
grams. Many of the projects are dune in the laboratory under strict experimental
conditions, -others are naturalistic field studies and observations. These two ap-
proaches complement one another. The laboratory studies tell whether or not some-
thing can hdppen, the possibility of occurrence. The field studies tell how commonly
something does. happen, the likelihood of oceurrence. When bgth Kinds of studies
point in the same direction, their conclusions are mutually reinforcing’

‘The amount of television research increased significantly duting the 1970s. This
increase is documented in a bibliography published in 1980; the bibliography covers

rticles, books, and other materials in the field of zesearch on television and youth
published, primarily in English, betweerr 1946 and 1980.% Up to 1970 there were
ubout 300 titles, anu from 1970 "through 1980 there were another‘2,500, of which

more than two-thirds were published in 1975 or later. Put another way, 90 percent °

of all the publications appeared in the last 10 years. No one knows whether this

acteleration will continue at such a rate, but television is as fiuch a part of present.

dar human exister.ce that the amount of research will undoubtedl:* increase and

gghve even more into all facets of the relationship between television and human
avior. L )

Much of the research on effects of television has been concerned with its impact
on children. It is easier to gather data on young people, as most of them are 1n
schosls or other settings that make them accessible to the investigators. Also, it is
more important to learn about television's influgnce on the growing child. It’s essen-
tial to know what the many ho a-day spéut watching television are_going to
them at a time when they are developing and learning about the werld and the
people around them. Children are an audience qualitatively different from adults,
and they may be an audience more vulnerable to television's messages. It may also
be significant that there is now a generation of young adults who have grown up
with television and whose children,are now second-genera.ion television viewers.
The effects on them probably are not the same as on previous generations who were
adults when they first became acquainted with television.

THE TELEVISION AUDIENCE

Tm?on General's committee asked who watches television, and its repori-res ™

plied, “almost everyone.” That was true in the late 1960s and it is still true in the
early 19%0s. Some people watch occasionally, for special events or at certaiti times,
but many Americans watch television everyday. Their¥idwing times range from an
hour of two to many hours daily, and some even eep the set on all day long. One
survey showed that for large numbers of peoplo'television ranks third among all
activities (after sleep and work) in the number of hotys devoted to it.

One could go on citing figures about the pervasiveness and ubiquity of television.
It should be remembered, however, that these figures are estimates. If TV Guide
states that 85 million people watched Roots, it does not mean that the roofs were
snatched off all the houses and apartments in the United States and the people in
front of television sets counted one by one. The figures dre rojections from small
samples and are subject to all the errors—and the scientific accuracy—found in
such projections.

Most of the audience figure estimates come from' surveys. Surveys conducted by

telephone are much in use now, although mail and door-to-door surveys are stiil
used occasionally. Another technique is exemplified by the famous Nielsen ¥atings
which derive from television use in about 1,200 homes where the set is hooked up to
a computer indicating when the set is on and which channel it is turned to. Other
procedures merely ask people if they look at television, how often, which programs,
and so on. This kind of questioning is sometimes done by interviewers and some-
tumes through written Wuestionnaires, People have alo been asked to keep televi-
sion logs or diaries of their viewing. In a few instances, ordinarily in conjunction
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with other studies, direct observations of families or other groups, such as children .

or institutionalized persons, have been made by visitors to the home or institution.
On the basis of these surveys and ohservatinns, quite d bit is known about who
looks at television. Because many different n,\fthods have been used and compared,
this information, as a whole, is probably accurhite and reliable.
For research’ purposes, the audience is often categorized in terms of amount of
viewing. Some scientists use simple terms like “heavy” and 'light’’ viewers or
“high" and "'low" amount of viewing. In some situa..ons, a person*who looks at tele-

vision more than 4 hours a day is called a “heavy” viewer. A “light" viewer might +

be defined as a person who views about an heur a day or less. Where taydraw addi-
tional-lines in Between is sometimes a topic of scientific controversy. Phere are, of
course, the “'constant’ viewers who watch television almost all“their waking hours,
and there are some~confirmed “"nonviewers.” The definitions vary. depending on

"who is doing the research and on the purpose of the research. - *

Surveys confirm what most people already suspect-+television appeals to all ages,
though not equally. Babies look at it for rather brief intervals and, as they grow
older. tend to look at it more and more. By age 2 or 3, some children spend large
amounts of time before the set and appargntly bave some understanding of what is
going on. The amount of viewing continues at a relatively high level, then drops off
somewhat when children reach their teens. In young udulthood it increases again,
especially for parents With young children.”Viewing time tends to drop in the busy
years of middle age, jut later in,life television again becomes a major attraction and
may be watched for many hours a day. It is sometimes the principél recreation for

.elderly people.

Amount of viewing seems to vary with other characleristics of people. Minority
groups tend to watch more than others, on.the average, and' women more than men.
Some surveys show that people in lower socioeconomic groups, viéw somewhat more
than those in the middle class. Peopie who watch a lot of television tend to pe less”
educated than those who do not, watch as much, yet among collegt studenty televi-
sion is a‘favofite pastime. Peoplé in hospitals,eprisons, and other institutioks often
look at television when they get the chance.

It appears.ghat, althougﬁ almost everyone watches television those who do not
have much elS® to do watch it most often. Many people, for example thé elderly and
the unemployed, use television to fill time, to do something instead of nothing. Some
researchers have concluded that these are people who do ngt choose to watch specif-
ic pregrams; they, are not really selective in what they look at. They watch by the
clock. turning on the set at free times, no matter what is being shown. Television is
a ritualized or habitual activity.

In general, the surveys indicate that the television audience has not changed ap-
preciably during the past 10 years. Americans' viewing habits seem to have been.
established early in the history of television. .

DOING RESEARCH ON TELEVISION AND BEHAVIOR

Like all scientists. behavioral scientists who study television. draw their conclu-
sions from evidence they have gatirered and organized to answer specific questions.
The kind of evidence they coliect depends on the aspect of television énd behavior
they are studying and on which stage in a rather long process they are concerned
th{;. Some simple distinctions may help clarify the complexity of the overall proc-
ess, which in turn explains why each researcher tries to simplify the problem by
limiting a study to a small portion of the total process. , .

‘The heart of the process includes a.television set showing a particular program
and a person sitting in front of it watching and listerfing to the program. Supposed-
ly. the researcher then tries to study the effect of the program on this viewer. But
the effects of television cannot be understood in such simple terms. Because the pro-
gram on television is sometimes selected by the viewer the researcher must also
consider the role of the viewer in any possible causal relationships. Moreover, the
typical audience often consists of » number of persons who must somehow agree on
the program they will watch. Thv interact with one another about the program
and about other things as well. All *hese social relationships in the immediate view-
ing situation have been called the “social context” of viewing and must be taken
into account. The researcher may also want to look beyond the televigign presenta-
twon and i*s audience in the immediate social context to the longer teym behavioral
outcomes Television's interrelations vith the viewer's psychological processes may
also be a focus of inquiry In any cas.. the context in which behavior occurs is im-
portant.
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¢ + Television presentations thomsel.»; became a prime target of research almost
since television began Virtuallyany topic on television which is suspecteéd of hawmg
behavioral effects is likejy to be examined. For example, there have been content

- analyses-of the incidegce of violent .portrayals, ‘depictions of minorities, prosocial -
acts, families, sexual references, ppople in various prof¢ssions..and so forth. In many
of these areas, research has not progressed beyond the analyses of the content.
There ure good reasons for thic limitation; some of the suspected effects are very
difficult o measure satisiactorily as, for example, the impact of sexually oriented
programs. But in other areas,‘the research community has moved well along in ex:

~amining the effects of television’s content on the vijewer. ' .

Two different approaches have been followed in the study of television’s influence
on the beHavior of the viewing audience. One group of rescarchers, grounded mostly
in laboratory psychology, ts conducting elperimental studies in which an audience
is temporarily brought together to view programs selected for research purposgs. y
This approach leads to strong conclusions about the immediate impact on behavior
that' the researcher subsequently observes. As a rule, social context is eliminated *
from consideretion by. holding it constant withini the experimental session so that it
does not affect the results. A ‘second group of researchers approached the study of

. television's uses and effects in natural field settings. Field studies attempt to take
sovial context factors into account by measuring them ard making their interac:
tiops with the television esperience a part of what is studied. This approach usually
takes the form of freld surveys; which produce evidence of correlation between vari- “
ous factors but which are not scientifically as ®tisfactory ag the controlled experi-
ment in trying to isolate the specific effect of any sing”le_factoz. '

Two mtermed.i_ute approaches have occasionally been used by researchers who

- hope to couple some of the precision of the experimental study with the greater gen- .
eralivability and breadth of the field study. One is the field experiment, shch as,
systematically exposing audiences to different television programs while they
remain in their normal viewing situations at home. The other is the panel study in -
which tNe same individuals arryhterviewed. tested, or therwise observed over time, - -
The panel study examines natigal variation over time grather than at a specific
time, as in the field survey) on the assumption that changes occur both in the per-

t“ son's exposure to television presentations and in a pattern of behavior that ghight be
affectet by those presentations. ’ v . .

Field experiments ind panel studies are relatively rard in research oh télevision 4
and behavior. They tend to arouge controversy among gcientists; there are those
who prefer the greater certainty of cause-effect evidence (provided by the laboratory !
experiment and those who seek greater generality in fiddd researcl?. Field experi-
ments are practicable on only a nhrrow range of topics, and often the experimental
procedures seem to effect more change in the person’s life than just that which the
person is shown on television. Panel studies run the risk of “contamination” of the
person who is repeatedly interviewed on the same topic. Because the subjects in the
research are interviewed or tested repeatedly, they nmay not represent the larger
population that has not)been wasked the same questions.

Jisagreement among researchers is often the product of disagreement about the
kind of evidence* tha: is re_quireg_' to draw a conclusion. Such evidence in turn grows ¢
out of the aspect of the overall process that they are attempting to study and the
spebific type of television presentation or behavior that is at stake. Some students of
behavioral effects. for example, may find the research detailing various imbal-
ances—overrepresentation or underrepresentation—in the detnographic makeup of
the total cast of characters on television to be of little import. They say that. be-
cause there is no evidence that there are socially deleterious behavioral outcomes

s associated with these televisic. portrayals, the portrayals and imbalances can be

shrugged off. On the. other hand, some observers, including those in one. of the of-

fended demographic groups—minorities, women, the elderly. disdbled. and so
on—may see the imbalances in content as sufficient grounds for actton and reform,

regardless of the demonstrability of the effects. .

One task of developing a theory is to tie together the many areas of content anal-
ysisabrith the rafher fewer areas where learning and other effects have been demon-
strated experimentally or tested for their generality in field studied. For example,

can a laboratory Tinding that young people imitate a; gressive acts they have seen

an television be e :itended either to social behavior in the real world or to the un-

measured impict on behavior of televised presentations of, say, prostitution or bigot

ry”? As the total scope of research has broadened. some researchers have been will-

ing to accept these gengrahizations.

While the research on television and behavior is by no tneans complete, it is ex-
panding at an accelerating pace. New applications and versions of research ‘methods
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are being used, and scientists tan now draw conclusions more confidently than they »
could from theymuch more limited research of 10 years ago.

.

¢

_HIGHLIGHTS OF TEN YPARS OF RESEARCH
. N gy 4
Television’s heulth-promoting possibilities !

2

In its programs, television contains many messages about health. messages that
may be important to promotion of health and prevention of illness. Television seems
fo be doing a rather poor job of helping its aydience fo attain better health o better
understanding of health practices. This is. of course, not a goal of commercial televi-

" sion; nevertheless, ‘incidental learning from television stories and portrayals may be

0

contributing to lifestyles and hibits that are not conducive to good health. Protrayal
of mental illness on television is nob frequent, but when it does appear, it is related
to both violenc# and victimization; compared wit normal’” characters, twice as
many mentally ill characters on televisioh are violent or are the victims of others’
violence. Even though very few characte.s on television are ill, mahy more doctors
are evident than are in real lifer Much of television's. content seems.to foster poor
nutrition, especially in commercials for sweets and snack foods. Children who watch

" “a lot of television have poorer nutritional habits than children who dotnot watch as
much. Alcohol consumption is common; it is condoned and is presented as aspart of

almost never wear seAt belts. Correlational studies suggest that people’s attitudes
are influenced by theSe portrayals. One study, for example, indicated that television
ranked second to physicians and dentists as a source of health information.

There has been ulmost no reseakch gn people in institutions, even hough it is
known that they oftgn-watch television. One study in a psychiatric sétting found
that stuff believed television had a beneficial effect on patients, especially the chron-
ic and elderly. Incrdsed use, of television for therapeutic purpose should be consid-
ered: for example, films and videotape have been used successfully to help people
learn to cope %wh fears and phobias. .An%experimental study of emotionally dis- -
turbed childred reported that, for some of tha ‘children, prosocial pregrams in-,
creaged their altruistic behavior and decreased their aggressive behavior. More re-
search is needed to explore the therapeutic potential of television.

With the pervasiveness of television viewing, 1t can be assumed that campaigns to
promote better health would be effective. There hayé’been campaigns on community
mental health, against drug abuse and smoking, for seat-belt wearing, for dental
health, and against cancer, venertal.disease, and alcoholism. An example of a suc-
cessful campaign to reduce risk of cardidyascular disease in California had programs
in both English and Spanish and face-to {ace instruction, in addition to the televi-
sion messages. for some of the groups. After 2 years, communities exposed to the
campaign, even without the ’personal instruction, had significantly reduced the like-’
lihood of heart attack and stroke, while in a “‘control” community where there was
no campfign risk levels remained high. Carefully planned and evaluated campaigns
built on an understanding of the ways in which messages are conveyed and incorpo-

the social milieu. W?bZn'peopPé drive cars, which occurs often on television, they

, rated into people’s lives hold great promise.

Cognitive and emotional functioning L -

Research oh cognitive progesses has asked such questions as: What are the factors
involved in paying attention to television? What is remembered? How much is un-
derstood”? The research shows that duration of paying attention 18 directly related to
age. Infants watch sporadically: little children graduallytpay more attention visually
until. at about age 4. they look at television about 55 percent of the time, even when
there are many. other distractions in the room. Auditory cues are very important in
attracting and holding attention. Up to the second and third grades, children cannot
repgrt much of ‘what they see and hear on television, but they probably remember
more than they can report. and memory improves with growing up. Young children
remember spectfic scenes better than relationships, and they often do not under-
stand plot or narrative. Making inferences and differentiating between central and
peripheral content are difficult for young children, but these skills also improve
with age. The changes may be partly developmental and partly the result of experi-
ence with televigion. . .

The “medium ax the message” came to be studied again in the 1970s. Much of
what children, Nhers. see on televiston is not only the contents They learn the
meaning of television's forins and codesggs camera techniques. sound effects, and
organization of programs. Some of the effedts of television can be traced to its forms,
such as fast or slow action. loud or soft music, camera angles, and so on. Some re-
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Sﬂ searchers suggest that fast action, loud music, and stimulating camera tricks may
account for changes in behavior following televised ¥iolence.
Although television producers &ﬂui viewers alike agree that television can aropse

- the.emotions, there has been vefy little research on television’s effects on emotional
development and fungtioning. It is known that some people have streng emotional
attachments to televiyioy/ chapicters and personalities anQ\that children usually

prefer characters most “%ke themsclves. Research op television and the emotions
should be given a top priority.

* N
N Wolenc and aggression . h

The report of the-Surgeon (leneral’s committee states that there was a high level

of violence on television in the 1960s. Although'in the 1970s there was cotsiderable

. controversy over definitions and measurement of violences the amount of violence

has not decreased. Violence on television seems to be cyclical, up a little one year,

~ down a little the next, but the percentage of programs congaining violence has re-
* mikined essentially the same over the past detade. : o

\ . Senator Pastore's question can be asked again: What is the effect of all this vio-

lence? After 10 more years of research, the’consensus among most of the research

.community is that viclence on television does lead to aggressive behavior behavior

by children and teenagers who watch the prg‘g‘rame. This conclusipn is based on lab-

ratory experimenits and on field studies. Not all children become aggressive, of

urse. but the4torrelations between violence und aggression are positive. In magni.

tude, television violence is ag strongly correlated with aggressive béhavior ﬁ any

other behavioral variable thgihas been mieasured: The research question has thoved

4rpm asking whether or not there is anheffect"to seeking explanations for the effect.

‘According fo observational learning theory, when children observe television char-

acters,who behave violently, they learn tor{)e violent or aggressive themselves. Ob-

- sérvational learning from television has been demonstrated 'many tinies under strict

laboratory conditions. and there is now research on when d@nd how it occurs in real

¥ life. Television is also said to mold children'd attitudes which later may bé'translat-
4 ed into behavior. Children who watch a lot of violence on television may gome to
gccept violencg as normal behavior. . *

iy Although a'causal link between televised violence and 'agﬁressive.behavit}r\ now
seems obvious, a recent panel study by researchers at the National’ Rgoadcarting
Company found no evidence for a long-term er.during relation between viewing wio-
lent television programs and aggressive bthavior. Others doing television résea:_i\b
will no doubt examine this new study to try to learn why it-does not agree with
many other findings.

Imaginative play and prosocial behavior

Since children spend many hours watching the fantasy world of television ifcan
be asked whether television enriches their imaginative capacities and wpefﬂ‘;ait
leads to a distortion of reality. Evidence thus far is that television does ndt provide
material for imaginative play and that watching violent programs and cartoons is
tied to aggressive behavior and to less imaginative play. Most young children do not
know the difference between reality and fantasy on television, and.of course, they
do not understand how television works or how the characters appear on the screen.
Television, however can be used to enhance children's imaginative play if an adult
witches with the child and interprets what is happeninﬁ. ,

During the past 10 years research on television's influence on.prosocial behavior
has burgeoned. As a result evidence is persuasive—children can learn to be altruis-
tic, friendly and self-controlled by locking at television programs depicting such be-
‘havior patterns. It appears that t{Iey also |earn to be less aggressive. X,

.

« Socializatidn and conc'-'eptmm of social reality , . -

Most studies on socialization have been in the form of content analyses concerned
with’ sex, race. occupation, age and consumer roles. There are more men than
women on entertainment L;l’evision. and the men on the average gwe older. The men
are W strong and manly, the women usually passive and feminine. Both, ac.
cording to some analysts are stereotyped but the women are even more stereot
t the men. Lately there has been more sexual reference, more innuendo, and

“amore secuctive actions and dress. Both parents and behavioral scientists consider
television to be n important sex educator not only in depictions specifically related
to sex but in the relationships between men and women throughout all programs.

For a while. after organized protest removed degrading stereotyxed\ portrayals,
from the air. there were almost no §lsacks to be seen on television. About 12 years
ago. they emerged again. and now about 10 percent of television characters are
black. There dre not many Hispagics, Native Americans or Asian Americans. °
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- Television characters usually have higher status jobs than ayeragerpeople in real
life. A large propotion of them are professionals or managers, and relatively. few

are blue-collar workers. - T |- '
The elderly are underrepresented on tell'vi'sion,wsnd. as with the younger adulty
there are more old men than old women. 3 . :

Research shows that consumer roles are learned fram television. Children .are

taught to be avid consumers; they watch the’commercials—they ask: their parents to.
huy the products, and they use or consume the products.”’Not much research has?

been dene with teenagers, but they seem to be more skepticil about advortisements.
In general, researchers seem to concur that television has become a major social-
izing agent of American children.” . ' ' ! .
In oddition to socialization, television influences how people think about the
world around them or what is somgtimes called their copeeptions-of “social reality.”

Studies havé been carried out on the amount of fear ¢nd, mistrust of other people,

and on the prevalence of violence, sexism, family valugs, racial attitudes, illness in -

the population, criminal justice, and affluemce. On the wholg, it seems that televi-
sion leads its viewers to have television-influenced attitudes. The studies on preva-

lence of violence and mistrust have consistent results: People who are heavy vieyers.

of television are more apt to think, the world is violent than are light viewers. They
also trust other people less and believe that the world is a-"'mean and scary” place.

The family and_ interpersonal relations )

There are many television families—about 50 families can be seen weekly—and
most of them resemble what people like to think of as the typical American family.
The husbands tend to pe: campanions ta their wives and friends to their children;

‘many of the wives stay horthe and take care of the.house and children. Recently,

however, on entertainment television-there have been more divorcds, more single-
parent families. and mere unmarried coupleg living together. In black families,
there are more single parents and more conflict than in white famities. The actual
effect:: of these purtrayals on famHy life have been the subject of practically no re-
search. . : -
Televisidn, of course, takes plage in the context of social Felations, mainly in the
family. Phrents do not seem to restrict the amount of time their chjdren spend in
front of the television set, nor du they usual]y prevent them from looking at certa:n
programs. They seldom discuss programs. with their children except perhaps to
make a few favorable comments now and then. Many families look at television to-
gether, which brings up the question of who decides what to look at. Usually the
most .powerful member of the family decides-—father first, then mother, then older
shildren. But, ‘surprisingly often, parents defer to the wishes ol their young ehil-
ren. : .

4
v

Television 1n Ameriéan sociely ' .

Television seems to have brought about changes i1 society and its institutions.
Television's effects on laws and,norms have been the subject of discussion, but no
firm conclusions have been rea‘hed. Television, acco 'ding to some observers, rein-
forces the status quo and contributes to a homogeni.ation of society and a fromo—
tion of middle-class values, Television's ubiquity in bringing events—especially vié-
lent and spectaculdr events—throughout the world to millions of people mar mean
that television itgelf is a significant factor in determining the events. Television

W

.

broadcasts of reli¥ious services bring religion to those Who cannot get out, but they -

also may reduce attendance at churches and thus, opportunities for social interac-
tions. Television has certainly changed leisure time activities. For many people, iei-
sure time means just about the same as television time: their off-duty hours are
spent mainly in front of the television set. Many of these effects of television, how-
ever, are still speculative -and need further research to provide more accurate and
reliable information. .

‘
A

Fducation and learning dbout television .

Parents, .teachers, and others tlame television for low grades and low scores on
scholastic aptitude tests. but causal relationships are complex. as in television and
violence, and they need careful analysis. Among adults, television viewing and edu-
cation are inversely related: the less schooling, the more television viewing. Al-
though children with low 1Qs watch television more than others, it is not known-if
heavy viewing lowers-1Q scores or if those with low 1Q choose to watch more televi-

sion. There have been no experimental studies on these questions. Research on tele-
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vision and educational achievement-has mixegi findings. Some studies fouqd highe[
achievement with more television viewing, while others found lower, and still others
found no relution There seems to be a difference at different ages. At the lower
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grades, childven who watch a nioderate amount of television get Ligher reading

)

scores than those who watch either a great deal or very little. But at the high schoo] - °

level (a time when heavy viewing tends ta be less common), reading scores are in-
versely related to amount of viewing, with the better readers watching less televi.
sion. . O .

In térms of educational aspiration, it appears that heavy viewers want high status

"~ Jobs but do not intend to spend mady years in school. For girls, there is even inore

L]

E

* potential for contlict between aspirations and plans; the girls who are heavy viewers
"usually want to get married, have children, ¢ 1d stay at home fo take care of them,

by

but at the same time they plan to remain in school and to have exciting careers,

Finally, une of the most significant developments of the decade is the rise of inter-*

est in televiSior. literdcy, critical viewing skills, and intervention ‘procedures. “Tele-
vision literacy” is a way to counter:ct the possible deleterious effetts of television
and also to enhance its many benefits. Several curricula and television teaching
guies have been prepared, containing lessons on_all facets of television tec nology
and programing—-camera techniques. format, narragives, commercials, différences
between reality and fantasy. televisign's-effect on oné’s life and so on, Use of these
educational and intbrvention procedures has demonstrated that- parents, children,

* and teachers can achieve much greater understanding of television and its effects,
but whether this understanding chang:.-s their social behavior is not yet known.
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